THE PSALMS OF SOLOMON

A PHILOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

OF THE GREEK

AND THE SYRIAC TEXTS

by

GRANT WARD, Ph.D.

©
by
Grant Ward
1996
All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To Thomas McDaniel and Richard Wentworth who taught me that there need be no dichotomy between faith and learning; to my wife, Carol and daughters, Beth and Adele, who put up with the dislocations of life lived with a graduate student as a husband and father; to Dr. Robert Wright and Dr. Vasiliki Limberis for their encouragement and persistent optimism; and to all of the churches and the people within them who made my education possible, especially Willow Grove Baptist Church who for six years allowed me to pursue this goal and be their Pastor too; I truly could not have done it without you all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENT	iii
CHAPTERS	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. TEXT AND COMMENTARY	16
Psalm One	16
Psalm Two	22
Psalm Three	55
Psalm Four	66
Psalm Five	82
Psalm Six	94
Psalm Seven.	97
Psalm Eight	103
Psalm Nine	122
Psalm Ten	129
Psalm Eleven	135
Psalm Twelve.	139
Psalm Thirteen	146
Psalm Fourteen	153
Psalm Fifteen	157
Psalm Sixteen	167
Psalm Seventeen	179
Psalm Eighteen	215
Summary	217
3. CONCLUSIONS	227
BIBLIOGRAPHY	232

THE PSALMS OF SOLOMON

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

The eighteen poems which make up the Psalms of Solomon are Jewish pseudepigrapha from the first century, B.C.E.¹ The earliest surviving reference to the Psalms of Solomon comes from the fifth century C.E., where they are included in the list of the contents of Codex Alexandrinus. The end of the codex, where the Psalms of Solomon would have been, is missing. That the Psalms of Solomon were included in Codex Alexandrinus indicates, at least in this one instance, some relationship to the canonical tradition. The manuscripts continued to be copied and preserved in some communities, for at various times they are included in lists as *antilegomena*, pseudepigrapha, and apocrypha.² The Greek translations are preserved, in whole or in part, in eleven manuscripts dating from the tenth to the sixteenth century C.E., and the Syriac translations are found in five³ manuscripts dating from the seventh century (for the source known as S) to the sixteenth century C.E.⁴

¹ The dating is primarily on the basis of alleged allusions to events, both national and international, in the time period in the Psalms of Solomon. The descriptions of the foreign conqueror mentioned in Psalm 2 seems best to fit Pompey who invaded Palestine in 63 B.C.E. For a fuller treatment of the date of the Psalms and the possibility that stages of editorial activity may have taken place, see Wright, 1985: 640–641.

² Viteau, 1911: 186–191; Wright, 1985: 639.

³ Depending on whether S, a marginal note on a 7th century manuscript of the *Hymns of Severus*, is indeed a manuscript. See the discussion of this fragment at the beginning of the discussion of Psalm Three.

⁴ For a detailed description of the Greek and Syriac manuscripts see Trafton (1985, 5–9) and for the Greek texts see Wright's forthcoming volume on the Psalms of Solomon.

The primary importance of the Psalms of Solomon, however, is the light they shed on the historical and theological situation in this first century, B.C.E.

... [the] Psalms of Solomon preserve one of the most detailed messianic expectations in the immediate pre-Christian centuries. The title, 'Messiah,' ... is given shape and dimension in these psalms as they describe the person of the Messiah and the character of his government in the age to come. There is more substance to the ideas concerning the Messiah in the Psalms of Solomon than any other extant Jewish writing." 5

If the psalms are from the first century B.C.E., as most scholars believe, on the occasion of the invasion by the Romans under Pompey in 63 B.C.E., then the theological response in the psalms is important for studying the development of the issues of theodicy, eschatology, the suffering of the righteous, the concepts of life after death, and the person and position of the expected Messiah.

The Original Language of the Psalms of Solomon

A. The Languages of Jewish Pseudepigrapha:

A survey of current discussion in pseudopigraphical literature demonstrates a general consensus that much of the Judaeo–Christian non–canonical literature (extant in various languages in manuscripts dating from the second century B.C.E. to the ninth century C.E.), including the Psalms of Solomon, must have been written originally in a Semitic language (most frequently considered to be Hebrew). The following extended list of quotations from scholars contributing to Charlesworth's *The Old Testament Pseudepigrapha* (1985) demonstrates the extent of this consensus:

⁵ Wright, 1985: 643.

(1) Knibb (1985: 146) noted concerning the "Martyrdom and Ascension of Isaiah" that

So far as the Martyrdom [of Isaiah] is concerned, there is good evidence for the view that it was composed in Hebrew. . . . The Hebrew Martyrdom of Isaiah was translated into Greek, and, as we have seen, a fragment of the Greek translation has survived.

(2) Wintermute (1985: 43–44) expressed the opinion concerning "Jubilees" that

There is no longer any reason to doubt that Jubilees was originally written in Hebrew. Nevertheless, there was still considerable latitude for debate until the discovery of fragments of the Hebrew text at both Qumran and Masada.... Consequently, it is generally maintained that the text was written in Hebrew.

(3) Isaac (1985: 7) asserted concerning "1 Enoch" (Ethiopic Apocalypse of Enoch) that

Some scholars believe that the original language of 1 Enoch is Hebrew; others, however, think it is Aramaic; still others contend that the book, like Daniel was composed partly in Hebrew and partly in Aramaic. . . . Moreover Halévy's argument that portions of the Ethiopic text derived ultimately from a Hebrew original has not been disproved.

(4) Charlesworth (1985: 473–474) stated concerning the "Treatise of Shem" that

The original language seems to be Semitic since there are abundant Semiticism that appear to be original and personal names are defined according to the Semitic alphabet it is impossible to discern whether the original language is Hebrew or Aramaic (Syriac).

(5) Charlesworth (1985: 626) similarly stated concerning the "Prayer of Manesseh" that

The scholarly stature of the specialists who favor a Semitic original, the lack of a detailed examination of the question by proponents of either a Greek or a Semitic original, and the cavalier treatment of the Syriac version(s) by almost all scholars should warn against concluding with some authors that the issue is closed and the original language is Greek. While the notes to the following translation demonstrate that the Syriac version sometimes preserves a more reliable tradition, and while I tend to favor slightly a Semitic original, three factors preclude certainty

(6) Priest (1985: 920) wrote concerning the "Testament of Moses" that

Most of the first editors and translators assumed that the original language [of the Testament of Moses] was indeed Greek. Further investigation, however, indicates the Greek was, in all probability, a translation of a Semitic original but there remains a question as to whether the original was Aramaic or Hebrew. Certainty is not possible, but the balance of probability leans toward Hebrew.

(7) Johnson (1985: 251) noted concerning the "Life of Adam and Eve" that

Although no Hebrew text is extant, it is most probable that there did exist an original Hebrew document or documents from which the Apocalypse and *Vita* were translated, the Greek directly from the Hebrew and the Latin directly either from the Hebrew or from the Greek.

(8) Harrington (1985: 298–299) expressed the opinion concerning "Pseudo–Philo" that

In an 1898 article that introduced Pseudo–Philo to the scholarly world ["An Apocryphal Work Ascribed to Philo of Alexandria, *JQR* 10: 277–332], Leon Cohn argued that the Latin text is a translation from the Greek and that underlying the Greek there must have been a Hebrew original For example, the phrase *in victoria* (9:3) or *ad victoria* (12:6) can be traced to the Hebrew idiom *l' neṣaḥ*, "forever, everlasting," but the root *nṣḥ* in Aramaic is not used in this sense There we are led to conclude that Hebrew, rather than Aramaic, is the original language of Pseudo–Philo.

(9) Anderson (1985: 94) asserted concerning "2 Enoch" (Slavonic Apocalypse of Enoch) that

The text abounds in Semitisms It is theoretically possible that the book, or at least parts of it, came directly from Hebrew into Slavonic. . . . An original Semitic composition can still be suspected; but after two stages of translation through Greek to Slavonic, it is not now possible to tell how much written material in a Semitic language might lie behind portions of the text which still have Semitisms, let alone to determine which Semitic language it might have been.

(10) Metzger (1985: 520) stated concerning "The Fourth Book of Ezra" that

There remain, however, many other phenomena that suggest a Semitic original lying behind the lost Greek text. Several scholars have argued that it was Aramaic. On the other hand, the presence of instances of notable Hebraisms (such as the infinitive absolute construction) has lead most modern scholars to postulate a Hebrew original underlying the Greek.

(11) Hare (1985: 380) wrote concerning "The Lives of the Prophets" that

It is believed by many that The Lives of the Prophets was originally written in one of the Semitic languages. A few scholars have proposed that the original language was Syriac, but this position has won few supporters. More widespread is the view, vigorously defended by C. C. Torrey, that the book was composed in Hebrew.

(12) Robinson (1985: 414) concluded concerning "4 Baruch" that

Several early scholars, particularly R. H. Charles and those influenced by him, maintained that the original language of 4 Baruch was Greek. Since the time of Charles, however, scholars have generally come to favor the hypothesis of a Semitic original for the work.

(13) Charlesworth (1985: 726) noted concerning the "Odes of Solomon" that

Some scholars have thought that the original language [of the Odes of Solomon] is Greek, others that it is Hebrew. It is probable that they were composed in Syriac (or Aram.)... Most importantly, the attractive quality if the extant Syriac is indicative that Syriac is probably the original language.

(14) Rubinkiewicz (1985: 682) asserted concerning the "Apocalypse of Abraham" that

A thorough investigation of the original language of the Apocalypse of Abraham has never been undertaken The Slavonic text of the Apocalypse of Abraham contains several Hebrew names The parallelism of the verses reflect Semitic thought. The positive instead of a comparative betrays a Semitic original The syntax of the temporal phrases reflects the Hebrew original of our apocalypse. . . The foregoing suggests that the Apocalypse of Abraham was written in a Semitic language, probably Hebrew.

(15) Klijn (1985: 616) conjectured concerning "2 (Syriac Apocalypse of) Baruch that

The Greek version, most of which is lost, appears to have been translated from Hebrew. An original Hebrew should be accepted because of the many parallels between 2 Baruch and other Jewish literature composed in Hebrew or Aramaic. In some cases the Syriac text is intelligible only after translating it into Hebrew. Finally, a translation of the Syriac text into Hebrew restores a play on words apparently contained in the original.

(16) Charlesworth (1985: 444) concluded concerning the "History of the Rechabites" that

The Syriac version [of the History of the Rechabites] . . . may well have been translated from a Greek text, but some of it may go back to an earlier, Semitic source. . . . Some sections appear to have been composed in Greek, others indicate possible translation from a Semitic text, which could be the original language of the earliest portions.

(17) Alexander (1985: 225) stated concerning the "3 Enoch" (Hebrew Apocalypse of Enoch) that

3 Enoch is written in Hebrew.... There is no reason to suppose that the work has been translated into Hebrew from another language, such as Aramaic, in which some Merkabah traditions were written down.

(18) Zervos (1985: 756) concluded that the "Apocalypse of Daniel" was written in Greek, but recognized that

The case for Semitic sources for parts of the apocalyptic section (chs. 8–14) would have to be built on such slight evidence as the occurrence of the odd Semitic place name Gouzēth (9:7) . . . and the Semiticism "sons of men" (14:5) the most that can be said is only that these three examples — Gouzēth in 9:7 [= Goza, a river or channel in Babylon], 'sons of men' in 14:5, and the three letters on the forehead of the Antichrist in manuscript B (9:25) — could conceivably be faint traces of an earlier, possibly Semitic, source or sources that underlie the whole or parts of the apocalyptic section of the Apocalypse of Daniel.

(19) And most significantly for the purpose of the current study, Wright (1985: 640) expressed the following opinions concerning the "Psalms of Solomon"

The Psalms of Solomon, according to the majority of scholars, were composed in Hebrew, very soon afterward translated into Greek, and at some later time into Syriac. . . . It is clear that the Greek is a translation. Ryle and James, and G. B. Gray (in *APOT*) noted features in common with other translations: translational errors from Hebrew, "Semiticisms" in the Greek, etc., our texts are indeed "translation Greek," a phenomenon identifiably distinct from writing originally composed in Greek, even those written in conscious imitation of the Septuagint The Syriac has usually been seen as a translation from the Greek text, although there is some evidence that it was translated from a Hebrew text.

It is most interesting that scholars have often argued —without any extant Hebrew manuscripts—for Semitic *Vorlagen* behind the extant non–Semitic texts of a number of pseudepigraphical works which appeared in a variety of languages and in manuscripts as late as the 9th century C.E. But this conclusion is most often based on the detection of supposed "Semiticisms" in these texts, with little or no appeal to any detailed examination of the texts.

B. The Language of the Psalms of Solomon:

The current interest in the study of the Pseudepigrapha has generated renewed interest in the Psalms of Solomon,⁶ as evidenced by the work of Trafton (1985) on the Syriac psalms and the works of Wright (1985, 1996) on the Greek psalms. One of the questions re-examined in this period of renewed interest is that of the original language behind the Syriac and Greek texts. The Psalms of Solomon are thought by most scholars to have been originally composed in Hebrew and then translated into Greek, and then later into Syriac.⁷

⁶ For a discussion of this renewal of interest see Charlesworth, 1981.

⁷ Viteau (1911: 192–239) provided an extended survey of scholarly opinions about psalms and the debate over their original language, commencing with David Hæschell (1614) and concluding with Rendell Harris (1909).

Ryle and James (1891), Viteau (1911), Gray (1913), and Hann (1982), have demonstrated with considerable evidence that the Greek manuscripts of the Psalms of Solomon are "translation Greek" from a Hebrew original and have accepted the idea that the Syriac manuscripts are a translation of the Greek text of the psalms.

In the most recent focused study of the Syriac texts of the Psalms of Solomon, Trafton (1985) suggested that the psalms in the Syriac manuscripts of the Psalms of Solomon could be a translation made from a Hebrew original. Trafton's suggestion has prompted this further investigation into the question of a Hebrew Vorlage for both the Greek and Syriac Psalms of Solomon. While Trafton made an extensive examination of the Syriac variants, his basic focus was "... not an attempt to determine the original language of the Psalms of Solomon, but rather to determine the value, if any, of the Syriac version" (1985:22). However, Trafton addressed the possibility of a Hebrew Vorlage, and concluded cautiously that (1) "Nothing has been found to call into question the scholarly consensus that the PssSol were composed in Hb, and thus, that the Gk version was translated from Hb" (187), and (2) "The quality, variety, and amount of evidence which points to a Hb Vorlage, against that which points to a Gk Vorlage, tips the balance of probability in favor of Hb." (207).

However, one of the limitations of Trafton's work is that he does not offer thorough philological support for his cautious conclusions that there are thirty-one places where the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts can be best explained by assuming a Hebrew *Vorlage*. Consequently, Trafton (1985: 195) found it necessary to concede that:

Of these thirty-one passages, eight could be explained plausibly on the basis of lost Gk readings of which the extant Gk readings are corruptions . . . , three could be explained on the basis of an inner-Sy corruption . . . , and three could be explained in terms of (mis) translation of the extant Gk readings.

For the other seventeen passages he stated, "Sy could be explained as paraphrase, free translation, guesswork, or 'correction' on the part of the a Sy translator using a Gk *Vorlage*."

Wright (1988, 131–134) reviewed Trafton's study and, taking seriously his reservations, concluded that while "Trafton has made a substantial contribution to research on the Psalms of Solomon . . . the Syriac cannot at the present time be proven to be a translation directly from the Hebrew "Thus, the exact nature of the relationship between the Syriac and the Greek psalms and the probability that the Syriac and the Greek were translated from a Hebrew Vorlage requires more definitive study. Consequently, the purpose of this analysis is to investigate the probability that the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts of the Psalms of Solomon can be best explained by assuming there was a Hebrew Vorlage which was read and misread differently by the Greek and the Syriac translators.

C. Possible Options for the Relationship of the Greek to the Syriac Texts:

Theoretically, at least eight different scenarios could be argued for with reference to the relationship of the Greek and Syriac textual traditions. It is possible that

- (1) the psalms were composed in Hebrew and were translated into Greek, and they were subsequently translated from the Greek into Syriac. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could most likely be explained by textual variants in the Greek text tradition.
- (2) the psalms were composed in Hebrew and were subsequently translated into Syriac, and from the Syriac they were then translated into Greek. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could most likely be explained by textual variants in the Syriac text tradition.

- (3) the psalms were composed in Hebrew and were subsequently translated into Greek, and were then translated independently of the Greek from Hebrew into Syriac. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could not be explained by textual variants in either the Greek text tradition or the Syriac text tradition, but at times appeal would have to be made to a conjectured Hebrew *Vorlage* and to Hebrew and cognate lexicography.
- (4) the psalms were composed in Greek, and from the original Greek they were translated into Syriac. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could most likely be explained by textual variants in the Greek text tradition.
- (5) the psalms were composed in Syriac, and from the original Syriac they were translated into Greek. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could most likely be explained by textual variants in the Syriac text tradition.
- (6) the psalms were composed in Aramaic and were subsequently translated into Greek, and from the Greek they were then translated into Syriac. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could probably be explained by textual variants in the Greek tradition, without making an appeal to Aramaic lexicography.
- (7) the psalms were composed in Aramaic and were subsequently translated into Syriac, and from the Syriac they were then translated into Greek. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could most likely be explained by textual variants in the Syriac text tradition, without making any appeal to Aramaic lexicography.
- (8) the psalms were composed in Hebrew and were subsequently translated into Greek, and the Syriac translator

worked from both the Hebrew original and the Greek translation, depending upon the Syriac translator's ability to understand the Hebrew and/or the Greek at any particular place. If so, the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts could not be explained simply by textual variants in the Greek text tradition, but at times appeal would have to be made to a conjectured Hebrew *Vorlage* and to Hebrew and cognate lexicography.

The working hypothesis of this study draws primarily from the third and eighth possibility listed here. The study will attempt to demonstrate that the Greek and the Syriac textual traditions of the Psalms of Solomon are derived from independent translations of a Hebrew *Vorlage*. The focus will be on those passages where the Greek and the Syriac texts differ. (When the texts are in agreement, it is impossible to tell who translated whom.) It is in the variations where the proposal for a Hebrew *Vorlage* can best be tested, and if the test of the working hypothesis demonstrates a high degree of probability, it should be relatively easy to account for the differences in the Greek and Syriac translations.

Essentially what follows in this study is (1) a corroboration of the conclusion made by Wright (above, page 6) and a number of other scholars before him (above, footnote 8) that the Greek text of the Psalms of Solomon is from a Hebrew *Vorlage*, and (2) a corroboration of Kuhn's confident conclusion ("...daß 5 nicht aus 6, sondern direkt aus 5 übersetzt hat" [1937:8]) and Trafton's cautious agreement that the Syriac text comes from a Hebrew *Vorlage*. In this study, all eighteen of the Psalms of Solomon are reviewed and it has

⁸ Kuhn (1937) worked with the same assumptions and presented eighteen passages which appeared to him to have been translated directly from the Hebrew, but Trafton (1985), in light of his reservations cite above, appears to have worked with the first and the eighth possibilities. On the other hand, Harris (1909, 1911), Viteau (1911), Gray (1913), Harris and Mingana (1916), Begrich (1939), and Baars (1972) worked solely with the first possibility. No one has ventured to suggest that possibilities two, four, five, six, or seven have any merit beyond being theoretical possibilities.

been demonstrated that a shared *Vorlage* can account for the differences between the Greek and Syriac psalms in more than 200 passages.

Methodology

A history of the scholarly consensus that the Greek texts of the Psalms of Solomon are translations of psalms written originally in Hebrew will not be given in this study since Viteau (1911) and Trafton (1985) have provided adequate summaries. This study provides a reconstructed *Vorlage* for the poetic lines which are examined. However, a full *Vorlage* of all the psalms has not been provided in this study since several "back translations" have already been done for the Greek text of the psalms by Franz Delitzsch (manuscript, n.d.), Frankenberg (1896), and Stein (1969–1970).

Since this study concentrates on those passages where the Greek and Syriac differ, the verses where the Syriac and the Greek are substantially the same have not be discussed unless the texts which are in agreement are unintelligible or are contextually inappropriate translations. (Passages where the Greek and the Syriac texts differ but the differences can be accounted for by appeal to inner–Greek or inner–Syriac corruptions have not been reviewed.)

This study of the Psalms of Solomon accepts the integrity of work of the most recent textual critics: Wright for the Greek text, and Baars and Trafton for the Syriac text. The writer examined those passages where a textual variant in the Greek text tradition or the Syriac textual tradition might possibly resolve the issue. But this method was seldom productive. It became necessary to translate the Greek text where it disagreed with the Syriac text into Hebrew and, likewise, to translate the Syriac text into Hebrew when it disagreed with the Greek text.

This process required the selection of one Hebrew word from a broad range of synonyms for the particular Greek or Syriac word to be reflected in the reconstructed Hebrew. The semantic range of the various synonyms had to be carefully monitored. Once the reconstructed Hebrew schematization was in focus, it was necessary to work concurrently with the following three methods: (A) a text critical examination of the options for the proposed Hebrew *Vorlage*, (B) an exegetical analysis of the lexical options under review which was sensitive to the semantic range of the words, recognizing that different translators may have opted for different nuances of the same word, and (C) a philological inquiry into other options available when the first two methods proved unsuccessful.

A. The text critical examination of the reconstructed Hebrew options meant looking for

- (1) possibilities of graphically similar letters being confused in a manner which could have produced translations which could account for the differences between the Greek and the Syriac texts
- (2) a combination of Hebrew consonants which could have contributed to a haplography which would account for differences between the Greek and the Syriac texts
- (3) a combination of Hebrew consonants which could have contributed to a dittography or the formation of doublets which would account for differences
- (4) a combination of Hebrew consonants which could have contributed to a metathetic shift in a word which would account for differences
- (5) a combination of Hebrew consonants which could have produced homographs in the unvocalized text which would account for differences
- (6) a combination of Hebrew consonants which could have been so misdivided that the words created by a different word division would account for the differences.

- B. The exegetical method used in this study focused on selecting the right definition of a word in the proposed Hebrew *Vorlage* which would account for the differences between the Greek and the Syriac texts. This involved
 - (1) a review of the semantic range of all the Hebrew words which could have been read by either the Greek translator or the Syriac translator,
 - (2) looking for occurrence of metonymy which could have produced the differences in the two translations,
 - (3) looking for Semitic idioms which could have been rendered differently in Greek than in Syriac,
 - (4) looking for homographs in the unvocalized text which could account for such differences as active versus passive voice,
 - (5) looking for confusion which could occur due to *scriptio plena* versus *scriptio defectiva*.
- C. The philological method, narrowly defined involved
 - (1) checking lexical options in the cognate Semitic languages since the translators of the Greek and Syriac texts were not restricted to the vocabulary found in current Hebrew lexicons,
 - (2) looking for archaic Hebrew and archaisms which could have gone unrecognized by the Greek and Syriac translators, i.e., looking for such items as archaic emphatic particles, double-duty prepositions, double-duty verbs, double-duty negatives, and double-duty vocatives,
 - (3) looking for occurrence of aural similarities which could have resulted in different readings *in* the different *Vorlagen* or a different reading *of* the *Vorlagen*.

Short of the discovery of a Hebrew manuscript of the Psalms of Solomon, certainty about a Hebrew *Vorlage* is not possible. However, if in a significant number of passages

where the Greek and Syriac texts are different the differences can be demonstrated by the above methodology to be explained only by a Hebrew *Vorlage*, then the probability of a Hebrew *Vorlage* has been established.

CHAPTER TWO

TEXT AND COMMENTARY

Psalm One

1:1

έβόησα πρὸς κύριον ἐν τῷ θλίβεσθαί με <u>εἰς</u> τέλος I cried out to the Lord when I was severely troubled.9 $\frac{10}{10}$ I called out to the Lord when I was distressed at my end. ¹¹ קראתי אל יהוה בצרתי בנצחי

I cried to Yahweh in my distress at my defeat

The Syriac and the Greek εἰς τέλος are very problematic. Perles (1902: 10–12), followed by Gray (1913: 631), suggested that the ϵ נֹל דַבּאָס translated למנצה "to the chief musician" and is now dislocated from its original position as the title of the Psalm. If $\epsilon i \le \tau \epsilon \lambda o \le did$ not originate as a misplaced psalm title, Gray conjectured, following Ryle and James (1891:2-3) and Kittel (1900: 130), that it was probably an intensification to be translated in context as "when I was in sore distress." Wright (1985: 651), following Viteau's "tribulation extréme" (1911:254–255) and most other scholars, also regarded this phrase as an intensive. Trafton (1985: 24) pointed out that the Syriac does not support either of these suggestions. He noted that in Psalm 2:5, "where the idea of intensification is clear the Syriac has appropriately

⁹ All English translations of the Greek unless otherwise noted are from Wright 1985: 651-670.

¹⁰ The Syriac font was designed by R. B. Wright.

¹¹ All English translations of the Syriac, unless otherwise noted, are from Trafton 1985: passim.

"utterly disgraced" for ϵ ls τέλος." He concluded that in 1:1a "The idea of intensification fits the context best, but the origin of the Syriac remains unclear."

However, greater clarity might come from examining alternative Hebrew words which could explain the Greek and Syriac. First, it is important to note that in the LXX $\epsilon i_S \tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ or just $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ never translates $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ "later" or $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ "other, another," which are the Hebrew cognates of source (see Hatch and Redpath, 1344). This mitigates against (1) any assumption or argument that $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ reflects a Hebrew or Syriac Vorlage having the vocable $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ instead of a Hebrew Vorlage with a stem other than $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ instead of a Hebrew Vorlage with a stem other than $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ instead of a Hebrew Vorlage with a stem other than $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ instead of a Hebrew Vorlage with a stem other than $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ instead of a Hebrew Vorlage with a stem other than $\tau \epsilon \lambda_{OS}$ in the replanation.

A Hebrew Vorlage which would account for the Syriac אשל של מו and the Greek פּוֹך דַּבְּאָסַרְ could have been a Hebrew text with either the noun חכלית "end" or נצח "end" (see Jastrow, 1668 and 928, respectively). In the LXX פּוֹך (דֹּט) דַּבָּאָסַרְ frequently translates the stem חֹכלית "to come to the end, to complete," from which comes the noun הכלית "end." Were the Hebrew Vorlage הכלית "my end" (or any other form of בּלָה) the corresponding stem in Syriac, של "to withhold, to restrain," would not have matched the meaning of Hebrew הכלית, the Syriac של "end" would be the anticipated equivalent. "

Were the Hebrew Vorlage מכלית "end" rather than הכלית "end," the corresponding Syriac homophone יש עני, which

¹² The Hebrew *Vorlage* probably was neither אוס "end" nor "ה" "end" since one would then expect the Syriac to have used the same stem, שמש "end" or אמר "end." Franz Delitzsch (n.d., *ad loc.*) initially considered עד מאד but settled on the translation לכלה.

¹³ Syriac احر is also cognate to the Arabic احر "the last, the end" (see Lane, 1863: 32; J. Payne Smith, 1903: 11).

means "to be glad, to sing, to be victorious," would obviously have been an inappropriate translation given the context of distress. However, the Greek τέλος and the Syriac πωτα both could reflect another meaning of the Hebrew מצו "endurance" (BDB, 664, stem I), which occurs in the expressions עד נצח "unto the end" and לנצח "forever, to the end." In such a case, the translators would have missed the fact that the conjectured נצחי in the Vorlage would have been from נצח "to win, to be victorious" (which can be designated as stem II), i.e., a *niph^cal* participle with 1cs suffix (נצחי, with the assimilation of the 1 of the stem), having the meaning "my being defeated." This form in Hebrew would correspond to the Aramaic active pa^cel "to be victorious, to overpower, to conquer" (Jastrow, 928) and the passive 'itpe'al, occurring in the Targum Jerusalmi of Exodus 32:18, which reads in part, "it is not the voice of men victorious in battle I hear; nor is it the voice of the feeble, defeated (דמתנצחין) in battle I hear." (Neophyti I, 213, 506).

Therefore, a proposed Hebrew Vorlage, with either a תכלית or a מום "end," can explain both the Greek דέλος and the Syriac הכלית here. The translators independently, or dependently, chose the contextually incorrect meaning of either חכלית or חבלים, both of which in other contexts would be well translated by τέλος and השלה. The חכלית or חבט of the conjectured Vorlage should have been rendered by Greek or Syriac words for "annihilation" or "defeat." Were the Vorlage some form of השלם the LXX and Syriac would then reflect translations at the wrong end of the semantic range since שלם has the semantic range of "to complete, to end, a complete end," i.e., "annihilation." It is easy to see how a Hebrew Vorlage with either חכלית or הבלית rather than אחר הבלית account for both the Syriac and Greek readings.

The reconstructed *Vorlage* uses ונצו "to be defeated" since the psalmist—though defeated—was alive and able to compose a psalm. Had the poet been annihilated (כלה), the psalm would have gone unwritten.

1:3

ἐλογισάμην ἐν καρδίᾳ μου
 ὅτι ἐπλήσθην δικαιοσύνης
 ἐν τῷ εὐθηνῆσαί με
 καὶ πολλὴν γενέσθαι ἐν τέκνοις.

I considered in my heart that I was full of righteousness, for I had prospered and <u>had many children</u>.

onhuser ete, eft that it could example.

And I thought in my heart because I have been filled with righteousness, When I was rich and was with a multitude of children.

חשבתי בלבי כי מלאתי בצדק כי שלותי ואהיה רבב בנים.

and I thought in my heart that I was filled with righteousness because I had prospered and became one having many children

Trafton (1985: 25) translated the last two words of this verse, καια, as ". . . with a multitude of children." He commented that "the last clause in Sy is difficult. Gk means something like 'I had become large with (or, by means of) children' [καὶ πολλὴν γενέσθαι ἐν τέκνοις] There is no obvious explanation for Sy here."

The difference between the Greek and the Syriac and the difficulty of the Syriac may be explained by suggesting an underlying Hebrew text that may have had the consonant cluster רבבנים, which the Greek read as "great in sons" (reading the preposition prefixed to בנים). The Syriac translator, seeing the same consonant cluster, read the consonants, "רבב בנים, "one having many sons" (the participle in a construct chain). The lack of the preposition in the

Syriac before "sons" argues against the Syriac being translated from the Greek. If the Greek were a translation from the Syriac, it is difficult to account for the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$. However, if both were translating from a *Vorlage* with the consonant cluster ways of dividing the consonants. There is, admittedly, not much difference in meaning with either reading; but it is important because it indicates the probability that a Hebrew *Vorlage* explains the Greek and the Syriac differences.

In the reconstructed Vorlage, the seven–letter consonant cluster רבבנים was divided as רב בנים, following the Syriac textual tradition. Dividing the letters as רב בבנים, as the Greek translator seems to have done, results in an atypical use of of lowed by the preposition \Box .

1:4b

καὶ ἡ δόξα αὐτῶν ἔως ἐσχάτου τῆς γῆς

And their glory to the end of the earth.

Απα πιθακώ κατα [α] πουμαπεδα

And their glory to the ends of the earth.

עד ירכתי ארץ

until the ends of the earth

The Greek has the singular "end of the earth" while the Syriac has "ends of the earth." Trafton (1985: 26) indicated that the Syriac translator could have misread a Greek plural $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\chi\dot{\alpha}\tau\omega\nu$ for the Greek singular $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\chi\dot{\alpha}\tau\upsilon\nu$ or a Hebrew plural instead of a singular קצוח. But neither suggestion is necessary, nor is the difference "moot," as Trafton concluded. In the LXX of Jeremiah 6:22, 25:32, 31:8 and 50:41, for example, where the Hebrew has the plural construct ירכתי "ends of the earth" the LXX has $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\chi\dot{\alpha}\tau\upsilon\nu$ $\tau\eta$ s "the

end of the earth."¹⁴ It is most likely a case where the Syriac followed the Semitic idiom while the Greek (as in the LXX example cited) moves from the Semitic idiom to the Greek idiom. A *Vorlage* that had the construct plural, עד ירכתי ארץ, rather than a construct singular (like מבר קצה הארץ "until the *end* of the earth") would explain the difference between the Greek and Syriac translation of this phrase.

1:6a

אמו <u>έξύβρισαν</u> έν τοῖς ἀγαθοῖς αὐτῶν they <u>were arrogant</u> in their possessions <u>allo</u> and they <u>cursed</u> in their prosperity וקללו בטובתם they were arrogant in their prosperity

In 1:6a, the Syriac has "they cursed in their prosperity," using λ for "cursed," while the Greek has $\dot{\epsilon}$ ξύβρισαν "to act insolently." Trafton (1985: 26) agreed with Harris and Mingana (1868: 143) that this phrase is "foreign to Syriac" and judging the Syriac to be secondary, he concluded, "Nor is there any 'obvious' Hb reading which would account for Gk translating one way and Sy another." However, Hatch and Redpath (1897: 1379) listed four Hebrew words which $\ddot{\upsilon}$ βριζειν translates, namely, אור האור של מול אור לא מול לא מול

¹⁴ Consistently in the LXX the Hebrew masculine plural construct "ends of the earth" is translated as "end of the earth." See Deuteronomy. 33:17; I Samuel 2:10; Psalms 22:27, 59:13, 67:7, 72:8, 98:5; Proverbs 30:4; Isaiah 45:22, 52:10; Micah 5:4; and Zechariah 9:10.

¹⁵ For an instance of קלל being translated by ὕβριζειν see II Samuel 19:43 (MT 19:44) "Why then do you despise us (וְמַדּוּעַ הֵק לֹחָנִי)?"

Psalm Two

2:1a

ἐν τῷ ὑπερηφανεύεσθαι τὸν ἁμαρτωλὸν ἐν κριῷ κατέβαλε τείχη ὀχυρά καὶ οὐκ ἐκώλυσας Arrogantly the sinner broke down the strong walls with a battering ram And you did not interfere.

בצהבשות <u>גרטרא</u> אומי ברבציראי איוא יושיר פרלי ברדי

In his arrogance the <u>lawless one</u> cast down strong walls on the feast day And you did not restrain him.

העול בנאותו חמות בצורות בכר הפיל

The attacker in his arrogance brought down the impregnable walls with a battering ram

or

החטא גאותו חמות בצורות בכר הפיל

The "General" in his arrogance brought down the impregnable walls with a battering ram.

Despite the differences in translation, there seems to be no real difference between the Syriac and the Greek. The Greek has ἀμαρτωλὸν "sinner" and the Syriac has ΔαΔ, which Trafton (1985: 29) translated "lawless one," but which has also the meaning "sinner." Trafton (1985: 31) indicated that ΔαΔ is represented by ἀμαρτωλὸς sixteen times in the Psalms of Solomon, suggesting that behind the Syriac and the Greek was a Hebrew Vorlage with ""sinner." It is of interest to note that "is never translated by ἀμαρτωλὸς in the LXX. But the failure to equate "and ἀμαρτωλὸς in the LXX does not mean that the translator of the Psalms of Solomon could not have made the equation (it simply means the LXX is not an exhaustive collection of Greek–Hebrew equivalents).

There are, however, two other options to consider in reconstructing the *Vorlage*. First, since the Hebrew מול also has the possible meaning "to attack," the poet may have intended עול to have this meaning here and in 1:1. This

definition of עול fits the context as well as "sinner" or "lawless one." If עול "an attacker" had been the intent of the poet, both the Syriac and Greek translators missed the point. 16

While it is possible that the Syriac and Greek agree here with each other (Greek άμαρτωλον, "sinner" equals the Syriac Δ ω "lawless one"), it still seems problematic that a Roman would have been called by the very Jewish word κυπ "sinner." This problem may be the basis for the translation of the Syriac Δ ω as "lawless one." Since the Septuagint does not use άμαρτωλὸς to translate Hebrew χ υν, there is no basis for insisting here in 2:1a or in 1:1 that the stem χ ν, if it were in the *Vorlage*, had to mean "sinner" rather than "attacker."

On the other hand, the *Vorlage* may have had NUT "to be in authority," a by-form of the Arabic cognate "to defend, to hem in (a town), to have men under one's power" (Lane, 1865: 670; Qur'an 17: 62), which I designate as NUT stem II. 17 The Syriac Las equals the well attested NUT "to sin" (which can be designated NUT stem I), indicating that the translator did not recognize the more rare homograph NUT stem II "to be in authority." The Greek translator, likewise, failed to note

¹⁶ Pope (1965: 192) argued for עול "attack" in Job 30:13, נְתִיבְתִי לֹהַנְּתִי לְמֵוֹ בְּעִרִר לְמוֹ which he translated "break up my path to destroy me; they attack with none to stay them." See McDaniel (1983: 64–65 and 297–98) for a detailed discussion on the Arabic and Ugaritic cognates meaning "to attack."

NUΠ stem II, but translated it as άμαρτωλον "sinner," which the LXX usually does.

The Arabic cognate \rightarrow has also the meaning "to hem in a town" (Lane, 1865: 671), a meaning which would also be very appropriate in a Hebrew *Vorlage* having ℵ⊅⊓, given the fact that Pompey—after having the gates of Jerusalem opened to him by the Hyrcanites—hemmed in for more than three months the Temple Mount, where the Patriots had entrenched themselves, and slaughtered more than 12,000 Jews once the wall was breached. The אบก of the Vorlage could have been used with a double entendre which was missed by the translators. Since one cannot be certain as to whether the Vorlage had the stem עול or אם, both options are listed. If the Vorlage had העול there may have been a double entendre meaning "the lawless one" and "the attacker." But if the Vorlage had הטחא there may have been a double entendre meaning "the one in authority" (paraphrased "the General") and "the besieger (of Jerusalem)."

2:1b

έν τῷ ὑπερηφανεύεσθαι τὸν ἁμαρτωλὸν ἐν κριῷ κατέβαλε τείχη ὀχυρά καὶ οὐκ ἐκώλυσας

Arrogantly the sinner broke down the strong walls with a <u>battering ram</u> and you did not interfere.

בצהבתוות הבהלא אומי בבהבאהא צמוא מעא הלא בליף

In his arrogance the lawless one cast down strong walls on the feast day, and you did not restrain him.

העול בגאותו הפיל בכר חמות בצורות

The attacker in his arrogance brought down the impregnable walls with a battering ram

It is difficult to see how the Greek or Syriac is a translation of each other. The Greek text is supported by Josephus (*Antiquities* 14: 4: 2) that Pompey had "imported the machine

from Tyre." Trafton (1985: 32) correctly noted that the difference between the Greek and Syriac "can hardly be explained as a confusion of Greek κριος with εορτη," thus an inner corruption of the Greek is not likely. Harris and Mingana (1911: I, 79) suggested that Syriac אודי "on a feast day" is a corruption of with great beams." Trafton (1985: 32) suggested either that the "Syriac translator misread an original Hebrew כרה ("battering-ram") as כרה ("feast days"), or, alternately, that the Greek translator misread an original ⊃⊃ as ⊃⊃." Trafton is correct in my opinion, and, were the *Vorlage* as I have proposed above, it is easy to see how the misreading could have occurred. The last two words, בכר הפיל "with a battering ram brought down," were corrupted by a dittography of the π , resulting in an erroneous "with a battering ram he (sic) brought down," בכר ההפיל which the Syriac translator read as הפיל בכרה "on a feast day he brought down." The reconstructed *Vorlage* for this phrase follows the Greek text tradition.

2:1b οὐκ ἐκώλυσας you did not interfere ארבים And you did not restrain {him} ואתה לא כההר and you did not restrain him

Trafton (1985: 32) indicated that "neither Sy nor Gk has a direct object," but he rightly restored "{him}" in his translation. A Hebrew *Vorlage* with הם from the root הם "to restrain, to reproach, to denounce" with the 3ms verbal suffix, (like the הוד of Leviticus 27:24 "he acquired him") meaning "he restrained him" could explain the lack of a direct object in the Greek and the Syriac. The הוד of the suffix was read as the הוד of the stem and the ווד of the אוד was read as the הוד of the stem and the ווד was read as the conjunction. The first word of 2:3 in Syriac begins with the

copula and Trafton rightly noted (1985: 32) that the "Greek has no parallel to the <u>Waw</u>–copulative twice in this verse."

2:2b

κατεπατοῦσαν ἐν ὑποδήμασιν αὐτῶν ἐν ὑπερηφανία they arrogantly trampled (it) with their sandals

אר באב.מה המשנים ממה באב.מה and they were trampling (it) with their shoes in arrogance וסאוניהם בזדון רמטו

and with their boots in arrogance they trampled (it). ¹⁸
Again, neither the Greek or the Syriac has a direct object.
A Hebrew Vorlage that contained מוֹך "to trample" (as in Isaiah 16:4, מוֹך הַאָּרִיץ "and he who tramples under foot [italics added] has vanished from the land") would not require a direct object and, therefore, neither the Syriac or the Greek would necessarily have one. The Syriac translator did not choose the root מוֹל "to tread (dances), to beat the ground (in dancing)," the Syriac synonym of מוֹל ("to tread"), because of the military overtones of 2:2a which מוֹל איל would not

¹⁸ Franz Delitzsch (n.d., *ad loc.*), Frankenberg (1896: 66), and Stein (1969: 438) also used מאון for "trample," but none used סאון for "boot," all three having instead the noun נעל.

reflect. Instead the translator chose the synonym عدم, using the participle plural حدمته, "(they) were trampling."

A military nuance may also be suggested for the *Vorlage* by using שנות "shoe." This noun appears in Isaiah 9:4, כֵּי כֵלְּי חָלְּהָה מְּגוֹלְלָה בְּדָמִים , which the RSV translated "for every boot (סְאוֹן) of the trampling warrior (סְאוֹן) in battle tumult, and every garment rolled in blood," which depicts a military scene like that in Psalms of Solomon 2. An explicit military nuance, which is suggested by the Syriac בבשנתם, in 2:2a is not evident in the Greek text.

2:4a

ενεκεν <u>τούτων</u> εἶπεν because of <u>these things</u> he said ארב <u>אור</u> בער ביר סח account <u>of this</u> he said על דבר אמר

on account of these things he said

The Syriac has the singular κων while the Greek has the plural τούτων. If the Hebrew *Vorlage* had the phrase $\neg \Box \neg \Box$, it would have been indeterminate enough to allow either a singular or a plural translation. If this were the case, the Greek read $\neg \Box \Box$ as a plural and the Syriac read it as a singular. The translation of the *Vorlage* uses the plural "these," despite the Syriac singular, since (1) the Syriac text of 2:3 indicates that there were two acts of defilement by the "sons of Jerusalem," and (2) the Greek has the plural τ ού τ ων.

2:4a

מπορρίψατε αὐτὰ <u>μακρὰν</u> ἀπ' ἐμου remove them <u>far</u> from me בנג <u>απκρὰν</u> απ' ἐμου remove them and <u>cast</u> them away from me

הרחק השליכום ממני cast them afar off from me

The word order is different between Greek and Syriac here. The Syriac has verb, verb, direct object, and suffixed preposition; but the Greek has verb, direct object, adverb and preposition plus pronoun. Trafton suggested that "to be removed far away" could be a translation of μακραν (if the Syriac were derived from the Greek), or the Hebrew Vorlage could simply have had two verbs. If the Vorlage had two words, it is problematic why the Greek, generally quite literal, does not have two verbs. A solution comes from assuming a Hebrew Vorlage with infinitive absolute and a finite verb. The Greek translation rendered the infinitive absolute by an adverb μακραν "far" (the equivalent of PΠΠΩ), and the Syriac translation opted to translate it as the imperative "remove."

2:4b

οὐκ ἐυόδωκεν αὐτοῖς (Wright: 1995)¹⁹

they are not <u>sweet-smelling</u>

<u>απων μοδικ</u> κλο

and he did not <u>establish with</u> them

and he did not prosper them (i.e., the sons of Jerusalem)

The Greek manuscripts are divided here between some form of $\epsilon \mathring{\upsilon} \omega \delta \acute{\epsilon} \omega$ "to be fragrant, to be sweet-smelling" and $\epsilon \mathring{\upsilon} \delta \circ \kappa \acute{\epsilon} \omega$ "to be pleased in, to take delight in." It is possible that the change to

¹⁹ Rahlfs reading is οὐκ ὐδοκῶ ἐν αὐτοῖς, but it is not the basis for Wright's translation. None of the Greek manuscripts of the Psalms of Solomon read ευδοκω. Rahlfs indicated that this reading follows the suggestions of von Gebhardt (1868, 1895), Hilgenfeld (1868), and Wellhausen (1924).

²⁰ Contra Stein (1969: 438) and Frankenberg (1896: 67) who translated this as בם המאל (using רצה, "to be pleased with"), and Franz Delitzsch (n.d., *ad loc*.) who used the synonym מאר בוה ביים.

εὐδοκέω is correct and thus restores the original Greek reading. The range of meaning of ϵ ὐδοκέω includes "to be favored, to prosper" (Liddell and Scott [1940: 710]), meanings which are not far from the Syriac could then be a translation of ϵ ὐδοκέω, or the Greek could be a translation of the Syriac. But the suggestion of Harris and Mingana (1868: 89) that could be a "rough" translation of ϵ ὐοδωκέν is most unlikely since the range of meanings for the words do not overlap.

A better possibility is to reconstruct a Hebrew *Vorlage* that explains the difference between the Greek and the Syriac. Kuhn (1937: 9–10) suggested that and εὐοδωκέν are perhaps independent translations of an original Hebrew \Box "he did not prosper them." But this retroversion does not solve the problem if the Greek were εὐοδωκέν. Therefore, my reconstruction uses the stem \Box "to setup, to establish, to remedy, to improve," the same stem that the Syriac translator used.

If the verb were a participle with a preformative מ and the verbal suffix \square "them" (= מתקנם), it would be easy to see how the Greek translator could have read the noun "sweet-smelling ones" rather than מתקנם "establishing them," reflecting a confusion or a ' and a \square .

2:5 (G), 2:4b (S)

τὸ κάλλος τῆς δόξῆς αὐτῆς the beauty of his glory²³

²¹ Mss 260, 149, 471, 606 have ἐυώδωκεν. Mss 655 and 659 have ἐνέδωκεν (apparently some form of ἐν + ἐυδόκεω) and the others have ἐυόδωκεν, as in Wright's text cited above.

 $^{^{22}}$ The root מתק, "sweet" is well attested in Hebrew (Job 24:20, 21:33; Proverbs 9:17; Exodus 15:25; and Psalm 55:15).

²³ Rahlfs read τὸ κάλλος τῆς δόξης αὐτῆς "the beauty of her glory."

EDET THE DUME

the beauty of her glory²⁴
שפר בכבדו

the ruler in his glory²⁵

The issues in this poetic line are of gender and whose "glory" is being referred to. Trafton opted for the variant with the suffix $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ "her" in Syriac ms 10hl. Rahlfs also read with three manuscripts αὐτῆς "her." Syriac manuscripts, other than 10hl, have the masculine suffix a, and eight of the Greek manuscripts have the masculine $\alpha \dot{v} \tau \circ \hat{v}$. If the pronominal element were masculine, the reference about who or what was not being established could have any of the preceding masculine singular nouns mentioned in verses 2:1-4, starting with the ἁμαρτωλὸν in 2:1. Since "God" is mentioned in the next phrase of 2:5, the pronoun cannot refer to him (unless one were to argue for an Aramaic-style anticipatory pronoun).²⁶ In fact, the ἁμαρτωλὸν / Καιαρτωλον referred to in 2:1 and understood to mean "the General" or "the attacker" or "the besieger"²⁷ is the most likely candidate. If so, the pronoun refers to Pompey. (If the pronoun was originally $\alpha \mathring{v} \tau \hat{\eta}_S$, the reference must have been to [the feminine] Jerusalem.)

In deciding which of these alternative readings was original, we could accept the feminine on reading of Syriac ms 10hl,

²⁴ Trafton is following the Syriac manuscript 10hl here which has a variant with the diacritical point that makes πλυπρομόπ feminine (see Robinson, 1949: 24). This enabled him to see "her" as Jerusalem, clarifying verse 6 where reference is made to "her sons and her daughters."

²⁵ Perhaps "glory" refers to Jerusalem, i.e., Jerusalem's being his (God's) glory. See Ginzberg's (1968: vol. 5, 417) discussion of the story in *Orehot Zaddikim* of Moses' visiting the heavens where the angels, after reading in the Torah about the third day of creation, "chant the glory of Jerusalem."

²⁶ Wright (1985: 652) made the pronoun refer to God by interpreting "his glory" to be a reference to either the Temple, to a theophany, or to the *swl* (*sic*, MT שול) "the draperies" or "tapestries" of the Temple.

²⁷ See the discussion, above, on 2:1.

although it is not supported by the majority of the Greek manuscripts. But it needs to be noted that, if the Syriac was translated before the 4th century C.E., the Syriac would have been ambiguous for it was only after this that diacritical marks were added to the Syriac text.²⁸ Or we could follow the eight Greek manuscripts (as did Franz Delitzsch [n.d., *ad loc.*], who translated in and the Syriac ms 16hl and read "his," referring to the "one with authority" (i.e., "the General"), an option which fits the context.

²⁸ See Roberts (1951:225), noting especially his statement that

^{...} it has been shown that the vocalization and pointing of the Hebrew text is indebted, in part at least, to the first pointing of the Syriac Scriptures. Here we note that the influence was mutual, for Syriac vocalization, too, was developed to a large extent under the tradition of textual transmission among the Jews The Jacobite Massorah is to be found in the Peshiṭta revision of Jacob of Edessa (about A.D. 705) and in the *Auzar Raze* of bar-Hebraeus, 1278.

The issue of number depending on the use of the *seyame* and the ambiguity of the text before its use, comes up in the following passages of the Psalms of Solomon: 2:4, 6; 3:7,8; 4:4, 9, 23; 5:11; 6:5; 9:3, 6, 7; 10:3; 11:2; 12:1; 13:4, 9; 14:2,3; 16:2; 17:14, 26; 18:1

²⁹ See von Soden (1981: 1172–1173) for the meaning of *šapiru* "Beamter, Konig, Gebietskommissar, or Flusskommandant."

If つきば "ruler" (= šapiru) were in the Hebrew Vorlage it could be a reference to Aristobulus II who was dethroned by Pompey. If so, the pronominal "his" would be preferable. Consequently, the Vorlage is best represented by the Greek manuscripts and Syriac ms 16hl. It has been reconstructed as ココロコロロ "the ruler in his glory."³⁰

2:5-6a (G), 2:4b-6a (S)

<u>ἐξουθενώθη</u> ἐνώπιον τοῦ θεοῦ <u>ἠτιμώθη</u> ἕως εἰς τέλος οἱ υἱοὶ καὶ αἱ θυγατέρες ἐν αἰχμαλωσία πονηρᾶ

[the beauty of his glory] was despised before God it was completely disgraced.

The sons and the daughters (were) in harsh captivity,

It was despised before the Lord

It was utterly disgraced.

Her sons and her daughters were in bitter captivity.

נבזה לפני אלהים בוש בש בניו ובנתו בשבות רעה

[the ruler] was despised before God, he was utterly ashamed; his sons and his daughters were in harsh captivity.

The preposition \square of \square was apparently lost by haplography.

and 659) does not have possessive pronouns, but it does have definite articles. The Syriac in 2:6 does not have the definite emphatic state³¹ but it has the *seyame* to indicate "her." At least one Syriac manuscript, 16hl, omits the *seyame* and thus is masculine. The system of diacriticals did not come into existence prior to the 4th century C.E. Singular and plural forms in any text prior to that time would have been ambiguous.³² The reconstructed *Vorlage* carries through with the masculine, with the antecedent of "his" being the "ruler" of Jerusalem who was not established (probably Aristobulus).

2:6b

έν σφραγίδι ὁ τράχηλος αὐτῶν ἐν ἐπισήμῷ ἐν τοῖς ἔθνεσιν their neck in a seal, a spectacle before the gentiles.

מסגלתהם בשבת בלהתה, נודא עולייבא בימבא

And upon their neck was placed the sealed yoke of the nations. על צוארהם שים על בחחים באמות

Upon their neck was placed a yoke with chains on the forearms.

The Greek and the Syriac are notably different here. Ryle and James (1891:12) refer to this as a passage of "great obscurity," but Trafton (1985:35) said that "... Gk is very difficult... Sy, on the other hand, makes excellent sense." Trafton's translation, "And upon their neck was placed the sealed yoke of the nations," does not produce an image any more clear than the Greek. What is a "sealed yoke of the nations"? The expression does not occur in the Hebrew Bible. Trafton conjectured that the Syriac may represent an attempt to clarify a corrupt Greek text or that the Syriac rightly translated some Hebrew text and the Greek is corruption of that

³¹ Unlike Hebrew and Arabic, Aramaic, including Syriac, does not have a prefixed definite article but makes extensive use of a suffixed 8 for the "emphatic state."

³² This applies also to 2:38 and 2:39 where there are differences in number (rather than gender) between the Greek and the Syriac texts.

Hebrew text. In my opinion, the Syriac and the Greek are both corruptions of the Hebrew *Vorlage* given above. The *Vorlage*, as reconstructed, has על twice. However, the second על is not the preposition "upon, about" but the noun "yoke" (well attested in Hebrew) which the Syriac translated as על "yoke."

The Syriac and the Greek translators misread the suggested original "רוחם" "chains" as בחתים "seal." "seal." "Hebrew בחח occurs in Ezekiel 19:4, מַצְרָיִם "מְצְרָיִם "and they brought him [i.e., a lion symbolizing Judah's fallen king] in chains to the land of Egypt"; and this is followed in 19:9 by, וְיִבְּאָהוֹּ בְּבֶּלְּ בְּבֶּלְ הַּבֶּלְ הַּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַנְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הוֹ this is followed in 19:9 by, וְיִבְאָהוֹּ בְּבֶּלְ הָבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הַבְּבֶּלְ הוֹ cage in chains and brought to the king of Babylon."

In our text, whereas the Syriac and Greek read ממח as the preposition באמות and a plural of ממח "people, nations," I read ממות as the plural of the noun ממה "forearm. While ממה "forearm" does not appear in Biblical Hebrew, the noun is well attested in other Hebrew texts (Jastrow 1950: 75) and in cognate Semitic languages. It survives in modern Israeli Hebrew (see Ben Yehuda and Weinstein, 1964: 11).

Wright's translation of ἐπισήμω ἐν τοῖς ἔθνεσιν as "spectacle before the nations," differs from Trafton's (1985: 35) "with a badge among the nations," but Wright correctly picked up the nuance of being "conspicuous" or "notorious" (see Liddell and Scott, 1940: 656). The Syriac and the Greek are misreadings of תל צוארהם שׁים על בחחים באמות of this line. The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the word order of the Syriac text, but it differs from the Syriac in the understanding of two of the four nouns.

2:8

ἀπέστρεψεν γὰρ τὸ πρόσωπον αὐτοῦ ἀπὸ ἐλέους <u>αὐτῶν</u> νέον καὶ πρεσβύτην for he turned away his face from their mercy; (from) young and old

See Delitzsch, 1920: 110, § 106^{a-e} , for examples of the confusion of Π and Π .

אמביא המפתא ליז אפתה, מבינה אמביא משביא הפעדא משביא הספביא for he turned away his face from his mercy וסור פניו מרחמיו and he turned aside his face from his mercy

The Greek manuscripts (except for ms 336, which agrees with the Syriac) have "their mercy" while the Syriac texts have "his mercy." Trafton (1985: 35) concluded that the "[Gk]... perhaps makes better sense, although it is certainly possible that 'his' stood in the original Hb." If מרחמים "his compassion" were in the Hebrew *Vorlage*, the Syriac accurately reflects the original. It would have been easy for the Greek translator to have read the final "as a מרחמים was read correctly by the Syriac translator as "his mercy" and misread by the Greek translator as "their mercy."

2:8b (G), 2:9 (S)

Trafton (1985: 36) correctly noted that the "me" of the Syriac is out of place and that it would be expected that the Syriac would have "him" in this verse, as the Greek implies: (him = God). A Hebrew *Vorlage* with the suffixed direct object particle

³⁴ See Delitzsch (1920: 120, §132e) for the misreading of יו as a מ. He noted, for example, Nehemiah 2:1, where לפנים and לפנים were confused, and Psalm 141:10, where מכמריו was confused with מכמריו. Franz Delitzsch (n.d., ad loc.) paraphrased עליהם

misread as 'TN' (reflecting the very common confusion of and ')³⁵ would easily explain the Syriac "me." Consequently, the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text in this poetic line.

2:9 (G), 2:10 (S)

καὶ ὁ οὐρανὸς <u>ἐβαρυθύμησεν</u>

and the heavens were weighed down

prkate Krak pangko

and heaven was angered greatly,

וכעס השמים

and the heavens were exceedingly angry

As the differences between the translations of Wright and Trafton point to a Greek *Vorlage*, the difference between the Syriac text and the Greek text point to a Hebrew *Vorlage*. The Syriac δικατάτα κατά σε preserved the poetic parallelism with "the earth despised them" of the next line. Wright translated $\dot{\epsilon}$ βαρυθύμησεν, an aorist active indicative 3s, as the passive "(they) were weighed down." However, the translation of $\dot{\epsilon}$ βαρυθύμησεν ought to be active"—something like "the heavens loathed" (see Liddell and Scott [1940: 312]), or "(they) weighed down," or "(they) oppressed" or "(they) wearied"—and ought to parallel "the earth despised them." The Greek also lacks a parallel to the intensifying adverb of the Syriac δικατάτα" "greatly."

³⁵ Delitzsch (1920: 103–105) has two pages listing passages where this confusion has been noted.

Second, the apparent difference in English between "it angered" and "it weighed down" may not have been in the Greek. In Liddell and Scott (1940: 312) $\dot{\epsilon}$ βαρυθύμησ $\epsilon \nu$ has the definition "to be indignant," which, while not an exact match with "anger," is not too distant a nuance. Indeed, $\dot{\epsilon}$ βαρυθύμησ $\epsilon \nu$ in Numbers 16:15 translates Hebrew $\Box\Box\Box$ (for which the RSV has "anger").

A Hebrew *Vorlage* with the verb "to be angry" in the intensive pi^cel could explain the intensifying adverb of the Syriac. The difference between the qal and the pi^cel would be obvious only in a pointed text. The verb סשס, "to be vexed, angry," (attested in the pi^cel in I Samuel 1:6 and Deuteronomy 32:21) could be read as סשס, an intensive pi^cel the Syriac translator represented with the intensive מול ביל היל . If the Greek read סשס as the qal סשס, there would have been no need for an adverb of intensity. Consequently, while it is tempting when reconstructing the *Vorlage* to follow the Syriac and have an adverb like המול "greatly" in the text — and one would have to explain its loss in Greek—I am opting for the intensifying pi^cel סשס which may be rendered by a verb and an adverb.

2:10 (G), 2:12 (S)

καὶ $\gamma \nu \omega \sigma \epsilon \tau \alpha \iota$ ή $\gamma \eta$ and the earth shall know

סדעבי אובא

and in order that the earth might know.

ותדע הארץ that the earth might know.

One difference between the Greek and Syriac in this phrase is evident in Wright's and Trafton's translations. The Greek has the future and the Syriac has the imperfect. Trafton (1985: 36) argued rightly that no errors need be posited, but he did not deal with the $\boldsymbol{\pi}$ of the Syriac other than to observe ". . . neither is there an obvious Hb reading which would explain its presence." However, a bit more can be said.

The Greek future γνώσεται can simply be a translation of an imperfect in the Hebrew *Vorlage*. The issue of the Syriac particle remains. It is not necessary to posit as Gray (1913: 632) did that the Greek translator missed the sense of the *waw*—consecutive of an original Hebrew text³⁶ to explain either the tense of the Greek or the lack of some representation in Greek of the particle. The has many more meanings and uses than simply as the copula, some of which correspond to meanings of the particle r in Syriac (see BDB 251–254). The Syriac translator and the Greek translator did not reflect in their translations of this verse the other nuances of the lack.

2:13a (G), 2:14b (S)

καὶ θυγατέρες Ιερουσαλημ <u>βέβηλοι</u> and the daughters of Jerusalem were <u>available to all 37 </u>

פראש ביאבונע שלדבי

and the daughters of Jerusalem were defiled

בנות ירושלם מטמאות

and the daughters of Jerusalem, (were) the ones defiled

The Greek $\beta \in \beta \eta \lambda \delta \omega$ means "to be profaned, to be defiled, to be unholy, to be polluted." The Greek $\beta \notin \beta \eta \lambda \omega$ is an adjective, but the Syriac has a verb, an "ethpe" el perfect. Consequently, even though the Greek and Syriac texts express the idea of defilement, they are not easily explained as being a translation of each other. However, if the Hebrew *Vorlage* had a participle, it would be well within attested translation patterns that the Syriac translated the participle by a perfect and the Greek translated it by an adjective. Thus, while the difference in meaning between the Greek and the Syriac

³⁶ While there are uses of the *waw*—consecutive in the Hebrew Psalter, they are relatively rare and one should assume that they are as rare in this late poetry as in the Psalter. An examination and comparison of the poetry at Qumran might be helpful in determining the likelihood of the *waw*—consecutive in late poetry.

 $^{^{37}}$ Wright's translation of $\beta\epsilon\beta\eta\lambda\sigma\iota$ appears to be derived from the context of the next line, ". . . they defiled themselves with improper intercourse." It is unusual in a translation that most often is fairly literal.

in this line is minimal, their morphological difference supports the argument that there was an original Hebrew *Vorlage* common to both.

2:13b (G), 2:15a (S)

ών αὐταὶ ἐμιαίωσαν αὑτὰς ἐν φυρμῷ ἀναμείξεως
because they defiled themselves with improper intercourse

κόρομιτα κυλλομια μοπερι, καλ μοπα αλυ
because they defiled themselves with a mingling of

intemperance

כי הנה טמאו נפשותיהן במסך תאוה because they defiled themselves with a mixture of appetite(s)

Wright translated φυρμῷ ἀναμείξεως as "improper intercourse," following Gray's (1913: 632) "unnatural intercourse" and Ryle and James' (1891: 17) "unclean intercourse." Greek φυρμῷ primarily has the meaning of "confusion, mixture, disorder" and is not attested elsewhere with any sexual connotation (Liddell and Scott 1940: 1962–1963). Although ἀναμείξεως carries primarily the sense of "mingling, admixture," it has a secondary sense of "promiscuity" (attested in Herodotus and Galenus) and the verb ἀναμίσγω was used in medical contexts with the meaning "to have intercourse," while the verb ἀναμείγνυμι was used for "social intercourse" (Liddell and Scott, 1940: 112–113). Since the Greek φυρμῷ ἀναμείξεως literally means "in a mixture of mingling," it need not have explicit sexual nuance in this non–medical text.

The Syriac Adamster "intemperance" (from the root: wte "to range, to rove, to indulge in debauchery") may have sexual connotations including "wantonly, lasciviously, intemperately." This mitigates against the Greek text being a translation of the Syriac text (or vice versa) since the Syriac has this more explicit Adamster which the Greek does not replicate. It is difficult to decide on a Vorlage since the Greek appears to be a doublet for the Syriac Adamster, unless it with no apparent equivalent for the Syriac Adamster, unless it

be like the occasional use of the adverb $d\nu a\mu \epsilon i\xi$ "promiscuously," attested in Herodotus and Galenus.

2:19a (G), 2:20 (S)

ώνείδισαν γὰρ ἔθνη Ιερουσαλημ ἐν καταπατήσει for the Gentiles insulted Jerusalem, trampling (her) down

תשהה לגיל במכא לאוס בו בינה בינה עשהה ליו במכא for the nations reviled Jerusalem in their wickedness כי חרפו גוים ירושלם ברמסהם

for the nations were reproaching Jerusalem in their violence

The Greek and the Syriac differ in the last part of the line where the Greek has καταπατήσει "trampling under foot, trampling down," whereas the Syriac has מתבמזם "in their wickedness." Trafton (1985: 38) cited two possibilities: the Syriac מתבמזם could be a corruption of מתבמזם "with their trampling" (i.e., a confusion of ז and ז), or the Greek translator misread a Hebrew Vorlage that had מוֹן "in their wickedness" as מוֹן "in their trampling" (i.e., confusing a מוֹן and ז, along with the loss of an מוֹן.

A third possibility is more likely, namely, there was a confusion between the Hebrew verbs DΩΠ "to treat violently, to wrong (someone)" and DΩΠ "to trample," reflecting the confusion of a Π and a ¬.³8 The ϫϫ϶ "wickedness" could be a translation of DΩΠ, and the καταπατήσει "trampling down" would be a translation of DΩΠ. This latter stem best accounts for the Syriac and Greek textual differences and is used in the *Vorlage* above. But either DΩΠ or DΩ¬ could have been in the *Vorlage*, and, thus, either the

³⁸ See Delitzsch (1920: 116) where he cited Ewald's emendation of I Samuel 13:6 as an example. The Hebrew text has the men of Israel hiding (among other places) in the שוחם, "the briars" or "brambles." Unless the men of Israel were "Br'er Rabbits" at home in the "Briar Patch," (see Jeremiah 5:29) it is an unlikely place to hide. Ewald, on the basis of I Samuel 14:11, where the MT has the men of Israel coming שוחם "from the holes," also suggested reading חום instead of חום ווו I Samuel 13:6.

Syriac translator or the Greek translator could be responsible for the misreading.

2:19b (G), 2:20b (S)

κατεσπάσθη <u>τὸ κάλλος</u> αὐτῆς ἀπὸ θρόνου δόξης he dragged her <u>beauty</u> down from the throne of glory πουστάτι φωστά³⁹ το <u>πτεστ</u> σωσάκο and <u>her beauty</u> was cut down from the throne of his glory

הורד שפרה מכסא כבדו and he [God] brought down her ruler from the throne of his glory

Here, as in 2:5, we once again have that, reflecting a Hebrew Vorlage which must have had DD meaning "ruler" not "beauty." Mendenhall's (1973: 163) recognition that, in light of Akkadian šapiru "governor," the place name Qiryat—Sofer means "city of the governor" (rather than "city of the scribe") is a also very suggestive for this verse, since two of the Syriac manuscripts (16hl and 10hl) have the manuscripts (16hl and 10hl and 10hl) have the manuscripts (16hl and 10hl and

Compared to the Greek κάλλο "beauty," the Syriac πτω is the more difficult and preferred reading. The Greek κάλλο cannot be the source of the Syriac πτω. Consequently, we have additional strong support for a Hebrew Vorlage underlying this psalm. A Hebrew original with ¬ĐϢ "governor" could also have been read as ¬ĐϢ "beauty" or as ¬ĐϢ (= ¬ĐϢ "book"). This ambiguity would explain the Greek κάλλο and the Syriac πτως, as well as the πτω of Syriac mss. 16hl and 10hl. Neither the Greek or the Syriac traditions recognized the now rare, but contextually more probable, meaning of ¬ĐϢ "ruler."

The Syriac has the Greek loan word watch (= θρόνου). A cognate of the Hebrew 800 "throne" was not available in Syriac because the stem common means "to pile up, to amass." See the discussion below on Trafton's (1985: 48) arguments on 2:36 that the use of Greek loan words in Syriac does not mean that the Syriac is a translation of the Greek.

⁴⁰ See my discussion above on 2:5 and footnote 20.

The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text in reading the verb as an active perfect, in contrast to the passive of the Syriac; and מברו "her ruler" is taken to be the direct object. The *Vorlage* probably had בברו "his glory," as reflected in the Syriac text, but a simple metathesis of the דו סלוד, reflected in the Greek text.

2:20 (G), 2:21 (S)

<u>περιεζώσατο</u> σάκκον ἀντὶ ἐνδύματος <u>εὐπρεπείας</u> σχοινίον περὶ τὴν κεφαλὴν αὐτῆς ἀντὶ στεφάνου

<u>she put on</u> sackcloth instead of <u>beautiful</u> clothes, a rope around her head instead of a crown.

<u>مهمدمیل</u> همه سلف دلیله دستان جل با معن است

<u>and she was clothed</u> in sackcloth in place of clothing of <u>beauty</u>, and a rope was placed upon her head in place of a crown

והטעית סק תחת לבוש שפר חבל לראשה תחת עתרה and she girded herself in sackcloth instead of royal clothing and a rope upon her head instead of a crown

The Greek aorist active middle indicative περιεζώσατο "she put on" and the Syriac simple passive "ethpe al אלכבל "she was clothed" are not likely to be translations of each other. The difference could be accounted for by a Vorlage with הוטעית, which the Greek translator read (or had in the Vorlage) as a hiph "il verb with an affixed conjunction meaning "and she put on." But the Syriac translator read (or had in his Vorlage) הוטעית "she was clothed," a passive (hoph al) form of the verb resulting from the metathesis of the הוטעית of הטעית.

Once again, as in 2:5 and in the discussion immediately above, it is most likely that a Hebrew *Vorlage* with שש "to govern, to rule" lies behind these Greek and Syriac lines. "Royal clothing (שבוש "שיב")" would be the synonymous parallel of the "crown" in the next line, providing the parallelism one expects in this psalm. Neither the Syriac or Greek translator recognized שב meaning "to govern, to rule." The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text

in its use of active verbs because of the active verbs in the next verse in both the Greek and the Syriac.

2:21 (G), 2:22 (S)

The Greek text has μ ίτραν δόξης "the wreath of glory," while the Syriac has καμαπαλη και "the brightness of glory." This difference suggests a confusion in the *Vorlage* of Γ or "wreath, crown" (BDB, 267; Jastrow, 396) with "shining, splendor" (Jastrow, 392)⁴¹ The Greek correctly read Γ and translated it with μ ίτραν "crown," whereas the Syriac read Γ "shining," instead of Γ , and translated it with και.

2:21b (G), 2:23 (S)

Again, as in 2:5 (S 2:4), 2:20 (S 2:21) and 2:19b (S 2:20b) the now rare noun המשני "ruler" of the Hebrew *Vorlage* was misunderstood as the homograph של "beauty." A full discussion has been provided above.

-

See Delitzsch (1920: $111\S109^{b}$) for other examples of the misreading of \lnot with \lnot or \lnot .

2:23 (G), 2:25 (S)

ὅτι ἐνέπαιξαν καὶ οὐκ ἐφείσαντο ἐν ὀργῆ καὶ θυμῷ μετὰ μηνίσεως for they ridiculed (her) and did not refrain in anger and vicious rage

אל זבועה הלא עמה בינה בוא הבבאהא

because they mocked unsparingly in anger and in rebuke

כי קצף ולא חסו בחרון אף וחרפה for they mocked and did not hold back their anger and reproach

In 2: 23, the Greek has three words for "anger," ὀργη, θυμω and μηνίσεως; whereas the Syriac has only two matching words, "anger" and "anger" are "rebuke." The Greek could be a triplet, such as are common in the Lucianic recension of the Septuagint. 42 Conversely, the Syriac could have omitted a word in its translation from its *Vorlage*, whether it was Hebrew or Greek.

If the Greek translator missed the idiomatic expression of אר בחרון "with the heat of (the) nostril" or (mis)read the phrase as אר "in heat and anger" (i.e., reading the final γ as a γ , and reading a γ as a γ , at would be easy to account for the Greek ὀργῆ καὶ θυμω "anger and rage." Together or separately א and mean "anger" and are translated in the LXX by θυμός (Liddell and Scott 1940: 660).

⁴² For a discussion on the Lucianic recension, see Roberts (1951: 142–43).

⁴³ Note the use of ארן" in Exodus 11:8; I Samuel 20:34; II Chronicles 25:10; and Isaiah 7:4.

unlike Hebrew $\neg \neg \neg \neg$, means "to mix, to mingle," it was not the verb of choice in Syriac to translate $\neg \neg \neg \neg$. While $\mu \eta \nu \iota \sigma \epsilon \omega \varsigma$ and $\kappa \delta \kappa \Delta$ are not an exact match, each has a semantic range with overlapping nuances. The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text which rightly understood the Hebrew idiom.

2:24 (G), 2:27 (S)

ὅτι $\underline{οὐκ}$ ἐν ζήλει ἐποίησαν ἀλλ' ἐν ἐπιθυμία ψυχῆς for they have <u>not</u> done it in zeal, but in emotional passion

 $\sim 17 \cdot 17 \cdot 100 \times 100$

for it was <u>not</u> in zeal that they did (this), (but) in the desire of the soul

כי לא בקנאה עשו כי אם בתאות נפש

for it was indeed in zealousness they did (this) and in emotional passion

The negatives $\wedge \Delta$ and οὖκ are surprising and do not fit the context of this passage. Wright (1985: 653) recognized the difficulty of the negative οὖκ in the poetic line and suggested that ἐν ζήλει ἐποίησαν "they acted in zeal" was the "zeal of the Lord" executed by Gentiles acting as God's agent. If this were the case, one would expect the pronoun "your" to be suffixed to the noun "zeal." But in this case, the οὖκ indicates that they had acted outside of their commission to be the "zeal of the Lord."

The negatives in the Greek and Syriac could possibly reflect a Hebrew *Vorlage* with an emphatic *lamed*. The emphatic *lamed* frequently survives as a prefixed 7, but more often it is a sty (which should have been vocalized sty). It went unrecognized by the Masoretes who always read the sty as the negative particle sty. The presence of the emphatic *lamed* in classical Hebrew (as well as in other cognate languages) has been widely recognized. At issue here is how late the emphatic *lamed* appears. Dahood has argued convincingly for the presence of the emphatic *lamed* in many of the canonical Psalms (22:29, 25:14, 31:3, 69:1, 69: 23,

85:10, 89:19, 109:16), some of which could well be post-exilic psalms. While not all scholars are convinced by all of Dahood's proposals, at least several of these are widely acknowledged to be instances where the emphatic *lamed* is present.⁴⁴ McDaniel (1968: 206–208) demonstrated the use of the emphatic *lamed* into the exilic period⁴⁵

The emphatic *lamed* may have been used in the Hebrew text of Sirach 29:7, which reads, πολλοὶ οὐ χάριν πονηρίας ἀπέστρεψαν ἀποστερηθῆναι δωρεὰν εὐλαβήθησαν. 46 But the negative οὐ does not fit the context, giving credibility to the textual variant οὖν "therefore." But the Hebrew *Vorlage* of this poetic line may well have had the emphatic *lamed*, lying hidden behind the οὖ and the οὖν. If so, Sirach 29:7, with the emphatic *lamed*, would have to be translated, "because of such wickedness, *indeed*, many have

⁴⁴ See Dahood (1966: 143), (1970: 403–406); Huehnergard (1983: 569–93); Waltke and Connor (1990: 211–212). One example which appears in a number of discussions of the emphatic *lamed* is Qoheleth 9:4, קַּמֶּב חֵי הוֹא מֵוֹב מַן הוֹא מִוֹב מַן is not a negative but an emphatic, meaning, "*Indeed* a live dog is better than a dead lion." Indeed, the particle יב in 9:4 is probably an emphatic יב (see Dahood and Penar 1970: 402–405), added as a gloss defining the meaning of the *lamed* prefix.

⁴⁵ In addition to its occurrence in Lamentations 4:3, as proposed by Israel Eitan in American Journal of Semitic Languages and Literatures 45 (1928) 202, McDaniel illustrates its occurrence twice more in 3:37–38, לא צוָה מִפִּי עלְיוֹן (יִרשׁוֹב אַרֹיִי "Verily, the Lord has ordained it! Verily from the mouth of the most High goes forth good and bad" [italics added]. See also Hillers (1972: 58), who agreed with McDaniel's proposals.

 $^{^{46}}$ If, on the basis of Sirach's description of the High Priest Simon II (219–196 B.C.E.), the book Sirach can be dated between 200–180 B.C.E., it may be possible to push the use of the emphatic *lamed* to at least this date. The RSV opted for the variant reading variant $o\vec{v}\nu$ and translated, "because of such wickedness, *therefore*, [italics added] many have refused to lend; they have been afraid of being defrauded needlessly." The NRSV opted for the negative $o\vec{v}$ and translated, "many refused to lend, *not* [italics added] because of meanness, but from fear of being defrauded needlessly."

⁴⁷ See Ziegler 1965: 261.

refused to lend". The Hebrew *Vorlage* of Psalms of Solomon 2:24a, as reconstructed, may add support for finding the emphatic *lamed* as late as the turn of the era. It would permit the following translation of 2:24a, "for it was indeed in zealousness they did (this)."

2:25b (G), 2:29 (S)

דοῦ εἰπεῖν τὴν ὑπερηφανίαν τοῦ δράκοντος ἐν ἀτιμίᾳ to declare dishonorable the arrogance of the dragon אביב השלה הלעבים במשל משות הנין בקלון בקלון במשל גאות תנין בקלון במשל גאות תנין בקלון casting down the pride of the dragon in disgrace

The Greek has the difficult $\tau \circ \upsilon \in \mathring{\iota} \pi \in \mathring{\iota} \nu$ "to declare [dishonorable]" the pride of the dragon; whereas the Syriac has a "to cast down" the pride of the dragon. Trafton (1985: 42–44) discussed the proposed solutions which assume a corruption:

(1) in the Greek tradition (requiring the emendation of $\epsilon i \pi \epsilon i \nu$ to $\epsilon i \kappa \epsilon i \nu$ "to give up" or $\tau \rho \epsilon \pi \epsilon i \nu$ "to turn" or $\tau \alpha \pi \epsilon i \nu o i \nu$ "to humble" or $\rho \iota \pi \tau \epsilon i \nu$ "to toss about, to throw"),

אפר The emphatic lamed may be attested in New Testament times. The fourteenth century Hebrew text of the Gospel of Matthew found in the Evan Bohan of Shem Tob ben-Issac ben-Shaprut (which has been published by Howard [1987, and republished in 1995]) may well contain elements from the original Hebrew Gospel of Matthew referred to by the church fathers. Matthew 19:22 in the Shem Tob text has a very dubious negative particle, which would be better read as an emphatic lamed. The text has, שלא היה לו קרקעות רבות ויהי כשמוע הבחור הלך לפי, which Howard translated as "It came to pass when the young man heard he went away (angry) because he did not [italics added] have much property." Given the context of the statement and the next line of 19:22 where Jesus spoke about "how hard it is for a rich man to enter the kingdom of heaven," the negative איל is very problematic. However, were the איל recognized as an emphatic lamed, the verse would mean, "It came to pass when the young man heard he went away because he indeed had a great deal of property." This interpretation exactly fits the context of the story.

- (2) or in the Hebrew *Vorlage* (which had דבר "to destroy" or "to speak" or להמיר "to change, to turn" which was misread as "to say", or למר/למור, למיר [לאמר [באמר]],
- (3) or due to an inner Syriac corruption of του [= του εἰπεῖν] to καταλ.

After evaluating the various proposals, Trafton argued for the of ms 16hl as possibly being a "direct translation of the Hebrew" and having "the best claim to being original." But in a footnote he stated, "It is unclear what Hebrew word could also have given rise to the reading $\tau o u \in i \pi \in i \nu \dots$ "

I agree with Trafton that the Syriac provides the clue, rather than the Greek, and propose the following solution. The *Vorlage* may have had משׁל "casting down," which was (mis) understood by the Greek translator as having the same meaning as משׁל ווֹם in Ezekiel 21:5 (MT), משׁל משׁל משׁל "one speaking proverbs." The Greek דסט (scriptio defectiva for משׁיל) could also be the *hiph* articiple of שׁשׁיל "to cast down," and was so read by the Syriac translator. Thus, the Syriac serves as the basis for the reconstructed *Vorlage*.

2:26b (G), 2:30a (S)

בּגענע בל בוע ביים מצרים מצרים אוע יאפאנער אינערים ביים מצרים מצרים when he was slain among the mountains of Egypt כנכרה בחרים מצרים מצרים when he was pierced by the nobles in Egypt

The Greek ἐκκεκεντημένον "pierced" does not match the Syriac "slain." Trafton (1985: 45) noted that the Syriac would be an "unusual" translation" of the Greek. A *Vorlage* with either בכה "smitten" or כרה (the *niphcal* of הבר) "pierced" might have caused the different translations of the Greek and the Syriac.

Of these two words, it is more likely that TDI was original and that the T was missed by the Syriac rather than that assuming the Greek added it. This reconstruction follows the Greek and would account for the Greek "pierced" and the Syriac "slain."

Another difficulty in this verse is the Greek and the Syriac reference to "the mountains of Egypt." First, there are no mountains in Lower Egypt or in the delta. Secondly, the tradition about Pompey's death is that, after losing a decisive battle to Caesar, he was murdered upon arriving in Egypt by the ruling aristocracy there. Dohn Morrison (1995, oral communication) suggested that the *Vorlage* read הרים (*scriptio defectiva* for "nobles," referring to the ruling party who murdered Pompey) rather than הרים "mountains." In light of the tradition given by Plutarch, I find Morrison's suggestion convincing. It is also possible that the *Vorlage* of both the Greek and the Syriac texts already contained this reading. In this instance, neither the Greek or the Syriac texts reflect the reconstructed *Vorlage* which assumes that the original text read "mobles."

2:26b (G), 2:30b (S)

 $\frac{\dot{\nu}$ πὲρ ἐλάχιστον ἐξουδενωμένον ἐπὶ γῆς καὶ θαλάσσης more despised than the smallest thing on earth or sea

⁴⁹ Less likely, one could reconstruct a *Vorlage* having the *hoph al* הומת "he was put to death," which became the Syriac "slain" and Greek "pierced" (assuming the translator knew how Pompey died).

being a synonym or metonym for Egypt.) Plutarch in *The Lives of Noble Grecians and Romans* described Pompey's death at the hands of Achillas, Septimus, Salvius, a centurion, and three or four other soldiers who went out in a fishing boat to his galley to "greet" him. Pompey got into the fishing boat where the conspirators murdered him with swords. The Greek "pierced" can thus be explained by this account but not the "mountains of Egypt." Gray (1913: 633) noted that Dio Cassius (42: 3–5) stated that Pompey was slain $\pi\rho\delta_S$ $\tau\omega$ $K\alpha\sigma\sigma\iota\tilde{\omega}$ $\delta\rho\epsilon\iota$, i.e., Mons Cassius which was near Pelusium. One cannot fail to notice that $K\alpha\sigma\sigma\iota\tilde{\omega}$ $\delta\rho\epsilon\iota$ comes close to Hebrew τ "the mountains of Cush" or τ "the nobles of Cush," with τ being a synonym or metonym for Egypt.)

منطنة مع من منه معلم على مندم معلم مدار مدم.

and more than the least (he was) being despised upon the land and upon the sea

נבצה במזער על הים והארץ

he was disgraced by a few men on the land and on the sea

It is difficult to see how either the Syriac or the Greek could be a literal translation of the other. Rahlf's edition has ὑπὲρ ἐλάχιστον, an emendation which was first proposed by Geiger (1871: 82) and became widely accepted. The preposition ὑπὲρ followed by an accusative ἐλάχιστον gives the sense "more than the smallest." However, none of the Greek manuscripts of Psalms of Solomon have ἐλάχιστον. All have ὑπὲρ ἐλάχιστου, the preposition followed by a genitive, meaning "on behalf of the smallest." Greek ὑπὲρ followed by a genitive cannot mean "more than" (Liddell and Scott 1940: 1857–1858). Wright's translation, "more despised than the smallest thing," reflects the emendation to ὑπὲρ ἐλάχιστον. The proposed Vorlage eliminates the need to emend the Greek text.

Plutarch's account of Pompey's death has some of Pompey's enemies standing on the shore awaiting his arrival, as well as other enemies in a small fishing boat that had come to take him from his galley to the shore. The phrase אַר הִים וּהאַר "on land and sea" may well refer to the two contingents of Pompey's enemies who greeted him. The meaning of ὑπὲρ could be "on behalf of," but ὑπὲρ also translates the Hebrew prepositions "to" and "in." In this poetic line, ὑπὲρ most likely translates the preposition \Box . The Greek ἐλάχιστον "small, short, meanest, littlest" overlaps the semantic range of "tu" "little," but it misses the sense of "few" which \Box Conveys (as in Isaiah 16:14 and 24:6).

The choice of בוה "he was disgraced" reflects what happened to Pompey's body after his death. Wright (1985: 653, note e2)

⁵¹ See, for example, Ryle and James (1891: 25), von Gebhardt (1895: 74), and Kittel (1900: 133).

commented on the disgrace: "The worst indignity at death was to fail to have a proper burial (Ps 79:3; 2Kgs 9:10; Jer 22:19). Pompey's decapitated and decomposing body was burned on a pyre of driftwood."⁵²

The Greek and the Syriac traditions failed to understand the Hebrew *Vorlage* at this point, and both translations are slightly askew for this verse. The proposed Hebrew *Vorlage* explains the variants in both traditions and eliminates the necessity of emending the Greek text against all the manuscript evidence.

2:27 (G), 2:31 (S)

τὸ σῶμα αὐτοῦ διαφερόμενον ἐπὶ κυμάτων his body was carried about on the waves

Defin in the they of file

but his body, when it was going upon the waves

ופגרו קרב על גלים

and his corpse was going upon the waves

This is one passage where the Greek and the Syriac agree but a Hebrew *Vorlage* could provide an explanation of the variants in the Greek manuscripts. Mss 149, 260, 471, 606 have $\delta\iota\epsilon\varphi\theta\alpha\rho\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$ "rotting" rather than $\delta\iota\alpha\varphi\epsilon\rho\acute{\rho}\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$ "carried about." These manuscripts are all in the 260 family in the *stemma* and could simply be an internal Greek corruption of $\delta\iota\alpha\varphi\epsilon\rho\acute{\rho}\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$ to $\delta\iota\epsilon\varphi\theta\alpha\rho\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$. However, a *Vorlage* with $\Box\Box$ "to draw near, to bring near (*hiph*°il)," as proposed above, would suggest not only that Pompey's body was carried on the waves, but the waves were moving the body toward the shore. Manuscripts having $\delta\iota\epsilon\varphi\theta\alpha\rho\mu\epsilon\nu\nu\nu$ "rotting" evidently (mis)read $\Box\Box$ as $\Box\Box$, reflecting a metathesis

⁵² The disgrace that goes with not being buried is also evident in Greek thought. In Sophocles' drama Antigone, Antigone risked her life to give a proper burial to her brother, Polynieces — after Creon had forbidden his burial — because the gods demanded a burial for all.

of the \nearrow and the \urcorner . The reading of \urcorner as \urcorner would have some impact upon the formation of a *stemma* for the Psalms of Solomon, suggesting an independent translation of a Hebrew *Vorlage* behind mss 149, 260, 471, and 606.

2:29b (G), 2:33b (S)

καὶ οὐκ ἐπέγνω ὅτι ὁ θεὸς μέγας
and he did not understand that it is <u>God who is great</u>

ארב בי אוב ארם and he did not know that the <u>Lord is God</u>

ולא ידע כי יהוה אל

and he did not know that YHWH is God

The Syriac אמל מש איז and the Greek δ $\theta \epsilon \delta \varsigma$ $\mu \epsilon \gamma \alpha \varsigma$ cannot be translations of each other. Syriac could well have read a *Vorlage* with אין and translated "the Lord is God." The Greek translator read the *Vorlage* as "God (= YHWH) is great," understanding א as "great" (in the sense of power and strength [see (BDB): 42–43]), a meaning found in Ezekiel 31:11, אין אין "mighty one of the nations" and in Job 41:7 אין אין "mighty men." "Salde from the divine name, the Syriac is the equivalent of the proposed *Vorlage*, retaining the sense of the original Hebrew.

2:31b (G), 2:35a (S)

אמו κοιμίζων ὑπερηφάνους εις ἀπώλειαν αἰῶνος but <u>putting to sleep</u> the arrogant <u>for eternal destruction</u>

אבלים אבי אין אין אין אוישן זרים לתבלית עולם

and is causing the proud <u>to sleep not for a time but forever</u>

ויישן זרים לתבלית עולם

and he will put to sleep the arrogant for eternal destruction

Other passages where has been understood having this meaning are Ezekiel 17:13, II Kings 24:15, Genesis 31:29, Proverbs 3:27, and Nehemiah 5:5.

Translators and commentators have proposed emending the Greek⁵⁴ and the Syriac texts to move away from the motif of "sleeping." However, there is no need to emend the Greek or the Syriac since שׁ "to sleep" in the piel has the meaning "to sleep the sleep of death"—as in Daniel 12:2, "קיצוּ "and many of those sleeping in the ground of dust will awake." It appears to be a euphemism for death, like the English usage of "putting a pet to sleep." The Greek and the Syriac translators understood the Hebrew verb to be the piel, with its overtones of death.

The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text tradition since it points to the more poetic 2+2 metrical line, ויישׁן זדים —compared to rather prosaic wording suggested by the Syriac: ויישׁן זדים בל לעת אולם.

Fritzsche (1871: 572), followed by Hilgenfeld (1871: 389) and Pick (1883: 788), emended κοιμιζων to κομιζων "bringing."

⁵⁵ Harris and Mingana (1916: 89) wanted to emend אמרבע to מבגרע to "brought down, lowered, brought low."

2:32b (G), 2:36b (S)

κρίνων τὴν ὑπ' <u>οὐρανόν</u> judging what is under heaven

۲۰۲۷ مریور کی میمهریم کرورور

and is judging what is under all of heaven

ידין אשר תחת כל השמים

he is judging what is under all the heavens

The Greek lacks an equivalent of the Syriac מלם "all," but this is not unusual in translating from Hebrew to Greek. The phrase מוחת כל השמים "under all the heavens" appears seven times in the Hebrew scriptures (Genesis 7:19; Deuteronomy 2:25, 4:19; Job 28:24, 37:3, 41:3; and Daniel 9:12), and only once in the LXX is the לא translated (Job 37:3 has ὑποκάτω παντὸς [= לא בי דוֹם סיף מעסים for ביל השמים (תחת כל השמים). The Syriac translated the phrase literally, while the Greek moved to the idiom "under heaven," which dropped the Hebrew plural, as well. The Syriac supports the proposed *Vorlage*.

2:33a (G), 2:37a (S)

εὐλογεῖτε τὸν θεόν οἱ φοβούμενοι τὸν κύριον ἐν ἐπιστήμη praise God, you who fear the Lord with understanding

בינה להוא שור בניתל כל הניא באמכבא

bless the Lord, those who fear him in form

ברכו יהוה יראי אלהים בכסל

bless Yahweh, you who fear God in confidence

The presence of the Greek loan word $\langle \dot{\alpha} \sigma \chi \hat{\eta} \mu \alpha \rangle$ "form" in the Syriac does not fit the context in this verse and is problematic. Trafton (1985: 48) noted correctly that the $\dot{\alpha} \sigma \chi \hat{\eta} \mu \alpha$ cannot be used as evidence that the Syriac is a translation from the Greek since the Greek has $\dot{\epsilon} \pi \iota \sigma \tau \dot{\eta} \mu \eta$ "understanding," not $\dot{\alpha} \sigma \chi \hat{\eta} \mu \alpha$. Additional support for Trafton comes from Jastrow (1950: 94) where Nacon is noted as a loan word in Aramaic as

well, appearing in the Targum of Proverbs 7:10, where it translates the Hebrew שׁית "planning, simulation." This loanword also appears as a feminine noun in Targum Yerushalmi in Genesis 31:14 and Numbers 32:25, meaning "consent, agreement." The use of ἀσχῆμα in the Targums, which certainly did not come from a Greek source, supports the position that the presence of ἀσχῆμα in a Syriac texts does not mean the Syriac text must be derived from a Greek source. The use of the word here still remains problematic in light of the context, but it is not proof of its being translated from some other Greek text.

The use of ἀσχῆμα in Aramaic and Syriac is not a basis for assuming that the Hebrew Vorlage of 2:33a used the word. The Greek ἐπιστήμη "understanding" and the Syriac "form" suggest that the Vorlage had סס (or הסס) "confidence" (as in Job 4:6; Psalm 78:7, 85:9; and Proverbs 3:26) which was misread by the Syriac and Greek translators (or the scribes producing their Vorlagen) as סכל "to be prudent" (BDB, 698, 968). The ἐπιστήμη would well translate "prudence, insight" and the Syriac "form" would well translate "συ when read in light of its Arabic cognate בעל "the shape, form, or figure of a thing" (Lane, 1872: 1587). The context of 2:33a is much like Job 4:6, הַלְּאֵרֶךְ נְתֹם דְּרֶכֶיִךְ תִּמְנְתִּךְ נִתֹם דְרֶכֵיִךְ תִּמְנְתִּךְ נִתֹם לָּמִרְ (RSV, italics added). The conflation of ססס and איז in Job 4:6 provided the clues for the reconstructed Vorlage given above.

Psalm Three

The Syriac of 3:1–6, where the Syriac S source (a marginal note in the *Hymns of Severus* which survives only in these verses)⁵⁶ differs from the Syriac mss 10hl and 16hl, has some interesting variants. Trafton (1981: 74, 381, 387; 1985: 240–241) noted that

⁵⁶ See Brooks (1911: vol. 7,726) for his account of his discovery of this Syriac fragment of the Psalms of Solomon.

in the first five verses (10 text lines) S disagrees twenty times with mss 10hl and 16hl. He concluded:

Thus, the difference might be explained on the assumption that the scribe wrote the verses from memory, with the result that what looks like a different textual tradition is really the product of a reasonably accurate, but not photographic, memory.

Another explanation can be offered, namely, that S was an independent translation of the original Hebrew. Of the three variants examined next, two address inner–Syriac differences which can be better understood in the light of an underlying Hebrew, and one of the inner–Syriac variants (in 3:4a) suggests the translator may have been reading a different *Vorlage*.

3:1

ἵνα τί ὑπνοῖς $\underline{ψυχή}$ καὶ $\underline{οὐκ}$ εὐλογεῖς τὸν κύριον why do you sleep, \underline{soul} , and \underline{do} not praise the Lord

אביא הכבל, <u>נפיי, פלא מבורלה, לרביה.</u> (16hl and 10hl) why do you sleep, <u>O my soul</u>, and <u>do not bless</u> the Lord

אנא הכבל, <u>ופא</u> <u>מלא המובה אול, להוא.</u> (S) why do you sleep, <u>O my soul,</u> and you are not drawing near to the Lord

תישני נפשי ולא תברכי את־יהוה למה תישני נפשי ולא תברכי את why do you sleep, O my soul, and not bless the Lord

Mss 10hl and 16hl have the feminine participle (ending with suffix) of ເປັນ "to bless," in agreement with the Greek $\in \dot{\upsilon}\lambda o\gamma \in \hat{\iota}_S$ "praise," and Syriac S has the participle of at "to draw near, to approach" and the 2fs pronoun ລາດ. The differences could be an inner–Syriac confusion of δ and δ and the loss of the δ δ of the δ δ . But it is more likely that the

_

⁵⁷ In basic agreement with Stein (410). Compare Frankenberg's (69) על־מה תישון נפש ולא תברך את־יהוה.

Mss 16hl and 10hl and S have "my soul and ..." and the Greek has ψυχή και ... "soul and ...," the latter lacking a pronominal element corresponding to the 1cs suffix in the Syriac. A simple case of haplography evidently occurred in the Greek translator's reading a *Vorlage* in which אלו ולאו had been corrupted to אלו שוולא with the subsequent loss of one of the two ז's. As a result, the Greek has no pronominal element as do the Syriac manuscripts. In this instance the Syriac has preserved the Hebrew *Vorlage* while the Greek has not.

3:1b-3:2a (G), 3:2 (S)

ψάλατε τῷ θεῷ τῷ αἰνετῷ ...ψάλλε sing a new song to God . . . sing ...שא א ארם אים מועד א ארם אים מועד א ארם מועד א ארם מועד א מועד וומיר sing a new song to God . . . sing

The Greek plural imperative $\psi \dot{\alpha} \lambda \alpha \tau \epsilon$ coming between the singular "my soul" (in 3:1) and the singular "a glad heart" (in 3:2b) —which are the only possible subjects for the verb—is very problematic. Of the suggestions made, the least likely ones are the ones of Viteau (1911:267) who simply emended it to the singular $\psi \dot{\alpha} \lambda \lambda \epsilon$ and Ryle and James (1891:30–31) who attributed it to poetic license or the unconscious adoption of the language of the canonical psalms. ⁵⁸ Ryle and James, however, were correct in

⁵⁸ See Wright 1985: 654, note b.

recognizing the misreading of an original singular 'זמר' in the Vorlage as the plural זמרו, another example of the widely attested confusion of ' and ' (see Delitzsch, 1920: p 103 § 103). Frankenberg (1896: 69) and Stein (1969: 440) used the singular ' in agreement with Ryle and James, although Franz Delitzsch (n.d., ad loc.) used the plural יובאר The Syriac rightly reflects a singular that must have been in the Vorlage, but the Greek probably retains the two synonymous imperatives. The reconstructed Vorlage attempts to restore alliteration as well as synonymous parallelism.

3:2a

אמו <u>γρηγόρησον ἐπὶ τὴν γρηγόρησιν</u> αὐτου and <u>be aware of how he is aware</u> of you <u>πλαίνου, isohhr</u>α and <u>be excited in his excitement</u>

והתעררי בעירותו

and rejoice with his Watchers

Wright (1985: 654), commenting on this difficult passage, indicates that "The Greek and the Syriac are obscure to the point of unintelligibility." The Greek γρηγόρησον ἐπὶ τὴν γρηγόρησιν αὐτου means literally "keep watching for his watching" or "be awake in his wakefulness," and the Syriac אביב also means "to be awake." None of the explanations of the commentators (see Trafton, 1985:52–53) are convincing. The best proposals are those of Ryle and James (1891: 31) who thought there was a confusion of TIV and Trafton who settled on the root עור "to shout," Trafton's conclusion that the *Vorlage* with עור "to shout," Trafton's conclusion that the *Vorlage* contained a *hithpolel* of "עור be excited," which became in the Syriac the "ethpa" al of אביב, is the more tenable.

Trafton noted that the Greek translator missed this nuance in his use of $\gamma\rho\eta\gamma\delta\rho\epsilon\omega$, "to be awake" resulting in an "unintelligible reading." But his translation, "be excited in his excitement," does not fit the context any better than "to be awake." Moreover the

Syriac has the *ettaph*^cal, a passive causative ("he was made to be awake"), rather than an *ethpe*^cal, a simple passive ("he was awakened").

The nuance of the required for this context cannot be the exercise of spiritual gifts, as in the Peshitta of II Timothy 1:6, "I remind you to stir [אבבוד] up the gift of God which is in you," or a metaphor for being alive, as in I Thessalonians 5:10, "whether we wake [בבל act or sleep, we shall be with him." Rather, the nuance is to be found with the use of "עירים" the Watchers" in Daniel 4:13, 23 [MT 4:10, 20], ἄγγελος ἐν ἰσχύι (which is rendered in Aquila and Symmachus as ἐγρήγορος). The "Watchers" or "the wakeful ones" (i.e., those who by nature never need to sleep) of Daniel 4 are identified in I Enoch 71:17 as the *cherubim*, the *seraphim*, and the ophanim who—without sleep—guard the Divine and endlessly sing his praises.⁵⁹ It is only this interpretation which does justice to the αὐτοῦ of γρηγόρησιν αὐτοῦ, recognizing that עירים which was translated as γρηγόρησιν would have been better translated as έγρήγορος. In the previous poetic line the poet questioned "why do you sleep, O my soul." Therefore, it seems unlikely that the poet shifted after only one verse to a concern about God's staying awake.

⁵⁹ For other passages dealing with the עורים see I Enoch 1:5, 12:2–3, 14:1, 20:1, 40:2, 61:12, II Enoch 18:1–8, and perhaps Psalm 121.

⁶⁰ The stem to could also mean "chaff, fine dust, smoke" or "blindness" ®. Payne Smith, 1967: 407), but these meanings are contextually unlikely.

 $^{^{61}}$ Trafton cited Job 31:29 as an example of "to be excited," but the key to its meaning is in the parallel "to rejoice."

but translators in both traditions missed the nuance of "the Watchers." The anticipated use of parallelism in poetry supports the parallel imperatives in the Greek text tradition. The psalmist is exhorting himself to "rejoice with the Watchers" who never sleep but rejoice before God continually "to remember the Lord always" (3:1).

3:3b

καὶ δικαιώσει τὰ κρίματα κυρίου and proving the Lord's judgements right

and in righteousness the judgements of the Lord

ונצדיק במשפטי יהוה and (the righteous one) was vindicated by the judgements of the Lord

The problems in this poetic line are the use of the abstract noun κόρω τι "righteousness" in Syriac and the ambiguity of the Greek δικαιώσει which can be either a dative of δικαιώσις, or a 3s indicative future of δικαιόω, or, as suggested by Ryle and James (1891: 32), a corruption of the 3pl present δικαιοῦσι. Ryle and James translated "and justify the judgements of the Lord [with thanksgiving]," and Trafton preferred "and declare righteous the judgements of the Lord."

If the suggestions of Ryle and James or Trafton are accepted, a theological problem arises, namely, the idea that members of the faith community were called upon to pass judgement on God's righteousness. The phrase καὶ δικαιώσει τὰ κρίματα κυρίου does not appear elsewhere in the LXX. The uniqueness of the phrase in biblical literature and the uniqueness of the theological concept raise suspicions about its integrity. The suspicions are diminished when a *Vorlage* with PTYA (scriptio defectiva) "to justify, to vindicate" is recognized as a misreading of an original PTYA "to be justified, to be vindicated," i.e., the misreading of a *niph* al as a *hiph* ^{c}il reflecting the confusion of a π and a π (see Delitzsch, 1920: 116 §123°).

3:4a

the righteous one who is chastened by the Lord will not be faint-hearted

Mss 16hl and 10hl have מכסיים "to disregard," which corresponds to the Greek, while S has the phrase מבים "lacking courage" (Jennings, 1926: 67, I Thessalonians 5:14). This difference reflects a confusion in the reading at some point in the Hebrew tradition of מהה "to delay, to disregard" and מהה "to be faint, to grow dim"—a simple misreading of the graphically similar

□ and □ (see Delitzsch, 1920: 114, § 115). ⁶² The scribe or translator behind S may have misread his *Vorlage*, or he may have had a *Vorlage* with □ instead of □ resulting from an earlier misreading in the tradition.

3:5

προσέκοψεν ὁ δίκαιος και <u>ἐδικαίωσεν</u> τὸν κύριον ἔπεσεν καὶ ἀποβλέπει τί ποιήσει αὐτῷ ὁ θεός

The righteous stumbles and <u>proves</u> the Lord right; he falls and <u>watches</u> for what God will do about him.

אפקרן <u>סיווס</u> עסיצו עס הבינ קש אפר קש אפקר וניסי

The righteous one stumbled and <u>justified</u> God, he fell and <u>waits for</u> what the Lord will do to him.

נכשל הצדיק והתצדק את יהוה נפל ונבט מה־יעשה־לו אלהים the righteous one stumbled and made himself right with Yahweh he fell and waited for what God would do for him.

The unusual statements in the English translations of the Syriac and the Greek, that the sinner vindicates God, is probably rooted in a misreading of the $hithpa^cel$ ρπωπ instead of the $hiph^cil$ (scriptio plene ρ in the Vorlage, as in 3:3b. Although the Greek ἐδικαίωσεν could be translated "to justify oneself," the accusative τὸν κύριον, making God the recipient of the action, would indicate that the Vorlage was read as a $hiph^cil$.

The καρω "to wait for, to look for, to expect; to lie in wait" of 16hl and 10hl has a different semantic range than $d\pi o β λ ϵ πω$ "to look after, to look away, to pay attention," suggesting that neither the Greek nor the Syriac is a translation of the other. The Syriac S source has $\dagger ω$ ω "to look, to behold, to gaze," and as Trafton (1985: 54) noted, it could be a translation of or a correction to

⁶² The Hebrew המב) may be a by-form of the Syriac cognate ממכה "to disregard."

ἀποβλέπω. The differences between καρ, and ἀποβλέπω could all be rooted in a *Vorlage* having ΔΙ, the semantic range of which includes "to look, to pay attention to, to expect."

3:6b (G), 3:7b (S)

מטאנגפדם פֿי סוגה δικαίου
visit the house of the righteous
רבים אלא דודים
lodges in the house of the righteous
לינים בית הצדיק
dwelling in the house of the righteous

The use of the present active indicative in Greek for what appears in the Syriac as a active participle is a widely attested variation. The difference between the Syriac passive participle and the present active indicative is another matter. The Syriac passive participle אים "was lodged" and the Greek $\alpha \dot{\upsilon} \lambda \dot{\iota} \zeta \in \tau \alpha \iota$ "lodges" can be derived from a *Vorlage* with ישני was misread by the Syriac as the passive participle $\tau \dot{\upsilon} \dot{\upsilon}$, another occurrence of the frequent confusion of and ' (see Delitzsch, 1920: 103 § 103). The compound subject of the *Vorlage* would permit either a singular or plural verbal element. Even though the Greek has the singular verb, its use of the active is the more probable reading.

3:7 (G), 3:8 (S)

לא לידו המיד ביתו אומ מידיט פור היותר האומים אומים ביתו הלא ביתו הבר ובין אביד ביתו הצדיק the righteous constantly searches his house ביל ביל ביל ובין אביד ביל ובין אביד ביתו הצדיק the righteous one continually inspects his house

_

⁶³ The passive participle of לון follows a pattern of מול "circumcised" and פוץ "scattered."

Greek differs from Syriac in that it is the "righteous" one who searches his own house, whereas in the Syriac it is God (literally "he" = God) who searches the house of the righteous. Trafton proposed that the Hebrew *Vorlage* was ביתו הצדיק "his house [the direct object] the righteous one [the subject]," which the Syriac translator misread. This is quite plausible if "שו was read as an Aramaism, with the "being understood as an anticipatory 3ms suffix, "the house of him (who is) the righteous one." The Greek seems preferable in this phrase.

3:10 (G), 3:13 (S)

פֿתנספּע ὅτι πονηρὸν τὸ πτῶμα αὐτοῦ

he falls—his fall is serious—

ארי באט מפלחו

he fell and because his fall was evil

ובי באש מפלחו

cr באש מפלחו

indeed, his fallen body was stinking

The versification of Greek 3:10 and 11, as well as the versification of Syriac 3:12–13, has contributed to the misunderstanding of these poetic lines. The Greek $\xi \pi \epsilon \sigma \epsilon \nu$ "he falls" and the Syriac $\Delta \Delta$ "he fell" are the last word in their respective lines, not the first word of a new line. The *Vorlage*, no doubt, had ΔD , but it was incorrectly read as a *qal* (ΔD) in both traditions. It should have been read as a *niph* al (ΔD). The preceding poetic line would have read "He added sin upon sin to/in his life and he was *felled/overthrown*." The Greek ΔD and the Syriac ΔD begin what was once a new poetic line which probably had the meaning, "(and) because his carcass stinks, he surely will not rise."

The clues pointing to a *Vorlage* with this meaning are (1) πτῶμα "a fall, a ruin, a corpse" (Liddell and Scott 1940: 1549); (2) מפלת "ruin, overthrow, carcass" (BDB 658); and "evil" a

.

⁶⁴ The *niph^cal* of בול is not listed in BDB; but it is cited by Jastrow (1950: 924)

Even the subordinate conjunctions ὅτι and π , which support the reconstruction of a *Vorlage* with 'D, permit other interpretations since 'D can also mean "for, because" or "surely." ⁶⁵

Therefore, a Vorlage which read מפלתו could have been translated "(and) because his fall was bad" or, equally, "indeed, his fallen body stinks." The poet's choice of the word in the original Hebrew could have intentionally carried this double meaning. It was not just a matter of a "bad fall" from which the sinner might recover, it was a permanent fall. If the sinner's corpse is already smelling, the poet concluded: οὐκ ἀναστήσεται / 🗘 "he will not arise!"

Although Psalm 3 is not usually considered a historical psalm, it has some similarities to Psalm 2, particularly if the above reconstruction of a Hebrew *Vorlage* for verse 10 is correct. The "stinking, fallen body" called to mind the image found in Psalm 2: 27 where Pompey's headless body was carried about on the waves. Indeed, the placement of this Psalm following Psalm Two may be because of this verse and that identification.

3:12b (G), 3:26b (S)

καὶ ἡ ζωὴ αὐτῶν ...οὐκ ἐκλείψει ἔτι and their life ... and it shall never end

⁶⁵ On the emphatic 'D, see Dahood and Penar, 1970: 400.

מתנישם בסל אלם מתנישם and their lives (plural) . . . and it will not perish ever again וחייהם . . . ולא יכליה עוד and their life . . . and will never end

The debate with this poetic line has centered on the unusual singular verb in Syriac, used with a plural subject. Harris and Mingana (1868: 106–107) argued that the singular verb is a literal translation of ἐκλείψει, but Trafton (1985: 57), citing GKC (462, § 145) and Nöldeke (1904: 255) has demonstrated that although it is unusual there are numerous examples in Hebrew, and at least one example in Syriac, of a singular verb with a plural subject. One example in Hebrew not cited in GKC is Genesis 47:28, "the *years* of his life was ("וֹה") a hundred and forty-seven years." The singular of 47:28 should be retained as *lectio dificilior* even though, as noted in BHS, the Samaritan text, Syriac and the Targums read or translate this as though it were the plural "וֹה"וֹב Similarly, the Syriac, independent of the Greek, singular verb, may have read a *Vorlage* with "כליה".

Psalm Four

4:1

ἵνα τί <u>σύ βέβηλε</u> κάθησαι ἐν συνεδρίω <u>ὁσίων</u> why are you sitting in the council of the <u>devout</u>, <u>you profaner</u>

The Greek $\beta \in \beta \eta \lambda \delta \Lambda \cap \beta$

Similarly, the Greek ootos and the Syriac **Connt** cannot be translations of each other, but both would be adequate translations of a *Vorlage* with TOT "(loving) kindness" (Liddell and Scott, 1018). In contrast to Hebrew, Aramaic TOT, including Syriac, means "to revile, to scorn, to reproach" (J. Payne Smith, 150; Jastrow, 486). Hebrew TOT occurs in Syriac and Aramaic as a loanword, but ordinarily Syriac uses **Solution**, as in Hosea 10:12 where TOT occurs in parallelism with PTY. In both instances, the Greek and the Syriac chose contextually different words within the semantic range of the proposed Hebrew *Vorlage*.

4:3b

ἐν ποικιλίᾳ ἁμαρτιῶν καὶ ἐν ἀκρασίαις in a variety of sins and intemperance
 καὶ ἐν ἀκρασίαις in a variety of sins and intemperance of a multitude of intemperance of sinners

⁶⁶ The Syriac and the Arabic take the root meaning "inclination" and direct it away from evil, whereas the Hebrew makes the inclination towards evil. See BDB, 337.

 $^{^{67}}$ יְשִׁע נְשִׂיא יִשְׂרָאֵל הָשָׁע וְשִּׁיא יִשְׂרָאֵל is translated καὶ σύ βέβηλε ἀνομε ἀφηγούμενε τοῦ Ισραηλ.

ברב רשעות הוללות ופשעים שגעונים a wide variety of intemperate cruelty and crazy crimes

The Greek ποικιλία "manifold" and the Syriac κλω "many" could be translations of each other or accurate translations of a Vorlage having בבן; but άμαρτιῶν καὶ ἐν ἀκρασίαις and דייליי הייליי cannot be translations of each other, even if the ἁμαρτωλῶν in mss 253, 655, and 659 was original since it agrees with the Syriac κ. The Greek genitive ἁμαρτιῶν / άμαρτωλών and the Syriac particle π suggests a construct chain in the Vorlage, but a simple reversal of the order of the two or three bound nouns does not bring the Greek and Syriac into conformity. The difference can mostly likely be explained by a haplography of a Vorlage which read ברב רשעות הוללות ופשעים שגעונים "a wide variety of intemperate cruelty and crazy crimes." The רשעות "cruelty," which can be read as a singular abstract noun or a feminine plural noun of איטע, would account for the ἁμαρτιῶν / άμαρτωλών variants in the Greek. The Greek Vorlage or translator read only ברב רשעות הוללות "wide variety of intemperate cruelty," whereas the Syriac translator read only ברב הוללות "with a multitude of intemperances and sinners." The graphic similarity of ששע and בשש in the poetic line could have been the reason for the haplography.

4:4a

οἱ ὀφθαλμοὶ αὐτου ἐπὶ πᾶσαν γυναῖκᾶ ἄνευ διαστολη
his eyes are on every woman <u>indiscriminately</u>

בענה בל בל אנאה בל בל אניה בלי כלא
his eyes are upon every woman <u>without modesty</u>

עיניו על כל אשה בלי כלא
his eyes are upon every woman without restraint

The Greek מֿνευ διαστολη and the Syriac אלא cannot be translations of each other. Commentators have argued for a *Vorlage* with either מבט "speaking rashly" (Geiger, 1871) or בלי פרישות "unlawfully" (Frankenberg, 1896: 70) מבלי פרישות בלא חקה

"Keuschheit [immodestly]" (Perles, 1902: 22). Trafton (1985: 62) summarized the debate to date which generally, in light of the Syriac אבסלא בבישרא, supports Perles' reconstruction and assumes the Greek translator incorrectly translated בלי פרישות.

4:5a

άμαρτάνει ώς οὐχ ὁρώμενος

he sins as if no one saw

ארי ד.לא באשא

as if unseen

מו באין רואה חומא

he sins as if no one sees

The Syriac lacks an equivalent for ἀμαρτάνει, leading Trafton (1985: 62) to conclude that an של שש must have dropped out of the text. In support of Trafton it may be noted that the next line in the Vorlage probably had מבטם "to speak rashly, thoughtlessly." If so, the Vorlage of these two lines would have included the words אַטַרַ "sinning speaking." Given this consonant cluster it is easy

_

⁶⁸ McDaniel (1983: 232) has recognized the existence of the by-forms הלם and הלם in Judges 5:22.

to see how a haplography occurred wherein the NUT was lost under the influence of the NU of the NUTA.

4:5b

ἐν συνταγῆ κακίας
of illicit affairs

κακίας
in an evil scheme
בין בוממים רעים

with evil plans

Trafton (1985: 62) and Wright (1985: 655) had difficulty with the Greek $\sigma \nu \nu \tau \alpha \gamma \eta$ "an order, a command, a preconceived signal, at an appointed time" (Liddell and Scott, 1724), which occurs in Judges 20:38 and II Esdras 10:14. Trafton's translation of $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\sigma \nu \nu \tau \alpha \gamma \hat{\eta}$ $\kappa \alpha \kappa (\alpha \varsigma as$ "in an evil command (or, contract)" missed the nuance of $\sigma \nu \nu \tau \alpha \gamma \hat{\eta}$ "appointed time." Wright's "evil arrangements" and "affair"—suggesting an illicit rendevous —indirectly picked up the idea of an appointed time. The *Vorlage* could have been one of the following:

- (1) מן "appointed time" (as in Judges 20:38), or
- (2) ממ "to devise, to purpose" (used for "evil purpose" in Genesis), or
- (3) ממ "a plan" (used in a bad sense in Psalm 140:9).

The difference between מוֹ or מוֹ is a matter of the well attested confusion of מ and מ (Delitzsch, 1920: 117–118, §128^{a-b}). The Syriac read the *Vorlage* as (3) מוֹן "a plan" and the Greek took the meaning to be (1) מוֹן "an appointed time." The context, in my opinion, requires (2) מוֹן "to devise, to purpose (evil)."

4:5b(G), 4:6b(S)

εἰς πᾶσαν οἰκίαν ἐν ἱλαρότητι ὡς ἄκακος every house as though innocent

as one in whom there is no evil בכל בית כאין עול

into every house as one without evil

Although this is a case where the Greek or the Syriac could be translations of each other, they could be a translation of a *Vorlage* with אין עול "without iniquity" (as in Jeremiah 5:21, Jonah 1:6 and Psalm 104:25). If so, the Greek opted to translate the compound אין with a single word, whereas the Syriac opted for an idiomatic compound phrase.

4:6a(G), 4:7a(S)

τοὺς ἐν ὑποκρίσει <u>ζῶντας</u> <u>μετὰ ὁσίων</u> from the devout those who live in hypocrisy

لمالم تحمهد حهوم تسو

those who judge with partiality . . . with the upright man

הדנים הנשאים פנים עם צדיק the ones judging, lifting up the face against the righteous one

The Greek and the Syriac are quite different in this passage and cannot be translations of each other. The difference between them are the $\zeta \hat{\omega} \nu \tau \alpha \varsigma$ "living ones" and the "judging ones," which probably reflects a misreading of a *Vorlage* having "judging ones" (*scriptio defectiva* for "judging ones" (*scriptio defectiva* for "T'") wherein the initial was confused with a Π , 69 reading it as Π "the living ones." The error in reading seems to have made by the Greek translator or it was already in his *exemplar*. The Syriac has a doublet in this verse,

⁶⁹ Delitzsch (1920: p116 § 123°) cited the misreading of a \sqcap and a \urcorner , although he does not list the confusion of \sqcap and \urcorner . Since a \sqcap and a \urcorner have been confused a confusion of a \sqcap and \urcorner would not be unusual. A poorly aligned \urcorner could also have been misread as \sqcap .

reflecting a *Vorlage* with יים and יים —unless the Syriac translator created the doublet himself. The doublet is the הניים in 4:7a and the יים corresponding to Greek $\zeta \hat{\omega} \nu \tau \alpha \varsigma$ in 4:6a [= Syriac 4:7a]. In either case, the (mis)reading of יום and יים reflects the well attested confusion of ' and ' (see Delitzsch, 1920: 111–112 § 110^{a-c}).

The $\mu \in \tau \grave{\alpha}$ could mean "against" (BAG, 510, s.v. 3ª) rather than "with," especially if it is derived from a *Vorlage* with $\square \mathcal{V}$ that can mean "against" as well as "with" (BDB, 767, s.v. 1°). The verse is best translated, with the *Vorlage* in mind, "May God remove those who judge, lifting their face against the upright man for (causing) the wasting of his body and the impoverishment of his life."

4:7(G), 4:8a (S)

τὰ ἔργα ἀνθρώπων ἀνθρωπαρέσκων the deeds of those who try to impress people

حصوصور 1. 1 مربع مربع مربع مربع المربع المر

the deeds of those who please men

מעשי נשאים פנים

the deeds of the ones showing partiality

The Greek ἀνθρώπων is not reflected in the Syriac which simply has the demonstrative pronoun . It appears that a *Vorlage* with the participle \square "lifting" was represented differently in the Greek and the Syriac. The Greek used ἀνθρώπων to reflect the participle and the Syriac simply used the demonstrative pronoun. So both could be considered correct translations of

⁷⁰ One needs to be careful in following Trafton's translation of what he calls, "two lines in antithetical parallelism: 'but God remove those who judge with partiality, but he (i.e., God) lives with the upright man in the corruption of his (i.e., the upright man's) flesh and in the poverty of his (i.e., the upright man's) life."' The idea that God lives with the upright man in the corruption of his flesh and in his poverty would be a novel theological statement. One would need more evidence to support the idea that the "he" of "he lives" refers to God.

the *Vorlage* which has בנים as in Deuteronomy 10:17 with the sense of "to show partiality."

4:8a (G), 4:9b (S)

έν τῷ ἐξαίρεσθαι ἁμαρτωλοὺς when sinners are driven out

when the wicked are removed בינשאו החטאים

when the wicked are taken away

The Greek $\vec{\epsilon}\nu$ $\tau\hat{\omega}$ and the Syriac τ could possibly be a translation of each other, but they are more likely to be different translations from a *Vorlage* in which there was a confusion of \Box "in" and \Box "when, as." The confusion of \Box and \Box is widely attested (Delitzsch, 1920: 110, § 108^{a-c}).

4:8b (G), 4:10 (S)

λαλοῦντα νόμον μετὰ δόλου who deceitfully quote the Law

who speaks the law with deceit

המספר התורה בערמה the one speaking the Law with deceit

The use of the Greek loanword in the Syriac (מבסשב) cannot be used as an argument for the Syriac translation being derived from the Greek. Jastrow (905, 913) cited $\nu \acute{o}\mu o_{S}$ (מימוס, נמוס) as a commonly used noun in Hebrew and in Aramaic texts which definitely were not based upon Greek originals.

4:9b (G), 4:11b (S)

διαλῦσαι σοφίαν <u>ἀλλήλων</u> destroys the wisdom of <u>others</u>

<u>τωτ. ωτ.</u> κφωω

the wisdom of <u>each one</u>

חכמת אחד ואחד

the wisdom of each and every one

4:10a (G), 4:12a (S)

οί λόγοι αὐτοῦ <u>παραλογισμοι</u> his words are deceitful

פאל במחי בעו אבא אולישוי

his words are in evil counsel

דבריו מרמה

his words are deceitful

The difference between the Greek παραλογισμοι "deceitful" and the Syriac "counsel" is probably rooted in a confusion of a \neg and a \neg in a *Vorlage* having either \neg "to imagine, to devise, to think" or \neg "to deceive" (BDB, 198, 941). The confusion of \neg and \neg is widely attested (Delitzsch, 1920:

 $^{^{71}}$ Note GKC 123° for a list of texts which repeat one or more words to express the idea of "all" or "every."

⁷² If the reduplicated אוֹשׁ or מוֹא is a case of dittography, the שוֹשׁ הכמת חכמת אוֹשׁ is a case of dittography, the הכמת חכמת could be a reverence to "the wisdom of men" as in I Corinthians 2:5.

105–107, §104^{a-c}) and has already been noted above. The context requires a negative nuance to the noun, supporting the Greek text and the assumption that its *Vorlage* had המכן. Consequently, the Syriac translator must have added the negative modifier which was not in his *Vorlage*, since the verb מול של without a modifier would have a very positive meaning.

4:10b (G), 4:13a (S)

οὐκ ἀπέστη ἕως ἐνίκησεν σκορπίσαι ὡς ἐν ὀρφανία
he did not stop until he succeeded
in scattering (them) as orphans

מדמא בבול באלם מלס מחלם אלם and he did not depart until
he scattered (them) among death
לא עמד עד נצח כמתוים
he did not cease until he scattered (them)
like those brought to grief

The Greek ἀπέστη "cease" is read as ἀνέστη "stand up" in mss 149, 260, 471, and 206, a difference which is not likely to be due to graphic or aural similarity of the π and the ν . The Syriac text has the stem at "to depart, to withdrawal, to cease" (J. Payne Smith, 464). All three readings can be derived from a *Vorlage* having the root COT "to stand," which may also have the meaning "to stand still, to cease (moving), to cease (an action)."

Liddell and Scott (1940: 1176) give ν îκάω the meaning "to succeed" only for this passage in the Psalms of Solomon, and this definition has been adopted by Wright (1985: 656). Elsewhere, ν îκάω has the meaning "to conquer, to prevail, to win," which would make it the equivalent of Hebrew ΓΣΣ (stem I), discussed

⁷³ See BDB, 764, 2.a and 2.d., where Genesis 29:35, 30:9, Joshua 10:13, I Samuel 9:27, II Samuel 2:38, II Kings 13:18, and Job 3:11 are cited.

above with reference to the ϵ is $\tau \epsilon \lambda$ os in Psalm 1:1, meaning in the *qal* "to win" and in the *niph*^cal "to be defeated."

The Greek σκυρπίζω "to distribute, to scatter, to disburse" (Liddell and Scott, 1614) is the equivalent of ΠΣΙ (stem II) meaning "to scatter, to sprinkle" (BDB, 664). Since the Syriac has no equivalent for νικάω, one can conclude that the Greek ϵνικησϵν σκορπίσαι "he succeeded to scatter" is a doublet for the ΠΣΙ in the Vorlage i.e., ϵνικησϵν = ΠΣΙ (stem I) and σκορπίσαι = ΠΣΙ (stem II). Given this coincidence of equivalents for ΠΣΙ, the presence of a doublet in the Greek seems more likely than the loss of a word in the Syriac text tradition.

The Greek ὡς ἐν ὀρφανία "as an orphan" and the Syriac ממס שלא "house of death, in death" are not translations of each other. Both can be derived from a *Vorlage* having the *hopheal* participle of אוֹר "to be in pain, to grieve" (BDB, 1063; Jastrow, 1651). The plural participle with the preposition ¬ or ¬ would have been written ממחנים or ¬ which closely approximates the *qal* stative participle of the stem מות "to die," and which with the preposition ¬ or ¬ would have been written ¬ among the dead" or ¬ would have been written ¬ and the Greek read " במחנים and the Syriac read "במחנים "

4:12a (G), 4:15a (S)

 $\dot{\epsilon}$ πλήσθη $\dot{\epsilon}$ ν παρανομία $\dot{\underline{\epsilon}}$ ν ταύτη he is satiated with lawless action at one (place)

אלפגל, <u>בחנא</u> בסלא and he was filled <u>with this</u> lawlessness ומלא בזה עול

and he was full of contemptuous lawlessness

אמרט (1994 lecture) noted that the difficult saying of Jesus in Matthew 8:21 "let the dead bury the dead," could reflect a misunderstanding of a written text of Jesus' words, "let the ones who are grief stricken (מתוים) bury the dead." There is no aural similarity between מתוים (motwîm) and שתוים (metîm), consequently it would have to be a misreading of a written tradition.

Wright's translation of $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ταύτη as "at one (place)" instead of "in this" reflects the difficulty of the demonstrative pronoun in the context of this poetic line. Trafton (1985: 67) summarized the numerous proposed emendations for $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ταύτη ($\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ἄυλη, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ὁικῷ, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ κοίτη, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ διαίτη, $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ τατῆ, and $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ταῦθα), the proposed Hebrew Vorlage of Ryle and James (ΓΝΤ), and suggested several possibilities of his own. While many of the suggestions are inventive, even ingenious, none are convincing. It is, however, possible to construct a Vorlage which does explain the Greek and the Syriac and it is the Greek, with the preposition $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$, which rightly retains the clue to the original Vorlage.

4:12b (G), 4:15b (S)

פֿע λόγοις ἀναπτερώσεως
with agitating words
(literally: "words that give wings")

אריבים
with words which put to flight
בדבר מאבידים
with words of destruction

The Greek and the Syriac agree, but neither the Greek λόγοις ἀναπτερώσεως "words that give wings" nor the Syriac καταπτερώσεως "words which put to flight" fit within the context of anticipated destruction in this verse. A *Vorlage* with a *hiph^cil* of

Hebrew אמר "to destroy, to put to death" (BDB, 2) was probably misread by both the Greek and the Syriac as אבר "to fly, to move pinions" (BDB, 7, as in Job 39:29). The *hiphcil* participle form שאבירים was misread as מאבירים by both the Greek and the Syriac.

4:14a (G), 4:15-16 (S)

γένοιτο κύριε ή μερίς αὐτου ἐν ἀτιμία

Lord, let <u>his part</u> be in disgrace

במש בלמש המשם המשם

in all these things may it be , O Lord

יהוה יהי חלקו בקלון

Lord, let his portion be in disgrace

4:18 (G), 4:20 (S)

έν μονώσει ἀτεκνίας τὸ γῆρας αὐτοῦ εἰς ἀνάλημψιν may his old age be in lonely childlessness until his removal

תעורר שיבתו עד לְקַּח מן ילדיו לא אחד יקברהו

may his old age be bereft (of children) from his children not one will bury him

The differences between the Greek and the Syriac translations in this poetic line are greater than other differences encountered thus far. This is the first place where Frankenberg (1896: 71) felt forced to do only a partial translation: ": כול יבתו ליבתו ליבתו

The Syriac has no equivalent for τὸ γῆρας αὐτου "his old age" which is likely to have been το τὸ γῆρας αὐτου "his old age" which is likely to have been το τὸ τὸ in the *Vorlage*. The Greek ἐν μονώσει ἀτεκνίας "in lonely childlessness" is a phrase lacking a verb (which is supplied by Wright's addition of "may he be"). Although the verb is lacking in Greek, the verb το τό το be reaved (of children)" or το το be stripped (of children)" could have been in the *Vorlage*. With either verb, "the children" is implicit in the Hebrew word, and the Greek ἐν μονώσει ἀτεκνίας could reflect either verb and not require an additional word for μονώσε. 75

The Greek εἰς ἀνάλημψιν, which has no corresponding element in the Syriac translation, is most likely to be from a *Vorlage* having $\Box P$. The nuance of $\Box P$ found in Isaiah 53:8 ("he was taken away $[\Box P]$. . . who considered that he was cut off out of the land of the living") fits perfectly the context of this verse which has its hint of death.

Shifting to the Syriac text, the verb, which has no equivalent element in the Greek translation, has been translated by Trafton (1985: 69) as the *aph^cel* in "he makes war with him."

 $^{^{75}}$ See שרירי in Leviticus 20:20–21 and Jeremiah 22:30. Compare Arabic לטל in Lane (1863: 345 $^{\rm b-c}$).

Opting for this meaning, Trafton disagreed with Harris and Mingana (1868: 92) who restored the $\prec \Delta$ from ms 10hl. Since it is more likely that $\prec \Delta$ dropped out of ms 16hl rather than being added to 10hl, it is best to retain the $\prec \Delta$ and assume the presence of the \aleph^{\perp} in the Hebrew Vorlage.

All elements of the Greek and the Syriac, including the $\angle \Delta$, should be retained and by reading the Syriac following the Greek a meaningful line becomes apparent. If the sequential reading of the Greek and Syriac texts is correct and the reconstructed *Vorlage* approximates the original Hebrew, the poet was actually praying that the profane, wicked man would experience the death of his offspring and thus in his own time be faced with the ignominy of death without burial.

4:20b (G), 4:23b (S)

καὶ ἐσκόρπισαν <u>ἐν ἐπιθυμία</u> and greedily <u>scattered (them)</u>

and they scattered him in desire

ויפיזום בתאוה and they scattered them in desire

Wright has supplied the direct object "them" which is lacking in the Greek text. The Syriac text has a singular "him" although the context does require the plural "them." It is difficult to explain the absence of the direct object in the Greek, unless it is a case of haplography resulting from the graphic similarity of the final \square followed by the preposition \square . This confusion apparently occurs again in 5:1 of the Psalms of Solomon, which will be discussed below. In the case of the Syriac it could be due to a misreading of a \square (3ms object suffix) instead of a \square .

4:24 (G), 4:28 (S)

ἐξάραι ὁ θεὸς τοὺς ποιοῦντας
 ἐν ὑπερηφανία πᾶσαν ἀδικίαν
 may God banish those who arrogantly commit all (kinds of) unrighteousness

مودی حسلا برمیلا برمیلا برمیلا کردید

God <u>destroyed</u> all those who do injustice in pride ינה אלהים כל עושים חמס בגאון

may God destroy all those who do injustice in pride

The issue in this poetic line is the Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\acute{\alpha}\rho\alpha$ "may he banish" and the Syriac "he destroyed." There is a difference in tense as well as meaning. A *Vorlage* with the stem $\exists i$ " "to oppress, to suppress, to maltreat" (BDB, 413) would have been ambiguous since $\exists i$ " (3ms perfect) and $\exists i$ " (3ms imperfect, like $\exists i$ " and $\exists i$ ") are consonantal homographs. The semantic range of $\exists i$ " could include $\dot{\epsilon}$ $\xi\acute{\alpha}$ $\rho\alpha$ and \exists \exists α . The Greek optative reflects the \exists \exists read as a jussive, and the Syriac reflects the perfect \exists \exists \exists \exists α .

⁷⁶ See Delitzsch, 1920: 113, § 114^{a-b}.

The position of the noun כל "all" was positioned differently in the *Vorlage* of the Greek and the Syriac. The *Vorlage* of the former had כל "all kinds of violence/injustice," but the latter read "מוֹם" "all the ones doing." The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text on this point.

Psalm Five

5:1a

κύριε ὁ θεός αἰνέσω τῷ ὀνόματί σου Lord God, I will joyfully praise your name

אברע אברע בהיבא כדיבא O Lord, my God, I will praise your name in exaltation יהוה אלהים בגילה אהלל שמך

O Lord God in joy I will praise your name

The Greek has κύριε ὁ θεός "Lord God" while the Syriac has the suffixed א בי של הי" O Lord, my God." The Syriac reflects a Hebrew *Vorlage* having "הוה אלה" and the Greek reflects one with "הוה אלהי". The above proposed *Vorlage* explains the difference as a simple haplography with the well attested confusion of the graphically similar final \square of \square with the initial \square of בגילה (see Delitzsch, 1920: 113, § 114^{a-c}). The Greek is to be preferred in this poetic line.

5:6a (G), 5:8a (S)

שוח <u>βαρύνης</u> την χειρά σου ἐφ' ἡμᾶς do not <u>weigh down</u> your hand on us

על החכן ידן ממני אבר ממני אל החכן ידך ממני

do not let your hand <u>delay</u> from us

do not weigh down your hand on us

The clues for the difference between the Greek μη βαρύνης "do not weigh down" and the Syriac מבאסעד, "do not delay" are not to be found by looking for an inner Greek corruption of βαρύνω "to weigh down, to oppress, to depress, to disable" and βραδύνω "to slow down, to delay, to loiter," as Harris (1911: 41) proposed, followed by Begrich (1939: 137–38). Kuhn's proposal (1937: 19) that an inner Syriac corruption of בסל תכבר (= Hebrew אל תכבר) was first misread as thook the double and again misread thook the thook the thook the double the thook the thook the theory that the theory is not convincing. Nor is Ryle and James' proposal (1891: 56) for a Vorlage having אל תכבר יודף (in light of Job 33:7 and Psalm 32:4).⁷⁷ Trafton's (1985: 75) reworking of Kuhn's argument is as complex as that of Harris, suggesting the following sequence of misreadings: the original אַל תַּכְבַד יְדֵךְ עַלֵּינוּ was correctly translated as _____ was corrupted , but the room was corrupted to, inot, and was lengthened to, inotet. Moreover, the preposition was changed to to go with the new verb . papone,

⁷⁷ Note Job 14:21, where אבכם $\beta \alpha \rho \dot{\nu} \varsigma$ "honor."

 $^{^{78}\,}$ See II Kings 12:12 for being used for the weighing and measuring of silver.

אח Another possibility is that a *Vorlage* with ההם "to be *heavy* in spirit, to faint, be dim or dull," which became $\beta\alpha\rho\nu\nu\eta\varsigma$ in the Greek, was read as ההם by the Syriac, i.e. a confusion of D and D (see Delitzsch, 1920: 114, § 115^{a-b}). Since הם is not attested elsewhere with T, this suggestion must be offered with all due caution.

Greek tradition is preferable, meaning there was an error of haplography in the Syriac tradition.

5:6b (G), 5:8b (S)

ἵνα μὴ δι' <u>ἀνάγκην</u> ἁμάρτωμεν lest under duress we sin

LL> range runts

lest we be overpowered that we might sin

בן בכרח נחטא lest unwillingly we sin

5:7a (G), 5:9a (S)

καὶ ἐὰν μὴ ἐπιστρέψης ἡμᾶς οὐκ ἀφεξόμεθα even if you do not restore us we will not stay away

⁸⁰ See Delitzsch, 1920: 120 § 131 for the confusion of \mathcal{I} and Π in Nehemiah 4:11 and 112 § 111 for the confusion of \mathcal{I} and Π .

⁸¹ Note the confusion of ¬ and ۱ in Trafton (1985: 67, note 50) where בערל הזה סכנערs along with הזה בעול הזה.

and do not turn your face from us lest . . .

אפיך אל תשיב מננו and do not remove your face from us

Trafton's reconstruction of the Vorlage as אבן אבן "do" "do" לא הבן not turn your face" (which uses the cognate of the Syriac and a direct object) may be correct, although one would expect by plus the jussive for the negative imperative in Hebrew. Some caution needs to be exercised, though, since the verbs generally used in Hebrew for "to turn the face" are סבב, סבב, and בון. Hebrew סכנעrs in Jeremiah 30:6 (בֶל־פָּנִים לְיֵרֶקוֹן (why) has every face turned pale?") and II Kings 21:13 (מַדָּה וְהָפַּךְ עַל־פַּנִיהָ "wiping it [a dish] and turning it upside down"), but with a different construction and nuance. Trafton translated the first word of 5:9b, <1, as "lest," but it could simply be the equivalent of the Greek "for we will not" Therefore, the clues for the differences in Syriac and Greek are to be found (1) in the Greek καὶ ἐὰν "even if," which is lacking in Syriac, and (2) the Syriac has "your face," which is lacking in Greek. A retroversion of of אפיך or פניך or "your face" into Hebrew would be אפיך.

Given these readings, the *Vorlage* may have had אפיך אל, which equals the Syriac. But the Greek translator apparently read 'ך (or his *Vorlage* had a metathesis of the 'and the פן 'and the אפיך and missed the sense of "your face." This mitigated against translating or retaining the ממני which became unintelligible in this changed context. The Syriac אינופל" translates the "double duty" בי of 5:6b.

5:12a (G), 5:14a (S)

καὶ σὺ ἐπακούση ὅτι τίς χρηστὸς καὶ ἐπιεικὴς ἀλλ' ἢ σὺ and you will listen. For who is good and kind but you

 ואתה תענינו כי טוב וסלח אתה and you will answer him because good and gentle (are) you

As Hatch and Redpath (1954: 45) include τις "the answered" among the words translated by ἀκούω "to listen," the crux in the Syriac and Greek of this poetic line is not the ἐπακούση "you will listen" versus the "you will answer him" but the difference between " "because" and ὅτι τίς "for who is." This difference reflects a dittography in the translation by the Greek translator, or in his *Vorlage*, of the particle "and the subsequent confusion of a and a a, i.e., the "a was duplicated to "and this senseless word was given meaning by changing it to the question," " "for who (is)." The *Vorlage* follows the Syriac rather than the Greek for this poetic line.

5:12b (G), 5:14b (S)

<u>εὐφρᾶναι</u> ψυχὴν ταπεινοῦ <u>making</u> the humble person <u>happy</u> **παλποδο**and his soul will be <u>satisfied</u>

שובע נפש עני

satisfying the appetite of the one afflicted (from fasting)

⁸² Trafton appeals to manuscript 16hl* beginning with Psalm 2:4 but failed to identify it in his discussion of extant manuscript evidence of the Psalms of Solomon (1985:6–7).

well as an \mathcal{D} and a Π . *3 However, Trafton's calling attention to the prayer of the "hungry man" mentioned in 5:12 points the interpreter in the right direction. The Greek $\psi \nu \chi \dot{\eta} \nu$ and the Syriac certainly suggest that $\ddot{\mathcal{D}}$ was in the *Vorlage*. The collocation of $\ddot{\mathcal{D}}$ "soul" and $\ddot{\mathcal{D}}$ "to satisfy, to satiate" would suggest that the nuance of $\ddot{\mathcal{D}}$ probably retains the meaning of "appetite, emotions, passions" (Gordon, 1965: 446; BDB, 660). *4 The poet may have intended the very physical "satisfying the appetite" of a hungry man rather than some spiritual satisfaction of a soul.

The Syriac translator, or the scribe producing the *Vorlage*, misread עני as עני (the נפש עני mistaken for שני). ⁸⁶ The

See above, note 59, and on the confusion of Π and \mathcal{D} , along with numerous examples of the confusion of Π and Ω , see Delitzsch (1920: 113, § 114–115).

⁸⁴ Note Proverbs 23:2 and Ecclesiastes 6:7 where KJV rendered שבו by "appetite." The archaic meaning of שבו "throat" survives in Habakkuk 2:5, "he opened wide his throat (שבו) as Sheol" (KJV "who enlargeth his desire as hell").

 $^{^{85}}$ Liddell and Scott, 1757 s.v. definition 4, noted that $\tau \alpha \pi \epsilon \iota \nu \delta \omega$ had the meaning of "denying, abasing, humbling oneself," particularly with fasting which parallels the way שנה נפש is used as a synonym for ברה לא "not eat bread" (II Samuel 12:17).

Note the confusion of \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{Z} cited by Delitzsch (1920: 119, § 131).

erroneous \mathbb{NWD} \mathbb{N} \mathbb{ND} was subsequently interpreted as \mathbb{NDD} . Consequently, it appears that the Greek provides the clearest clues for reconstructing the *Vorlage*. However, modern translators of the Greek missed the contextual nuance of $\tau \alpha \pi \in \mathbb{ND}$. In light of the reference to hunger in 5:10b and God's *feeding* kings and rulers in 5:11a, the focus probably remains on the theme of God's satisfying the appetite of the hungry, especially those who out of piety are hungry from fasting.

5:13a (G), 5:15b (S)

καὶ <u>ἐὰν δευτερώση</u> ἄνευ γογγυσμοῦ καὶ τοῦτο <u>θαυμάσειας</u>

and <u>if (it comes) a second time</u> without complaint, this is <u>remarkable</u>

and if the one who gives again does not grumble, this also is wonderful

ואם ישנה תת בלא צוחה ויתמה הזה and if he would repeat giving without grumbling, then this would be remarkable

The Greek aorist optative δευτερώση plus the conditional ἐὰν ("if he would repeat") and the Syriac imperfect κόμ, plus the conditional am κα ("and if he would repeat"), could be translations of each other or of a Vorlage having המוח "and if he would repeat." The additional infinitive in the Syriac, Δλωλ "to give," which has no corresponding element in the Greek, would point to a Vorlage with המוח הישנה המוח ולאבור מוח השלים. "מערה המוח לשנים." However, the Greek δευτερώση could be a one word equivalent of המוח השלים, in which case the Syriac text would provided the best clue for reconstructing the Vorlage.

-

⁸⁷ Gray (1913: 638) read "making glad the soul of the humble," and Wright (1985: 657) provided "making the humble person happy."

The Greek aorist optative 2s θαυμάσειας was correctly translated by Ryle and James (1891: 59) as "thou wouldst marvel," and Trafton (1985: 78) offered "you would wonder at this." But other translations actually paraphrase to avoid the difficulty of the second person. ** The Syriac has the noun משלים "wonder," presumably going back to a Vorlage with המשלים הואלים. Either of these words could account for the difference between the Greek having a verb and the Syriac having a noun since the difficulty is with the prefix rather than the stem. Following the conditional המשלים "if," one would expect a ""then" + imperfect in the apodosis. This would suggest an original המשלים "then you would wonder."

In the Syriac tradition the "ו סלתמת (or א"ו) was evidently read as the definite article ה affixed to the noun, whereas in the Greek tradition the "ו was read as the 2ms verb prefix ה. " Contextually, the second person would have to be addressed to God, but it is most unlikely that the poet wanted to tell God that he (God) would be amazed by a second act of human charity. Therefore, the Syriac text is preferable for reconstructing a Vorlage which would account for the differences in the text traditions.

5:14b (G), 5:16b (S)

καὶ $\underline{o\hat{v}}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\sigma\tau\iota\nu$ $\dot{\eta}$ $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\iota\varsigma$ $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota$ $\sigma\dot{\epsilon}$ $\underline{o\underline{v}}$ $\dot{\phi}\epsilon\dot{\iota}\sigma\epsilon\tau\alpha\iota$ $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ δόματι and the one whose hope is in you will not be lacking gifts

and there is no hope towards you which will be sparing with gifts

⁸⁸ Gray (1913: 639) translated "even that is marvelous" and Wright (1985: 657) rendered it "this is remarkable."

 $^{^{89}}$ If the stem were המה, there may have been confusion of מית and ויתחמה, i.e., a dittography or haplography of the ה. On the confusion of π and $^{\circ}$ which is analogous to the confusion of π and $^{\circ}$, see Delitzsch, 1920: 121 §132.

אָין שֹבר לך לא יחסר במתן the weary one hoping in you will not be lacking in (receiving) gifts

The Greek tradition is inconsistent in that mss 253, 655, and 659 read the negative οὐκ instead of the relative οὖ. The negative in the first phrase of the Syriac has no corresponding negative particle in the majority of the Greek manuscripts, and the negative où in the second half of this line has no corresponding negative in the Syriac. The first of these differences between the Syriac and the majority of the Greek manuscripts could be accounted for by assuming the Syriac translator used one of the three manuscripts having oùk (or a manuscript in the same recension). Otherwise, if the Syriac were translating from the Greek one would have to assume the Syriac translator in this case failed to distinguish the difference between smooth breathing and rough breathing, as well as the absence of the k of the negative particle coming before a vowel. Of the twenty occurrences of ou (either the negative particle or the relative) there is no other example of the Syriac translator confusing the où and the o \hat{v} . Of the sixty-five occurrences of où, οῦ and οὖκ, there is no similar confusion. The differences between the Syriac and the Greek requires a more reasonable explanation.

 $^{^{90}}$ Of the forty-five times οὐκ appears in the Psalms of Solomon, it is missing twice (in 3:1 in ms 253* and in 17:5 in ms 769) and in 4:21 the κ was lost through haplography following an inversion of καὶ οὐκ to οὐ καὶ.

A Vorlage with א or א could have been understood as the active participle א or א or א or א could have been understood as the active participle א or א or א or שאין meaning "being tired" or "being present." The Greek οῦ ἐστιν equals the latter definition, i.e., א "being present," whereas the Syriac א or equals the very common א "is not." Given the context which speaks of distress and hunger, the poet probably intended the א or א or א to have the meaning "being tired, being fatigued."

Once the Syriac understood the א or א in its Vorlage to be the negative particle א the negative particle in the second half of the line, which would have matched the Greek οὐ φείσεται "he will not be lacking," would have produced a contradictory statement. Consequently, its second negative (א א כוֹן לא לוֹן) dropped out of the Hebrew translation.

5:16a (G), 5:18 (S)

μακάριος οὖ μνημονεύει ὁ θεὸς ἐν συμμετρία αὐταρκείας happy is (the person) whom God remembers with a moderate sufficiency

הנלהבליםה, מליא במשכנותא

blessed is the man whom the Lord remembers in poverty

אשרי אשר יפקד יהוה במנת די blessed is the one (to) whom Yahweh appoints a measure of sufficiency

The Greek αὐταρκεία "sufficiency" and the Syriac κακό "sufficiency" (found as the first word of Syriac 5:19) could be translations of each other or of a Vorlage having " \Box . But the Syriac καναμέτρία cannot be translations of each other. The Greek συμμέτρία "measured, due portion" (Wright's "moderate") points to the stem \Box in the Vorlage, and

⁹¹ See GKC § 72° and the example cited of the active participle קוֹמִים, with the vowel letter ו, for the anticipated usual participle שַמִים without the vowel letter.

the Syriac מיכה, from the stem מיכח, meaning "reduction to poverty" (BDB, 557; Jastrow, 741, 773). Were מיכה written scriptio defectiva as מכה it closely resembles מנה Therefore, the difference in the two translations appears to be an error in the Syriac of reading a D for a I, an error well attested elsewhere. The Syriac Vorlage must have been: .. "שור י אשר יפקד יהוה במכת: דיו "blessed is the one whom God has appointed for poverty. His sufficiency" The reading of "sufficiency" with the next verse must have come after the misreading of the D for a I, since "poverty of sufficiency" would have produced an oxymoron.

5:17a (G), 5:20a (S)

Karis Karisas Krie

<u>advantageous</u> is <u>poverty</u> with righteousness

ישוה מנה בצדקה the portion will be rightly equal

Trafton (1985: 80) has correctly noted that "שם would not be a normal translation of $i \kappa \alpha \nu \delta_S$." If the *Vorlage* had the root שני "to be equal, fit, worthy, adequate, suitable" (BDB, 1000) its semantic range would be broad enough to include "advantageous" and $i \kappa \alpha \nu \delta_S$ "adequate." The Syriac has been consistent in reading מכה here as in the preceding verse instead of של "portion." But the Greek $\mu \acute{\epsilon} \tau \rho \iota o \nu$ "within measure" would be a good translation of $i \iota o \iota o \iota$ "שנה מכם האונה מכם בשנה של האונה מכם האונה של אונה של האונה של

⁹² See Delitzsch, 1920: 116 §120b.

THE PSALMS OF SOLOMON

Psalm Six

6:1a

μακάριος ἀνήρ οὖ ἡ καρδία αὐτοῦ ἐτοίμη ἐπικαλέσασθαι τὸ ὄνομα κυρίου happy is the man whose heart is ready to call on the name of the Lord

להכחה, לביוא <u>הכלהו לב</u>ה לכמיא בצכח הכיוא

blessed is the man whose heart <u>is prepared</u>
to call upon the name of the Lord
אשרי האיש אשר מעתד לבו לעתר אל יהוה
blessed is the man whose heart is prepared
to entreat Yahweh

The verb עתר usually takes the preposition לי or לי followed by the name הוה. The Syriac יהוה and the Greek τὸ ονομα κυρίου "the name of the Lord" may be a poetic or pious circumlocution for the holy name.

6:2a (G), 6:3a (S)

αἱ ὁδοὶ αὐτοῦ κατευθύνονται ὑπὸ κυρίου his ways are directed by the Lord

מאסה שלה של בא מדים כלי and his ways are made straight <u>before</u> the Lord דרכיו מישרים אל עבר פניו יהוה

his ways are made 'perfectly straight' by the Lord

6:3a (G), 6:4-6:5a (S)

ἀπὸ ὁράσεως πονηρῶν ἐνυπνίων αὐτοῦ οὐ ταραχθήσετα ἡ ψυχὴ αὐτοῦ his soul will not be disturbed by the vision of evil dreams

המועש ביז אין <u>גירודי</u> אין אפויריי הארא <u>גירוש שטי</u> 2 טרפאשיייי

and his evil vision in the <u>night</u> will not be disturbed <u>because he is his;</u> and his soul . . .

מַחְזוּת בחלום לילה הרעה לא תזוע נפשו his soul will not be disturbed by a bad vision of a dream in the night

The Greek and Syriac in this poetic line share many words in common (soul, vision, dreams, bad, and disturb) but it would be difficult to explain how they could be a translation of each other. By listing the Hebrew equivalents of the shared words of the Syriac and the Greek, the following word cluster appears: מחזות בחלום לילה הרעה לא תזוע נפשו. If the Vorlage approximated this cluster then it becomes obvious that the differences between the Syriac and the Greek are rooted in different understandings of the Hebrew syntax. If the first word in the list could be vocalized as מַחַזוּת, then the phrase מַחַזוּת בחלום "from the vision of a dream" could have been read as a construct chain with an intervening preposition ב,93 with the modifier הרעה "bad" coming after the bound noun and its modifier לילה "night." If this were the Vorlage, the Greek took the feminine שבו "his soul" to be the subject of the verb, but the Syriac took the feminine האוה "vision" to be the subject of מוע "it will disturb" and made the ופשו the subject of the verb in the next sentence.

 $^{^{93}}$ Compare the הלכי על דרך "the ones walking along the road" of Judges 5:10.

⁹⁴ Compare the *Qere³ / Kethîb* of Jeremiah 29:23 where הוּיֹדָעַ appears for אוֹדָע י Note BDB, 510 where למו is cited as meaning "to him" or "to them."

6:3b (G), 6:5a (S)

έν διαβάσει ποταμῶν in the <u>crossing</u> of rivers אלא <u>κταπαμαν</u> <u>κταπαμαν</u> in the (crossing) of a river בעבר נהרות crossing of rivers

The emendation of Baars (1972: 10) of אבתבים to אבתבים in ms 16hl is an obviously convincing correction (the "making of a river" is contextually unlikely). But given the frequent confusion of ¬ and ¬ in Hebrew, one ought not to conclude that the אבתבים ("in the making") for אבתבים ("in the crossing") error was necessarily an inner-Syriac misreading of the t as a t. The misreading was probably already in a Vorlage in which a ¬ and a ¬ were confused, with the Syriac אבתבים being a very literal translation of the lectio dificilior עבר "to make" rather than עבר "to cross."

indeed, he arose from his sleep

The Greek does not have the particle ὅτι corresponding to the Syriac that the Hebrew Vorlage used by the Syriac translator had the particle 'D. If the Vorlage did indeed have a 'D, it could have been the emphatic 'D, well attested in Biblical Psalms. If so, the Greek translator omitted the emphasis, and the Syriac translator mistook it as the homographic

⁹⁵ See Blommerde (1969: 30) and Dahood and Penar (1970: 402–405) for a discussion of the emphatic particle

→ and a list of occurrence.

causative particle. (A similar difference occurs in 7:2, discussed below.)

6:5a (G), 6:7b (S)

καὶ έδεήθη τοῦ προσώπου κυρίου he prays to the Lord

מבעא כן <u>מות אפמת,</u> וגפונא and he petitioned the face of the Lord

ובקשׁ פני יהוה and he sought the face of Yahweh

The Syriac תבת המבל, המבל האם שהמחו means literally "from before his faces of the Lord." This cumbersome expression is probably a doublet. Just two words express a similar idea in Psalm 105:5 (and elsewhere), בְּלְשׁוֹ בְּּנְיוֹ "seek his presence." The כל "from before" (BDB, 817, section 5), and the ה מברל could be the translation of את פני הוה מברל "his face." The Greek τοῦ προσώπου supports reading מום בני יהוה the reconstructed Vorlage.

Psalm Seven

7:1

<u>μὴ ἀποσκηνώσης</u> ἀφ' ἡμῶν ὁ θεός <u>do not move away</u> from us, O God κωλκ μω <u>νωτοκαν</u> άφ' ήμων ὁ θεός

do not remove your dwelling place from us, O God

אל תרחק שכינתך ממנו אלהים do not remove your presence/dwelling from us, O God

The Syriac "thy dwelling place" has no corresponding element in the Greek text. Although Trafton (1985: 85) suggested that the Greek and Syriac reflect the same idea, it must be noted that the Greek speaks of personal presence but the Syriac speaks of a place. If the Vorlage had שׁכִינה "the Shekinah, the divine presence," it would become obvious how the two translations

emerged. The Greek went with the Shekinah, the divine presence, but the Syriac took שכינה in its more literal sense, "royal residence" (Jastrow, 1573).

7:2

μὴ πατησάτω ὁ ποὺς αὐτῶν do not let their feet trample

that their foot might not trample upon

כי לא תרמס רגלם that their feet not trample

The π "that" prefixed to the negative particle, $\prec \Delta \pi$, is not reflected in the Greek. This is a difference which approximates the one discussed above with reference to 6:4a (G) where the Greek does not have the particle ot corresponding to the Syriac tax "because." In 6:4a it was suggested that the Syriac Vorlage had the particle 'D. But here in 7:2b, it appears that the Syriac Vorlage also used 'D to express purpose (BDB, 471). The aorist in the Greek, ὅτι ἀπώσω αὐτούς, and the perfect in Syriac (ბισμαπ Δλλο with which the verse begins would require a perfect tense in the Vorlage indicating the enemy's having been "forced back" (in battle). The aorist and the perfect tense support the reading of the Syriac that the action of the second verb was a statement of fact (that they would/could not again trample) rather than a wish expressed by a jussive optative. The Greek may have had a 'in its Vorlage, but if so, it was taken to be an emphatic rather than a causative particle and was left untranslated, as in 6:4a. 96

> 7:3 σὺ ἐν θελήματί σου <u>παίδευσον ἡμᾶς</u> <u>discipline us</u> as you wish

 $^{^{96}\,}$ Liddell and Scott (2031, section I, 2.) noted the use of $\vec{\omega}\,\theta \vec{\epsilon}\,\omega$ in the context of military action.

مدله حے حسب نور

in your will chasten me yourself

אתה יסרנו כרצונך

according to your pleasure, chasten us yourself

A Vorlage with "סרנו" "chasten us" could easily have been misread as "סרנו" "chastened me," given the common confusion of and ז. Trafton (1985: 85) concurred with Harris and Mingana (1868: 95) and Baars (1972: 11) in emending "להבנה" "chasten me" to "הבנה" "chasten us". Given the graphic dissimilarity of הבנה, compared to "סרנו" and "סרנו" it is more likely that the error occurred in the Hebrew Vorlage rather than in the Syriac tradition. The difference between "according to" in the Vorlage and $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ or assumes a confusion of \Box and \Box , discussed above.

7:4

ἐὰν γὰρ ἀποστείλης θάνατον σὺ
 ἐντελῆ αὐτῷ περὶ ἡμῶν
 for if you send death (himself)
 you would give him (special) instructions about us

כי אם תשלח מות אתה תצויהו בעברינו for if you send Death you would command him for our sake (to pass over us)

In the LXX ἐτέλλεσθαι"to command" translates אוני "to command" about 400 times; consequently, there is good reason to suppose that ἐντελῆ may reflect a *Vorlage* with אוני . This lends support to the suggestion of Harris and Mingana (1868: 95) that the Syriac בפס "set" should be emended to the participle תבס "commanding."

There are definitely overtones of Exodus 12:12–30 in this poetic line. If the $\pi \in \rho \wr \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{\omega} \nu$ and the "about us, concerning us" are a translation of בעברינו "for us, on our account" (i.e., the

compound preposition ב plus אבן, the choice of שנבר which also means "to cross over" is suggestive of שנבר "to pass over." It seems as if the poet is using a *double entendre* to say that when (the angel of) Death is dispatched, Death will be commanded "for the sake of" (שבר) the righteous "to pass over" (שבר) them. The reconstructed Vorlage follows the fuller Greek text and the English translation of the Vorlage includes a parenthetical addition to reflect that $double\ entendre$.

7:6b(G), 7:6a (S)

אמו <u>οὐκ ἰσχύσει</u> πρὸς ἡμᾶς ἔθνος and the gentile <u>will not overcome</u> us מא בארא בארא בראה ברא בראה בראה בראה מון and the nations will not be able to overpower us מון יים לא יוּכְלוּ יבֶּלֶח עלינו and the nations will not be able to overpower us

The Greek lacks anything corresponding to יצבעה "they will find." Trafton (1985: 85) similarly omitted the translation of all the prize to find the verse. The Syriac root אבעה "to find" can also mean "to be able," occurring with this meaning as a participle in Matthew 3:9 (מצבעה) in both the Peshitta and the Old Syriac and as a feminine noun (מצבעה) in Mark 10:27. "In light of the semantic range of "וו וווא "they will be able" and "to prevail" translated the compound phrase יבְּלָּהְ יֹבֶלְּהְ יֹבֶלְּהְ יֹבֶלְהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּהְ יִבְּלָּהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלָהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּלְהְ יִבְּבְּתְּם יִבְּתְּם יִבְּיִים יִבְיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּיְיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְיִים יִבְיִים יִבְּיִים יִבְּי

⁹⁷ In this respect, אבע parallels the usage of אצה "to find" which also has the meaning "to be able" in Lev 12:8 (אַ המצא "if she not be able to bring"), 25:28 (אַ מצאו "if she not be able to restore"), and Psalm 76:6 (ולא מצאו "not able to use their hands").

The Greek ὑπερασπιστὴς ἡμῶν "or shield" and the Syriac בסביב "our power" cannot be accurate translations of each other, but both could be correct translations of a *Vorlage* with שׁלְשׁנוֹ or שׁלְשׁנוֹ (scriptio defectiva). The stem שׁלִשׁ appears as the noun שֵׁלֶשׁנוֹ "the ruler, the one having mastery" (BDB, 1020). The Syriac בסביב reflects the שֵׁלֶשׁ (or שֵׁלֶשׁ) and the Greek ὑπερασπιστὴς reflects the שֵׁלֶשׁ.

7:8a (G), 7:8a (S)

ὅτι σὰ οἰκτιρήσεις τὸ γένος Ισραηλ εἰς τὸν αἰῶνα for you will have compassion on the people Israel forever

for you will have compassion on the seed of Israel forever

_

 $^{^{98}}$ Trafton (1985: 86) footnoted the use of $\gamma \acute{e}\nu o\varsigma$ for זרע in Jeremiah 31:37 (LXX 38:35).

7:8b (G), 7:8b (S)

The Syriac , where d "lead astray" and the Greek dπώση "drive away, reject" cannot be accurate translations of each other. But, as Trafton (1985: 87) noted, both verbs could be correct translations of a *Vorlage* with Π ". . . since the *hiph* of Π " "move away" can mean both 'drive away' and 'lead astray'."

The Syriac is lacking a verse corresponding to 7:9 of the Greek text for reasons which are not apparent. (The omission of a Syriac verse at 5:20b, corresponding to the Greek 5:17b, may, as Trafton [1985: 80] proposed be due to a parablepsis.)

7:10b (G), 7:9b (S)

εἰς ἡμέραν ἐν ἡ ἐπηγγείλω αὐτοῖς on the day when you <u>promised</u> (it) to them
מתר אמר מה אמר ליום אשר אמרת למו for the day which is <u>prepared</u> for them

ליום אשר אמרת למו for the day you promised to them

The Greek ἐπηγγείλω "promised" and the Syriac "prepared" cannot be translations of each other. In the LXX ἐπαγγέλλειν translates ΓΩΝ "to say," which has no graphic similarity to ΓΩΝ "to prepare," the cognate of το. However, ΓΩΝ "to bind" may have the meaning "to prepare," as in I Kings 18:44, "go up, say unto Ahab, 'prepare thy chariot" and get thee down . . ." (KJV). In Leviticus Rabbah 22, ΓΩΝ is used with the sense of

⁹⁹ KJV "thy chariot" is an addition base on the LXX reading $\tau \delta$ $\tilde{\alpha} \rho \mu \alpha \sigma \sigma v$.

obligation: "had not the Lord bound himself by an oath" (Jastrow, 98). The ideas of obligation and promise do overlap. The Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\alpha\gamma\gamma\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\lambda\epsilon\iota\nu$ (= 72%) carries the positive connotations the context requires, whereas the expression "the day prepared for them" found in the Syriac carries negative connotations of apocalyptic gloom. The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text.

Psalm Eight

8:1

<u>τὸ οὖς</u> μου φωνὴν my <u>ear</u> heard **ארי אוֹני** my <u>ears</u> heard שׁנזעו אוני my ears heard

The difference between the Greek and the Hebrew in this phrase is the dual/plural אדים "my ears" and the singular דֹס oǘς μου "my ear." The Syriac system of designating a plural by two dots over the word is relatively late (before the pointing was added the singular/plural difference would not be obvious). The difference between אדֹב and τὸ οὖς μου could also be due to the homographs of "my ear" (אוני = אוני) and "my ears" (אוני = אוני) in the Hebrew Vorlage. In the unpointed text of the Vorlage there would be no way to tell the difference between a singular and a dual/plural except by the number used by the verb, in which case it would be either שמעו or שמעה, a difference of ה or ו in the Hebrew *Vorlage*. Given the well attested confusion of ¬ and ¬ (Delitzsch, 1920: 114 § 116^a; 116, §123^a), the difference could have originated in the Vorlage. Since ears generally are referred to by the dual in Semitic idiom, the Syriac is more likely to reflect the Vorlage. 100 The plural of the Syriac text of the manuscripts could

¹⁰⁰ See below the discussion on ממאה and ממאה in 8:26.

not be a translation of the Greek singular, but both could be translations of the above proposed *Vorlage*.

8:1b

φωνὴν <u>σάλπιγγος</u>
the blast of the <u>trumpet</u>

<u>κατοι</u> κλο

and the sound of <u>war</u>

[ררר [כרר]

and the sound [of war-like tumult]

of tearing down (the wall)

The Greek σάλπιγγος "of the trumpet" and the Syriac κωτο "war" cannot be translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 90) suggested there was a confusion in the *Vorlage* of γης "horn" and αγς "war." However, although Delitzsch (1920: 117, §127^b) cited several examples of the confusion of α and α, he listed no examples of the final α being confused with α or α. The graphic dissimilarity of the final α and the α mitigates against this solution.

Two more likely explanations could account for the difference in this poetic line. First, the *Vorlage* may have had the word "tumult," especially the war-like tumult which appears in Job 15:24 with the meaning of "attack." The Arabic cognate (Lane 1885, 2596^{b-c}) provides an excellent example: انكدر عليهم العدو "the enemy poured down on them." If the root "שוואס was in the *Vorlage*, the Syriac translator focused on the war itself (מוֹב ב), whereas the Greek translator focused on the sounds of battle, specifically on the trumpet signals.

Second, the *Vorlage* could have had the root TTP "to tear down (walls)" (BDB, 903; Jastrow, 1427 "to burst forth"), which

¹⁰¹ Gesenius and Robinson, 1888: s.v. See Pope, 1965: 111, "Distress and anguish overwhelm him like a king set for attack." Pope referred to the Arabic cognate, but he did not cite Lane's lexicon.

is attested in Isaiah 22:5, "for the Lord God of hosts has a day of tumult and trampling and confusion in the valley of vision, a battering down of walls (קַקְרַקְר קִר) and a shouting to the mountains." Although the stem appears in Isaiah 22:5 in the *pilpel* participle, it could occur in the *qal* participle, probably with or without the direct object "wall." The phrase קל קרך "the sound of demolishing (walls)" of the *Vorlage* was apparently misread by the Syriac translator as קל קרך "the sound of war," and the Greek translator must have misread "קל קרן" "the sound of a horn".

If the *Vorlage* originally read the alliterative אל קרר קר הער אל שמו" "the sound of tearing down the wall," the אפר "wall" was dropped through haplography with the verb אפר Since the context permits reading either הר סר איד. both have been included in the reconstructed *Vorlage*. One should not be mislead by the Syriac "war" in assuming that the Hebrew *Vorlage* would have been איד. "to become weak" is not a cognate of Hebrew הבר "tumult," therefore איד. would be a satisfactory translation of איד.

8:2a

Aside from the presence or absence of the Syriac conjunction a, the Syriac Advance "strong and great" and the

The confusion of □ and ¬ would be analogous to the confusion of □ and ¬, cited by Delitzsch (1920: 119, § 131). Examples of the confusion of ¬ and final ↑ have also been cited by Delitzsch (1920: 112, § 111) in the textual variants of Joshua 19:29 and in Psalm 18:33 compared to II Samuel 22:33.

Greek πολλοῦ σφόδρα "very great" could be translations of each other or of a Vorlage with גדולה "great" and כביר "mighty." The Syriac has two adjectives, whereas the Greek has an adjective and an adverb, a difference which points to independent translations of a Hebrew Vorlage. In the LXX σφόδρα was used to translate אמון, but it is unlikely that \text{TND} was in the original phrase since there is no verb in the comparison. However, the use of the adverb $\sigma \phi \delta \delta \rho \alpha$ in the Greek suggests that the translator may have read and as a verb as well as a noun. Although the verb מריח / הוח is attested in Hebrew, it generally has the meaning "to smell, to perceive odors." But in Arabic the cognate روح means "to be (violently) windy" (Lane, 1867: 1177). In light of the Arabic cognate, it appears that the Greek translator was uncertain whether and was a noun or verb, so both possibilities were addressed. As a noun, and was modified by πολλου, and as a verb (חנ $\sigma = -$), it was modified by σφόδρα. Since ΠΙΠ is normally a noun, the Vorlage has been reconstructed without the adverbial 782.

8:2b

φερομένου δι ἐρήμου sweeping through the wilderness אבר בל מברב.

that comes upon the desert באה על המדבר באה על המדבר rushing upon the desert

The Greek φερομένου "moving, rushing, being borne along" and the Syriac מלאל "coming," can be explained as translations of a *Vorlage* with the *qal* feminine singular participle אַלְבַּאָם וּנִּבְּיָּבְּיִם אָלִי־בְּיָבְּיִם אָלִי־בְּיִבְּיִם אָלִי־בְּיִבְּיִם אָלִי־בְּיִבְּים אָלִי־בְּיִבְּים אָלִי "I gathered them to the river that runs to Ahava") the masculine participle אַבְּיבָּ has rightly been translated "runs." The Greek and the Syriac translations fit within the semantic range of the root אַב, and both would accurately represent a *Vorlage* with אַבָּדָ.

8:2c (G), 8:3 (S)

ποῦ ἄρα κρινεῖ αὐτὸν ὁ θεός when then will God judge it?

תא בא ב, דא אינא where then is he judging him אך כי ישפטנו אלהים surely God is judging us

Ryle and James (1891: 74–75) and Gray (1913: 640) regarded the Greek $\pi\circ\hat{v}$ depa "where then" as a translation of an erroneous Hebrew text with NE'N (Gray, NE'N or FIN), which did not mean "where" but "surely," a meaning required by the context. However, NE'N with the sense of "surely" is not attested in the lexicons (BDB, 33; Jastrow, 58). Instead of NE'N, it is more likely that the uncorrupted Vorlage had 'D TN "surely, indeed." This misreading involved a confusion of NE'N and 'D TN by the Greek and Syriac translators or—since both have the sense of "where"—in the Vorlage itself.

The proposed *Vorlage* above contains "> \mathfrak{P} "surely" and follows Ryle and James (1891: 74–75) in reading the plural "us," as required by the context. The suffix \mathfrak{U} in Hebrew can be either \mathfrak{V} "him" or \mathfrak{V} "us." The writer concurs with Ryle and James and others that the $\pi \circ \hat{\mathfrak{U}}$ "when then" and the $\pi \circ \hat{\mathfrak{U}}$ "where then" are not a reliable reflection of the uncorrupted *Vorlage*.

8:5a

συνετρίβη ή όσφύς μου ἀπὸ ἀκοῆς my stomach was crushed at what I heard.

אצאפיי ישה י<u>ושי</u> ישאצעט

and <u>the joints of my back</u> were loosened at what I heard מעדו חליות חלצי משמע

the bones of my back quivered¹⁰³ at what I heard

 $^{^{103}\,}$ This expression is similar to the English usage of "chills running up and down the spine."

The Syriac עסקי, ינב, "the vertebrae of my spine" (J. Payne Smith, 1903: 132) and the Greek ὀσφύς μου "my loins" are not accurate translations of each other. They are probably translations of a Hebrew Vorlage which had any of the following words for "loins" or "the back (of the body)": 'רוֹח סר לי רוֹח סר לי רוֹח ל

8:5b

παρελύθη γόνατά μου my knees were weak

בסבס היב יב בי and my knees shook

כשלו ברכי

my knees were weak

The Greek $\pi\alpha\rho\in\lambda\dot{\nu}\theta\eta$ "they were weak" and the Syriac "they shook" cannot be translations of each other, but they could be translations of a *Vorlage* with the stem "כשל" "to be weak." In Genesis 19:11, the LXX translated של של by $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha\lambda\dot{\nu}\in\iota\nu$, and $\star\star$

 $^{^{104}}$ Wright (1985: 658) translated $\dot{o}\sigma\varphi\acute{\upsilon}\varsigma$ "the lower part of the back" as "stomach."

 $^{^{105}}$ See BDB, 323 for הלץ, and Jastrow, 434 for חוליה.

¹⁰⁶ Trafton (1985: 92) noted the omission by homoioteleuton in the Syriac tradition of any Hebrew equivalent of the Greek ἐφοβήθη ἡ καρδία μου "my heart was afraid." If the Hebrew equivalent were הרך לבי, following Frankenberg (1896: 74) and Stein (1969: 447), the expression is attested in Deuteronomy 28:6, Psalm 27:3, 86:11, and Isaiah 35:4.

has essentially the same meaning, "to reel, to quiver." Psalm 109:24, "my knees are weak (שלו) from fasting" (KJV) provides a good example of the שלם being used for weak and wobbly knees. This particular nuance of לשל is reflected in the above proposed Vorlage and its translation.

8:7a (G), 8:7b (S)

ανελογισάμην τὰ κρίματα τοῦ θεού

I thought about the judgements of God

אבים הכביל הנגסת, הכביל הבים מוס I remembered the judgements of the Lord

זכרתי משפטי יהוה

I remembered the judgements of the Lord

The Greek ἀνελογισάμην "I sumed up, I calculated, I considered" and the Syriac λταλκ "I remembered" are expressions of different mental activity and are unlikely to be translations of each other. In the LXX, ἀναλογίζομαι is never used to translate the <code>\GammaD</code> "to remember," which occurs over 250 times. The difference between ἀνελογισάμην and λταλκ is probably due a misreading of the Vorlage. The Greek ἀναλογίζομαι could be a translation of Hebrew <code>\GammaD</code>" "to devise, to consider, to purpose," and the Syriac 'ethpe'al tack' is most likely a translation of its Hebrew cognate <code>\GammaD</code>" "to remember."

The misreading of $\square \square$ for $\square \square$, or vice versa, reflects two well attested misreadings of graphically similar letters: the confusion of \square and \square as well as the confusion of \square and \square .¹⁰⁸ The expression

¹⁰⁷ Hebrew ατα usually has negative overtones, as in Genesis 11:6, "and nothing they propose (γα)") to do will be impossible for them." But ατα is used with very positive overtones as well, as in Proverbs 31:16, "she considers (τααπ) a field and buys it." The LXX translated the first phrase of 31:16 as $\theta \epsilon \omega \rho \dot{\eta} \sigma \alpha \sigma \alpha \ \gamma \epsilon \dot{\omega} \rho \gamma \iota o \nu$ "she perceived the field . . . ," with $\theta \epsilon \omega \rho \dot{\epsilon} \omega$ in this context having to do with mental perception rather than physical or spiritual perception.

See Delitzsch, 1920: 114, § 115^{a-b} (for the confusion of \supset and \supset) and 119 § 131 (for the confusion of \supset and \supset).

έμνήσθην τῶν κριμάτων σου "I remembered your judgements" of Psalm 119:52 (LXX 118:52), with the collocation of "remember" and "judgments," supports the Syriac reading of this phrase and is the basis for the reconstructed *Vorlage*.

8:7a

מֶהְבֶּרָא שׁמים וארץ since heaven and earth were created

¹⁰⁹ The feminine noun בריאה "creation" is attested once in Numbers 16:30. Trafton's (1985: 92) proposal to read an infinitive was correct — but it would have to be specifically a *niph*^cal infinitive to account for the passive of the Syriac.

8:7b

έδικαίωσα τὸν θεὸν ἐν τοῖς κρίμασιν αὐτοῦ τοῖς ἀπ' αἰῶνος

I proved God right in his judgements in ages past

מדמה לא בבלתם העסת, דמים בלתך and I justified God in all his judgements which are from eternity

וַאֶּצְדֵיק מאלהים בכל משפטיו מעולם and I was justified by God in all his eternal judgements

In the discussion of the phrase καὶ δικαιώσει τὰ κρίματα κυρίου in 3:3b, it was noted that the expression does not appear elsewhere in the LXX. Here in 8:7b, as in 3:3b, the meaning of the Greek and Syriac is problematic in that it speaks of God's being justified by members of the community. A *Vorlage* with the *niphcal waw*—consecutive משביים (scriptio plena) "I was justified" was probably read as the hiphcîl משביים "I justified," i.e., the misreading of significance of vowel letter ', taking it to be the usual sign of the î vowel of the hiphcîl rather than the unusual scriptio plena for the ê vowel of the niphcal imperfect. This unusual niphcal משביים and Greek traditions emerged.

8:8a

ἀνεκάλυψεν ὁ θεὸς τὰς <u>άμαρτίας αὐτῶν</u>

God exposed their sins

but God revealed their deeds

גלה אלהים עברותיהם

God exposed their sins

The Syriac constant "their deeds" and the Greek $\dot{\alpha}$ μαρτίας $\alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ "their sins" cannot be translations of each other. Harris and Mingana (1868: 96), followed by Trafton (1985: 92), concluded that the problem was an inner-Syriac corruption of constant "their transgressions" to constant "their deeds." But the

confusion could just as readily have been in the reading of a *Vorlage* in which \square "their transgressions" (Jastrow, 1038) was misread as \square "their deeds." The graphic similarity of \square and \square is somewhat greater than that of π or π (or π and π). In light of the α i παρανομίαι "lawlessness" in 8:9a, the preferred reading is with the Greek $\mathring{\alpha}$ μαρτίας $\mathring{\alpha}$ $\mathring{\alpha}$ $\mathring{\alpha}$ and the *Vorlage* has been reconstructed to follow it.

8:8b

 $\underline{\tilde{\epsilon}\gamma\nu\omega}$ πάσα ἡ γῆ τὰ κρίματα τοῦ $\underline{\theta\epsilon$ οῦ τὰ δίκαια the whole earth knew the righteous judgements of God

תבוא הארב בנת אובא הנוסת, המוא והבא והמא מאלים and the righteous judgements of the Lord

became known to all the earth

נידע כל הארץ משפטי אלהים הצדיקים

and the whole earth acknowledged

the righteous judgements of God

The Greek θεοῦ "God" reflects a Vorlage with היה and the Syriac ביב "Lord" reflects a Vorlage with היה, a difference which hints at a different Vorlage for each. Trafton (1985: 92) faulted Baars' reading (1972: 12) בשלאה (possibly an aphel of הל "to let flow, to give vent") for בים הל "it became known" and followed Harris and Mingana (1868: 96) in reading the singular בים הארם, even though the subject of the verb is plural.

¹¹⁰ See Delitzsch, 1920: 103–105, § 103^{a-c} and 111–112, §110^{a-b}.

waw—consecutive was apparently used elsewhere in this psalm, and in light of the conjunction affixed to the verb in the Syriac text, the waw—consecutive has been used in reconstructing the *Vorlage*.

8:9a

ἐν καταγαίοις κρυφίοις αἱ παρανομίαι αὐτῶνἐν παροργισμῶ

in secret places¹¹¹ <u>underground</u> was their lawbreaking <u>provoking</u> (him)

ممم بدامع مدعند بدائم بدلي

for they were committing lawlessness in the hiding places of the earth בתחתית ארץ הנסתרות מעולים

in the secret subterranean places they were lawbreaking

The Greek κρυφίοις "secret places" and the Syriac κλινλσ "hiding places" could be translations of each other, and α παρανομίαι αὐτῶν "their lawbreaking" and α αω "they were being lawless" essentially equal each other. But the significant differences between the Greek and the Syriac in this poetic line preclude their being derived from each other. The Greek masculine plural adjective καταγαίοις "underground" and παροργισμῷ "provoking" are not reflected in the Syriac, nor is the Syriac καταγαίοις "of the earth" reflected in the Greek.

The textual variant in II Kings 6:9 may provide a clue for understanding the source of καταγαίοις "underground." The MT of 6:9 has the participle "ਜ਼ਿਜ਼" "going down," but the LXX translated it as κέκρυπται, as though its *Vorlage* had "hidden." A similar confusion of the stems π□π (= κ□π) "to hide" and πππ "to be under" or πππ "to go down" could underlie the

¹¹¹ Κατάγαιος is found as a translation of החחת" lower (decks)" in Genesis 6:16, and the verb κ ατάγειν translates eleven different words in the Septuagint, but none of them approximate in meaning or appearance the noun "פרץ" "earth."

המדמץמנסנג of 8:9a. However, because the Syriac has אבילאלהיים fthe earth," which is lacking in the Greek, it is more likely that the Vorlage had the bound nouns "וות הארץ החתיות "lowest places of the earth" (attested in Psalm 63:10) or ארץ החתיות "lowest places of earth" (found in Isaiah 44:23) or ארץ החתית "the world below, the underworld" (found in Ezekiel 31:14, 16, 18). In light of these examples έν καταγαίοις κρυφίοις could translate?" ארץ החתיות שבחתות meaning, "in the lowest places of the earth, the hidden (ones)," which equals "in the hidden under ground (places)."

The παροργισμῶ "provoking (him)," for which there is no corresponding element in the Syriac, is problematic. The verb παροργίζειν and the noun παροργισμός translate ten different Hebrew words, but none of them are graphically similar to מעולים or the sixteen other words used in the LXX to translate παράνομος. The closest similarity is between משם and סשם, which have more of an aural similarity rather than a visual one. Therefore, it is unlikely to be an addition in the Greek due to dittography, or missing in the Syriac due to haplography. At best, it may be a doublet in the Greek text stemming from an aural error. Therefore, it is not reflected in the reconstructed Vorlage.

8:11b (G), 8:12b (S)

ώς μὴ ὄντος κληρονόμου λυτρουμένου as if there were no redeeming heir

And we try the trip veto

as if there was not one who inherits and saves

מו אין יורש וגואל cas if there was neither one-who-inherits nor one-who-redeems

Ryle and James (1891: 78–79) recognized that κληρονόμου was the equivalent of the און "the kinsman who should take on the rights and obligations of the inheritance." However, since κληρονόμου translates "יורש" "inheritor" in Judges 18:7 and elsewhere, they concluded: "κληρονόμου λυτρουμένου are a duplicate

rendering of the same word, κληρονόμου representing the rightful claim of the 'go'êl,' λυτρουμένου his effectual act of deliverance or redemption." They proposed a *Vorlage* with יורש גואל ואין גואל סי simply אואל ואין גואל ואין גואל ואין גואל ואין גואל ואין גואל ואין יורש גואל. Trafton (1985: 93) stated his presence for גואל וורש יורש וורש וורש וורש וורש אין יורש יורש best to retain all three elements, i.e., the two nouns and the conjunction ("ורש וגואל") as reflected in the above *Vorlage*.

8:12a (G), 8:13a (S)

έπατοῦσαν <u>τὸ θυσιαστήριον</u> κυρίου they walked on <u>the place of sacrifice</u> of the Lord <u>האביה</u> ממה ביבה and they were trampling <u>his temple</u> מקרשו they were trampling his temple

The Greek θυσιαστήριον "place of sacrifice" and the Syriac "temple" are not literal translations of each other. But both may translate a Vorlage having שלקרש "holy place." This probability for a Vorlage with ヴィアロ is prompted by Isaiah 63:18, which reads, "our adversaries have trampled down your sanctuary (מְקרשׁרַ)." In 8:11, the poet used $\tau \grave{a}$ מֹקוֹם $\tau ο \hat{v}$ $\theta \in o v /$ "the sacred house / place of God." The equivalent of שֹקדשׁ "holy place" in 8:12 would be a synonymous parallel of what was probably קרשי אלהים in the Vorlage. The Syriac used the cognate of היכל "temple" since היכל had become the general designation of the second temple (BDB, 228, section d, noting especially the מקדשׁו of Malachi 3:1). By using the cognate of היכל, the Syriac had no need to specify היכל, whereas the Greek translator needed the modifier κυρίου since θυσιαστήριον "altar" was a more generic noun in Greek than היכל in post-exilic Hebrew.

8:12a (G), 8:13a (S)

ἀπὸ πάσης ἀκαθαρσίας (coming) from all kinds of uncleanness

בבלת לבאה in all their defilement
בכל ממאיהם
in all their defilement

The Greek preposition $\mathring{a}\pi o$ "from" is odd compared to the contextually appropriate \Rightarrow "in" of the Syriac. They obviously are not translations of each other. The difference can be accounted for by assuming a *Vorlage* with the poetic "in" which was misread as $\square \square$, reflecting the confusion of a \square and a final \square (Delitzsch, 1920: 111 § 110^a). Once the \square was read as \square , creating the pre-position \square "from," the initial \square "in" was dropped.

The difference between Greek ἀκαθαρσίας, without a pronomial modifier and Syriac ממאיהם with the suffixed "their" probably goes back to a misreading of the original ממאיהם "their uncleanness" as ממאיהם "unclean(ness)" written scriptio plena.

8:12b(G), 8:13b (S)

καὶ ἐν ἀφέδρω αἵματος and (coming) with menstrual blood (on them)

with the blood of menstruation

ברם דוי with the blood of the sick

The Greek ἀφέδρω αἵματος "the menstruation of blood" and the Syriac κονιάς προσφαί ματος "the menstruation" reflect the same words or idea but the word order is reversed. Kuhn (1937: 12–13) argued for a *Vorlage* with $\Box\Box\Box\Box$ (following the Syriac); and Begrich preferred (1939: 149–150) $\Box\Box\Box\Box$ (following the Greek). In the Septuagint, $\alpha\phi$ εδρος is used to translate $\Box\Box\Box$

Begrich also asserted that the Syriac translator transposed the Greek word order and the καρα "dirty" (= ἄφεδρος) was subsequently changed to "menstruous."

In light of (a) Leviticus 22:18–22, which prohibits the sacrifice of a blemished, blind, or maimed animal having a discharge or itch, and (b) the end of the 8:13b in Syriac:

"as if defiled meat," the agenda for the poet does not seem to have been the presence of menstruants at the altar, but the sacrificing of diseased or hemorrhaging animals. Also, in Malachi 1:7, 13–14, the sacrifice of such animals is condemned.

The Greek and the Syriac texts are not very different in this line; either both misread the *Vorlage* or the corruption had already taken place in the Hebrew text they translated. Neither the Greek or the Syriac texts seems to be contextually appropriate. The proposed *Vorlage* and the translation, reflect the nuance of the condemnation of the offering of diseased or sick animals as a sacrifice.

8:14b (G), 8:15b (S)

έπότισεν αὐτοὺς ποτήριον οἴνου ἀκράτου εἰς μέθην gave them a cup of undiluted wine to make them drunk

מאבת, אנת ב<u>מא עניא</u> מחל האמת, מאבת מחל האם במא מול אונים מחל מחל and he made them drink <u>a living cup</u>
that they might become drunk
השקה למו כוס יין חמר לשכרון
he gave them a cup of undiluted wine to make them drunk

If the Syriac were a translation of the Greek, one would expect to find in Syriac the loanword τάκρατος) "unmixed, undiluted," attested in Revelation 14:10. Trafton (1985: 94) is correct in his conclusion, "Presumably Sy originally read τως τως" ["a cup of living wine"], the similarity of τως and

בשבי accounting for the accidental omission of תביד in transmission." The reconstructed Syriac, בשא דעבלא ביא, and the Greek ποτήριον οἴνου ἀκράτου could be idiomatic translations of כוס יין חמר כוס.

8:15b (G), 8:17a (S)

פֿאר די איז איז אונדער איז איז ופּרָסטסמאקע he declared war against Jerusalem בּב אבים בּיים (he waged) war against Jerusalem ויכין מלחמה על ירושלים

he prepared (for) war against Jerusalem

The Greek $\in \kappa \rho \iota \nu \in \nu$ "he judged" (Wright's "he declared") and the Syriac "and he judged" could be translations of each other, but in that case the expression "he judged war" is anomalous. Ryle and James (1891: 80–81) suggested,

But as the word και 'κρίνατε is what we should naturally expect in the present passage, we conjecture that γισγ by an error of a scribe may have been changed to γισγ; of this error a probable instance is presented by Ezek. vii. 14 'They have blown the trumpet and made all ready' which is rendered in the LXX σαλπίσατε έν σάλπιγγι καὶ κρίνατε ["sound the trumpet and decide"] (Sym ἐτοιμάσατε ["prepare"]; Hebrew γισγ ["and he prepared"]). 113

It is difficult to improve upon this suggestion, although, as Trafton (1985: 95) noted, "most scholars have attempted to make sense out of the text as it stands."

8:16a (G), 8:18a (S)

¹¹³ See Delitzsch (1920: 119 § 131) for examples of the confusion of ⊃ and ¬.

מתלבמת, הנבת האלם and the judges of the land met him קרבוהו ראשי הארץ the leaders of the country met him

8:16b (G), 8:18b (S)

ἐπευκτὴ ἡ ὁδός σου

may your way be blessed

γουτακ μαθοδ

your way will be established

γουτ way will be established

In Jeremiah 20:14 the phrase אַרְיְהֵי בְּרוֹיְ "let it not be blessed" appears in the LXX as μὴ ἔστω ἐπευκτή "let it not be longed for," and this is the basis for Gray's translating ἐπευκτη here in 8:16 as "be blessed" (1913: 641). However, since the Syriac has the verb "will be established," it may well be that was not in the Vorlage of either text tradition. (It is obvious that they are not a translation of each other.) If the Syriac Vorlage had the stem שְׁרְּשׁׁ meaning "to be established" (as in I Samuel 24:21, "the kingdom of Israel will be established . . .") it would be graphically similar to the stem אוֹר לְּשׁׁרִי "to look eagerly for, to long

for"¹¹⁴ which was normally translated in the LXX by ἐπευκτη. The Greek translator thus read אַר בּוּה מוּרְיּבָּח. This difference corresponds exactly to the well known variant of Genesis 1:9, where the MT אַר בְּיִלְקוֹנוּ "unto one place" was rendered in the LXX as εἰς τὰς συναγωγὰς "into the collections"—as in 1:10, where the LXX has συστήματα for MT בְּיִלְהֵוֹנוֹ "a mass, a collection" (BDB, 876). ¹¹⁵

Of the three options (1) פֿתפּטאָד $\eta =$ קום "blessed be," (2) אַסאָם "it will be established," or (3) קוֹם "to be longed for, to look eagerly for," the reference in 8:17 to "grading the rough roads before his coming" lends support for assuming the *Vorlage* had the stem און with its physical nuances.

8:20a (G), 8:23a (S)

καὶ <u>πᾶν</u> σοφὸν ἐν βουλη and <u>every</u> (man) wise in counsel אם בער ביאר <u>איר</u> <u>איר</u>

because (he was) wise in counsel וכל חכם עצה
and every (man) wise in counsel

The Greek $\pi \hat{a} \nu$ "all" and the Syriac ת עשׁרים "because" are not translations of each other. Instead, they reflect the confusion of a ' and a ' in the *Vorlage*, i.e., the Greek must have been translating from a text with 'ם, but the Syriac translator read the 'ם as 'ם. A similar confusion of ' and ' is found in the parallel texts of I Kings 5:25 (RSV 5:11) and II Chronicles 2:9 (RSV 2:10). In Kings, the text speaks of עשׁרִים אֶּלֶךְ כֹר חִשִּים מַכֹּלֶת לְבִיתוֹ ' twenty thousand cors of wheat as food for his household," but in

¹¹⁴ See Delitzsch (1920: 118 § 129^a) for examples of the confusion of □ and ¬.

¹¹⁶ The variants in the Greek tradition suggest other Hebrew texts had לכל or

עשָׂרִים אֶּלֶךְ כֹּרִים חָשִּים מַכּוֹת לַעֲבְדֵיךְ "twenty thousand cors of crushed wheat for your servants." The difference between מַבֹּלֶתְ "food" and מַבּוֹת 'crushed" is strikingly similar to the כל / כ' variant under review. The context of the psalm and the traditions of Josephus (*Antiquities* 14.4.2) support the plural of the Greek text tradition.

8:22b (G), 8:26 (S)

ἐμίαναν Ιερουσαλημ
they defiled Jerusalem
מלאלים
and Jerusalem defiled
ממאו ירושלים
they defiled Jerusalem
they defiled Jerusalem

The difficulty in this phrase, whether the verb should be singular or plural, is identical to the one discussed above in reference to 8:1 as to whether the *Vorlage* had שמש סר שמש. The confusion of π and τ is clearly attested in Obadiah 1, where עליה should be read for עליה The suggestion of Trafton (1985: 96), in disagreement with Begrich (1939: 136–137), that the Syriac goes back to a Hebrew *Vorlage* in which an original שמש was corrupted to is attractive and has been adopted in reconstructing the *Vorlage*.

8:25a (G) 8:30 (S)

ίδοὺ <u>δή</u> ὁ θεός ἔδειξας ἡμῖν <u>τὸ κρίμα σου</u> ἐν τῆ δικαιοσύνη σου

see, <u>now</u>, God, you have shown us how you rightly <u>judge</u>

וכל or ככל הסט. For other examples of the confusion of $\dot{7}$ and $\dot{7}$ or 1, see Delitzsch, 1920: 115, §119 $^{\rm a}$.

 $^{^{117}}$ For other examples of the confusion of $\overline{\sqcap}$ and $\overline{\mid}$, see Delitzsch, 1920: 116, $\S123^a.$

הא אתה אלהים הראיתנו דינך צדק behold, you, O God, have shown us your judging rightly

The initial difference between the Greek and Syriac is that of $\delta \eta$ "now" and $\delta u \prec$ "you." If the $\delta \eta$ is a translation of $\exists \xi u$ and the $\delta u \prec$ is a translation of $\exists \xi u \prec$ in the traditions reflect an aural error, indicative of the fact that the psalm had a oral history and that the voiced laryngal fricative $u \prec$ had lost its unique quality and coalesced with unvoiced glottal plosive $u \prec$.

The synonymous parallelism in Psalm 9:9, רְבְּבִּים בְּבִּישָׁרִים "Indeed, he judges the world in rightousness and he judges the people with equity," reflects the quasi-parallelism of the Psalms of Solomon 8:24–25: ". . . who judges the whole earth in his rightousness," which is followed by ". . . your judgement in your rightousness." It is perhaps a mere coincidence, but the Syriac text of Psalm 9:9 differs from the MT in that it has no verb corresponding to דְיִין — just as the Syriac Psalms of Solomon 8:30 (Greek 8:25) lacks a noun corresponding to דֹס κρίμα (= יְדִין). Perhaps יִד was misread as פְּדִין אוֹנִין צִּדֶּין in the reconstructed Vorlage can be read as a participle or a noun followed by an adverbial accusative, which restores (or creates) an alliterative phrase, "your judging rightly."

Psalm Nine

9:2

לע <u>παντὶ</u> ἔθνει ἡ διασπορὰ τοῦ Ισραηλ the dispersion of Israel (<u>was</u>) among <u>every</u> nation בבלתם באבא <u>המדי</u> among <u>all</u> the nations <u>was</u> the dispersion of Israel בכל הגוים הויים פזורי ישראל among all the nations was the dispersing of Israel

Trafton (1985: 100) noted that the Greek has $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ παντὶ $\ddot{\epsilon}\theta\nu\epsilon$ ι "among every nation" as if this is different from the Syriac "among all the nations." However, a *Vorlage*

with כל could mean either "all" or "every." The Greek and the Syriac both would translate כל correctly. The second difference in this poetic line is the absence of any corresponding element in the Greek for the Syriac משם "was." The Greek έθνει suggests a Vorlage with הגויים, which is graphically similar to the plural participle "הויים "the ones who were," which can be used with the force of the finite verb (as in Exodus 9:3, יְבִיהְנָהְ בְּבִּיְקְנָךְ "the hand of the LORD will be upon your cattle"). The proposed Vorlage suggests that the Greek, through haplography, omitted any representation of הויים in its translation. Thus, the Syriac is the preferred reading and provides the basis for reconstructing the Vorlage.

9:3a (G), 9:5b (S)
ἀπὸ τῆς <u>γνώσεώς</u> σου
from your <u>knowledge</u>

<u>κραιτά</u>

from your <u>mind</u>

¬קן דעתף

from your knowledge

The Greek has γνώσεώς σου, "your knowledge" while the Syriac has אונים אלים אלא, "your mind." Trafton (1985: 100) noted that אינים אלא here and in verse 6 would be an "unusual translation" of γνώσεώς σου." Psalm 139:2, 17, along with Job 16:21, provide the key to the understanding the difference between the Greek and the Syriac in this phrase. Dahood (1970: 286, 296) cited Job 16:21, "can mere man argue with God, or mortal discern (ברעהו as "his thoughts (לרעהו)," as evidence for his translation of אונים היי as "his thoughts" in 139:2, 17 (over against the LXX and the Syriac versions which read רעה "my knowledge"). Thus, Hebrew העה "thought" is attested in two passages and Aramaic העה "thought" is attested in Daniel 2:29.

The Vorlage could have had either (1) עתך (which the Greek translator misread as "your knowledge" or understood it as

רעתך "your thoughts" [as in Psalm 139:2, 17 and Job 16:21]), or (2) דעתך (which the Syriac translator must have read as "your thought"). The difference reflects another example of the confusion of a \neg and a \neg . The Greek text is preferred for reconstructing the Hebrew *Vorlage* of this line since the semantic range of \neg moves in the direction of "striving, longing" rather than "knowing."

9:4a (G), 9:7a (S)

τὰ ἔργα ἡμῶν ἐν ἐκλογῆ καὶ ἐξουσία τῆς ψυχῆς ἡμῶν Our works (are) in the choosing and power of our souls

דופא הב<u>לבות לאל בערים אלא הבברות ליל בערים אלא הבברות</u> for we do {things} in freedom and in choosing of our soul כעשינו בבהר ובחור נפשנו

indeed we act in freedom and in the choice of our souls

There are two differences between the Greek and the Syriac in this poetic line. First the Greek has τὰ ἔργα ἡμῶν "our works," but the Syriac has בבדים "we do (things)." The Greek could reflect a Vorlage with the participle "our works." The Syriac Vorlage read either "we did (things)" or "our works." The "indeed, we did (things)." The emphatic "indeed" is suggested by the Syriac אולה which could reflect the preposition or the particle "o. What was read as a o in the Syriac Vorlage was (mis)read as a o in the Greek Vorlage. In the translation of the proposed Vorlage, the o is read as an emphatic of "indeed, surely," which fits the context of the verse.

The second difference is between the Greek ἐν ἐκλογῆ καὶ ἐξουσία "in choosing and in power" and the Syriac καὶ καὶ καὶ καὶ καὶ καὶ τος "in freedom and in choosing." The Syriac and Greek reflect the החם "to choose," but the Syriac καὶ τος "in freedom" requires הום, i.e. the preposition μο plus the substantive πίτε, born free, nobleman" (BDB, 359). The Greek tradition read the החם "freedom" as החל "power." Delitzsch (115, § 119^b) cited Genesis 15:18 and Isaiah 21:8 as two examples of the

confusion of a \neg and a $\dot{\neg}$. Compared to the Greek, the Syriac is the contextually more appropriate reading.

9:5a (G), 9:9a (S)

ό ποιῶν δικαιοσύνην θησαυρίζει ζωὴν αὑτῷ παρὰ κυρίω the one who does what is right saves up life for himself with the Lord

אס אמ אמ שאס ליז פטעף איזי פאס איזי א אטר עריז איזי פאס איזי פאס איזיי פאס איזיי

for he who does righteousness <u>lays up for himself</u> with the Lord a treasure of life

עושה צדקה אוצר אצר חיים לו את יהוה he who does righteousness lays up a treasure of life for himself with the Lord

Trafton (1985: 102) rightly critiqued Harris' (1911: 43) claim that the Syriac phrase שנבלא . . . מאם "cannot be a Hebrew form of speech, we are obliged to admit that the play on words is due to the ingenuity of the translator," and proposed a Hebrew Vorlage having אוצר אצר "laying up a treasure." Additional support for reading אוצר אצר comes from the Latin Apocalypse of IV Ezra 8:54, which reads in part ". . . and in the end the treasures of immortality (thesaurus immortalitatis) are made manifest." If the Syriac תואה וואל האים "a treasure" מובלא דעה הארביה "a treasure of life . . . with the Lord" is thematically related, there is no reason to reject the Syriac מוצר (equals Hebrew אוצר "treasure") out of hand. Trafton's (1985: 102) back translation אוצר אצר approximates Franz Delitzsch's (1970:10) back translation of Matthew 6:20, האצרו לכם אוצרות בשמים "lay up for yourselves seems to suggest something other than "saving one's life" at the present on earth. The idea of saving one's life here on earth is well

See Gesenius (1888: 499, 949) in his introduction to the letters \neg and $\dot{\neg}$ for other examples of the interchange.

attested, for example, in these passages: Psalm 6:4 "Turn, O Lord, save my life (חלצה נפשי); deliver me for the sake of thy steadfast love"; Psalm 116:4 "... O LORD, I beseech thee, deliver my soul (בפשי מלטה)"; Ezekiel 33:9 "if he do not turn from his way, he shall die in his iniquity; but thou hast delivered thy soul (וְבַּשִּׁךְ הַצַּלְהָּ הַצַּלְהָּ מִלְשׁךְ הַבּצִלְהָּ מִי מוֹ אַנְיּשְׁרָ בִּשִּׁרְ הַבְּצַלְהָּ הַאַלוֹ נַפְשׁר לְשַׁלָל וָחָי);" and Jeremiah 38:2 "he shall have his life as a prize of war, and live (וְהַיְהָהֹאלוֹ נַפְשׁר לְשַׁלָל וָחָי)."

There is no reason to conjecture that the Syriac text here is a translation of the Greek text. The Greek and the Syriac texts could actually reflect a Hebrew Vorlage which gave rise to an aural error in which there was possibly a confusion of אוֹבֵוֹ and אוֹבֵוֹ and אוֹבֵוֹ אוֹנִי and אוֹבֵוֹ אוֹנִי and אוֹבֵוֹ דְּיִ אַנִי מוֹנִי אַנְי זְּיִ מוֹנִי אַנְי זְּיִ מוֹנִי אַנְי זְּיִ מוֹנְי זְּיִ מוֹנְי זְיִ מוֹנִי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִי מוֹנִי מוֹנִי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מוֹנִיי מ

9:6b (G), 9:12b (S)

פֿע פֿלסאָסאָקָספּנ פֿע פֿלַמאָסףנמנק
in confessing, in restoring
ארסיבים בייבים
in his confession
בהודותו
when he confesses

Gray (1913: 642) recognized that $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\alpha\gamma$ ορίαις "in acknowledgement" is probably a doublet for the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ ομολογήσει "in confession," but made no conjecture whether the doublet originated in the Greek text or in a Hebrew *Vorlage*. Since the semantic range of $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\alpha\gamma$ ορίαις includes "to redeem, to ransom, to tell, to

_

¹¹⁹ Other examples of aural errors are discussed with reference to 8:11, 8:25a, 17:6a, and 17:13.

confess, to make known, to declare,"¹²⁰ it is possible that the phrase simply uses synonymous apposition; but the absence of any corresponding element in the Syriac for $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\alpha\gamma$ opíals lends support to Gray's conjecture.

While it is possible that the Syriac text reflects a haplography of its equivalent for $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\alpha\gamma\circ\rho\dot{\epsilon}\alpha\iota\varsigma$, it is more likely that the Hebrew *Vorlage* had a doublet reflecting what was an aural uncertainty as to whether the root was "T" "to acknowledge" or "To confess." Since Delitzsch (1920) does not list any scribal errors involving and ν , one must conjecture that at some point in the *oral* transmission that the "T" and the at some point in the oral transmission of the Psalms of Solomon, the ν (the voiced laryngal fricative) had coalesced with the ν (the unvoiced glottal plosive), as attested by the Phoenician variant spellings of Euclidean as the spelling, in hearing the ν and the unvoiced glottal fricative) could easily have been confused. Therefore, the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text reflecting the writer's concurrance with Gray, followed by Trafton.

9:9b (G), 9:18b (S)

καὶ οὐκ ἀπώση εἰς τὸν αἰῶνα (Rahlfs)¹²³ καὶ οὐ καταπαὐσεις εἰς τὸν αἰῶνα

and it will not cease forever

and you will not cease forever

Wright (1985: 661), for reasons which are not obvious, translated $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\xi$ αγορίαις as "in restoring," a nuance not cited by (Liddell and Scott, 580).

 $^{^{121}\,}$ For other examples which suggest errors in an oral transmission see the discussion on 8:11b, 8:25a, 16:16, and 17:13.

¹²² See Friedrich and Rollig, 1970: 13, § 31.

Rahlfs accepted an emendation proposed by von Gebhardt which none of the Greek manuscripts supports. The second Greek line is from Wright's (1995: 61) volume on the Psalms of Solomon..

ולא תפסק לעולם and [the race of Israel] will never cease

The Greek provides three alternatives for the corresponding Syriac κλως "you / she will not cease," namely, οὐ καταπαὐσεις "you will not cease," οὐ καταπαὐση and οὐ καταπαὐσει "he will not cease." οὐ καταπαὐση are corruptions of καταπαὐσει and that the Syriac is a translation of the corrupted καταπαὐσεις. Trafton's (1985:103–104) summary of opinions reflects the division of opinion on whether "you [God] will not cease" or "it [the name of God] will not cease" was original in the Greek.

Not satisfied with the three attested Greek options, von Gebhardt (1895: 78) emended οὐ καταπαὐσεις "you will not cease" to οὐκ ἀπώση "you will not reject (us)," and Rahlfs adopted the emendation in his text. But the solution to the problem is not to be found in emending the Greek, but in recognizing that the Greek variants are due to a misunderstanding of the verb פסבות in the Hebrew Vorlage. The prefix Γ could be either a 2ms or a 3fs imperfect form of the verb. The problem was not with the verb, per se, but with determining the subject of the verb. Contrary to all the evidence or arguments favoring a 2ms "you [God] will not . . . " a or 3ms "it [the name] will not . . . ," the subject was most likely a 3fs אור "race, descendants, family" (Jastrow, 414), used as a synonymn of the masculine $\sigma \pi \epsilon \rho \mu \alpha$ (= בסיקו "his race shall never cease" is attested in Kilayim 32° of the Palestinian Talmud.

Should be translated "it [the race (f.) of Abraham] will never cease," and the οὐ καταπαὐση (of mss 149, 260, 471, 606, 629, and 769) and the οὐ καταπαὐσει (of mss 366), may also reflect the 3fs און ספריק ספריק (scriptio plene). For these reason, the reconstructed Vorlage uses a 3fs verb having the feminine noun

¹²⁴ As in Hebrew, the Syriac 3fs and the 2ms imperfect verbs are homographs, their identification being fixed solely by context.

ורעית in 9:9a as its subject. The Greek οὐ καταπαὐσει "it will not cease" matches this reconstruction, but the "it" has as its antecedent the feminine זרעית, not the masculine יהוה. Once the correct antecedent is recognized, emendation is unnecessary.

Psalm Ten

10:1a

ὁ κύριος ἐμνήσθη ἐν ἐλεγμῷ the Lord remembers with rebuking

אמובלים אמשר שלביוקעיו whom God remembered in poverty

זכר יהוה בתוכחה

(whom) Yahweh remembers with reproach

The Syriac אלים "in poverty" and the Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\epsilon\gamma\mu\hat{\omega}$ "with rebuking" cannot be translations of each other. Harris and Mingana (1868: 96-97) and Baars (1972: 15) recognized a metathetic error in which an original אם "in reproof' was mistakingly written or read as מיי בבכשנה "in poverty." The erroroneous metathesis of letters has probably occured also in the Hebrew *Vorlage* (in 2:27, 4:18 and elsewhere). The reconstructed *Vorlage*, therefore, follows the Greek text.

10:1b

ἐκυκλώθη ἀπὸ ὁδοῦ πονηρᾶςἐν μάστιγι and protects from the evil way with a whip

עיידים עקידים בייאפא בי ישיקסי

and he restrained him with scourgings from the way of evil

והכליהו מדרך רעה בשוט and he restrained him from the evil way with a whip

The Greek ἐκυκλώθη "he protects" and the Syriac "he restrained him" cannot be translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 106) has rightly noted "The Gk ἐκυκλώθη (lit. 'he was encircled') is notoriously problematic." The best suggestion to date was offered by Fritzsche (1871: 580) who proposed the emendation to $\dot{\epsilon}$ κωλύθη "he was restrained," which brought the Greek text into conformity with the Syriac.

The Greek translator read רעה (מארח רעה (מהרח רעה) as the noun with an apositional modifier ("from the way, the evil one"), whereas the Syriac read the phrase as a construct chain ("from the way of evil"). The Syriac provided the clue for the correction of the Greek text of this poetic line, and the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text.

¹²⁵ See Delitzsch, 1920: 120, § 132 a-b.

¹²⁶ See Delitzsch, 1920: 114, § 116^a.

¹²⁷ See Delitzsch, 1920: 120, § 132^{c, e, f}.

in the Greek). Contextually, the Syriac reading is preferable¹²⁸ and has been used in reconstructing the *Vorlage*.

10:3

όρθώσει γὰρ ὁδοὺς δικαίων for he will straighten the ways of the righteous

<u>דמרדה</u> מניטףא

for the way of the rightoeous one is straight

יישר דרכי צדיקים

for he will straighten the ways of the righetous

Trafton (1985: 107) cited Kuhn's (1937: 13) concurrence with Frankenberg (1896: 77) that the difference between the Greek δρθώσει"he will make straight" and the Syriac "is straight" is due to the reading of a *Vorlage* having "io. The Greek translator read it as a pi^cel causative but the Syriac translator read it as a simple qal. The reconstructed *Vorlage* concurs with the Greek translator in reading a causative, recognizing that "io could be a $hiph^c \hat{i}l$ (scriptio defectiva) as in Proverbs 4:25, as well as a pi^cel .

10:3b

καὶ <u>οὐ διαστρέψει ἐν παιδεία</u>
and [God] <u>will not bend</u> (them) <u>by discipline</u>

<u>κλοτίω</u> ωλ κλοω κλο
and <u>chastisement does not make it crooked</u>

לא סב בתוכחה

and he does not bend (them) by discipline

The Greek διαστρέψει (a simple indicative) and the Syriac (a causative feminine participle) are not likely to be

Note Wright's (1985: 661) contextual addition of "(his)" to avoid the ambiguity of the translation "the one who prepares a back for the whip . . . ," which could be misunderstood as a reference to one who executes the whipping.

Kuhn (1937: 13–14) reconstructed a *Vorlage* with ולא יעות מאור ולא יעות asserting:

. . . daß das = vor กิติตุติต, das $\mathfrak{F}^{(9)}$ richtig bot, in $\mathfrak{F}^{(\hat{W})}$ ausgelassen war, oder von = bei dur Übersetzung unberücksichtigt gelassen wurde, weil es ihm — eben wegen seiner falschen Vokalisation — "שֶּׁ" — unverständlich war.

But it is difficult to imagine that such a common verb as $\neg \varpi$ and the preposition \square would have been incomprehensible to the Syriac translator. Although Kuhn chose the verb $\neg \square \varpi$ (which was translated by $\delta \iota \alpha \sigma \tau \rho \epsilon \phi \epsilon \iota \nu$ in the LXX), the stem $\square \square \varpi$ (which was translated by $\epsilon \pi \iota \sigma \tau \rho \epsilon \phi \epsilon \iota \nu$ in the LXX), more naturally explains the preposition $\epsilon \nu$ in the Greek text.

10:3c

אמו דו פֿאַפּסַ אַניסט and the mercy of the Lord היד בע האני הוע האני לי יהור for the sight of the Lord הונון יהור for the grace of Yahweh

The Greek $\ell k \in S$ "mercy" and the Syriac mature "sight" are obviously not translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 108) has proposed an inner Syriac confusion of when "grace" and "sight," but the graphic similarity of these two words is not nearly as close as the corresponding Hebrew "grace" and "sight." Therefore, it seems more likely that the confusion was in the Hebrew *Vorlage* rather than originating in the Syriac text, since the confusion of f and f is well attested elsewhere in Hebrew. The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text since f and f are among the twelve words translated by $\ell k \in S$.

10:5b

ή μαρτυρία κυρίου ἐπὶ ὁδοὺς ἀνθρώπων ἐν ἐπισκοπῆ and the testimony of the Lord (is) in the ways of men in (his) supervision

שמההלמה הכליא באהדינא הבע אנא בשמבונא

the testimony of the Lord is in the ways of men in visitation

עדות יהוה בפקודים על הלכות אדם the lawcodes of the Lord in the commandments (are) above the rules of man

The semantic ranges of the Greek ἐπισκοπῆ "supervision" and the Syriac שמבינים "visitation" are such that they could well be translations of each other. However, the semantic range of ἐπισκοπῆ and ממבינים do not offer any meaning which gives sense to this poetic line. However, if ἐπισκοπῆ and ממבינים are translations of a Hebrew Vorlage with מוֹרִיִים (scriptio defectiva = מוֹרִים) "commandments, precepts," the translators can be excused for translating the masculine plural מוֹרִיים "commandments" as though it were the feminine singular מוֹרִים "visitation."

¹²⁹ See Delitzsch, 1920: 113, § 112^d and 116, § 123^c

The Greek $\epsilon \pi i$ points to a *Vorlage* with על. The Syriac ຕວມຈັດຕ and the Greek ὁδοὺς point to the noun ງຸງ "road" or "practice, rule, tradition." Frankenberg (1896: 77) translated ἐπὶ ὁδοὺς ἀνθρώπων as על דרכי אדם ["in the ways of man"]— Franz Delitzsch (n.d., ad loc.) differed only by having the definite article on □¬ℵ—and Stein (1969: 451) similarly rendered it as של דרכי אנשים "in the ways of men"]. But all three seem to have misunderstood the context due to the Greek ἐπισκοπῆ and the Syriac שמבויע which reflect most likely a misreading of מון שמבויע "visitation" instead of DTPD "precept" (see above) — which made the הַלְכוֹת אודם of the Vorlage appear to be "the roads for visiting people," rather than recognizing הַלְכוֹת אודם as the antithetical parallel to עדות יהוה "the lawcodes of Yahweh." Both the Greek and the Syriac missed the nuance of the text, and commentators to date have not been able to offer an intelligible translation. The Vorlage, as reconstructed, offers insight into the primacy of Torah for the poet.

10:8 (G), 10:9 (S)

τοῦ κυρίου ή σωτηρία ἐπὶ οἶκον Ισραηλ εἰς <u>εὐφροσύνην</u> αἰώνιον

the Lord's salvation (be) upon the house of Israel (that they may be) happy forever

המלא מה ביה בהלמא בל בשלא השלאל. לבלכהלא הלבלת

for the salvation of the Lord is upon the house of Israel for the kingdom which is forever

כי השועה יהוה על בית ישראל לרזנות עולם for the salvation of the Lord is on the house of Israel. Indeed, His Lordship (is) forever

The Greek $\epsilon \dot{\nu}$ φροσύνη "happy" and the Syriac κίngdom" cannot be translations of each other. However, they are related to each other by virtue of the fact that they may be derived

from a Vorlage having the noun הונות "lordship." ומות "ilordship." "ונות ארונות "ilordship." הונות הונות מארונות "ilordship." וונות הונות "joyful lips" in Psalm 63:6). One must postulate the abstract noun הונות, unattested in Biblical Hebrew, which functioned as a synonym for "kingship." The analogy to הונות is the use of ארנות "ilordship" in Modern Hebrew (which is not attested in Biblical Hebrew, although ארון ארון אורנות appears frequently).

The Greek $\in \mathfrak{I}_S$ and the Syriac Δ are reflected in the *Vorlage* by the \supset prefixed to \supset , but this \supset is not to be read, following the Greek and Syriac texts, as the preposition "to" but read as the emphatic "indeed." "If the Syriac \lnot "for" could reflect a *Vorlage* with a \supset or \supset . If so, the \supset or \supset would probably be an emphatic particle in synonymous parallelism with the emphatic \supset , rather than the particle meaning "for."

Psalm Eleven

11:1

קמו בציון בחצצרת . . . התרועה sound in Zion the signal trumpet במים מים הבשל הלא הבשלים היה הוא היה באין בחצצרת . . . התרועה sound in Zion the signal trumpet

If the Syriac אויא הסביא, "known trumpet," were בסדבא, with the verb in the 'aph'el, meaning "to make known by trumpet," the Syriac would approximate the Greek

איניין See BDB (931) where the plural participle is cited as a substantive meaning "rulers, potentates" and comes in parallel or in synonymous parallelism with מלכים in Judges 5:3; Psalm 2:2; Proverbs 8:15, 31:4 and Habbakuk 1:10. Note also Ecclesiasticus 33:4 where אוים is in parallelism with שׁוֹב' נוֹם (although the Greek ຖ້ούμενοι λαοῦ suggests שׁוֹם' "scribes of the people").

See Blommerde 1969: 31 and Dahood and Penar 1970:406 for a bibliography on and a discussion of the emphatic $\frac{1}{2}$.

סάλπιγγι σημασίας "signal trumpet." But the "aph" el participle is not easily mistaken for pe" al passive participle. The clue for understanding the difference between the Greek and Syriac is provided by Numbers 10:9, מוֹר בַּהְצֹצְרוֹת בַּהְעֹבְי "then you shall sound an alarm with the trumpets." In the Vorlage the instrument translated "trumpet" could have been "שוברה" "ram's horn" or "ובל "clarion" or "ובל "cornet," none of which would have created problems. But it was not the instrument, itself, which was misunderstood, but the modifier of the instrument, itself, which was misunderstood, but the modifier of the instrument, התרועה, usually meaning "an alarm, a war cry, a shout of joy (for a religious purpose)." This noun with the definite article, התרועה (or scriptio defectiva התרועה, a hithpa" el perfect of the stem ידע הוועה. 'דע דעה אונה מוֹר התריעה וואף בידעה הוועה אונה מוֹר הוועה. 'דע הוועה אונה מוֹר הוועה וואף בידעה הוועה אונה וואף בידעה הוועה אונה שוואף בידעה וואף בידעה אונה שוואף בידעה וואף בידעה אונה בידעה וואף בידעה אונה בידעה בידעה אונה בידעה בידעה אונה בידעה בידעה

11:4 (G) 11:5 (S)

ὄρη ὑψηλὰ ἐταπείνωσεν εἰς ὁμαλισμὸν αὐτοῖς he flattened high mountains into level ground for them

¹³² See Delitzsch, 1920: 105–107, § 109^{a-c} and 111, §109^b.

the לשפילם of the *Vorlage* as a 3ms *hiph^cil* with a 3mpl object suffix, "and he made them low," reflecting a confusion of and ז. 133 The redundancy of the Syriac line is prosaic, not poetic, consequently, the Greek text appears to have retained the better reading and has been used in reconstructing the *Vorlage*.

11:5 (G), 11:6b (S)

οί δρυμοὶ ἐσκίασαν αὐτοῖς ἐν τῆ παρόδῳ αὐτῶν

the forest shaded them as they passed by

αοπ κίπκ

he shaded the cedars over them when they were passing by

הצלו חרשים להם בעברם the woods shaded them in their passing by

Greek ms 629 has οἱ βουνοί "the hills" instead of οἱ δρυμοί "the forest," and the Syriac has **KITK** "the cedars." It is obvious that these variants are not literal translations of each other. The Greek βουνοί and δρυμοί have some graphic similarity, but the degree of similarity is hardly sufficient to be cause of the threefold difference. The differences probably stem from a Hebrew Vorlage which could have been interpreted in several different ways. The clue for understanding this poetic line and its variants is Ezekiel 31:3, which reads in part, שָׁבָר יָפָה עָנָף וְחֹרֶשׁ בֹּלְבָנוֹן יָפָה אָנוֹר אָרָז בַּלְבָנוֹן יִפָּה עָנָף מצל, "Behold, the Assyrian was a cedar in Lebanon with fair branches, and with a forest-like shade" (ASV). The collocation of "cedar" and והרש מצל "forest-like shade" parallels the variant readings of βούνοι, δρυμοί, and κιτκ here in 11:5. Hebrew ♥☐☐ can mean "a wooded height, a forest" (BDB, 361). The Greek δρυμοί focused the meaning of שֹׁהַה on the "forest" element, whereas the Greek βουνοί focused the meaning on the element of "height." The Syriac 44 Kirk "he shaded the cedars" is a free translation of הצלו חֹרֵשִׁים "the woods shaded"

-

¹³³ See Delitzsch, 1920: 115, § 119^a.

which associated the forest-like shade with the legendary shady cedars (of Lebanon).¹³⁴

11:5b (G), 11:7 (S)

πᾶν ξύλον εὐωδίας ἀνέτειλεν αὐτοῖς ὁ θεός God made every fragrant tree to grow for them

and God caused every tree of sweet smell to breathe on them

ויריח אלהים כל עץ בשם להם and God caused every fragrant tree to give off scent for them

The Greek ἀνέτειλεν "to grow" and the Syriac אוֹבר "to breathe, to give off scent" cannot be accurate translations of each other. The verb ἀνέτειλεν appears to be a translation of the $hiph^c il$ of the verb אוֹר "to rise, to go forth," used generally for the rising of the sun, with the noun אוֹר being used for "sunrise" or "the place of the sunrise, the East." But the noun אוֹר "one rising from the soil" (BDB, 28) is attested in Psalm 37:35 "I have seen a violent, wicked man spreading himself like a luxuriant tree in its native soil (אַוֹרָח רְעַבְּן)" (NAS). Since ἀνέτειλεν can be used for the coming forth of plants, as well as the "springing forth" of people, water, mountains, or hair, it was the appropriate word to translate אוֹר "and he caused to sprout forth."

However, the Syriac translator or his *Vorlage* did not read וֹרְרִיּח but וֹרִיח "and he caused [the cedars] to give off scent." This reflects a confusion in the *Vorlage* of either the Syriac text tradition or the Greek text tradition of a l and a l, a confusion which is attested in Ezekiel 47:17–19, where אור appears three times instead of אור. ¹³⁵ Given the fact that the poet spoke of the children of the diaspora traveling along shady roads to Jerusalem,

¹³⁴ In addition to Ezekiel 31:3, note also Numbers 24:6, Psalm 37:35; 80:1; 92:12; and Isaiah 2:13.

¹³⁵ See BHS for a summary of the evidence of the versions; and note Delitzsch (1920: 112, § 112^a) for another example of the confusion of 1 and 1 in Proverbs 8:29

the Greek $d\nu \epsilon \tau \epsilon \iota \lambda \epsilon \nu$ is very difficult. It would be an appropriate verb were the poet depicting the redevelopment of the land of Israel/Judah once the diaspora Jews were resettled in the land. Consequently, the Syriac reflects a contextually more appropriate reading. Aside from the Greek $d\nu \epsilon \tau \epsilon \iota \lambda \epsilon \nu$, there is no suggestion that the returnees would tarry along the way, waiting for trees to spring up or mature sufficiently to give off a scent. In the poet's vision, as interpreted by the Syriac translator, the scent of cedar would be pleasant for the Zion bound travelers. Consequently, the reconstructed *Vorlage* has followed the Syriac text. ¹³⁶

Psalm Twelve

12:2a

ἐν ποικιλία στροφῆς οἱ λόγοι τῆς γλώσσης ἀνδρὸς πονηροῦ (Greek^a) ἐν ποίησει διαστροφῆς οἱ λόγοι τῆς γλώσσης ἀνδρὸς πονηρουˆ (Greek^b) the words of the wicked man's tongue (are) twisted so many ways

for the tongue of the transgressor is in the turning of words

בהפך חשב מלים לשון איש רע

the tongue of a wicked man is for ingenious twisting of words

Trafton (1985: 115) acknowledged the difficulty of this poetic line in Greek and Syriac. In Greek, mss 149, 260, 471, and 606 (= Greek in this section) read $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ποίησει διαστροφής "in the doing of perversity" for $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ποικιλία στροφής "in diversity of turning"

¹³⁶ The paronomasia in the Syriac (אָלעבא, , , which Trafton (1985: 112–113) dealt with, appears to be secondary. It is not original to the Hebrew if the proposed reconstruction proves to be correct.

This writer proposes a different *Vorlage*, reading מלים לשון "for ingenious twisting of words." The מלים לשון "for ingenious twisting of words." The פולים לשון "for ingenious twisting of words." The פולים לשון "for ingenious twisting of words." The פולים לשון "perversity" (which equals διαστροφής and מעשה). In the LXX the stem שום is translated by ποικιλία (which also translated "work, deed") and by ποίησις (which also translated "work, deed"). "Mess 149, 260, 471, and 606 rendered שום by ποίησις; and mss 253 and 236 translated it by ποικιλία. However, all the Greek readings missed the most likely identification of שום here. It was the noun שום "ingenious." If the Greek translators can be faulted for missing the nuance, the Syriac translator missed the word entirely; that is to say, a corresponding word for שום is lacking in the Syriac.

Moreover, when ποικιλία is translated as "manifoldly twisted" (Gray (1913: 644) or "diversity" (Trafton 1985: 134) or "twisted" (Wright 1985: 662) the translation misses an important nuance of ποικιλία cited by Liddell and Scott (1940: 1429): "versatility, subtly, mostly in a bad sense." Thus, ποικιλία is a close match for בשה "ingenious."

12:2b

ώσπερ <u>ἐν λαῷ</u> πῦρ ἀνάπτον καλλονὴν αὐτοῦ (Greek^a)

¹³⁷ See Hatch and Redpath, 1954: 1168, for ποικιλία and ποιήσις.

ῶσπερ ἐν ἄλω πῦρ ἀνάπτον καλάμην αὐτοῦ (Greek^b) (they are) as a fire among a people which scorches its beauty (Greek^a) as on a threshing floor a fire burning up its stubble (Greek^b)

עמטינ עיטאין <u>די ארטיי</u> אינין ארטייס אינין די ארטייס רייטיסט

for he pretends {to be} like one who acts properly,
but he kindles fire among the people

כי נראה כממלא שפר וקרח אש בגוי על נעמחו
for he appears like one who speaks conciliation,
but he kindles a fire among the people according to his pleasure

Greek mss 149, 260, and 471 (= Greek^b in this section) read differently from mss 253 and 336 (= Greek^a in this section), having \Dota \Dota

But it is equally possible that the difficulties are due to the Hebrew Vorlage. A solution to the problems in the line lies in recognizing the confusion of \neg and \neg , of \neg and \neg , and \neg and

¹³⁸ Kittel (1900: 141) argued for the ώσπερ ἐν ἄλω πῦρ ἀνάπτον καλάμην αὐτου of manuscripts 149, 260 and 471 (= Greek) as original while Swete (1894: 15), Viteau (1911: 314–317) and von Gebhardt (1895: 178–180) opted for the ὥσπερ ἐν λαῷ πῦρ ἀνάπτον καλλονὴν αὐτου of the other manuscripts. Gray's (1913: 644) comment that "It is very questionable whether any of the readings or conjectures preserve or recover the sense of the original" provides an apt evaluation of the conjectures.

מו. "threshing floor," which was a misreading of "גו" "people" (equal to $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\lambda\alpha\hat{\omega}$ of Greeka and the Syriac "בערות"). The *Vorlage* also had "נערות" "his beauty," which was misread by Greekba as "ערות" "his stubble, straw" (reflecting the confusion of \neg and \neg). The $\omega\sigma\pi\epsilon\rho$ "as for" of both Greeka and Greekba (which could equal \neg 0 or \neg 0) may well be all that survived of the missing introductory phrase (to be discussed next), suggesting that the Greek text suffers from an omission rather than the Syriac text having an addition.

Although Syriac lacks a corresponding element for the עלרוו or ועלוו it does have a phrase not found in the Greek, namely, it does have a phrase not found in the Greek, namely, "for he pretends {to be} like one who acts properly." (Trafton cited [1985:114–116] but did not discuss this phrase.) The Vorlage of the extra line was probably אוני "for he appears as one speaking conciliation." The Syriac stem בבד "to do" was used for filling offices, for consecrating kings and bishops, and for the passing of time (J. Payne Smith, 395). This semantic range matches well the semantic range of Hebrew root אוני "to fill," which was also used for consecrating priests, for the passing of time, and for keeping a promise.

However, if the Syriac Vorlage had כממלא "כי נראה כממלא" "for he appears as one speaking," it may be that ממלא "as one speaking conciliation" was a misreading of ממלל שפר "as one who speaks goodly (words)." This phrase would be the equivalent of ממלל "שבר" "the one who gives goodly words" (Genesis 49:21). Since the piel of שפר means "to make pleasing, to conciliate, to harmonize" (Jastrow, 1619), שפר would contrast significantly with the inflammatory speech referred to in the next line.

The *Vorlage* follows the Syriac for this poetic line and retains the additional phrase of the Syriac text even though none of the

¹³⁹ See Delitzsch 1920: 112 § 110^b, 112 § 109^a, and 119 § 131, respectively.

Greek manuscripts or the Syriac has completely represented the probable *Vorlage*.

12:3

ή παροικία αὐτοῦ ἐμπρῆσαι οἴκους <u>ἐν γλώσση ψεύδει</u>
<u>his visit</u> fills homes <u>with a false tongue</u>

for his sojourning is that he might fill houses with lying talk

גורו/גוריו מלא בתים במלים שקרים his quarreling (visit) fills homes with lying words

The Syriac κις "his sojourning" could be the equivalent of Hebrew אור "to reside (as an alien)," since אור can mean "to colonize" (J. Payne Smith (1903: 418). The Greek παροικία also may include the idea of residing as an alien or stranger (Liddell and Scott 1940: 1342). However, the poet may well have intended אור stem II, meaning "to stir up strife" (BDB, 158), or he may have intended a double entendre, with אור I "to sojourn" and אור II "to quarrel." Far from being conciliatory, the "lawless one" was inflammatory.

¹⁴⁰ Note Kittel's suggestion (1900: 141) for a *Vorlage* with מָגור (from stem III) "terror" instead of מַגור (from stem II) "to sojoum."

12:3b

ἐκκόψαι δένδρα εὐφροσύνης φλογιζούσης παρανόμους cuts down trees of joy, inflaming criminals

he cut down the trees of his delight

in the burning of transgression

כרת עצים משוש בעבר תורה

he gleefully cut down trees in violation of Torah

The difficulty of this poetic line is evidenced by the fact that von Gebhardt (1895: 80–81), Frankenberg (1896: 78), and Gray (1913: 644) left the line untranslated or partially untranslated. Trafton (1985: 118–119) summarized the conjectures over the past century, none of which—including Geiger's (1871: 14) "putting the evil doer into the fire" and Kittel's (1900: 141–142) "from igniting malice"—have been convincing.

The clue to the line is in the Syriac that which Trafton translated as "which is transgressing" or "of the transgressor." He associated تحدة with the preceding المعاثة "in the conflagration" and conjectured it meant "in the heat of transgression," even is in the emphatic state rather than the construct state. Nevertheless, i.a. and reed to be addressed together since they appear to be a doublet from a Vorlage which originally had the verb עבר "to transgress." It is obvious that בסד. "to burn, to set on fire" is the equivalent of בער "to burn." But far less obvious was the metathetic shift which changed the original "to transgress" into the verb בער "to burn." Even though in English we speak of "inflammatory speech," it seems doubtful that שמ was originally in the Vorlage. It was a variant reading which survived as a doublet in the Vorlage and in the Greek and Syriac traditions. Consequently, both φλογιζούσης and κιπα are correct translations of עבר, the doublet of עבר.

It seems most likely that the *Vorlage* initially dealt simply with the cutting down of trees, without any subsequent reference to burning of them or anything else. The idea of burning inserted itself in the tradition through the misreading of בער as בער. The issue addressed in the poetic line was the prohibition in Deuteronomy 20:19–20, "when you besiege a city for a long time, making war against it in order to take it, you shall not destroy its trees by wielding an axe against them; for you may eat of them, but you shall not cut them down."

12:3c (G), 12:4a (S)

συγχέαι οἴκους παρανόμους¹⁴¹ ἐν πολέμω χείλεσιν ψιθύροις by slander he incites [criminal]¹³² homes to fighting

مودی ده محدی، حل بحوهم دون ده وهووه محلسته

he destroyed the houses of transgressors with war and with whispering lips

אבד בתי הפשעים בלחם ובמתלחשות he destroyed the houses of the rebels by war and by rumor

¹⁴¹ παρανόμους is found in mss 149, 260, 471, and 606.

Since συγχέαι can mean "to demolish" (Liddell and Scott 1940: 1668), συγχέαι οἴκους παρανόμους ἐν πολέμῳ "demolish criminal houses in war" and καιμά το παρανόμους ἐν πολέμῳ "demolish criminal houses in war" and καιμά το καιμά τ

... if it [the clause $\sigma \nu \gamma \chi \epsilon \alpha \iota | \psi \iota \theta \dot{\nu} \rho \iota \iota \varsigma$] is to be joined to v.3, the sense may very well be that the slanderer will not scruple to set those of his own party by the ears ($\dot{\epsilon} \nu \pi o \lambda \dot{\epsilon} \mu \omega$), and that there is no real 'honour among thieves.'

Psalm Thirteen

13:1

δεξιὰ κυρίου ἐσκέπασέν με δεξιὰ κυρίου ἐφείσατο ἡμῶν the right hand of the Lord covered me, the right hand of the Lord spared me,

תבנת הפנא בשנת הפנא בלנץ

the right hand of the Lord covered us,

the right hand of the Lord spared us

'מין יהוה הסתירתנו ימין יהוה חשׂכה אותנו

the right hand of the Lord covered us,

the right hand of the Lord spared us

The difference between the Greek and Syriac is a minor one of whether the pronomial element is singular or plural. The Greek ἐσκέπασέν με "covered me" does not match the Syriac κονετεσό το ἡμῶν "spared us" (contra Wright [1985: 662] "spared me") is in agreement with the Syriac δων "spared us." Trafton (1985: 123) has correctly observed that the Syriac is to be preferred and "Gk could reflect a misreading of something like COME for "COME" This would be another example of the widespread confusion of 'and 1.142 The same error occurs in 12:2 where the Syriac ms 16hl reads "he saved me" where ms 10hl has the contextually more appropriate "he saved me" which equals the Greek ἔσωσεν ἡμᾶς "he saved us."

13:2

άπὸ ρομφαίας ρομφαίας ρομφαίας ρομφαίας from the passes through

לבא הכת לבא from the moving spear

מן השלח מתהלכת

from the weapon that penetrates

According to Trafton (1985: 122), the Syriac $\sqrt{\Delta}$ π "to move" would be an unlikely translation of the Greek διαπορεύω "to pass through." But Hatch and Redpath (1954: 308) cited fourteen passages where διαπορεύω is used to translate 7777 "to walk."

¹⁴² See Delitzsch, 1920: 103–105, §103.

Consequently, the *Vorlage* of the Greek and Syriac could have been לים. Of interest on the wide semantic range of לים are Proverbs 23:31, "בְּיִלְשְׁרִים" . . . יִתְהַלֵּדְ בְּמִישָׁרִים", wine . . . moveth itself aright" (KJV) or "goes down smoothly" (NRSV) and Psalm 78:39, "הַוֹלֵדְ וְ לֹא יָשׁוּב בֶּוּהַיִּ (RSV). (Modern Hebrew uses הַוֹלֵדְ for "speed.")

The Vorlage behind ρομφαίας and אומסיל could have been the more generic שְּלֵים "missile, weapon," which has the meaning "sword" in Job 36:12, "hand—weapon" in II Chronicles 23:10, and "spear" in II Samuel 18:13—even though the collocation of שְּלֵים "pestilence" and שֵלְים "famine" and שֵלְים "sword" thirteen times in Jeremiah, three times in Ezekiel and once in Revelation could lead one to assume that שֵלְים was in the Vorlage. However, since Syriac has a cognate of שִלְים, אשׁב "sword, blade, dagger," one would expect this cognate to have been used in Syriac if שִלְים was in the Vorlage. Since שִלְּים is not in the Syriac text, it is more like that more generic שִלְּים was in the Vorlage, permitting the Greek translator to use ρομφαίας and the Syriac translator to use בשׁב "The weapon" rather than שׁבְּים "the sword."

13:2b

ἀπὸ λιμοῦ καὶ θανάτου ἁμαρτωλῶν and from famine and the sinner's death

and from famine and the death of sinners

מרעב ומות רשעים and from famine and the death (befitting) sinners

In light of the suffering predicted of IV Ezra 15:5, "I will bring evils upon the world, the sword and famine and death and destruction" and 15:49, "I will send evils upon you, widowhood, poverty, famine, sword, and pestilence," the poet could have used any number of deadly agents in addition to the קָּבֶּר, "pestilence" "famine," and קַּבֶּר "sword" mentioned in Jeremiah and Ezekiel. The addition of "(befitting)" in the translation of the

Vorlage is suggested by III Maccabees 3:25, "you are to send to us those who live among you, together with their wives and children, with insulting and harsh treatment, and bound securely with iron fetters, to suffer the sure and shameful death that befits $(\pi \rho \epsilon \pi o \nu \tau \alpha)$ enemies." What was explicitly stated by the author of III Maccabees 3:25, was only implicitly stated by the poet in the Psalms of Solomon 13:2b, who could have been explicit had he used $\pi \kappa$ "seemly" (one of the two stems translated by $\pi \rho \epsilon \pi \epsilon \iota \nu$ in the LXX [(Hatch and Redpath 1940: 1201]).

13:3a

θηρία ἐπεδράμοσαν αὐτοῖς <u>πονηρά</u>
wild animals [they] attacked them <u>viciously</u>
κόνω ςοπώς <u>λ</u>πίκ

he brought evil beasts quickly upon them

חיות רעות הרצה עליהם

he [the Lord] brought wild animals quickly upon them

The difference in this line between the Greek and Syriac is the subject of the verb. The Greek has the plural $\epsilon \pi \epsilon \delta \rho \dot{\alpha} \mu \sigma \sigma a \nu$ "they rushed upon, attacked," making the wild animals the subject of the verb; but the Syriac singular $\lambda \sigma \dot{\alpha} \kappa$ (an 'aph'el) "he brought quickly," requires "the Lord," mentioned as the casus pendens in 13:1–2 ("right hand of the Lord . . . the arm of the Lord)," to be subject.

The Greek πονηρά, which appears as the adverb "viciously" in Wright's translation, in the *Vorlage* was probably intended to be the appositional modifier of the animals. The term for wild animals in Hebrew is היות רעות, literally, "animals, bad ones." The "wild" of the "wild animals" in Wright's translation is required to convey the meaning of θηρία "beasts." The π υ used in the Semitic idiom for a wild animal (π "beasts." The π used in the Semitic idiom for a wild animal (π run) was misunderstood as an adverb and translated π ονηρά. The $hiph^cil$ of Hebrew π and the " aph^cel of Syriac π carry with them the idea of moving or bringing (something) with haste. The adverb "quickly" in the English translations of the Syriac and the *Vorlage* are based upon the form

of the verb, not upon a separate word. The *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text here.

13:3b

καὶ $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ταῖς $\underline{\mu\dot{\nu}\lambda\alpha\iota\varsigma}$ $\underline{\dot{\epsilon}\theta\lambda\omega\nu}$ $\dot{\delta}\sigma\tau\hat{a}$ $\dot{\alpha}\dot{\nu}\tau\hat{\omega}\nu$ and $\underline{crushed}$ their bones with their \underline{molars}

עקטיי<u>ד דיסא</u> ואקטיי<u>דיס</u> עקטיי<u>דיס</u>

and were cutting off their bones with millstones

ובלחייהם שברו עצמותם

and crushed their bones with their jawbones

The Greek ἔθλων "crushed" and the Syriac במבש "cutting off" cannot be translations of each other, nor can ὀστα "tooth, molar" be a translation of בשׁנים "millstone," or vice versa. But the differences can be accounted for by a *Vorlage* having the verb "το crush," which appears in the Greek text tradition. But the Syriac translator or the source of his *Vorlage* misread מוֹן בּיִר מִין בִּל־הַמַּחַנָּה "to cut off." The confusion of מוֹן מוֹן מוֹן "and all the army ran" is to be read נְיָבֶץ בְּלַ־הַמַּחֲנֶה "and all the army awoke with a start" (Boling, 1975: 147).

The Greek $\mu \dot{\nu} \lambda \alpha \iota \varsigma$ can mean "molars" and "millstones," but the Syriac אום למסיל can mean only "millstone." Kuhn (1937: 27–28) assumed that the Syriac translator did not know the rare Hebrew word אום "molars" and based his translation at this point on the $\mu \dot{\nu} \lambda \alpha \iota \varsigma$ of the Greek text. Begrich (1939: 134–135) faulted Kuhn for not recognizing that all of the Syriac was a translation of the Greek. Trafton (1985: 125) rightly faulted Kuhn and Begrich, stating, "... they also imply a certain lack of intelligence on his [the Syriac translator's] part to miss such an obvious synonymous parallelism [of 'teeth' in the previous line]." However, the synonymous parallelism was not one of "teeth" and "molars" but of "teeth" and "jaw-bone(s)." The Vorlage must have had של לחיים (dual) "jawbones" (BDB, 534); but this was misread by the Syriac translator as "הויים" (dual) "millstones" (Jastrow, 1466). The confusion of $\dot{\gamma}$ and $\ddot{\gamma}$ is attested elsewhere, most notably in Genesis

15:18, where MT reads מְבְּהֵר מִּצְרֵים "the river of Egypt" instead of מַבְּהֵל מִצְרֵים "the wadi of Egypt" (i.e., the modern Wādi el"Arīsh). "The paronomasia of the bones . . . jawbones in the English translation of the Vorlage is no more conspicuous than the English translation of the Vorlage. This poetic line provides a good example of the Syriac translator's literal style. Even though "cutting (בב) bones with a millstone" would be a difficult feat, the translator called it as he saw it. In his Vorlage he saw לחייהם, not בחייהם.

13:7-8

καὶ ἡ καταστροφὴ τῶν ἁμαρτωλῶν (8) ἐν περιστολῆ ... as the destruction of sinners. (8) In secret ...

 L_{α}

like the overthrow of the lawless (7) who are in knowledge כתבוסת הרשעים בדעתהם

like the overthrow of the wicked with their knowledge

The difficulty in understanding the parallelism in 13:7–8 is demonstrated by Gray's (1913: 645) parenthetical gloss "(for sins done)" on the Greek τῶν δικαίων έν άγνοία, which was followed by Wright (1985: 663) who glossed "(for things done)." The poet is not permitted by the translators to make the claim, literally in Syriac, that "the chastening of those who are unknowingly righteous is dissimilar to the overthrow of knowledgeable sinners."

The Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ περιστολ $\hat{\eta}$ "in secret" and the Syriac κότας. "with knowledge" cannot be translations of each other. Contextually, one would expect an *antithetical* parallel to the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ ἀγνοία / κόταια" "ignorance," matching the *antithetical* parallel τῶν δικαίων / κοτιπ "the righteous" in the previous stich. Since the Syriac text (13:6) has the balanced antithetical parallelisms (a) "righteous" and "lawless" and (b) "in ignorance" and "in knowledge," it is the preferred text. The differences between the Greek and Syriac translations are probably derived in

¹⁴³ See Speiser, 1964: 114 and Delitzsch, 1920: 115 §119^b.

13:12 (G), 13:11 (S)

καὶ ἐπὶ τοὺς φοβουμένους αὐτὸν <u>τὸ ἔλεος αὐτοῦ</u> and <u>his mercy</u> is upon¹⁴⁵ those who fear him

146 בל בלהם, דעל הם, ביל בלהם he will have compassion on all who fear him

חסרו על כל יראין

and his compassion (is) on all those who hold him in awe

The synonymous parallelism of ὁσίους and ἔλεος matches the parallelism of •μ• and •μ•. However, the Greek and Syriac differ in several respects: (1) with respect to "mercy," the Greek

Ryle and James (1891: 109) noted, "The word occurs nowhere in the LXX or the N.T. and no other instance of its use in Hellenistic Greek is known to us. In classical Greek its one meaning seems to be the decking out of a corpse for burial." If Ryle and James are correct, π εριστολη "wrapping, decking out" would literally indicate a public, rather than a secretive, action.

¹⁴⁵ Wright's note d. on 13:12 that the Syriac has "he will treasure" is problematic since J. Payne Smith (1903: 538) gives no such meaning for **غریخ**.

¹⁴⁶ In light of the example of בּעבּ cited by J. Payne Smith (1903: 538), "I will not pity (אָזָעבּ) or have compassion (בּעבּ)," there is no basis for Kuhn's suggestion (1937:33) for a *Vorlage* with אָבוּם "to shelter" (which was corrupted in the Greek tradition to אָבוּם" to delight in") in order to account for the יּעבּ of the Syriac. ייני is an excellent parallel for is in it is it is in it is in it is it is in it is in it is it is in it is it is it is in it is it is in it is it is it is it is in it is it

has a noun and the Syriac has a verb in the imperfect, and the noun / verb variation may be due simply to a participle in the *Vorlage* which was translated correctly but differently; (2) the Greek reads $\tilde{\epsilon}\lambda\epsilon$ os מַטָּדְסָט "his mercy," which equals אונה "he will have compassion," which equals אונה "ine will have compassion," which equals אונה (3) Syriac has מַבּעָּה "all of those" for which there is no corresponding element in Greek.

In Mss 253, 655, and 659, the αὐτὸν of φοβουμένους αὐτὸν is lacking, and this difference could be due to a Vorlage which had the suffixed participle יראין "ones fearing him," which was misread in the tradition of the S stemma 147 as "ראים" "ones fearing." Is so, this misreading would be another example of the confusion of ם and יו (Delitzsch, 1920: 120, § 132°). The מבלם (בלים) was probably a doublet from a misreading of של כל (בלים) was probably a doublet from a misreading of של כל (בלים) of the Vorlage possibly became by way of haplography simply של כל in the Greek text tradition. The reconstructed Vorlage follows the Greek text tradition in having the noun ושל instead of the verb של בלים אונים מולים ווואס אונים וווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אינים ווואס אונים וווואס אונים ווואס אונים וווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונים ווואס אונ

Psalm Fourteen

14:1

τοῖς πορευομένοις ἐν δικαιοσύνη προσταγμάτων αὐτου

To those who live in the righteousness of his commandments,

לשוח ביבמקבה ביניים אף בישטבים שי

to those who walk in righteousness in his commandment

להולכים בצדק חקותיו to those who walk in righteousness (according to) his statutes

The only real difference between the Greek προσταγμάτων αὐτου and the Syriac is that the Greek has a genitive and

-

¹⁴⁷ See Wright, 1994: 16.

the Syriac has a preposition. Kuhn (1937: 34–35), followed by Trafton (1985: 131–132), reconstructed for this phrase and the next the following *Vorlage* for the Greek: לחיים להולכים בצדק חקותיו and the almost identical *Vorlage* for the Syriac: להולכים בצדק בחקותיו תורה צוה לנו לחיים, differing only on the location of the second prepositional ב.

It is most likely that the early translators interpreted the text by what modern grammarians call "the double–duty preposition," where a preposition in one stich controlled a noun in the next or previous stich. If the \square of $\nearrow \square \square \square$ was read as a double duty preposition, the translations could have differed with reference to the second noun which the \square controlled. It appears that the Syriac read a double–duty \square and applied it to the next word, making it appositional and precluding $\nearrow \square \square$ from being read as a construct noun. But the Greek translator, seemingly, applied the double–duty \square to the next stich. 149 The parenthetical "(according to)" in the reconstructed Vorlage is the equivalent of the double–duty \square of $\nearrow \square \square$.

14:2b

As noted in the paragraph above, the Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ has no corresponding preposition in the Syriac. The translations also differ with respect to the whether the word for "life" had a modifier. Greek has $\epsilon \dot{\epsilon} \zeta \omega \dot{\eta} \nu \dot{\eta} \mu \hat{\omega} \nu$ "for our life" but Syriac has simply $\omega \lambda$ "for life."

¹⁴⁸ See Blommerde, 1969: 25–26; and Dahood and Penar, 1970: 435–437.

Given the fact that \square was used as direct object indicator with only a very limited number of verbs (see BDB, 90, section IV), Trafton's (1985: 132) interpretation that the Syriac translator correctly read \square as a direct object sign with \square must be accepted with caution.

The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text, using אור which was translated as the infinitive "for us to live by" (following Franz Delitzsch [n.d., *ad loc.*] and Stein [1969: 454]), even though could also be read as the preposition attached to the suffixed abstract noun "for our living" (as in II Samuel 20:3). 150

14:6b (G), 14:4b (S)

οῦ ἠγάπησαν ἡμέραν ἐν μετοχῷ ἁμαρτίας αὐτῶν who love (to spend) the day in sharing their sin

those who love the day in the approval of sin

האהבים יומם חברת המאיהם

who daily love the fellowship of their (fellow) sinners

The Syriac ארם אם אים "in the approval of sin" and the Greek ἐν μετοχῆ ἀμαρτίας "in sharing sin" cannot be accurate translations of each other. The difference between them can readily be accounted for by assuming a Vorlage with מבסבולם "in fellowship with" (= ἐν μετοχῆ), which—due to a metathesis of Π and με became אוֹם "in choosing" (= בשבם). A similar confusion of אוֹם הוֹם "is attested in I Samuel 20:30, where the MT reads שֵׁלְּבְּוֹרִישֵׁ "I know that you have chosen the son of Jesse," but the LXX reads γὰρ οἶδα ὅτι μέτοχος εἶσὺ τῷ υἱῷ lεσσαι "for I know that you are an accomplice of the son of Jesse." Another example is in Ecclesiastes 9:4, "but he who is joined with all the living has hope," where the MT has a Qere²/Ketîb variant reading אוֹם "is joined" for אוֹם "is chosen."

¹⁵⁰ Compare Frankenberg, 1896: 79.

¹⁵¹ See Delitzsch, 1920: 113, § 114^{a-c}.

אָנְיְּהְ "sin." The αὐτῶν properly reflects a בוּה 3mpl suffix, although there is no corresponding suffix in the Syriac.

14:7 (G), 4:4c (S)

ἐν μικρότητι <u>σαπρίας</u> ἡ ἐπιθυμία αὐτῶν their enjoyment is brief and <u>decaying</u>

באבסה לא הבאלא האממלים באלא המהמלים for their desire is in the brevity of evil כי חמדתם מעט וסרחון

for their enjoyment is worthless and offensive

The Greek σαπρίας "decaying" and the Syriac אים "evil" are not translations of each other. Kuhn (1937: 37–38) proposed a Vorlage with מוֹם "to decay, to putrefy" which the Greek correctly translated as σαπρίας, but was misread by the Syriac translator as "evil, bad" and translated accordingly as אים "bad, evil". However, Delitzsch (1920) did not cite a single example of the confusion of מוֹם and מֹם in the entire Biblical text. Thus, while a מוֹם רֹמַה רְעָה רֹמָה error is possible, it seems unlikely.

However, a *Vorlage* with ΠΠΟ could account for the differences. The root ΠΠΟ has several meanings, including (1) "to decay," which would have been the basis for the Greek text's having σαπρίας "decaying"; (2) "to offend, to sin," which would have been the basis for the Syriac text's having તેમાં "bad, evil"; (3) "to go free, to exceed, to be excessive"; and (4) "to intercept, to lacerate" (BDB, 710; Jastrow, 1024). The cognate of ΠΠΟ, ωτω, is attested in Syriac, but the Syriac translator might have chosen another stem since ωτω also has a wide variety of meanings (including "to hurt, to injure," or "to defile [a maiden]" or "to signify, to indicate") which could lead to an uncertain reading. The Syriac translator's use of κόνιση "evil" would have removed the ambiguity of the Hebrew ΠΠΟ, and at the same time a *Vorlage* with ΠΠΟ would account for the Greek σαπρίας "decaying."

Wright (1985: 664) omitted the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ and added a $\kappa\alpha\dot{\epsilon}$, both of which are necessary to give meaning to a a text which means literally, "their desire in brevity of decay." The reconstructed *Vorlage* shifted the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ (= \Box) to " \Box " "for" and also added a conjunction. The

translation "worthless" reflects a reading of מעם in this context as having a qualitative nuance rather than being quantitative.

Psalm Fifteen

15:1

εἰς <u>βοήθειαν</u> ἤλπισα τοῦ θεοῦ Ιακωβ

<u>I expected the help</u> of Jacob's God

<u>απολικό Δολό</u>α

and <u>I called</u> to the God of Jacob for <u>my aid</u>

απο <u>Ι called</u> to the God of Jacob for <u>my aid</u>

απο <u>I called</u> for (my) salvation/strength to the God of Jacob

Both the Greek and the Syriac are contextually appropriate but they cannot be translations of each other. The semantic range of the Greek ἤλπισα "I expected, I hoped" and the Syriac מוֹם "I called" do not overlap. Trafton (1985: 137–138) cited Kuhn's (1937: 15, 39) suggestion for a Hebrew *Vorlage* with קרית' "I hoped" (which the Greek accurately translated with ἤλπισα and the Syriac misread as "Γ called") as evidence for the improbability of Begrich's (1939: 138) argument that the Syriac was in this instance a mistranslation of the Greek. Trafton also noted

On the other hand, Kuhn's argument can be reversed: Hb had קרתי, which was rendered correctly by the Sy translator but was misread by the Gk translator as קריתי [as in the proposed *Vorlage*]. In either case, of course, Sy would be explained on the basis of a Hb *Vorlage*.

The second difference between the Greek and the Syriac, the lack of a possessive pronoun in the Greek text matching the Syriac's "my aid," could be explained by a *Vorlage* with either 'ולעזי "and for my strength" or לעזר "for salvation. If the *Vorlage* were ולעזי, the

The \aleph of the stem $\aleph \neg p$ has been elided. For instances of this well attested feature of final \aleph verbs see Delitzsch (1920: 21–22 \S 14^{a-c} and 36–37 \S 31^{a-c}), McDaniel (1983: 124, 222 n. 238) and (GKC \S 68^{h.k}).

Syriac possessive suffix on as an accurate reflection of the Hebrew. The Greek translator apparently misread the is a a. Consequently, the Greek text has no corresponding element for the possessive suffix. The Syriac text, with its equivalent of the waw-consecutive, is more accurately reflects the proposed Vorlage here

15:2 (G), 15:3 (S)

τίς γὰρ ἰσχύει ὁ θεός εἰ μὴ ἐξομολογήσασθαί σοι ἐν ἀληθεία for who, <u>O God</u>, is strong except he who confesses you in truth

for who, being strong, will praise you in truth

כמי אלהים חזק רק זומר לך בשרר for who is strong, 154 O God, except he who praises you in truth

Two elements in the Greek text, δ $\theta \epsilon \delta s$ and $\epsilon \ell$ $\mu \eta$, have no equivalents in the Syriac text. In light of the use of double-duty vocatives in classical Hebrew (discussed by Dahood and Penar [1970: 439–441], who listed thirteen examples in the MT), it is most likely that the Greek translator made explicit what was implicit in Hebrew and Syriac, although, given the Syriac word, order one cannot be absolutely sure on this issue. The absence of a Syriac equivalent of the $\epsilon \ell$ $\mu \eta$ "except" (= $\rho \tau$) is probably due to a haplography of $\rho \tau$ $\rho \tau$ where the $\rho \tau$ dropped out of the text

 $^{^{153}}$ As Trafton (1985: 137) noted, in 15:2 and 15:12, the Greek does not reflect the Hebrew waw-consecutive.

¹⁵⁴ In 15:2b, the Greek τί δυνατὸς ἄνθρωπος "what a power (is) a man" and the Syriac איט חול "and what is the might of man" may reflect a *Vorlage* having the bound nouns איט חול (as in I Chronicles 26:8, "qualified man"). If so, the Greek translator read the two words as a noun clause, while the Syriac translator recognized the construct state but reversed the word order.

15:3b (G), 15:5b (S)

έν ὀργάνῳ ἡρμοσμένω γλώσσης with the tuned instrument of the tongue

الا المهمة الا الاعتام الماء الماء

with an instrument which is established by the tongue

בכלי כונן לשון

with a tuned instrument for the tongue

The Greek ἡρμοσμένω "tuned" (Liddell and Scott, 243) and the Syriac "which is established" cannot be translations of each other, but both can be good translations of a *Vorlage* which had the verb [1] or [1] "to establish." The Syriac translator read the verb as [1], a *polal* form of [1] "to establish" and translated it appropriately by the "to establish" (J. Payne Smith, 1903: 618). But the Greek translator recognized it as [1], a pi^cel of the same stem, and gave it the meaning "to tune," a meaning which is still used in Modern Hebrew. However, the Greek translator, while having the contextually more appropriate ἡρμοσμένω, missed the double—duty preposition which was prefixed to "[2]. The Syriac translator appropriately rendered the single preposition with two prepositions: "with an instrument . . . by the tongue."

15:3b (G), 15:5b (S)

<u>ἀπαρχὴν</u> χειλέων the <u>first fruits</u> of the lips

On the confusion of \neg and \uparrow see Delitzsch, 1920: 113, § 112°.

the <u>first fruits</u> of the lips ברורי שפתים first-fruits of the lips

15:4b (G), 15:6b (S)

φλὸξ πυρὸς καὶ ὀργὴ ἀδίκων οὐχ ἄψεται αὐτοῦ the flame of fire and anger against the unrighteous will not touch him

La udate Langus eta<u>lus</u> Klangus Klang

the flame of fire and the anger of the <u>lawless</u> will not touch them

להבת אש ועברת עליון לא תגענתם for the flame of fire and the anger of the Most High will not touch them

-

 $^{^{156}}$ The Greek $d\pi\alpha\rho\chi\dot{\eta}$ occurs seventy—six times in the LXX and translates five different Hebrew words.

The Greek ὀργὴ ἀδίκων, which could reflect a construct chain in Hebrew, was translated by Wright (1985: 664) as "anger against the [italics added] unrighteous." The need to add "against the" hints at the difficulty of this poetic line. Wright's translation is sensitive to context, but the addition of a preposition without textual support is problematic. An alternative solution is to recognize a misreading of one of the words in the Hebrew Vorlage in the Greek and Syriac traditions, namely, the misreading of מליון "lawless one" instead of the proposed original עליון "Most High." The motif of God (the Most High) sending fire is well attested. The point that the poet seems to be making is that the righteous will not be touched by the anger of the Most High when he sends fire against the unrighteous.

The text as it now stands makes it difficult for the reader to easily identify the antecedents for the recurring third person pronouns "they" and "them." The Greek סעׁג מֹשְׁבּדְםוּ מעֹדִסט "it will not touch him" stands in contrast to the Syriac מוֹל "it will not touch them." This difference is probably another example of a misreading of the Vorlage in which the original verb המענהם (confusing י"it will touch them" was misread as המענהם (confusing י"it will touch him." The ambiguity of the pronoun "they" and "them" in 15:9 (Syriac) may be due in part to the misreading of עלויה as עלוין "So Otherwise it would appear that the poet was having the anger of the "lawless" being directed "against the sinners from before the Most High," and the pronoun "they" or "them" could refer to the sinner as easily as to the righteous. The Greek text is free from ambiguity even though it apparently misread "עולה for "Uther" or "them" of the sinner as easily as to the righteous.

¹⁵⁷ Ezekiel 39:6; Hosea 8:14; Amos 1:4, 7, 10, 12, 2:2, 5; and IV Ezra 1:23.

15:5a (G), 15:7a (S)

ἀπὸ προσώπου κυρίου from the Lord's presence

כץ <u>מו:י</u> מינעא

from before the Most High

מפני יהוה עליון

from before Yahweh Most High

The Greek κυρίου "Lord" and the Syriac באבא" "Most High" cannot be translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 140) concurred with Charlesworth (1977: 755) that the Syriac אוֹב is a corruption of the Syriac בייבול "Lord," a corruption which is also attested in the Odes of Solomon 23:4. However, in light of the use of "Yahweh, Most High" in Psalm 7:18 (אַרִין עליין "Yahweh, Most High" in Psalm 7:18 (אַרִין עליין עליין "I will give to the Lord the thanks due to his righteousness, and I will sing praise to the name of the Lord, the Most High") and in Psalm 47:3 (בְּלִידְּעָלִין עוֹרָא מֶלֶין עוֹרָא מֶלֶין עוֹרָא מֶלֶין עוֹרָא מָלֶין נוֹרָא מָלֶין נוֹרָא מִלֶּין נוֹרָא מִלֶּין עוֹרָא (שֹלִין עוֹרָא מִלֶּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלֶּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלֶּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין שׁוֹרָא מִיִּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְין שׁוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִלְּין עוֹרָא מִיִּין עוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִיִּין עוֹרָא מִיִּין עוֹרָא מִיִּין עוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִייִין עוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִייִין עוֹרָא מִיִין עוֹרָא מִייִין מִייִין עוֹרָא מִייִין מִייִין מִייִין עוֹרָין שוֹין מוֹרָא מִייִין עוֹרָא מִייִין מוֹרָי מִייִין מוֹרִייִין מוֹרְייִין מוֹלְייִין מוֹיִייִין מוֹרָי מוֹיִין מוֹרִי מוֹיִייִין מוֹייִין מוֹיִייִין מו

15:7a (G), 15:8b (S)

λιμὸς καὶ ρομφαία καὶ θάνατος famine and sword and death

for death and spear and famine רעב ושלח ומות

for famine and spear and death

The Greek and Syriac word differ in this phrase, and the Greek ρομφαία "sword" and the Syriac "spear" are not the ususal equivalents to each other. As noted in the discussion of 13:2, the

Vorlage behind ῥομφαίας and שׁבְּוֹל was perhaps the more generic שְׁבִיל "missile, weapon" (BDB, 1019), which has the meaning "sword" in Job 36:12 and "hand-weapon" in II Chronicles 23:10, and "spear" in II Samuel 18:13.

15:7b (G), 15:9a (S)

φεύξονται γὰρ ὡς διωκόμενοι <u>πολέμου</u> ἀπὸ ὁσίων (Rahlf) φεύξονται γὰρ ὡς διωκόμενου <u>λιμοῦ</u> ἀπὸ ὁσίων (Wright) for they will retreat from the devout like those pursued by <u>famine</u> (Wright) for they will flee, as <u>famine</u> being pursued from/by the holy ones (Trafton)

for they will flee from them as death flees from life

כי ינוסו כְפּן וחרב תמותע מפני החסידים כי כפן ירדוף החסידים מותן מחיים

for they [famine, sword, pestilence]
will flee from the righteous ones —
indeed, famine will flee from the righteous and pestilence
from the living!

The differences between the Greek and the Syriac of this poetic line are so great that it appears that both texts are defective. Trafton (1985: 141–142) has provided a summary of the conjectures offered to bring meaning to the bewildering Greek text and the slightly less perplexing Syriac text. Rahlf's text, cited above, follows von Gebhardt's (1895: 81–82) emendation of $\lambda \iota \mu o \hat{\nu}$ to $\pi o \lambda \acute{\epsilon} \mu o \nu$, and Wright's translation reflects a reworking of the word order in order to make the subject of the verb "retreat" to be "famine, sword and death" instead of its being the "righteous." Trafton's translation of the Greek, while more literal, is no more intelligible.

Several keys for understanding this poetic line come from properly reconstructing the poetic lines in verses 15:4–6 (Syriac 15: 6–9) and recognizing (1) that the singular κακοῦ "evil" can be a

reference to the "evil one," (2) the probability that מותן "pestilence" was misread or confused with מות "death," and (3) that the emphatic "indeed" was misread as the particle "" "for." The singular $\dot{\epsilon}$ ξέλθη "it / he goes forth" cannot be a reference to the compound nouns "flame of fire and anger" of 5:4b, but it can be the singular verb with the singular κακοῦ of 15:4a as its subject. By inverting 15:4b and 15:5-6, the singular noun κακοῦ and the singular verb $\dot{\epsilon}$ ξ $\dot{\epsilon}$ λθη come naturally together, and the two nouns "fire and anger" are followed by the three nouns "famine and sword and death" with their respective verbs. 159 Reading the text in this manner it becomes apparent that it is "the evil/evil one" who went forth from the presence of God—just as the adversary went forth from the presence of God in the prologue of Job. The Syriac use of "evil, the evil one" and the Greek use of κακοῦ "evil" may well indicate a Vorlage having 72 "adversary, enemy." The parallels to the Job prologue seem obvious.

The collocation of ב" "famine" and מותן "pestilence" in Ta°a-nith 19b provides the basis for reconstructing the *Vorlage* with these two words rather than with עות "famine" and מות "death." The reconstructed *Vorlage* and translation offered above reflect what is considered to be the poet's use of a double-duty verb and a double-duty emphatic "שונה which have, heretofore, been unrecognized by the translators and the commentators. The proposal to add the שונה מלוח" and a final שונה עום, even without textual support, offers a solution

¹⁵⁹ The rearrangement of the lines and the interpretation offered for individual words or phrases provides for the following logically consistent translation:

^{15:4}a Everyone who does these things will never be disturbed by (the) adversary
15:5 when he goes out from the Lord's presence against sinners
to destroy every foundation of (the) sinner's.

^{15:4}b The flame of fire and the anger of the Most High shall not touch them.

^{15:6} For God's mark is on the righteous for their salvation.

^{15:7} Famine, sword and death shall be far from the righteous for they [famine, sword, pestilence] will flee from the righteous ones—indeed, famine will flee from the righteous and pestilence from the living!

¹⁶⁰ For the review on double-duty prepositions see the above discussion on Psalm of Solomon 14:1.

unavailable from other studies (summarized by Trafton) which have assumed corruptions in the Greek text without addressing the differences in the Syriac tradition, or solutions which have assumed corruptions in the Syriac text but have not addressed the difficulties of the Greek text. Since the corruption is assumed to have been inherent in a Hebrew *Vorlage*, ¹⁶¹ it has been possible to come to conclusions which can account for the differences in the textual traditions and offer an intelligible reading of these enigmatic poetic lines.

15:9a (G), 15:9b (S)

ώς ὑπὸ πολεμίων ἐμπείρων καταλημφθήσονται they shall be overtaken as by those experienced in war

for they will go before them as those who know war

כי במלמדי מלחמה יקדמו indeed, by those trained (for) warfare they will be confronted

Contrary to Trafton's (1985: 143) statement, "On the other hand, Syriac τω would certainly be an unusual translation of κατα-λαμβάνω," in the Septuagint καταλαμβάνω translates Hebrew $\Box \Box \rho$ twice in Micah 6:6, which makes it quite probable that in this line there is no basic difference between the Greek and the Syriac. The $\dot{\epsilon}$ μπείρων and $\dot{\epsilon}$ could be translations of each other or of a Hebrew *Vorlage* with $\Box \Box \rho$ having the meaning, "trained (for war)" or "experienced (in warfare)" as in Song of Solomon 3:8

15:9b (G), 15:10 (S)

έπὶ τοῦ μετώπου αὐτῶν for on their forehead

Trafton's (1985: 143) critique of Kuhn's conjecture (that a transposition of the same line occurred independently in the Greek and Syriac texts of this psalm) appears valid. Trafton recognized that his critique (that the coincidence would have been too rare) would have been invalid if the corruption had been in the Hebrew *Vorlage* shared in common by the Greek and Syriac traditions.

upon their face

על פניהם

upon their face

The Greek $\mu \in \tau \omega \pi \circ \upsilon$, at first glance, would appear to be the equivalent of the Hebrew אבר "forehead, brow" and would not be the equivalent of the Syriac של "nose, nostril." In Ezekiel 16:12, Hebrew אבר "may mean "forehead" (KJV "and I put a jewel on thy forehead"). The Greek and Syriac terms for "forehead" have etymologically the same meaning of "between the eyes," but the Greek $\mu \in \tau \omega \pi \circ \upsilon$ also means "with front foremost" and is used metaphorically for "front, face of anything" (Liddell and Scott, 1123). Consequently, $\mu \in \tau \omega \pi \circ \upsilon$ here could reflect a *Vorlage* with של since של could easily translate של Syriac של since של could easily translate של Therefore, the reconstructed *Vorlage* has של rather than של אבר הוא ביים באל האבר ביים אבר הוא ביים אבר ביים אבר

15:10b (G), 15:11b (S)

καὶ αἱ ἀνομίαι αὐτῶν διώξονται αὐτοὺς and their lawless actions shall pursue them

and <u>their lawlessness</u> will pursue them ופשעיהם ירדפם

and their rebellious acts will pursue them

The difference between the Greek plural διώξονταιand the Syriac singular בי is probably due to the verb ירדפום "they will pursue them" having been written *scriptio defectiva* as בירדפם (בּבְּיִבְייִ). The Syriac translator read ירדפם as a singular, but the Greek translator read it as a plural.

15:13a (G), 15:15a (S)

οί δὲ φοβούμενοι τὸν κύριον <u>ἐλεηθήσονται</u> <u>ἐν αὐτη</u> but those who fear the Lord <u>shall find mercy in it</u>

¹⁶² Compare the verb יהרגן "they slay them" in Zechariah 11:5.

וירחם בה יראי יהוה

and he will have mercy to those fearing

Yahweh upon it [the earth]

The Greek passive $\dot{\epsilon}$ λεηθήσονται "they shall receive mercy" and the Syriac active $\dot{\epsilon}$ ασω "there will be mercy" are unlikely to be translations of each other, even though the verbs mean the same thing. The difference between the active and the passive in the two traditions can be accounted for by a Hebrew *Vorlage* with $\Box\Box\Box$ which was read as a pu^cal passive by the Greek translator, but it was read as a pi^cel active by the Syriac translator. Once read as a passive, in the context of this verse, the subject could only have been "those who fear the Lord," even if there were no third masculine plural suffix on the verb. There is nothing in the Syriac corresponding to the Greek phrase $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\alpha\dot{\nu}\tau\eta$, the feminine pronoun which must have the $\tau\dot{\eta}\nu$ $\gamma\dot{\eta}\nu$ of the previous line as its antecedent.

Psalm Sixteen

16:1a

ἐν τῷ νυστάξαι ψυχήν μου ἀπὸ κυρίου παρὰ μικρὸν
 when my soul <u>slumbered</u>, (I was far away)
 from the Lord, wretched for a time [in the sleepiness of my soul
 from God (sic) by a little wretchedness]

בד <u>אחמיה</u> נפא, מלגל כץ כדיא. בד מלגל when my soul <u>disregarded</u> the Lord a little בישנחה נפשי מיהוה כמעט when my soul forsook the Lord for a bit

The difficulty of the Greek is reflected in Wright's parenthetical addition and the literal translation given in a note [shown in brackets]. The Greek νυστάξαι "slumbered" and the Syriac ν

"disregarded" cannot be translations of each other. But they can be variant readings from a Hebrew *Vorlage* which was read (1) in the Greek tradition as בישנתה "when (my soul) slept" and (2) in the Syriac text tradition as שנתה "when (my soul) forsook."

Frankenberg (1896: 80) and Stein (1969: 455) translated νυστάξαι by שו "become drowsy," which appears in parallelism with שו "to sleep" in Psalm 121:4. But it would be difficult to account for the difference between the Greek and Syriac texts if שו were in the Vorlage. However, in certain forms the roots שו and שו could more easily have been confused. The stem שו is well attested in Aramaic and Syriac (Jastrow, 1606; J. Payne Smith 1957, 586) meaning "to change, to transfer, to desert, to forsake." In Hebrew, the stem is sometimes confused with שו "to hate," but it probably occurs in Psalm 119:128, "I forsake every false way" (rather than, "I hate every false way") and Sirach 7:26, "do not trust yourself to one whom you forsook" (rather than, ". . . . whom you hate"). 164

¹⁶³ It is of interest to note that Franz Delitzsch (n.d., ad loc.) initially translated the phrase . . . "שנה נפשי רחוק מיי, "when sleeps my soul at a distance from Yahweh . . ." but scratched the רחוק and drew a line also through כאשר מיי כמעם מיי כמעם. . . On a separate sheet he translated instead" when sleeps my soul from Yahweh awhile"

McDaniel (1994) noted that Jesus' difficult statement in Luke 14:26, "if anyone comes to me and does not hate (où μισεῖ) his own father and mother and wife and children and brothers and sisters, yes, even his own life, he cannot be my disciple," is probably rooted in a written Hebrew or Aramaic tradition in which the word እነው / השט אוא was misread. He noted that the Greek μισει equals אַשָּׁהָ "you hate," but the context and parallel accounts suggest that אַשָּׁה or הַשָּׁהָ for הַשָּׁהָּ or הַשָּׁהָּ could not have been an aural error since the sound of שׁ and שׁ are distinctly different, but both sounds were represented by שׁ in the orthography of Jesus' time. (The variant spelling of אַ מוֹ שׁ sleep" as אַשׁ is also noteworthy as another example of the interchange of א and הַ.)

16:1b

παρὰ μικρὸν <u>ιλίσθησα</u> 165 ἐν καταφορ 166 166 166 166 166 167 wretched for a time; 16 167 into a sleep far from 167

<u>אטראיבי אייטי אייסין דידי אייסין אייסין</u>

<u>I was almost in the lapses of</u> the sleep of corruption, and when I was far from the Lord

כמעט נמתי בשנת שחת וכד רחקתי מאלהים for a while I sank into a deadly coma; and when I was far from the Lord

In 16:1a, παρα μικρὸν "by a little" corresponds to על "a little while," and in 16:2a παρ' ὀλίγον "for a moment" corresponds to על "almost"—all of which equal Hebrew מעם רגע סרגע:

However, in 16:1b nothing in the Greek text corresponds to the בב באם in the Syriac text.

The Greek manuscript variants $\mathring{\omega}\lambda (\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\alpha)$ "I had slipped" (all mss except 336) and $\mathring{\upsilon}\pi\nu\omega\sigma\alpha$ "I slept" (ms 336) are not due to scribal corruptions of graphically similar letters or words. There is not a single Semitic root which can mean both $\mathring{\omega}\lambda (\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\alpha)$ and $\mathring{\upsilon}\pi\nu\omega\sigma\alpha$. These variants are most likely due to two different ways of reading a word in the Hebrew *Vorlage*. The root $\mathring{\upsilon}$ " $\mathring{\upsilon}$ " (= $\mathring{\omega}\lambda (\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\alpha)$ " a little

¹⁶⁵ Ms 336 reads ὕπνωσα "I slept" (= ישנתי), which appears to be a misplaced doublet of $\tau \hat{\omega}$ νυστάξαι ψυχήν μου "slumbering of my soul," which would mean that ms 336 lacks a word corresponding to $\hat{\omega}\lambda$ ίσθησα.

¹⁶⁶ Mss 149, 260, 336, 471, 629, and 769 read $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi \theta o \rho \hat{q}$ "destruction, death, ruin" (equals the noun νπω I.), whereas mss 253, 606, 655, and 659 read $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi o \rho \hat{q}$ "bringing down, a downward stroke, a downward motion, a sloping place" (equals the noun νπω II., from the root ννω or νπω). Since, both $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi o \rho \hat{q}$ and $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi o \rho \hat{q}$ can be valid translations of the νπω I. or II., there is no need to postulate a scribal error.

The "wretched" and "wretchedness" in Wright's translation (1985: 604) apparently renders $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi \varphi \varphi \alpha$ or $\kappa \alpha \tau \alpha \varphi \varphi \varphi \varphi \alpha$,

(while)" could have been confused with אמר "to slip, to slide, to totter"— especially since the aural similarity of the words is as close as their graphic similarity. The confusion of אמר שטט with שטט would account for the absence of any corresponding element for the Syriac אינ (= שטט) in the Greek text of 16:1b since שאל (שטט "I had slipped" translates אינ (בא מעט (בא

The Greek has no corresponding equivalent to the . . . \prec to in the Syriac text, i.e., it is lacking a conjunction, a particle, and the first person singular verb prefix, which together mean "and I was almost" However, the $\tau\hat{\omega}$ $\tau\hat{o}$ of ms 336 (and possibly ms 629) could be what survives as a translation of TDI in the Hebrew *Vorlage*, the equivalent of the Syriac to a corruption of an original $\tau\hat{o}\tau\epsilon$. If the Hebrew *Vorlage* had the verb TDDI "I was far away," the Syriac rendered it as an "aph el, but the Greek read it as the feminine noun TDDI or "a distant one, a distance."

16:3a

¹⁶⁸ Delitzsch (1920: 119 § 131) cited only the variants in I Samuel 27:8, where the MT בְּשִׁלִּכְּם appears in the LXX as ἀπὸ Τ/Γελαμ(ψουρ). Note McCarter's (1980, 413) translation "from Telem" for MT בְּשִׁלִּבּן.

השתוחה נפשי my soul was drawn away

The Greek $\delta \iota \in \nu \in \chi \theta \hat{\eta} \nu \alpha \iota$ "was drawn away" and the Syriac "was bent down" cannot be translations of each other, but they can be accurate translations of a Hebrew Vorlage having the proto-Semitic stems which survived independently in Arabic, mamely, سوخ "to sink down" [swh became šwh in Hebrew] and سوخ "to flow or melt away, to spread" [swh became šwh in Hebrew]. The Greek $\delta \iota \in \nu \in \chi \theta \hat{\eta} \nu \alpha \iota$ reflects שני (= سوح) and the Syriac may reflect سوخ =) كتااتا). Since the Greek has a passive infinitive, presumably the Vorlage had a passive, but if the stem were the passive of Tivi it would most likely have been the distinctive hithpa^cel form השתוחה, השתוחה, ¹⁶⁹ which would have been difficult for any Syriac translator to have rendered as an active verb. Therefore, it may well be that the Syriac translator read השתחוה as השתחוה "to bend down, to prostrate oneself," which, in other context, would correspond closely to אבילא הבילה "prostrate adoration" (J. Payne Smith, 542).

16:4a

ένυξέν με ώς κέντρον ἵππου ἐπὶ τὴν <u>γρηγόρησιν αὐτου</u> he <u>jabbed me</u> as a horse is goaded to <u>keep it awake</u>

<u>πθατω </u> καραω καραω
he <u>pierced me</u> like the goad of a horse for <u>its arousal</u>

Γρημία

Γρημί

The Greek κέντρον ἵππου "a horse-goad" and the Syriac מסמש. "the horse-goad" could be translations of each other or of a Hebrew *Vorlage* with סוס מלמד סוס סול or ברבן סוס סוס הרבן סוס סוס אוא the horse-goad" could be translations of each other or of a Hebrew *Vorlage* with סוס סול or of his reconstructed *Vorlage* as subject-object ("the *goad* pierced the *horse*")

¹⁶⁹ For the passive use of the *hithpa^cel* see GKC § 54^g.

rather than as a construct chain ("the goad of a horse") seems gratuitous in light of the מלמד בקד "an ox–goad" in Judges 3:31. However, the Greek and Syriac translators seem to have misread two letters of the Vorlage, namely, (1) the preposition "by, with" was misread as the preposition "as, like" (= $\dot{\omega}_S$ and $\dot{\omega}_{\kappa}$), and (2) the 'suffix on the $hiph^e\hat{\imath}l$ infinitive" "to arouse me" was read as a 1, i.e., להעירו "to arouse him [the horse]." Since the Greek and Syriac texts reflect this same error, the misreading of 'as 1 and 2 as 2 was more like a matter of scribal errors in the Vorlage itself.

16:5

ὅτι ἀντελάβου μου εἰς σωτηρίαν who came to my aid for (my) salvation

حمل دحدنهد حدونوس

you helped me with <u>your salvation</u>
עזרתני בתשועתך
you rescued me with your salvation

The Greek text lacks a pronomial element corresponding to the "your" suffix in the Syriac. Wright's (1985: 665) translation provides "(my)" as a gloss, suggesting that a μου dropped out of the Greek text or a 'dropped out of its Hebrew Vorlage. Since the Syriac is unambigious in reading "your salvation," it seems more likely that a σου dropped out of the Greek text or a \(\Gamma\) dropped out of its Hebrew Vorlage. The MT provides several examples of השועה with the 'suffix and with the \(\Gamma\) suffix: השועה "my salvation" appears in Psalm 38:24 and 51:16, and אונעה or השועה (and) thy salvation" appears in Psalm 40:11, 17; 71:15; 119:41 and 81. Since either suffix is possible, there is no apparent reason for not following the Syriac text.

16:6b

μηδὲ τὴν μνήμην σου
nor your memory **νωὶοι ποι κί**ο
do not let your remembrance <u>depart</u>

וזכרנוך nor your memory

16:7a

ἐπικράτησόν μου ὁ θεός ἀπὸ ἁμαρτίας πονηρᾶς restrain me, O God, from sordid sin (Wright)
 rule me, O God, (keeping me back)
 from wicked sin (Gray)

ארביא איניא ביאא ביאא ביאא ביאא ביאא me, O Lord, from evil sin
ארוחני אלהים מאשם חמא
cleanse me, O God, from the guilt of sin

The Greek ἐπικράτησόν μου "rule over me" and the Syriac "save me" cannot be translations of each other. In the Septuagint, ἐπικράτειν translates בּבְּר, בְּקָע , הַבְּר, הַבְּעָּה, חוֹק , and שֵׁלִישׁ, none of which have the meaning "to restrain." Ryle and James (1891: 121) suggested that the Hebrew Vorlage had the verb החוֹק "to hold fast, to protect," whereas Kuhn (1937: 51–52) proposed a Vorlage with חשׂבני "he held me back" which was subsequently

¹⁷⁰ See Dahood and Penar, 1970, 435.

corrupted to הזקב" "he held me fast." But as Trafton (1985: 151) noted, "Kuhn's suggestion is ingenious but not wholly convincing."

A more likely reason for the presence of the very different ἐπικράτησόν and בּספּגּם is that the Vorlage had the verb אור "to cleanse (away), to wash, to rinse" which was misread by the Greek translator as הוו "to rule over, to have dominion."¹⁷² The verb אור מאָר בְּנוֹת־צֵּיוֹן וְאָּתְר בְּנוֹת־צֵיוֹן יִאָּת בְּנוֹת־צֵיוֹן יִיִּרְיׁתַ "when the Lord shall have washed away the filth of the daughters of Zion, and shall have purged the blood of Jerusalem." In the Septuagint, ἀμαρτίας translates שַּׁשָּ or שִּׁאָ or שִּׁ "offence, guilt, wrong-doing, guiltiness" in Genesis 42:21, Exodus 6:6, and Isaiah 53:10. The stem שֵׁאֵׁ would well fit the verb דור to express the idea "cleanse (me) from the guilt of sin." The semantic range of Syriac בּ "to depart from, to remove" J. Payne Smith (1903: 464–465) is broad enough to accommodate Trafton's translation "save me" and the Hebrew אור וויין שובל וויין שובל וויין שובל עודים שנים וויין שובל וויין שו

16:8b

καὶ παντὸς ὑποκειμένου ἀπὸ ἁμαρτίας ἀνωφελοῦς nor anyone subject to <u>useless sin</u> Wright) and anything existing from <u>unprofitable sin</u> (Trafton)

תלב בל עלמא האבל nor any sin which there is וכל נשי און nor any evil women

The Greek και "and" and the Syriac "nor" are not exactly the same. Wright's (1985: 665) translating και as "nor" is

¹⁷¹ In support of the aural error, Kuhn cited the variant in the Jerusalem Talmud Pesaḥim 15, 7, where כנסו is attested in the Berlin edition of 1920, but in the 1926 Wilna edition נגוו rightly appears.

¹⁷² On the confusion of \neg and \neg and on the confusion of \neg and \neg , see Delitzsch, 1920: 105–107, § 104^{a-c} , and 109, § 109^{a-b} , respectively.

contextually correct, making explicit what was implicit in the poet's use of a double—duty negative. ¹⁷³ In this respect, Wright's translating "not . . . nor" for the Greek $\mu\dot{\eta}$. . . $\kappa\alpha\dot{\iota}$ follows the Syriac translator's use of compound negatives: $\kappa\dot{\iota}$. . . $\kappa\dot{\iota}$ o. The poet's use of double-duty negatives was a stylistic option, analogous to English usage of a single or double negative, such as: "not (this) or (that)" or "not (this) nor (that)."

The Syriac text lacks any corresponding adjective for ἀνωφελοῦς "useless," which appears in the Septuagint as the translation of "that is profitable for nothing" in Isaiah 44:10 and of לא הועיל "things that do not profit" in Jeremiah 2:8. But the Syriac בל יש "all that exists" (בל ישׁ) and the Greek άμαρτίας, along with the Syriac مراه (= "wickedness"), provide the clues for determining the origin of the problematic άμαρτίας ἀνωφελοῦς "useless sin" and the puzzling δικτ καζω "sin which exists." The conflation of פֿל. . . . בֿל and און produces the word cluster כל יש און "all exists wicked," a senseless phrase which, however, is graphically similar to כל נשי און "all women of wicked ness"—a word cluster which would be a very meaningful parallel to the "lawless women" mentioned in 8a. It seems very probable, therefore, that the Greek ὑποκειμένου "existing" and the Syriac "which exists" reflect a shared Vorlage in which שבאל "women" of" was misspelled or misread as "" "exists." The Greek ἀνωφελοῦς, which has no parallel in the Syriac text, would appear to be a doublet reflecting the misreading or misspelling of the original כל נשׁי און (בּל נְשֵׁי אָנֵן =) בל יש און as בל יש און (בל נִשִּׁי אָנֵן = "not exist value" or "useless"). In light of this analysis of the differences between the Greek and Syriac texts, the reconstructed Vorlage is as short as the Syriac text but differs from the Greek and the Syriac texts by exchanging טָי, the particle of existence, for the construct noun נשי "the women of "174

¹⁷³ On the double–duty negative, see Dahood and Penar, 1970, 437–438.

¹⁷⁴ For the reconstructed בְּלֵיהֵי אָנֶן "women of wickedness," compare מְלֵהִי אָנֶן "wicked men" in Job 22:15 and אַנְשִׁי אָנֵן "wicked men" in Job 34:36.

16:10b

ὀργὴν καὶ θυμὸν ἄλογον μακρὰν ποίησον ἀπ' ϵμοῦ put anger and thoughtless rage far from me

remove from me anger and wrath which is <u>unreasoning</u>

<u>I will not be like one who does not have</u>

<u>understanding, like animals</u>

עברה וחמה בלי דעת הרחיקה ממני ולא אהיה בלי דעת כשחיות put anger and thoughtless rage far from me and I will not be without knowledge as the animals

The expanded Syriac text, cited above, stands in contrast to those places where the Syriac has presented a significantly shorter text, namely in 5:17 (S, 5:20), 7:9 (S 7:8b), and 8:5 (S, 8:6) (noted above

¹⁷⁵ This line is found only in mss 14kl and 16g7.

 $^{^{176}}$ It is surprising that the Greek translator of Job seems to have had difficulty with the negative phrase בלי דעת. In Job 38:2 and in 42:3 the LXX offers only a paraphrase, suggesting that in 38:2 that בלב' was misread as בלי "in my heart."

in the discussion on 7:8b), at which points no commentator suggested that the longer Greek texts were glosses. The significantly longer Syriac text of 16:10b in mss 14kl and 16g7 has been regarded by Trafton (1985: 154) as an explanatory gloss since it breaks up "the a-b-a-b pattern of vv. 6-12." The expansion in 16:10c of the motif of "thoughtlessness" which the poet introduced in 16:10b cannot be so easily dismissed as a gloss for two reasons: first, there is really no difficulty in understanding בלי דעת or בלי דעת; second, the Greek and Syriac texts are essentially free of even one or two word glosses, so that the suggestion that an entire *poetic* line is a gloss seems as an overly simplistic solution. Since the line does not readily qualify for being a gloss, it is more likely that the line was originally in the psalm and that was omitted—for unknown reasons —in the Syriac ms 16hl and in all of the Greek manuscripts. Therefore, the reconstructed Vorlage has adopted the fuller Syriac text and no suggestion is being offered for its absence in other manuscripts.¹⁷⁷

16:11a

γογγυσμὸν καὶ ὀλιγοψυχίαν ἐν θλίψει μάκρυνον ἀπ' ἐμου put grumbling and discouragement in persecution far from me

remove from me murmuring and faintheartedness in tribulation רחק ממני תלנה ולב דוי בלחץ remove from me murmuring and faintheartedness in tribulation

The Greek text and the Syriac text of this line could be translations of each other or of a shared Hebrew *Vorlage*. The Greek

¹⁷⁷ The motif of "irrational animals" introduced by the poet in 16:10c is found elsewhere in the literature coming from essentially the same period, namely, in IV Maccabees 14:14 and 18, "... and indeed, here, even the irrational animals have for their young an affection and love similar to men's and what need have we of examples of the love of offspring among irrational animals"

16:14a

(— no comparable line in the Syriac text —)

בחפי סרחוני בחנך with my (being) cleansed of my offense or with his (being) cleansed of his stench

The nonsensical extra line in the Greek text of this line does not read like an explanatory gloss since it is in desperate need of a gloss itself. Its absence from the Syriac may be due to the fact that even the Syriac translator found the Hebrew *Vorlage* unintelligible. The reconstructed *Vorlage* uses the Greek text but it is not simply a back translation of the Greek into Hebrew since the Greek is probably a translation of a corrupted *Vorlage*. For example $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ $\chi\epsilon\iota\rho\iota$ (which Wright omits in his translation) is the equivalent of ETT "the hollow of the hand," but a Hebrew text with ETT or ETTT "with my/his cleansing" would be contextually much more appropriate.

Note Trafton's rare misspelling of διατων. In his study he has διατων, spelled with an initial *nun* (1981:266), and in his monograph he has διατων, spelled with an initial *yud* (1985: 154).

ייף בֿיע $\chi \in \mathcal{V}$ אַ אַ גּוּ וּשׁבּן in Exod 9:8, Lev 16:12, and Ezek 10:2 and 7.

The confusion of a $\centsymbol{\upharpoonright}$ with a $\centsymbol{\backprime}$ or a $\centsymbol{\backprime}$ is discussed by Delitzsch (1920: 111–112, $\centsymbol{\S}$ 110^{a-c} .

Similarly, the Greek σ מתף(α s αὐτου "his stench" (which Wright paraphrased by "mortality") could reflect a *Vorlage* with "סרחונו" "my stench, my offense" or אווויס "his stench, his offense," with ambiguity due to uncertainty as to whether the last letter of the word was a ו or a '. Lastly, the Greek ἡ δοκιμασία σου is the equivalent of Hebrew "שונין "your testing," but the consonantal (= דוון (= דוון) "by your grace." The latter word, דְּחַבֶּף, fits the context much better than the former word, דְּחַבֶּף.

The remaining uncertainty in the reconstructed *Vorlage* for this phrase is limited to the suffix ending, as to whether it was "my" or "his." In 16:1–12, the focus is on the *first* person and verse 16:14 makes a fitting conclusion for a *personal* confession which included the phrase "... of *my* being cleansed of his stench." However, since verse16:15 in Syriac and 16:14a in Greek have the *third* person singular, the verse now designated 16:14a/16:15 could have been intended to shift the focus from the first person to the third person by making the statement, "... of *his* being cleansed of his stench."

Psalm Seventeen

17:1

κύριε σὺ αὐτὸς βασιλεὺς ἡμῶν εἰς τὸν αἰῶνα καὶ ἔτι Lord, you are our king forevermore

אנה מה אנה מצבי. מאא האנה מלבל אונה O Lord, you are our king now and forever אדני אתה מלכנו עתה ועולם ועד

ארני אתה מלכנו עתה ועולם ועד O Lord, you are our king, now and for evermore

It is possible that the Greek ϵ ίς τὸν αἰῶνα καὶ ἔτι "for ever and beyond" and the Syriac $\overline{}$ ανα "now and forever" could be idiomatic translations of each other, $\overline{}$ or they could reflect a slightly

¹⁸¹ Note that Wright (1985: 665) included καὶ ἔτι in "forevermore," in contrast to Gray (1913: 647), whose translation "for ever and ever" reflected the conjunction.

different Vorlage, the Greek having had עולם ועד and the Syriac having had עולם ועד and the Syriac having had מתה עולם ועד. The differences between the Greek and the Syriac suggest that the original Hebrew had עולם and and as עולם. The reconstructed Vorlage uses אדני instead of יהוה order to provide for greater assonance which was a common element in Hebrew poetry.

17:2a

καὶ τίς δ χρόνος ζωῆς ἀνθρώπου ἐπὶ τῆς γῆς how long is the time of a person's life on the earth

and what is the life of a man upon the earth

ומה עת חי אדם על הארץ but what is the time of the life of man upon the earth

The Syriac text lacks a corresponding element for the Greek ὁ χρόνος "the time," having simply the question, "what is the life of man . . . ?" This absence of a word corresponding to χρόνος and the presence of row, already, at present," for which there is no corresponding word in Greek, are apparently related to each other. Χρόνος equals Hebrew עת and בית equals Hebrew עתה. A confusion of the consonant cluster עתה ו and עתה, though in different lines, could easily be made. On the other hand, Kuhn (1937: 56) suggested that the Vorlage began with the question מה הם היי and concluded, "ייי gab S sinngemäß ganz richtig wieder durch τίς ὁ χρόνος ζωῆς, während S genauer übersetzte "מנא אנון היוה," (i.e., the original Hebrew □ was translated by the plural copula ב מה). However, the unnecessary copula, ב מה is probably a doublet for a misreading of ¬¬¬ "what" as the metathetic ¬¬¬ "them." Appeal to paraphrase should be made only when other explanations are lacking.

17:2b

καὶ ἡ ἐλπὶς αὐτοῦ ἐπ' αὐτόν
so also is <u>his hope in him</u> **πτω 그 스 ベン**π
so also is <u>his flesh</u>

כן שברו עליה so also is his hope upon her [the earth]

The Greek ἡ ἐλπὶς αὐτοῦ "his hope" and the Syriac האשם "his flesh" cannot be translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 156) suggested that שבשם was an inner–Syriac corruption of an original האם "hope." But the erroneous metathesis could just as easily have been made in Hebrew, with שב "flesh" having been corrupted to שב "hope."

The masculine $\dot{\epsilon}\pi'$ αὐτόν, for which there is no corresponding element in the Syriac text, could be a corruption of the feminine $\dot{\epsilon}\pi'$ αὐτήν, with its antecedent being βλα in the proposed *Vorlage* of 17:2a. Other proposals have been made to read the antecedent of $\dot{\epsilon}\pi'$ αὐτόν as χρόνος (= \Box χ) "time of . . ." (Geiger, 1871: 67), or ἀνθρώπου (= \Box ζ%) "man" (Ryle and James (1891: 129), or coming from a *Vorlage* having χήν "himself" (Kuhn, 1937: 57). The Greek text has been followed in reconstructing the *Vorlage* for this phrase, although liberty has been taken to change the gender of the pronoun.

17:5b (G), 17:6b (S)

καὶ ἔξωσαν ἡμᾶς οἶς οὐκ ἐπηγγείλω
μετὰ βίας ἀφείλαντο
καὶ οὐκ ἐδόξασαν τὸ ὄνομά σου τὸ ἔντιμον
. . . and drove us out. Those to whom you did not (make)
the promise, they took away (from us) by force

._ משל <u>שניים אין יי</u> מש <u>הייסה אין ריי</u> הפיליני

. . . and took me away; With force they took the things which you did not give charge to them הרפנו אשר לא אמרת למו המה לקחו בחזקה and drove us out, those to whom you did not (make) the promise, they took with force

אריו Trafton's (1985: 160) statement that Kuhn proposed עליו [sic] "himself," when he actually proposed אליו "himself," demonstrates how the confusion of \aleph and υ can make its way into even the most carefully prepared texts.

The Greek $\xi \omega \sigma a \nu$ $\eta \mu \hat{a} \varsigma$ "they drove us out" and the Syriac part ς "and took me away" cannot be accurate translation of each other. But both texts could be translations of a Hebrew *Vorlage* having a first person verbal suffix. The Greek translator correctly read the suffix as "us" but the Syriac translator took the "to be "to which would be another example of the confusion of a "and a". The actual verb which carried the suffix is uncertain. The Greek $\xi \omega \sigma a \nu$ suggests the root " $\tau \tau$ " "to drive, to push, to thrust," and the Syriac aut suggests a *Vorlage* having the root $\tau \tau$ " in the *Vorlage*, it is easy to see how they could have been confused with each other. 184

The difference between the Greek οὖκ ἐπηγγείλω "did not promise" and the Syriac ਐπα Κλπ "did not give charge" is too great for them to be translations of each other, but both could be based upon a Hebrew Vorlage having the root אמר "to say." Hebrew אמר אוֹני, can mean "to promise," as well as "to command." The Greek οἶς and the Syriac מוֹני are reflected in the reconstructed Vorlage by the relative של האוֹני אוֹני, which could be either personal (with the Greek) or impersonal (with the Syriac). The translation of the Vorlage ("promise . . ." and "those . . .") indicates that the Greek text is followed for this line.

17:6a (G), 17:7b (S)

ἔθεντο <u>βασίλειον</u> ἀντὶ ὕψους αὐτῶν they set up a <u>monarchy</u> because of their arrogance <u>αντορος</u> αντορος αν

The Greek βασίλειον "kingdom" and the Syriac κλοων "kingdom" could well be translations of each other or of a common *Vorlage*. The following proposal of Begrich (1939: 141–142) that a

¹⁸³ See Delitzsch, 1920: 103–104, § 103–104^{a-c}.

¹⁸⁴ See Delitzsch, 1920: 109, § 106^{a-c} on the confusion of Π and Π , and 105-107 § 104^{a-c} on the confusion of Π and Π .

misunderstood *Vorlage* lies behind βασίλειον and και is quite convincing:

Bereits Geiger und Wellhausen haben erkannt, daß mit βασίλειον ein hebräisches יוֹם wiedergegeben wird wie II Sam 1 10. Wenn aber von einem Diadem die Rede ist, dann muß hinter ΰψους αὐτῶν sich eine andere Kopfdedeckung verbergen, welche durch das Diadem verdrängt worden ist und die an sich der Stellung der Betreffenden, der hasmonäischen Priester, angemessen war. Diese Überlegung führt auf בְּעַבְּעָקְם als ursprünglichen hebräischen Text. Dieses seltene Wort . . . ist von dem grieschischen Übersetzer verkannt, wenn nicht seine Vorlage etwa hier aus dem gleichen Grunde entstellt gewesen ist, mit אבעה »Höhe« zusammengebracht und entsprechend übersetzt worden.

Begrich's choice of גבעות as the underlying word for the head-gear provides another example of an error originating from sound rather than sight. The confusion of (הובעות) "high, height, turban" to the near homophonic גבה "high, exalted, arrogance" could easily occur. (The stem גבה is translated by טשט ten times in the LXX). In Exodus 28:40, 29:9, and Leviticus 8:13, גבעות is used for the head-gear of the common priest. However, in Exodus 39:28, בּמְּבֶּעַה appears in a list of garments made for Aaron and his sons; and in Ezekiel 44:18, בּמְבֶּעַה "linen turbans" are designated to be used by Levitical priests descended from Zadok.

Although Trafton (1985: 162) found Begrich's arguments "hardly compelling," in the opinion of this writer, Begrich's argument has been convincing and the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows his proposal, rather than taking either the Greek or the Syriac as accurate (re)-productions of the original poetic lines.

17:6b (G), 17:8a (S)

ήρήμωσαν τὸν θρόνον Δαυιδ ἐν ὑπερηφανία ἀλλάγματος they despoiled the throne of David with arrogant shouting

¹⁸⁵ Other examples of aural errors are presented above in the discussions on 8:9a, 8:25a, 9:6b, and 16:1b.

אעלבה כהלשתה ההמוד בצהבתלא הצהעלפתה

and they devastated the throne of David
in the pride of their change
רוכלו כסא דוד בחלפהם הזד
and they terminated the throne of David
in their audacious coup d'etat

The Greek ἀλαλάγματος "shouting" of mss 260 (149, 471, 606, and 3004) and the Syriac מבים "of their change" cannot be translations of each other, although ἀλλάγματος "change," found in the other manuscripts, could (1) be the source of the Syriac, or (2) be a translation of the Syriac, or (3) be an independent translation of a shared Vorlage. If the Greek and Syriac both come from a Hebrew Vorlage, the Hebrew root could well have been לאוד, the cognate of Syriac "to change." If so, there may be particularly strong "the 'Calif,' خلف "the 'Calif,' i.e., the successor" (BDB, 322, Lane, 1865, 792-799). In light of Jastrow's (1950, 472) citation of חלף and חלוף as synonyms of חחת as synonyms of "in place of, instead," the stem could also have been in the Vorlage of 17:6a, replacing החת "instead," which would have provided for enhanced paronomasia in Hebrew. The reconstructed Vorlage follows the Syriac text and the Greek texts having ἀλλάγματος "(ex)changing," over against ἀλαλάγματος "shouting," which contextually is best rendered coup d'etat.

17:8b (G), 17:10b (S)

 $\underline{\epsilon}$ ύρ ϵ θηναι αὐτοῖς κατὰ τὰ ἔργα αὐτῶν it <u>happened</u> to them according to their actions

صهیمت مادر ۱ ساز ۱ ماهیمان

and it will be found to them according to their works

כמעלליהם יגמל עליהם

it will be dealt out to them according to their works

The Greek infinitive ϵ ὑρ ϵ θῆναι, rendered by Wright (1985, 666) as "it happened," and the Syriac imperfect "and it will and it will as "it happened," and it will be found" cannot be accurate translations of each other, but each could be a translation of a Hebrew Vorlage having the stem ↑ "to encounter, to be opportune, to meet" or חללם "to assign, to apportion" or קרה/קרא "to befall, to encounter, to meet." In light of synonymous parallelism κατὰ τὰ ἁμαρτήματα αὐτῶν ... κατὰ τὰ ἔργα αὐτῶν, one expects a synonym of ἀποδώσεις "you rewarded" to appear in 17:8b. Stein (1969: 457) used שלם "you will recompense" in his translation of 17:8b. If this were the original verb in 17:8a, גמל "to recompense, to deal out to" might well be the synonymous parallel in 17:8b. Appropriate parallels of על used with על can be found in Psalm 13:6, 116:7, 119:17 and 142:8. Although here one cannot be certain what the exact Hebrew was, the difference between the Greek and the Syriac, is probably due to the semantic range of the original Hebrew. The معنف "may you (not) repay" in ms 16hl* instead of העם "may you (not) have mercy," in 17:11 (S) appears to be a misplaced variant for arbah for 17:10b (S), cited above, which equals the גמל in the reconstructed Vorlage and supports the use of this word as the synonymous parallel.

17:9b (G), 17:11b (S)

The Greek οὐκ ἀφῆκεν "he did not let go" and the Syriac κλο "you will not leave," aside from the difference of

Mss 253, 336, 655, 659, and 769 have the infinitive, but all other manuscripts read the optative $\epsilon \dot{\nu} \rho \epsilon \theta \epsilon \dot{\iota} \eta$.

person and form, ¹⁸⁷ could be translations of each other. But it is difficult to account for the differences in the tenses between the Greek and Syriac text if they are translations of each other. Therefore, it is more likely that $d\phi \hat{\eta} \kappa \epsilon \nu$ and $d\phi \hat{\eta} \kappa \epsilon \nu$ are translations of a Hebrew *Vorlage* having the verb meaning "to forgive," such as DD, DD, or DD "to forgive, to pardon."

Since the verb אולם takes the preposition (as in Psalm 25:11), the here could account for the difference between the Greek מעדשי היים "a single one of them" (במשם מו אולם מו "not even a single one of them" (בשחם אולם מו "not even a single one of them" (בשחם אולם מו "חסר מו "חסר מו "חסר מו אולם מו "חסר מו אולם מו "חסר מו אולם מו "חסר מו אולם מו "מו אולם מו הוא לאחר מו הוא לאח

17:11a (G), 17:13a (S)

<u>ἀπὸ ἐνοικούντων</u> αὐτήν
so that no one inhabited it (Wright)
from (ἀπὸ) those who were inhabiting it (Trafton)

مح و در درود حرس

no one was living in it [for lack of one living in it]

מאין יובש בה no one was living in it

Contrary to Wright's translation of $d\pi o$ as "so that no one...," the Greek text of this line does not have a negative element

_

The Greek text of 17:7–9 has *one* future indicative and *two* aorist indicatives, but the Syriac (17:5a–8a) has *two* imperfects (which, with the negative particle 8¹/₂, have the force of the imperative) and *one* imperative.

17:12a (G), 17:14a (S)

ἐν ὀργῆ κάλλους αὐτου in his <u>blameless</u> wrath (Wright's text) [the wrath of his <u>beauty</u>] (Wright's note)

האבים מלה <u>אלבים</u>

in the <u>beauty</u> of his wrath

בשׂרפת עברתו in the fire of his wrath

¹⁸⁸ See Trafton, 1985: 164–165, for a summary and bibliography on the three proposals.

"beauty" with שׁרֹבּת "burning." In light of the use "burning wrath" in IV Ezra (II Esdras) 16:68 and the expression בְּאַשׁ־עֶּבְרָתִי "the fire of his wrath" in Ezekiel 21:31, 36; 22:21, 31; and 38:19, the Syriac word order was probably original, and the noun of choice for "wrath" in reconstructing the *Vorlage* here is ערבה.

17:13 (G), 17:15 (S)

έν <u>ἀλλοτριότητ</u>ι ὁ ἐχθρὸς ἐποίησεν <u>ὑπερηφανίαν</u> καὶ ἡ καρδία αὐτοῦ ἀλλοτρία ἀπὸ τοῦ θεοῦ ἡμῶν

as the enemy (was) a <u>stranger</u> and his heart alien to our God, he acted arrogantly

دسدنه معهده و حلادده. ولده سدن هو مع محمه

the enemy <u>was boasting</u> in a <u>foreign manner</u> and his heart was foreign from our God

הצר בער בנכר ונכר־ם לבו אלהינו the enemy was brutal in a cunningly–evil manner and his heart was estranged from our God

Aside from their form, the Greek ὑπερηφανίαν "arrogantly, brutally, sumptuous" and the Syriac ישבאלבתה "boasting" could be translations of each other, but they may also be translations of a Vorlage in which there was a confusion of בערום "inhumane, brutal" (= ὑπερηφανίαν) and הה "boastful" (= ישבאלבתה). "This suggestion has the support of Ezekiel 31:31 and 21:36, which collocates "בַּעַרִים אֲנָשִׁים "the fire of my wrath" and בַּעַרִים אָנָשִׁים "brutal men." Although Delitzsch (1920: 120, § 131) listed examples of the confusion of ש and ה (and the reverse confusion of π and ש), he cited no examples of the confusion of τ and π. The confusion of π and π.

¹⁸⁹ Metathetic errors have been noted above in the discussions on 2:27, 4:18, 12:3b14:6, and below on 18:2a. See also Delitzsch, 1920: 118, § 129°.

¹⁹⁰ Compare Kuhn (1937: 61) who proposed a *Vorlage* having the stem יוֹר "to boil up, to seethe," and Begrich (1939: 142–143) who suggested that the original Hebrew was שנשה גאוה גאוה נאור "acted arrogantly."

Could have been another example of an aural error (see, above, the discussion on 17:6a). The context supports the Greek text with ὑπερηφανίαν / ὑπερηφανίαν being understood as "brutal."

The Greek $d\lambda\lambda o\tau\rho(a)$ "alien" and the Syriac ***\delta i or**" in a foreign manner" could be translations of each other, or they could be comparable translations of a *Vorlage* with the stem "DI" "foreign." If the root were "DI, 192 the poet may have intended a *double entendre* since "DI stem I means "to recognize" and stem II means "to be alien" (BDB, 648). The semantic range of the Arabic cognate of stem II is noteworthy. The Arabic "cunning" is said of a man who is "intelligent and evil." Lane (1893, 2850) cited the Qur'an, Sura 18:73, "Verily, thou has done a bad, an evil, an abominable, or a foul thing (1,52)." "193

17:14a (G), 17:16a (S)

καὶ πάντα ἐποίησεν ἐν Ιερουσαλημ
So he did <u>in</u> Jerusalem all the things
חבל אות בבדה אום הבלגות מחל and Jerusalem did everything
וכל־אשר עשה בירושלים
and all that he did in Jerusalem

¹⁹¹ Compare Frankenberg's (1896: 95) suggestion for the *Vorlage* having בזדון "in pride" and Gray's (1913, 648) proposal for a *Vorlage* having "like an alien" for בנכרי.

The nuances of stem II in Arabic are of interest. نکر can mean "to be ignorant of, to be unacquainted with, to disavow, to deny" (Hava, 1915: 797). In stem IV (= $hiph^c \hat{\imath}l$) it has the meaning "to deny, to disawn, to disacknowledge" (Lane, 2849). In the Qur'an, Sura 16:85 states, "they confess . . . the favor of God; then they deny it (تنكرونها)." If Γ had a similar nuance, it would give additional support to the interpretation that the enemy was the Hasmoneans who have disavowed and denied the faith, despite their confessions.

¹⁹³ Two of the angels of death are Munkar (منكر) and Nakir (نكير). On the use of Hebrew يرتا "calamity," see Job 31:3 and Obadiah 12.

The Syriac and the Greek differ in that in Syriac "Jerusalem" is the subject of the verb while the Greek has $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ Ierovaraham (the Syriac text lacks any equivalent for the $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$) "in Jerusalem." However, this can hardly be explained as Kuhn (1937: 62–63) proposed, as an instance where the Syriac translator found the text "unverständlich" and stumbled over a preposition. As noted with reference to Psalm 17:8–13 (S 17:10–15), the Syriac and the Greek had difficulty in understanding the *Vorlage*, but they usually got the preposition Ξ straight. It is also unlikely that the Syriac and Greek texts are translations of each other.

The difference, as to whether or not "Jerusalem" was the subject of the verb was probably due to a confusion of a ה and a ה in the Vorlage, i.e., whether the verb was ששה "he did" or השש" "she did". The Greek Vorlage, no doubt, had a third masculine singular became the subject; the Syriac read הששה as third feminine singular and, consequently, "Jerusalem" became the subject. If the Syriac Vorlage had a ה preposition prefixed to הרושלים, the ב could easily have been read as an emphatic which went untranslated. In this context the Greek best represents the Vorlage and the reconstruction above follows the Greek text.

17:15a (G), 17:17a (S)

καὶ ἐπεκρατοῦσαν αὐτῶν οἱ νἱοὶ τῆς διαθήκης ἐν μέσω ἐθνῶν συμμίκτων and the children of the covenant (living) among the gentile rabble adopted these (practices)

ماسته حدی ساسلی دیمه میره دینه جدی ساسلی

and the sons of the covenant <u>were holding them</u> among mixed nations

¹⁹⁴ On the emphatic ⊃ see Dahood and Penar (1970: 402–405).

¹⁹⁵ Trafton (1985: 166) has the Syriac here as rather than aam.

וגברו בהם בני ברית בתוך רב הגוים and the sons of the covenant in the midst of the mix of the gentiles maintained them

The Greek ἐπεκρατοῦσαν "maintained" and the Syriac "holding, adhering to, maintaining" could be translations of each other, or they could be accurate translations of a shared Vorlage. Hatch and Redpath (1954: 523) lists six words translated by ἐπικρατέω, including אוק, both meaning "to strengthen." In light of Daniel 9:27, where גבר is used with ברית with the sense of "confirming a covenant" (BDB, 149; Montgomery, 1927: 385), גבר is more likely to have been in the *Vorlage* than ¬¬¬. The behavior referred to in Psalm 106:35, בגוֹים וַיִּלֹמִד מַעֲשִׁיהָם "they mingled with the nations and learned to do as they did," corresponds to the behavior described in this verse. Wright's (1985: 666) rendering $\dot{\epsilon}$ θνῶν συμμίκτων as "gentile rabble" is a contextually based pejorative, rather than a strictly literal, translation. However, his parenthetical "(practices)" is contextually correct and indirectly reflects the phrase "all the things the gentiles do for their gods" of the preceding verse. The reconstructed Vorlage follows closely the Greek and Syriac texts which approximate each other.

17:15c (G), 17:17b (S)

οὐκ ην ἐν αὐτοῖς ὁ ποιῶν . . . ἔλεος καὶ ἀλήθειαν no one among them . . . acted . . . (with) mercy or truth

and there was not among them anyone
who was doing mercy and {truth}

ולא היה בהם עשה חסד ואמת... and there was not among them one who was doing mercy and truth

¹⁹⁶ The reconstructed *Vorlage* of this line follows Stein (1969: 458).

The Greek and Syriac texts of this line are essentially the same, but Syriac ms 16hl reads "and we were doing truth." The difference between "its and "its a reflects a confusion of and and i. i.e., a misreading of the plural noun "its as "its a, the first person plural verb. The Greek text and the context argues against the reading of 16hl. The reconstructed Vorlage has followed the Greek text and the other Syriac manuscripts.

17:16 (G), 17:18b (S)

ώς στρουθία έξεπετάσθησαν ἀπὸ κοίτης αὐτῶν as sparrows fled from their nest

and they flew like sparrows who fly from their nest

כצפרים דאיו ממעונם like sparrows they flew from their nest

The Syriac text has a doublet. The initial מבּשׁבּם "they flew" corresponds to the Greek $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\epsilon\pi\epsilon\tau\dot{\alpha}\sigma\theta\eta\sigma\alpha\nu$ "they fled." The Greek suggests that the Vorlage had the root אווי הוא in the $hiph^e\hat{\imath}l$ meaning "to take wing," as in Job 39:26 "אַבֶּר־נֵץ" "the hawk soars." But the doublet favors the stem אווי הארים, wherein the original "אין" "they flew" was read as אווי הארים (באים) "flying ones," reflecting a confusion of אווי מול ביים ביים וויאס הארים אווי אווי הארים וויאס הארים אווי אווי הארים וויאס הארים אווי הארים וויאס הארים וויא

17:17a (G), 17:19a (S)

ἐπλανῶντο ἐν ἐρήμοις <u>σωθῆναι ψυχὰς αὐτῶν</u> ἀπὸ κακου (they became) refugees in the wilderness <u>to save their lives</u> from evil

¹⁹⁷ Wright's (1985: 666) "(they) fled" for $\dot{\epsilon}\xi\epsilon$ πετάσθησαν "they flew, they stretch forth, they expanded (sails)" (Liddell and Scott, 516) is strange unless it is a misprint for "flew" under the influence of the "fled" of the previous line.

¹⁹⁸ On the confusion of γ and \square see Delitzsch, 1920: 121, § 132°, 132f.

הלבבה מחו, במובוא הלצפות נפצמות אך במצא

and they were wandering in the desert in order to save their soul from evil תעו במדבר להושע נפשיהם מרעה they wandered in the wilderness to save their souls from evil

The Greek passive verb σωθῆναι "they might be saved" (which Wright translated as active, "to save") and the Syriac active infinitive באב are not accurate translations of each other. Kuhn's (1937: 15–16, 66) suggestion that the Hebrew Vorlage had the hiph "îl infinitive מל "to save" (= מַלְהַמְלֵיל, or with scriptio plena לְּהַמְלֵיל), which the Greek translator read as the niph al מל "to be saved," is quite convincing. However, the root need not to have been מל הוא for the same ambiguity would have occurred with niph al and hiph îl of "to save."

The Syriac Vorlage may have had משתם (scriptio defectiva) for "their souls," in which case the Syriac misread instead of נפשתם. The reconstructed Vorlage has adopted the active infinitive of the Syriac and the plural $\psi \nu \chi \dot{\alpha} \varsigma = \alpha \dot{\nu} \tau \hat{\omega} \nu$ "their souls / their lives" of the Greek.

17:17b (G), 17:19b (S)

καὶ τίμιον ἐν ὀφθαλμοῖς παροικίας ψυχὴ σεσφσμένη ἐξ αὐτῶν the life of even one who was saved from them was precious in the eyes of the exiles

המשלא מוסף בשיחים המקבישה בישים במקבישה מישים בישים

and the sojourning of the soul which was saved from them was precious in their eyes

ויקר בעיני המגורים נפשׁ מושׁע מהם and precious in the eyes of the [refugees] wandering [in the desert] (was) the person who had been saved from them [i.e., the mixed gentiles]

The Greek and Syriac texts have words in this poetic line which correspond to each other, but they have a very different syntax, making it impossible for them to be an accurate translation of each other. But both texts could go back to a Hebrew Vorlage which could have been read in different ways. Kuhn (1937: 16, 67) proposed that the Hebrew Vorlage of the Syriac was ויקר בעיניהם מגורי נפש , whereas the Hebrew Vorlage behind the Greek text must have been ויקר בעיני המגורים נפשׁ. The difference between the two texts was the position of the בה" in the middle of the phrase. It was either affixed to the prefixed noun בעיני meaning "in their eyes" (= Syriac) or it was prefixed to the following bound noun, מגורי meaning "the ones sojourning" (= Greek), in which case the extra \(\sigma\) of the became the suffix, changing הםמגורים to המגורים. Begrich's (1939: 148–149) reservations about the equation of παροικίας with שנורים were unfounded in light of the fact that Hatch and Redpath (1954: 1071) listed twelve examples of πάροικος having been used to translate "sojourner, or "ito sojourn."

Kuhn's proposal may not be *absolutely* correct, ¹⁹⁹ but to challenge it, as did Trafton, in favor of speculative possible adjustments by a Syriac paraphraser's unspecified misreadings of the Greek text—while asserting, at the same time, that the Syriac text could reflect accurately a Hebrew *Vorlage*—seems contradictory and unnecessarily cautious. ²⁰⁰

 $^{^{200}\,}$ Trafton's (1985: 168–169) reservations about Kuhn's ideas are surprisingly speculative. He noted:

But Kuhn's argument is not absolutely convincing either. He was correct in pointing out numerous, if indeed minor, differences between Sy and Gk in this

The reconstructed Vorlage, above, follows Kuhn's analysis, but not his conclusion. He thought that the Syriac reading was correct, but this writer finds the Greek reading to be preferable since the Syriac syntax is awkward and atypical in producing the expression "the sojourning of the soul." The collocation of hand and in this manner is unattested elsewhere. The Greek text reflects a more traditional syntax with its disassociating, through case endings, $\pi\alpha\rhooi\kappa(\alpha\varsigma)$ from $\psi\nu\chi\eta$, even though they are adjacent to each other in the poetic line.

17:20a (G), 17:21b (S)

καὶ <u>λαοῦ</u> ἐλαχίστου to the commonest <u>of the people</u> (Wright) and of the least <u>people</u> (Trafton)

מתגדמבע אבאבם to their least ones

עד צעריהם

to their least ones

The λαοῦ "people" of the Greek text and the κατως "and to" of the Syriac text cannot be translations of each other. Begrich (1939: 149) suspected that the Syriac translator, using the Greek text, translated και λαοῦ as κατως "and of the people" which was subsequently contextually corrupted to κατως "and to." Trafton (1985: 169) followed Begrich and suggested that the corruptions were intentionally done by the Syriac translator, who (apparently for this word or verse) used the Greek text as the basis of his translation.

The above reconstructed *Vorlage* follows Gray (1913: 626) in recognizing a misreading of a Hebrew *Vorlage* in which $\neg U(1)$ was read by the Greek translator as $\square U(1)$. Delitzsch (1920, *passim*, especially 119, § 131) listed numerous places where \square and \square were

line, and his solution is plausible. But it is also possible that the Sy translator misread part of Gk and then made other adjustments accordingly, or simply that the Sy translator paraphrased Gk. Finally, both Sy and Gk make sense in the context; thus, either could reflect the original Hebrew.

17:22a (G), 17:24b (S)

ἄρχοντας <u>ἀδίκους</u> the unrighteous rulers

בארא דבם אידי the rulers <u>of lawlessness</u> שליטים שגים sinful rulers

The differences between the Syriac אבא הבא "rulers who are lawless" of ms 10hl and אביה "rulers of lawlessness" of ms 16hl, as well as the Greek מאַרְטִידמּץ מֹמּנֹתְטֵּל "lawless rulers," are probably due to the position of a מוֹ in the Vorlage. The Greek text and Syriac ms 10hl evidently read מֹלִיטֵי (i.e., the plural noun followed by its appositional plural modifier, literally, "rulers, sinful ones." The Syriac ms 16hl evidently read מֹלִיטֵי מִשְׁנִים מֹשׁנִים of lawlessness," i.e., the construct plural noun followed by the nomen rectum. The reconstructed Vorlage follows the Greek and Syriac ms 10hl.

17:22b (G), 17:25a (S)

καθαρίσαι, Ιερουσαλημ to purge Jerusalem

<u>בתביש קאונית שיהיהיו</u>

that he might purify Jerusalem

יטהר ירושלם

that he [the son of David] might purify Jerusalem

The Greek infinitive καθαρίσαι "to purge" and the Syriac imperfect "that he might purge her" cannot be accurate translations of each other even though both use their respective

_

²⁰¹ The Greek καθαρίσαι in Rahlf's text, followed by Wright, is an emendation of καθάρισον.

words meaning "to purge." The simple Syriac imperfect (with its prefixed relative τ and the anticipatory suffix τ) does not support the statement of Kuhn (1937: 69): "καθάρισον ist Korruptel in $\mathfrak G$ für ursprüngliches καθαρίσαι (Inf. Aor.), wie schon Geiger erkannte und wie es jetzt $\mathfrak S$ bestätigt." The Syriac can only confirm that the *Vorlage* did not have an imperative, even though καθάρισον could be parsed as (1) a second singular imperative (Trafton, 1985:171; and was so recognized by Gray, 1913: 649), or (2) a second singular aorist imperfect active. It appears that the Greek translator read a pi^cel infinitive $\neg \exists b$, whereas the Syriac translator read the imperfect $\exists b$ reflecting the confusion of b and b and b The reconstructed b or b all b reflecting the Syriac text, noting that Trafton correctly used the modal "that he might purify" for the Syriac imperfect.

17:25a (G), 17:27b (S)

פֿע <u>ἀπειλῆ</u> αὐτου at his <u>warning</u>

<u>בראשת</u>
at his <u>rebuke</u>

במזהירו

at his warning

The Greek ἀπειλη "warning" and the Syriac שלא "rebuke" are not literal translations of each other. The broad semantic range of ἀπειλή "to promise, to threaten, to boast, to brag" (Liddell and Scott, 183–183) and the narrow semantic range of $\[\]$ (J. Payne Smith, 1903: 201, 203) "to reprove, to rebuke, to chide" do not overlap to include both ideas of "warning" and "rebuke." But ἀπειλη and $\[\]$ stem II (attested in the $\[\]$ high and $\[\]$ northing "to instruct, to teach, to warn, to admonish." In contrast to Stein (1969: 459) who used the stem $\[\]$ "rebuke," (as did Franz Delitzsch [n. d., $\[\]$ ad $\[\]$ loc.

²⁰² On the confusion of $\stackrel{\checkmark}{\triangleright}$ and $\stackrel{\checkmark}{\triangleright}$, see Delitzsch 192: 115 § 119^a.

17:27b), the reconstructed *Vorlage* uses ideas expressed by the Greek and the Syriac.

17:26a (G), 17:28a (S)

οὖ ἀφηγήσεται ἐν δικαιοσύνη whom he will lead in righteousness

Khanit - imahrii

which will boast in righteousness

אשר ינהל בצדקה

whom he will lead in righteousness

The Greek ἀφηγήσεται "he will lead" and the Syriac זמבאטבים "he will boast" cannot be translations of each other. Kuhn (1937: 16–17, 70) was on target with his suggestion that in reading the Vorlage there was a confusion of the root הלל "to lead" and the root הלל , which in the qal and the $hiph^cil$ means "to boast." Kuhn opted for a $hithpa^cel$ "תהלל but in light of Psalm 75:5, where the qal of is attested with one לתהלו (להלו) "do not be boastful"), the Vorlage could have been the pi^cel "tied" (the qal, with the dassimilated, is unattested). In this case, the Syriac translator misread, or his Vorlage had, "הל לחלם". The reconstructed Vorlage follows the Greek text which is contextually appropriate.

17:29a (G), 17:31b (S)

κρινεῖ $\underline{\lambda ao \dot{v}_S}$ καὶ έθνη he will judge peoples and nations

<u>אבער</u> מאבע בערא <u>hecause</u> he judges nations and cities

כי ידין עמים וגוים

surely, he will judge the peoples and the nations

 $^{^{203}}$ On the forms of צ"ע verbs see GKC, 177, § $67^{\rm f-g}$.

The Syriac \mathbf{T} $\mathbf{\Delta}$ "because" has no corresponding particle in the Greek text. The extended debate, as to whether or not \mathbf{T} is derived from a misreading of $\tilde{\epsilon}\tau\iota$ (in 17:28) as the particle $\tilde{\delta}\tau\iota$, has been summarized by Trafton (1985: 173–175). Surprisingly, no one has suggested that the Greek text could have been $\tilde{\epsilon}\tau\iota$ $\tilde{\delta}\tau\iota$, and that the $\tilde{\delta}\tau\iota$ was dropped from the Greek due to haplography. On the other hand, the Syriac \mathbf{T} $\mathbf{\Delta}$ suggests that the Hebrew *Vorlage* had an initial emphatic \mathbf{D} or \mathbf{D} , which was misread as the preposition. In either case, the force of the emphatic \mathbf{D} in the original Hebrew went unrecognized by the Syriac and Greek translators. The hint of its presence survives only in \mathbf{T} \mathbf{D} , which is unnecessary as a causal particle.

The Syriac אסאס, "cities" does not translate the Greek $\lambda\alpha$ ους or ἔθνη. A Hebrew *Vorlage* with "peoples" (an alternative spelling of עמים as in Isaiah 2:3 and Nehemiah 9:22) was misread by the Syriac translator as ערים "cities." The reconstructed *Vorlage* restores the emphatic and follows the Greek collocation of "nations and peoples."

17:30a (G), 17:32a (S)

καὶ $\frac{\xi}{\xi}$ ει λαοὺς $\frac{\xi}{\xi}$ θνῶν and he will have gentile nations

עאסד <u>לא</u> איד עידי ע

and <u>he will possess</u> a nation <u>from</u> the nations ויירש עמים גוים

and he will possess gentile peoples

The Greek $\xi \xi \in \mathfrak{t}$ "he will have" and the Syriac "he will possess" could be translations of each other, but the absence of $d\pi \delta$ from the Greek text corresponding to the Syriac "from" suggests that the translations are derived from a Hebrew *Vorlage* having the

verb ב"ר" (which equals the תב" "to possess") which was misread by the Greek translator as the particle "" "being, having."

The preposition probably comes from a *Vorlage* which had מים גוים "peoples, gentile (ones)." However, it was read by the Syriac translator as עמים מגוים "the peoples from the gentiles." The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek and has no preposition equivalent to the Syriac.

17:30b (G), 17:32b (S)

καὶ τὸν κύριον <u>δοξάσει</u> ἐν ἐπισήμῳ πάσης τῆς γῆς and <u>he will glorify</u> the Lord in <u>(a place) prominent</u> (above) the whole earth

מבדע הבשם אברא בבות אדבים and they will glorify the Lord openly in all the land יכבדו יהוה דרר בכל הארץ

they will glorify Yahweh freely in all the earth

The Syriac אראב "publicly" and the Greek ἐν ἐπισήμω "in prominence" cannot be accurate translations of each other. However, they may be translations of a Hebrew Vorlage which had the noun אונר "liberty," used as an adverbial accusative meaning "freely, openly, publicly," which the Greek translator misread as "splendor, honor." A similar confusion of אונר הדר "splendor" according to Hoffmann (ZAW 1882, 103, cited in BDB 214), occurs in Micah 2:9, אוֹנְלְיהָ הַשְּלֵעְ עַלְלֵיהָ הַשְּׁלֵעְ עָבִי הְּנְרָשׁוֹן מָבֵּית הַשְּׁנְנִיהָ בְּעַל עַלְלֵיהָ הִקְּהָר יְעִוֹלְם, "the women of my people you drive out from their pleasant houses; from their young children you take freedom for ever" (RSV, "... my glory forever"). 206

²⁰⁵ For other examples of a construct chain with an intervening preposition see the discussions on 6:3a and 16:1b.

The difference between the Greek δοξάσει"he will glorify" and the Syriac ידרוב "they will glorify" can readily be accounted for by a *Vorlage* having "לבדו יהוה "they will glorify Yahweh," in which the final r of יהוה '. The reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Syriac text at this point.

The Greek remains problematic as Gray (1913: 650) indicated by his inserting "(?)" in his translation and Wright's (1985: 667) inserting "(a place)" and "(above)" in his translation. Here is an example of the importance of the Syriac text as a possible corrective to the Greek text which needs to be recognized by those who work with the theology of the Psalms of Solomon. The haplography of a single letter can transform a statement of universalism ("they [the nations which serve the son of David] will glorify Yahweh freely in all the earth") into a narrow, nationalistic statement ("he [the son of David] will glorify Yahweh freely in all the earth").

17:31b (G), 17:34b (S)

τοὺς ἐξησθενηκότας νίοὺς αὐτῆς
her children who <u>had been driven out</u> (Wright)
her sons who <u>had fainted</u> (Trafton)

מבניה. מנה מנה שוא to her sons who were scattered from her

לבניה נורים

to her sons, the ones scattered

The Greek ἐξησθενηκότας "who were faint" and the Syriac מלת השלאת" "those who were scattered" cannot be translations of each other. For this participle, Wright (1985: 667) apparently translated the Syriac verb rather than the Greek. Kuhn (1937: 17, 72–73) proposed a Hebrew Vorlage with המפגרים "the ones scattered" which became corrupted to "המפגרים" "the ones who became faint." Begrich (1939: 146) argued against Kuhn, noting that a corruption of and a is not likely. Delitzsch (1920, passim) listed numerous examples of the being confused with ¬, ¬, ¬, and ¬, but he

cited no example of the confusion of 7 and 2, which lends support to Begrich's reservations.

In light of Isaiah 49:22, "and they shall bring your sons in their bosom, and your daughters shall be carried on their shoulders" (direct object) and Isaiah 60:4 and 9, "and your daughters shall be carried in the arms... to bring your sons from far, their silver and gold with them" (indirect object), $\upsilon io \upsilon \varsigma \alpha \upsilon \tau \eta \varsigma$ "her [Jerusalem's] sons" could be either the direct object or the indirect object. The Greek understood it to be the former ("to bring as gifts her children"), and the Syriac took it to be the latter ("they bring gifts to her sons"). The reconstructed *Vorlage* has followed the Syriac text, making "her sons" the recipients of gifts which were carried.

17:32c (G), 17:36c (S)

καὶ βασιλεὺς αὐτῶν χριστὸς κυρίος and their king shall be the Lord Messiah

טבקכשט בזיא מויא

and their king (will be) the Lord Messiah

ומלכם משיח אדון

and their king (will be) an anointed lord

In much the same manner in which נְגֶּד יְהֹנֶה מְשִׁיחוֹ in I Samuel 16:6 (LXX ἐνώπιον κυρίου χριστὸς) was interpreted to mean the "Lord's anointed is before him" (KJV, RSV), the χριστὸς κυρίος

 $^{^{207}}$ On the confusion of 1 with 7 and 7 with 1, see Delitzsch, 1920, 113 $\S112^c$ and 111 \S 109 b .

in this poetic line has generally, but incorrectly, been emended to χριστὸς κυρίου and considered to be the equivalent of משיח יהוה. Gray (1913: 650) translated it as "the anointed of the Lord"; and Wellhausen (1924: 162) similarly rendered it "der Gesalbte des Herrn"; and the emendation appeared in Rahlf's text (1935, 488). However, the κυρίος οf χριστὸς κυρίος" is not a reference to הוה but to the Judean king introduced in 17:21, "raise up for them their king, the son of David" and referred to as "lord" in 17:34.²⁰⁸

²⁰⁸ The collocation of "O Lord," "their king," and "O God" in 17:21 (Syriac 17:23) provides the clue for understanding the use of "Lord" in all of 17:20–51. Reference to "the king" in 17:20 is clearly the earthly ruler (seemingly the Hasmoneans who exchanged the priest's turban for the king's crown). The divine "Lord" and "King" (= ¬¬¬) is referred to in the following verses:

Greek 21a	(Syriac 23a)	"O Lord"
Greek 21b	(Syriac 23b)	"O God"
Greek 26b	(Syriac 28a)	"the Lord their (Syriac = 'his') God"
Greek 30a	(Syriac 32b)	"the Lord"
Greek 31a	(Syriac 35a)	"with which God"
Greek 31b	(Syriac 35b)	"by God"
Greek 34a	(Syriac 38a)	"for the Lord (Syriac + 'himself') is his king"
Greek 34b	(Syriac 38b)	"his God"
Greek 37a	(Syriac 42a)	"his God"
Greek 37b		"for God"
Greek 38	(Syriac 43)	"of the Lord"
Greek 39	(Syriac 44a)	"in the Lord" (Syriac " the Lord")
Greek 40a	(Syriac 44b)	"fear of (Syriac + 'his') God"
Greek 40b	(Syriac 45a)	"of the Lord"
Greek 42a		"which God knew"
Greek 44		"which God will"
Greek 45		"may God"
Greek 46	(Syriac 51b)	"the Lord (Greek + 'Himself')"

The earthly "lord" or "king" is the antecedent of the explicit / implicit "he / him" in 17:21–44 (Syriac 17:23–50); but in 17:45 (Syriac 17:51) the antecedent of the third person singular pronouns is God. In 17:45–46 (Syriac 17:51) the noun "Lord" is in synonymous parallelism with "God," and the third person singular pronouns are a reference to God. In contrast, the "an anointed lord" here in 17:32c (Syriac 17:36b) is clearly not a reference to אור ביו שלים "the anointer" — but to the שלים "the anointed."

The Syriac phrase, κατως, consists of two nouns in the emphatic state, namely, "the anointed" and its appositional modifier, "the lord." The syntax differs from the similar phrase κατως in Lamentations 4:20, which has both nouns in the emphatic state, but the relative pronoun stands between them, requiring the meaning to be "the anointed of the Lord." It is noteworthy that the definite article is not attested with either χριστὸς οr κυρίος. ²⁰⁹

Hann (1982: 138–139, 176; 1985: 620–627) and Wright (1985: 667–668) were correct in accepting the χριστὸς κυρίος as it appears in the manuscripts, recognizing that it is analogous to the title βασιλεύς κυρίος given to Herod the Great and Herod Agrippa. השׁלוֹנ "an anointed lord" appears in the reconstructed Vorlage above, in contrast to Frankenberg's (1896: 84) משׁיח־יהוה (1969: 459) משׁיח־יהוה Delitzsch's (n. d., ad loc. 17:36b) and Stein's (1969: 459) מְּשִׁיחַ יִי, all of which need to be translated "their king, the anointed of Yahweh."²¹⁰

17:33b (G), 17:37b (S)

καὶ <u>πολλοῖς λαοῖς</u> οὐ <u>συνάξει ἐλπίδας</u> (Rahlf) καὶ πολλοῖς οὐ συνάξει ἐλπίδας (Wright)

nor will he build up hope in a multitude (Wright) and to many things he will not gather hope (Trafton)

ת געבו א בל אין מערא אב and he will not trust in many
ולא ישבר שבר אל רבים

and he will not place his hope upon the generals

ארון However, the absence of the definite article is not decisive for reading ארון (over against הארון) as "lord" rather than "the Lord." In Exodus 23:17, for example, the phrase אֶל־פְּנֵי הָאָרֹן יְהוָה, "before the Lord Yahweh" was paraphrased in the LXX as ἐνώπιον κυρίου τοῦ θεοῦ σου, "before (the) Lord the God of you."

Ordinarily, the attributive modifier (which, in this case, is שׁלָּים) follows the noun (which, in this case, is אַדרוֹן). But Gesenius (GKC § 132^b) has noted examples where the adjectival attribute stands appositionally before its substantive for emphasis. Note Joosten's study (1993) on the "ante-position" of the attributive adjective.

The Greek συνάξει ἐλπίδας "he will gather hope" and the Syriac the will hope" are not literal translations of each other, though they express a similar idea. Likewise, Wright's (1985: 668) translation of πολλοῖς as "multitude" is not equivalent to Trafton's (1985: 179) translation of πολλοῖς as "many things," for "multitude" permits the reference to be to people (as though Wright was drawing on Rahlf's [1935, 488] addition of λαοῖς to the text), whereas "many things" precludes πολλοῖς from referring to people.

The contextually enigmatic π ολλοῖς οὐ συνάξει ἐλ π ίδας has given rise to a number of emendations of the Greek text, well summarized in Trafton (1985: 178–179), including the following proposed "corrections" seeking to make sense of this poetic line within the context of verses 32–40:

```
πολλοῖς = (τ)
                            "archers"
                                              Geiger (1871: 159)
ἐλιπίδας = άσπιδας
                           "shields"
                                              Hilgenfeld (1886,
                                              160; 1871, 413)
\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\iota\pi\dot{\epsilon}\delta\alpha\varsigma = \ddot{\alpha}\lambda\lambda\iota\varsigma
                                              Hilgenfeld
                            "others"
πολλοῖς = παλτοῖς
                           "spears"
                                              Hilgenfeld
πολλοίς = ὅπλοις
                            "weapons"
                                              Hilgenfeld
πολλοῖς = πλοίοις
                            "by ships"
                                              Ryle and James
                                              (1891: 142-144)
\sigmaטעמ\xi \epsilonו = מְקַוָּה
                            "hoping"
                                              Ryle and James
\dot{\epsilon}א\piוֹל\alphaS = מקוה
                            "hope"
                                              Ryle and James
πολλοίς = πολλοίς
                            "many people" von Gephardt
               λαοίς
                                              (1895, 187)
                                              Kittel (1900, 147)
πολλοῖς = σίστος)
                            "Menge"
πολλοῖς = πολλούς
                                              Viteau (1911, 362-363)
                            "many"
```

Of all these proposals, only the suggestions of Geiger and Kittel for a *Vorlage* having לרבים "*Menge*, archers" lead to a reasonable interpretation of the poetic line. Their reconstruction to was correct, but Geiger and Kittel failed to recognize a more appropriate definition of \Box . Although \Box could be from \Box stem II "to shoot (arrows)" or from \Box stem I "much, many (either quantitative or qualitative)," \Box probably had the special nuance

found in the following passages in which コフ is a synonym for つい "officer":

(1) Jeremiah 39:3, where כו occurs twice in names/titles of the officers (שֶׂרי):

וַיָּבֹאוּ כּל שָׁבִי מֶלֶךְ־בָּבֶל וַיִּשְׁבוּ בְּשַׁעַר הַתְּוֶךְ וַיִּשְׁבוּ בְּשַׁעַר הַתְּוֶךְ וַבִּיסְרִיס וַרְגַל שׁר־אֶצֶר רַב־מָג וַכְל־שָׁאָרִית שַׂרִי מֵלֶךְ בַּבַל

"all the *princes* of the king of Babylon came and sat in the middle gate:

Nergalsharezer, Samgarnebo, Sarsechim the Rabsaris, Nergalsharezer the Rabmag, with all the rest of the officers of the king of Babylon."

(The LXX [46:3 = MT 39:3] translates שַׁרֵי מֶּלֶךְ בְּבֶּל as ἡγεμόνες βασιλέως Βαβυλῶνος.)

(2) Jeremiah 39:13, where אור סכנעד four times, three times as a name component and once in the phrase בָּי מֶלֶדְ־בָּבֶל "chief officers of the king of Babylon":²¹¹

וַיִּשְׁלַח נְבוּזַרְאֶדָן רַב־טַבָּחִים וּנְבוּשַׁזְבָּן רַב־סָרִיס וְנֵרְגַל שַׁר־אֶצֶר רַב־מָג וְכֹל רַבֵּי מֶלֶךְ־בָּבֶל

"So Nebuzaradan the *captain* of the guard, Nebushazban the *Rabsaris*, Nergalsharezer, *Rabmag*, and all the chief *officers* of the king of Babylon sent. . . ."

The LXX is lacking this part of Jeremiah, but in light of the translation of אָבֶּי בָּבֶּל as ἡγεμόνες βασιλέως Βαβυλῶνος "officers of the king of Babylon," one would expect the same translation for the synonymous בַּבֵּי בֶּבֶּל.

²¹¹ These officers equal the שַׁרֵי מֵלֶךְ בָּבֵל in 39:3.

(3) Jeremiah 41:1, where וְרֵבֵּי הַמֶּלֶן appears as a synonym for שָׂרֵי

בָּא יִשְׁמָעֵאל בֶּן־נְתַנְיָה בֶן־אֱלִישְׁמָע מִזֶּרַע הַמְּלוּכָה וָרַבֵּי הַמֵּלֶךְ וַעֲשָׂרָה אָנָשִׁים אָתוֹ

"Ishmael the son of Nethaniah, son of Elishama, of the royal family, *one of the chief officers of the king*, came with ten men "

Unfortunately the Greek text lost the equivalent phrase for וְהַבֶּי (or had a different Hebrew *Vorlage* lacking the phrase).

The Syriac has only "הרבב" "he will hope" corresponding to the Greek phrase συνάξει ἐλπίδας "he will bring about hope." This difference suggests that the poet probably used a *schema etymologicum*, similar to that used in Lamentations 1:8, הַשְּלֶם "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "Jerusalem sinned a sin." "13 The Syriac translator evidently" "14 The Syriac translator evidently" "15 The Syriac translator evidently" "15 The Syriac translator" "15 T

²¹² Note the use of בי in Esther 1:8, בּירֹבֵב בֵּיתוֹ, "the king had given orders to all the officials of his palace." In Jeremiah 41:1, "nobles, chiefs, princes" was the Peshitta's word of choice for the בַּבי.

²¹³ See GKC § 117^{p-r}.

simplified the poetic line by translating the verb without its cognate accusative.

17:34a (G), 17:38a (S)

 $\frac{\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_{S}}{\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}$ $\frac{\dot{\epsilon}\omega\nu\alpha\tau\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}{\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}$ $\frac{\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}{\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}$ $\frac{\dot{\epsilon}\omega\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}{\dot{\epsilon}_{O}}$ the hope of the power by the hope of God (Trafton)

The Greek and the Syriac texts have four corresponding lexical elements in this line, but their syntax is very different. The $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_S$. . . $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_0$ is matched by $\dot{\epsilon}$. . . $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_0$. . . $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_0$ is matched by $\dot{\epsilon}$. . . $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_0$. But the corresponding $\dot{\epsilon}$. . . $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}_0$ is matched by $\dot{\epsilon}$. But the Greek cases and the Syriac pronomial suffixes, preposition, and particle do not correspond. The translations of $\dot{\epsilon}$ 0 δυνατου differ. Wright made $\dot{\epsilon}$ δυνατου personal; Trafton made it impersonal. In order to make sense out of the line, Wright made the dative $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}$ 0 the direct object of the genitive $\dot{\epsilon}$ 0 δυνατου, and Trafton introduced the preposition "by" to accommodate the dative $\dot{\epsilon}\lambda\pi\dot{\epsilon}$ 0.

²¹⁴ Note Thomson's (1808, *ad loc.* [1960: 1208]) translation of Jeremiah 39:3 (LXX = MT), "and all the *generals* [italics added] of the king of Babylon entered and sat in the middle of the gate "

The third person singular suffixes \mathbf{m} and \mathbf{m} in the Syriac text are anticipatory suffixes, characteristic of Aramaic idiom. They would not have been in the Hebrew *Vorlage*. The balanced use of \mathbf{m} twice and \mathbf{m} three times in the reconstructed *Vorlage* seeks to restore what may have been the assonance in the original Hebrew.

17:36b (G), 17:41b (S)

by the strength of his word

The Greek ໄσχύι "strength" has no counterpart in the Syriac text, and the suffix σ of the Syriac has no equivalent in the Greek text. The reconstructed *Vorlage* conflates the two traditions; and the root "הב" "strength" was selected as the word of choice in restoring alliteration and a consonant cluster which could easily have led to haplography, namely, הבר" "the strength of his word." The Samaritan (mis)spelling of MT הבי" "your strength" in Deuteronomy 33:25 as "הב" ($\dot{\eta}$ ໄσχύς σου in the LXX and הביבי in Syriac), though it reflects the confusion of \Box and \Box , demonstrates that \Box and \Box were by-forms. A *Vorlage* reading \Box was corrupted in the Syriac tradition to \Box consequently, the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows the Greek text.

S. R. Driver (1903, 415) noted with reference to MT קַבְּשֶּׁן, that it is "'as yet unexplained' (Di.). Strength (♂ S ℂ Saad.) yields an excellent sense; but it has no philological justification, a root מוד אבון חסל המוד המוד אבון המו

17:37a (G), 17:42a (S)

καὶ οὐκ ἀσθενήσει ἐν ταῖς ἡμέραις αὐτου and he will not weaken in his days

mmle אווו not be diminished in his days

ולא ימעד בימיו

he will not stumble in his days

As Trafton (1985: 180) noted, "יז שש would be an unusual translation of ἀσθενήσει." But both שש and ἀσθενήσει could be translations of a *Vorlage* having the stem מעד "to slip, to totter, to fall," which was confused with שש "to be or become small, to be diminished." Hatch and Redpath (1954, 172) listed sixteen words in Hebrew translated by ἀσθενής, including שש . The confusion of שש and שש has been noted already in the discussion of 16:1a, on the line, "my soul forsook the Lord for a bit," and 16:1b, on the phrase, "for a while I sank into a deadly coma." The reconstructed *Vorlage*, having שש , is not a literal back-translation of either the Greek or the Syriac.

17:38b (G), 17:44a (S)

καὶ οὐκ <u>ἀσθενήσει</u> and <u>he will</u> not <u>weaken</u>

<u>™77</u> ~7°

and he did not grow weak

ולא יחלה

and he will not become weak

Aside from the matter of tense, the Greek and the Syriac texts could be translations of each other, but the difference in tense is enough to suggest that they are translations of a Hebrew *Vorlage* in which there was a confusion of the verbal prefix \vec{a} (used for the perfect tense of the $hiph^c\hat{i}l$ and $hoph^cal$, which is suggested by the Syriac) and the imperfect prefix ' (used across the paradigm for the

third masculine singular, which is suggested by the Greek). ince the poet in 17:34a spoke of power, which could have been אוֹם in the Vorlage, the word for "weakness" in this verse could have been הֹל הוֹל for assonance and paronomasia. A Hebrew text which read יחלה (a hoph al imperfect) would have been misread by the Syriac translator as החלה (a hoph al perfect). The reconstructed Vorlage follows the Greek text by having the imperfect tense.

17:39b (G), 17:44a (S)

καὶ <u>τίς δύναται</u> πρὸς αὐτόν then <u>who will succeed</u> against him

מבנה נסחב לספר מחלם and who will rise up against him בי יכול עליו who will prevail against him

The Greek τίς δύναται "who will succeed" and the Syriac שמם "who will rise against" could possibly be free translations of each other. Kuhn (1937: 77) proposed that they were derived from a Hebrew Vorlage having מֹל 'קוֹם על '' "who is standing before him." However, Hatch and Redpath (1954, 355) listed twenty-five Hebrew words which are translated by δυνατός and שֵׁך was not one of them. The proposed Hebrew root in the Vorlage is '' "to be able, to have power," with the nuance attested in Psalm 13:5, שֵּבִּי 'בְּלְחֵיוֹ צָּרֵי 'יִבִּילוֹ כֵּי אָבוֹתׁ ('I אַבִּירִ 'יִבְילוֹ כֵּי אָבוֹתׁ ('I have prevailed over him'; lest my foes rejoice because I am shaken.'"

17:40c (G), 17:45b (S)

έν τῆ <u>νομῆ αὐτῶν</u>
in <u>their pasture</u>

<u>mala = 1</u>

in <u>his flock</u>

²¹⁶ On the confusion of ¬ and ¬, see Delitzsch, 1920: 114, § 116^a.

במרעתם in the pasture

The Greek νομῆ αὐτῶν "their pasture" and the Syriac של בשלים "his flock" do not appear to be translations of each other, but in light of the metonymy appearing in Jeremiah 10:21 (בְּלִיבְּרְעִיקִם נְפּוֹצְה כִּי נִבְּעֲרוּ לֹא דְרָשׁוּ עַלֹּכֵּן לֹא הַשְּׁכִּילוּ כָלִ־מַרְעִיקִם נְפּוֹצְה כִּי נִבְּעֲרוּ, "for the shepherds are stupid, and do not inquire of the Lord; therefore they have not prospered, and all their flock [literally, 'their pasture'] is scattered"), either the Greek or the Syriac translator could have used the same device. If it were the Greek translator, he was wiser than the LXX translator of Jeremiah 10:21, who rendered the last half of the verse διὰ τοῦτο οὐκ ἐνόησεν πᾶσα ἡ νομὴ καὶ διεσκορπίσθησαν, "therefore, the whole pasture has failed, and have been scattered." The reconstructed Vorlage follows the מַרְעִיקַב attested in Jeremiah 10:21.

17:41a (G), 17:46a (S)

ἐν ἀσότητι πάντας αὐτοὺς ἄξει he will lead them in all holiness

لحرسه * تحتم حموته لا

he will gather all of them in serenity

במישרים ינחה כלם

he will lead all of them in rightousness

The Greek ἐσότητι"equality" or the variant ὁσιοτής "pious" (found in mss 149, 260, 471, 606, and 769, which are the basis for Wright's "holiness") cannot be translations of the Syriac אמבים "simple, sincerity, serenity." But all three readings could be derived from a Hebrew *Vorlage* having the root שמי "to be smooth, to be straight, to be right" or one of its derivatives like "uprightness" or "ψ" "evenness, equity." Stein (1969: 460) used this root in his

²¹⁷ Note Thomson's (1808, *ad loc*. [1960, 1164]) use of metonymy, "therefore the whole *flock* [italics added] was thoughtless and they are scattered."

translation, and the reconstructed *Vorlage* follows suit in light of the semantic range of שור. ²¹⁸

17:41b (G), 17:46b (S)

τοῦ <u>καταδυναστευθήναι</u> ἐν αὐτοῖς that any <u>should be oppressed</u> (Wright) that any <u>among them</u> might be oppressed (Trafton)

that it [arrogance] <u>might prevail over them</u>
that [arrogance] may not be heavy <u>upon them</u> (Ward)²¹⁹
תונה [גאוה] עליהם
that [pride] might bring oppression²²⁰ upon them

The Greek articular passive infinitive καταδυναστευθηναι "might be oppressed" and the Syriac imperfect "it may be heavy" are not accurate translations of each other. Trafton (1985: 181) suggested that the difference was due to an inner-Syriac corruption of "it (might) oppress" to "it (might) prevail," but this does not account for the active/passive difference. Therefore, the difference in meaning and voice is more likely to be explained by a Hebrew *Vorlage* in which there was ambiguity over a *hipheîl* or a *hopheal* verb, for *hipheîl* forms when written *scriptio defectiva* would be homographs of *hopheal* forms. The *Vorlage* reconstructed above has the *hipheîl* $\Pi \subseteq \Pi$ "it $\Pi \subseteq \Pi$ " "pride"]

²¹⁸ Franz Delitzsch (n. d., *ad loc*. 17:46) initially translated בקדש ינהל את־כלם ("in holiness he will lead all of them"], but changed it to read במישרים ינהל ("he will lead all of them equity"].

The translation is based upon the nuance of cited by J. Payne Smith (1903: 430 [c.]) "sore, previous, heavy, hard, severe."

²²⁰ The collocation of the stem אונה and ינה is attested in the *Qere*° of Psalm 123:4, "Too long our soul has been sated with the scom of those who are at ease, the contempt of *the proud oppressors* (לְנָאֵי יוֹנִים for *Kethîb* יוֹנִים)."

might bring oppression," which could have been misread as the $hoph^cal$ הונה (הְנָהְ = חונה) "it [הואה] be oppressive."

17:43a (G), 17:48a (S)

τὰ ἡήματα αὐτοῦ <u>πεπυρωμένα</u> ὑπὲρ χρυσίον τὸ πρῶτον τίμιον

his words will be purer than the finest gold, the best

פאל במח, בתן יושיד כא החבא מכימולא

his words will be proven more than gold and will be precious

אמרתיו מחרוץ בחור ייקרו

his words will be more precious than choice gold

The Greek πεπυρωμένα "fire-tested" and τὸ πρῶτον "the first, the finest, the choicest"²²¹ appear to be a doublet since a word corresponding to τὸ πρῶτον is lacking in the Syriac. The doublet reflects the confusion of ☐☐ "to test" and ☐☐ "to choose." A similar confusion of הנה צרפתיף and ובה is attested in Isaiah 4:10, הנה צרפתיף יו לא בַכֶּבֶף בַּחַרְתִּיךְ בִּכוּר ענִי "behold, I have refined you, but not like silver; I have chosen you in the furnace of affliction." For the MT בַּחַרְתִּיךְ (= LXX ἐξειλάμην), the Qumran scroll 1QIs^a reads "I have tested you."222 The Greek דנתוסע "the best" is used in the LXX primarily to translate the stem 77" "precious," indicating that in this line τίμιον is the equivalent of the Syriac κτιών "precious." Stylistically, the Syriac translator produced a more idiomatic poetic line than the Greek translator, who read יקר as an appositional adjective rather than a verb.²²³ The reconstructed Vorlage has an inverted word order — for emphasis — with the verb coming at the end. The word order follows the Greek text, which has τίμιον at the end of the line, as well as the Syriac text, which has

²²¹ Compare Luke 15:22, $\dot{\epsilon}$ ξ $\epsilon\nu\dot{\epsilon}$ γκατ ϵ στολ $\dot{\eta}$ ν τ $\dot{\eta}$ ν πρώτην "bring forth the choicest robe."

For the confusion of \neg and \exists , see Delitzsch, 1920: 112, §111.

²²³ Note that Stein (1969: 460) did not translate τίμιον. Frankenberg (1896: 84) translated it by the noun Έ "refined gold."

שלבים at the end of its line. The translation of χρυσίον as אַרוֹן "gold," rather than אווה which is the cognate of אווה highlights the fact that χρυσίον is a Semitic loanword in Greek, perhaps mediated through Mycenean (Chantraine, 1968: 1278).

Psalm Eighteen

18:2a

οί ὀφθαλμοί σου ἐπιβλέποντες <u>ἐπ' αὐτά</u>
your eyes are watching <u>over them</u>

<u>Δבייי מויץ ב'</u>
and your eyes see <u>everything</u>

וראו עניך כל עלימו

and your eyes see everything concerning them

18:2a

καὶ οὐχ <u>ὑστερήσει</u> έξ αὐτῶν none of them will be in need

and there is nothing which is <u>hidden</u> from them

ולא יסתר מהם

and nothing is hidden from them [your eyes]

The difference between the Greek ὑστερήσει "will lack" and the Syriac Κ϶λς "is hidden" can be accounted for by assuming that the Hebrew *Vorlage* had the verb החס "to hide," which was correctly

render in Syriac, but the Greek translator or his *Vorlage* read $\neg D \sqcap$ "to lack" instead of $\neg D \sqcap$ and translated accordingly. Metathetic variants have been noted elsewhere in this study, and the confusion of \square and \square has been well documented by Delitzsch (1920: 118, §129°).

18:2b

τὰ ὧτά σου ἐπακούει εἰς δέησιν πτωχοῦ ἐν ἐλπίδι
your ears listen to the hopeful prayer of the poor

[אניך תשמענה בתפלת דל בתוחלת
your ears harken to the hopeful prayers of the poor

The Greek δέησιν "prayer" has no corresponding element in the Syriac text. It would appear that a word has dropped out of the Syriac. If the *Vorlage* had בתוחלת "in hope" and בתפלח "to the prayers" (scriptio defectiva), it would be easy to account for a haplography of בתחלת or בתחלת. Although שמש in Biblical Hebrew is generally followed by the preposition ל, the preposition בא is attested occasionally, as in Job 15:8, שֵּלְהָׁהַ הְּשֶׁבֶּע, "Have you heard the counsel of God?" (NKJV).

18:3b (G), 18:4a (S)

ή ἀγάπη σου ἐπὶ <u>σπέρμα Αβρααμ υἱοῦ Ισραηλ</u> and your love is for <u>the descendants of Abraham</u>, an <u>Israelite</u> מוסבע בל <u>האבית האבות ביות האבות ביות האבית האבות ביות האבות על זרע ישׂראל בן אברהם ואהבתך על זרע ישׂראל בן אברהם ואהבתך על זרע ישׂראל בן אברהם</u>

and your love is upon the seed of Israel, the son of Abraham

The singular viοῦ Ισραηλ was understood by Wright (1985: 669) as an appositional modifier of Αβρααμ, making Abraham an Israelite. On the other hand, Ryle and James (1891: 149) and Gray (1913: 651) followed mss 655 and 659 in reading the plural viοὺς Iσραηλ and translated, respectively, "even the sons of Israel" and

"the children of Israel." For them, the plural υίοὺς was the appositional modifier of the singular collective $\sigma \pi \acute{\epsilon} \rho \mu \alpha$ ($\sigma \pi \acute{\epsilon} \rho \mu \alpha \tau \alpha$ in mss 655 and 659), making for a poetic parallel — though not a parallelism — with $I\sigma \rho \alpha \eta \lambda$ being in parallel with $A\beta \rho \alpha \alpha \mu$ and $\sigma \pi \acute{\epsilon} \rho \mu \alpha \tau \alpha$ being in parallel with υίοὺς.

The Syriac clearly makes pataks with son of Abraham" to be the modifier of the man named Israel, i.e., the singular "son" modified the singular proper name, not the singular noun "seed." The ambiguity of T in the Hebrew T in the Hebrew T in the Hebrew T in the Hebrew T in the secondary shift of T in T in T in the Hebrew T in the Hebrew T in the Hebrew T in the Secondary shift of T in T in T in the Hebrew T in the Secondary shift of T in T

If the Greek ἐπὶ σπέρμα Αβρααμ νίοῦ Ισραηλ reflects the original meaning, it would seem to be an attempt to exclude the offspring of Ishmael and Esau, a exclusion which was a moot issue at the time of this psalm. Since Abraham is nowhere else in Jewish tradition identified as an "Israelite," it appears that the Syriac text provides the best reading by making "the son of Abraham" a modifier of the proper noun "Israel," rather than the common noun "seed."

Summary

In the above psalm by psalm examination of the 18 psalms in 213 instances where the Greek and Syriac texts are not equal to each, three methodologies (text critical, exegetical and philological) have provided possible solutions to explain the differences. One hundred and forty-two of these proposals involve errors of the textual transmission and/or translation process (confusion of graphically similar letters, haplography, metathesis, doublets, and dittography).

Another 65 can be attributed to errors involving the semantic range of the proposed Hebrew *Vorlage* where either the Syriac or Greek translators (or both) chose the contextually inappropriate meaning or missed it altogether or because of the ambiguity of an unpointed Hebrew text. Again, Barr's (1985:268) comments on the Septuagint translators are pertinent here:

It seems to me in general that the ancient translators did their task remarkably well given the circumstances. Their grasp of Hebrew, however, was very often a grasp of that which was *average* and *customary* in Hebrew Where it is a matter, however, of obscure words in the normal contexts and of strange meanings for common words there was a strong tendency toward the leveling of the vocabulary and the interpretation of that which is rare as if it was that which was more normal.

There are only twelve instances where an appeal to cognate languages provides the clues for the differences between the Greek and Syriac and somewhat surprisingly, given the frequent appeal by Dahood in his Anchor Bible volumes on Psalms to Ugaritic, it was of no importance for these psalms. These Psalms are much later than the canonical Psalms but it might have been possible for some of the Ugaritic features to survive if there had been much conscious imitation of the canonical Psalter. The Greek variants were likewise of little importance—only twice were they able to provide the clues to the proposed Vorlage. Eight times the suggestion is made to redivide the proposed Hebrew consonantal text and in six places the emphatic particles went unrecognized by the Greek and Syriac translators.. For seven of the examples the solution may go back to an aural stage in the transmission of the text. Five times the difference can be explained by the preservation of a Hebrew idiom in either the Greek or the Syriac and failure to recognize double-duty verbs, vocatives, prepositions, or negatives occurs eight times.

In only a relatively few instances is appeal made to a more speculative methodology such as idiomatic translation (5 times), conflation of the Greek and Syriac texts (4 times), inversion of a line (once) and emendation (only once in all of the eighteen psalms). On the whole the cumulative weight of the evidence indicates a high degree of probability for an original Hebrew *Vorlage*.

Following is a listing of the passages (using the Greek enumeration) under the different categories:

89 occurrences of the confusion of graphically similar letters:

' and '	17:31b	8:20a	¬ and ⊃
2:8b	⊺ and ⊓	17:22b	8:15b
3:1b-2a	8:1	ר and ל	ש and שנ
3:6b	8:22b	9:4a	5:12b
6:2a	10:2a	13:3b] and ☐
7:3	' and I	ב and ב	3:3b
8:8b	2:4a	5:1a	ם and
12:2b	4:6a	14:6	4:5b
13:1	8:8b	Ճ and ⊃] and ⊃
16:4a	ה and מ	3:4a	5:16
16:14a	4:4a	9:4a	and ¬
17:5b	8:16b	יו and מ	5:6b
\neg and \neg	10:4b	2:8	¬ and ₽
4:10a	ר and מ	13:12	13:3b
4:12b	8:7a	∏ and ∏	and ⊃
6:3b	12:2b	2:6b	17:20a
8:8a	17:29a	18:2a	and □
9:3a	and 1	ל and	6:2a
11:1	2:23	11:4	Ճ and ⊃
17:30b	8:12a	\sqcap and Υ	8:7a
\supset and \supset	15:3	17:38b	מ and יו
4:8a	\neg and \sqcap	⊓ and ⊐	8:12b
6:3a	4:6a	4:12a	בו and מ
7:3	17:30b	\sqcap and \sqcap	15:14b
16:14a	⊓ and "	17:14a	¬ and ⊐
17:14a	5:13a	⊓ and ו⊓	8:1b
¬ and ¬	10:1b	6:3a	i and ¬
2:21	□ and ¬	⊓ and ש	15:1
11.1	16:1b	5:6b	7 and ¬
12:2	17:37a	\sqcap and \lnot	17:31b
16:7a	' and ל	2:19a	

^	_	^
٠,	''	(

SUMMARY

i and i	יש	and עולה	מך כי and
11:5b	and	עליון	8° G8
and 1	נשי	15:4b	8:2
10:3c	16:8b		

41 occurrences of a valid, but inappropriate, choice within the semantic range of the Hebrew:

1:1	2:31b	7:2	14:7
2:1a	3:2a	7:4	15:7a
2:2b	3:5	7:8a	15:9a
2:6b	3:10	8:5b	15:9b
2:10	3:13	8:9a	17:5b
2:19b	4:1	10:4b	17:8b
2:20	5:12b	12:2a	17:25a
2:21b	5:16a	12:3	17:33b
2:26b	5:17a	13:2	17:41a
2:29b	7:1	13:3a	18:3b

23 occurrences of haplography with one or two letters:

3:5	5:1a	9:2	17:11a
4:3b	5:6a	10:8	17:30a
4:5a	8:1b	11:4	17:30b
4:10b	8:5a	12:3b	17:36b
4:14a	8:14b	15:2	18:2b
4:20b	8:16a	16:5	

3 occurrences of haplography involving entire lines:

4:18 16:10b 16:14a

24 occurrences of ambiguity of the unpointed Hebrew text:

2:9	4:12	5:14b	8:2a
3:10	4:24	8:1	8:2b

THE PSALMS OF SOLOMON 221

8:7a	9:9b	16:1a	17:17a
8:7b	14:2b	16:14a	17:41b
8:25a	15:13a		

with scriptio defectiva:

2:25b 2:26b 7:7a 10:3 15:10b

with scriptio plene:

8:12a

15 occurrences of the metathesis of two or more letters in a word:

2:20	5:7a	14:6	17:2b
2:27	10:1a	16:3a	17:12a
2:33a	12:3b	16:7	18:2a
4:18	13:7-8	17:2a	

12 occurrences where appeal to cognate languages brings clarity to differences:

Arabic:

2:1 2:33a	3:1 8:1b	8:2a 17:6b	17:13
Akkadian:	2:5	2:19	2:21b
Aramaic:	3:7	17:34	

8 occurrences of the misdivision of the consonantal text in (of) the *Vorlage*:

1:3	2:6b	17:9b	17:22
2:1b	2:23	17:17b	17:30a

SUMMARY

7 occurrences of doublets:

Greek: 2:13b 4:10b 8:9a 17:43a

Syriac: 6:5a 7:2a 17:16

7 occurrences of aural errors in the transmission of the text:

8:9a 8:25a 9:5a 9:6b 16:1b

17:6a 17:13

6 occurrences where emphatics particles went unrecognized:

Emphatic 'D: 6:4a 9:4a 15:7b 17:29a

Emphatic 7: 10:8 2:24

5 occurrences where a Semitic idiom is reflected in the Greek or the Syriac:

1:4b 2:13a 2:32b 4:5b 8:12a

5 occurrences of idiomatic translation:

2:4a 3:1 3:12b 4:7 17:1

5 occurrences of dittography:

2:1b 5:12a 5:13a 7:6b 10:3b

4 occurrences requiring the conflation of the Greek and Syriac texts:

4:18 15:5a 17:36b 18:2a

2 occurrences where manuscript variants are appealed to for solution:

11:4 (Syriac) 17:6b (Greek)

2 occurrences of "double duty" prepositions::

14:1 15:3

2 occurrences of "double duty" verbs:

15:7b 16:6b

2 occurrences of "double duty" negatives:

16:6b 16:8b

1 occurrence of a "double duty" vocative

15:2

1 occurrence of "double duty" emphatic:

15:7b

1 occurrence of the inversion of lines:

15:7b

1 occurrence of metonymy:

17:40c

1 proposed emendation:

15:7b

Since the focus of this chapter is on the disagreements of the Syriac and Greek texts, the issue of which text to follow in the proposal of a Hebrew *Vorlage* had to be decided in each instance.

Where the proposed *Vorlage* follows either the Greek or Syriac text in the proposed Hebrew the division was almost fifty-fifty. Sixty-six times the *Vorlage* followed the Syriac text and sixty-five times the Greek (out of the 215 total).

Fifty-three times the *Vorlage* followed neither the Greek or the Syriac arguing that neither had retained the sense of the proposed original Hebrew text. Both had been corrupted in the process of transmission or translation. However, without both the Greek and the Syriac texts the proposed *Vorlage* would have been much more difficult to produce and much more speculative. It is the control of having both texts and often the mistakes of both that in many instances provided the clue to the proposed *Vorlage*.

Twenty three times the Greek and the Syriac together provided the basis for the reconstruction of the *Vorlage* with both retaining some element of the proposed Hebrew. In six instances the Greek and the Syriac approximate each other and either could be used in the construction of the *Vorlage*. This was usually due to an overlapping semantic ranges of a word. While neither the Greek or the Syriac seems to more reliably preserve the Hebrew original in 61 % of the texts one or the other is followed in the proposed *Vorlage*. In about 25% of the above passages neither the Greek or the Syriac has been the basis for the Hebrew. Following is a summary by verses of the different categories:

Greek	3:7	6:2a	9:3a
	4:5a	6:3b	9:9b
1:6a	4:5b	7:3	10:1a
2:1b	4:8a	7:4	10:3
2:4a	4:10a	7:8b	10:3b
2:5b (+	4:10b	7:10b	10:3c
Syr)	4:14a	8:8a	11:1
2:5–6a	5:1a	8:8b	11:4
2:8a	5:6a	8:14b	11:5
2:8b	5:12b	8:20a	12:3
2:21	5:14b	8:22b	13:3b
3:6b	5:16a	8:25a	13:2

`	\sim	_
,	,	`

THE PSALMS OF SOLOMON 225

14:1	17:2a	17:16	17:30
14:2b	17:2b	17:17b	17:36b
14:6	17:5b	17:22a	17:38b
15:10b	17:14a	(+Syr)	18:2b
16:3a	17:15 c	17:26a	
16:6b	(+Syr)	17:29a	
Syriac	5:12a	8:12a	15:13a
•	5:13a	8:16a	16:1a
1:4b	6:1a	8:16b	16:1b
2:1a	6:5a	9:2	16:5
2:1b	7:1	9:4a	16:7a
2:2b	7:2	9:5a	16:10b
2:4a	7:6b	9:6b	17:1
2:6b	7:7a	10:1b	17:6b (+
2:9	7:8a	10:1b-2a	Grk)
2:19a	7:8a	11:5b	17:11a
2:23	8:1	12:2b	17:12a
2:25	8:2a	13:1	17:20a
2:29b	8:5a	13:3a	17:22b
2:32b	8:7a	13:7–8	17:30b
3:4a	8:7a	15:1	17:31b
4:5b	8:11b	15:3b	18:2a
4:9b	8:12a	15:9b	18:3b
5:7a			
Neither	2:21b	4:1	8:1b
Greek	2:24	4:3b	8:2c
or Syriac	2:26b	4:4a	8:7b
	2:26b	4:6a	8:12b
1:1	2:33a	4:12	8:15b
2:1b	3:2a	4:12b	10:4b
2:6b	3:3b	4:18	10:8
2:10	3:5	4:20	12:2a
2:19b	3:10	6:3a	12:3b
2:20	3:12b	6:4a	12:3c

226	SUMMA	RY	
13:2b	16:4a	17:13	17:37a
14:7	16:8b	17:32c	17:40c
15:4b	16:14a	17:33b	17:41a
15:7b	17:6a	17:34a	17:41b
16:1b			
	0.44		
Greek	8:2b	17:17a	Either
and	8:5b	17:25a	Greek
Syriac	8:9a	17:39b	or Syriac
	13:2	17:43a	1:3
2:13a	15:2	18:2a	2:4a
2:27	15:3b		5:17a
2:31b	15:4b	Uncertain	15:7a
3:1	15:5a	2:13b	15:9a
3:1-3:2a	17:8b	5:6b	16:11a
4:7	17:9b		
4:24	17:15a		

CHAPTER THREE

CONCLUSIONS

J. R. Harris who discovered the Syriac text of the Psalms of Solomon and the lost Odes of Solomon had little regard for the Psalms of Solomon, in contrast to the Odes of Solomon which he esteemed highly (1916: vii). He noted, "The Psalms of Solomon as they come to us are a very harsh and unpleasant product, the result of a couple of ungainly translations it has little interest for ourselves and will probably have less for other people." Previously (1911:46), he said "we cannot expect to get any nearer to the original language of the [Greek text of the] psalms by means of the Syriac." Harris' opinion notwithstanding, this study has shown that without a careful study of the Syriac text of the Psalms of Solomon no one can expect to get closer to the original language of these psalms. By using both the Syriac text and the Greek text, in key passages a Hebrew Vorlage has been reconstructed by a process of "triangulation." The reconstructed Vorlage, rooted in the Syriac and Greek texts, in turn, shed new light on these textual traditions, resulting in an accumulative body of evidence which supports—with a high degree of probability—the argument that a Hebrew Vorlage lay behind the Greek text and the Syriac text of these psalms.

The discussion above (68–69) of the difficulty of the Greek in Psalm 3:2a provides a good illustration of the value of the Syriac. Both Wright (1985:654) and Trafton (1985:53) called the Greek of this poetic line "unintelligible," and at first glance the Syriac (which Wright also called "unintelligible") did not seem to be of any help in clarifying the meaning of the phrase in Greek. Trafton translated the Syriac phrase as "and be excited in his excitement," which contextually makes no better sense than the Greek—which means literally, "be awake in his wakefulness. It was, however, the Syriac stem •••, which has a wider semantic range than simply "to become excited, to arouse (from sleep)," which provided the clue to the meaning. This stem is a cognate of the Aramaic/Hebrew "which appears in

Daniel 4:1, 14, and 20 as a technical term for the "Watchers" of heaven who never sleep but continually praise God. This nuance, not the simple dictionary equivalent "to be excited," is the basis for the proposed *Vorlage* meaning "rejoice with his Watchers." Without the clue from the Syriac the meaning of the Greek phrase would remain enigmatic. As it now stands, only Trafton's translation of the Syriac is problematic since he missed here the nuance of the Syriac is problematic since he missed here the nuance of the standard problematic since he missed here the nuance of the standard problematic since he missed here the nuance of the standard problematic since he missed here the nuance of the standard problematic since he missed here the nuance of the standard problematic st

While the cumulative weight of the psalm-by-psalm examination of the places where the Syriac and Greek texts disagree has indicated that both are translations of a Hebrew original, it is not possible to say with certainty exactly when the translations were made from the Hebrew. Because neither the Syriac or Greek textual variants were of much value in reconciling the difficulties or in providing clues for the reconstruction of the Hebrew Vorlage, it is likely that the translations of the psalms into Greek and Syriac were early and that most of the variants occurred in the later transmission of the texts in their independent traditions. This is indicated by many instances where the Syriac text disagreed with respect to singular/plural forms with the Greek text. Prior to the fourth century C.E., when the system of pointing nouns to distinguish between the singular and the plural, the Syriac text would have been ambiguous with reference to number. This argues for the translation from Hebrew into Syriac to have taken place at least before that date, and probably earlier as portions of the Peshitta were translated in the first century C.E.

An important aspect of this study is the methodology employed. Barr (1987: 5–8) in his introductory work on the philological methodology sets philology, which deals with new possibilities of meaning for existing texts (often with appeal to cognate languages), over against textual criticism, which deals with graphic errors in transmission (where an appeal to variant readings is possible and where, in the absence of such variants, contextual emendation is used). He asserted that "Philology undercuts the foundations of the textual treatment" and that the "philological treatment, if right, cancels out textual treatment." He admitted, however "... these are not distinct [methodologies] in the sense that one must consistently follow one and ignore the other. A competent worker must under-

stand both, and as we have seen, it is a very common practice to mingle the two."

This study illustrates the complimentary nature of textual criticism and philology, and the necessity to use both to reconcile differences in and between textual traditions or to reconstruct a *Vorlage* reflecting the traditions. These methodologies do not cancel out or undermine each other. Without the use of both methods, the argument for a Hebrew original for both the Greek and the Hebrew behind the Psalms of Solomon would have been much more speculative. While the majority of proposals presented in Chapter 2 are those within the arena of textual criticism resulting from the confusion of graphically similar letters, there are numerous instances where philology has supplied the best possible solution. Textual criticism, exegetical considerations dealing with the semantic range of a word, and philological inquiry into cognate languages were all indispensable.

In reconstructing the *Vorlage*, any individual word was selected from a list of synonyms. Consequently, while absolute certainty is not possible for any of the proposals, one can be certain of the value of the methodology. Compared to Trafton's thirty-eight instances where the Syriac or the Greek supported a Hebrew *Vorlage*, this study offers 213 instances. Even if all of them are not as convincing to others who have worked with the Psalms of Solomon as they are to the author, none of them can be simply dismissed out of hand. The methodology employed in this study could easily be applied to many of the pseudepigraphical works believed to have been originally written in a Semitic language.

Another contribution has been the proposal of significant new translations which depart from Wright's translation of the Greek and Trafton's translation of the Syriac. The following new translations should be noted in particular:

- 1:1 "at my defeat" instead of "when I was severely troubled"
- 2:1b "general" instead of "sinner"
- 2:2 "boots" instead of "sandals"

2:6b	"chains upon their forearms" rather than "their neck in
	a seal"

- 2:19b "ruler" instead of "beauty"
- 2:20b "ruler" instead of "beauty"
- 2:21b "ruler" instead of "beauty"
- 2:24 "indeed" instead of "not"
- 2:24 "pierced by the nobles of Egypt" instead of "pierced on the mountains of Egypt"
- 3:2a "Watchers" instead of "he is aware of you"
- 8:1 "the sound of tearing down walls" for "the blast of the trumpet"
- 10:4 "the law codes of the Lord in the commandments are above the rules of men" for "and the testimony of the Lord (is) in the ways of men"
- 10:8 "indeed" instead of "because"
- 16:1b "deadly coma" for "sleep"
- 17:6a "they exchanged their priestly turbans for a crown" rather than "they set up a monarchy because of their arrogance"
- 17:32c "anointed lord" for the controversial "Lord Messiah"
- 17:33b "generals" instead of "multitude"

These translations and the other new ones offered in Chapter 2 are important for any subsequent full translation of the Psalms of Solomon which draws upon both the Syriac and the Greek textual traditions.

These translations would also be of importance to anyone working on the theology of these psalms. The discussion and proposed *Vorlage* of 17:30a, for instance, supports the Greek text which speaks of a universal God who will "have gentile nations," against the Syriac text which speaks of an ethnocentric God who "possess a nation from the nations," perhaps in reference to the Jews in the diaspora. Which textual tradition is supported by the proposed *Vorlage* theologically makes a great deal of difference. Many other instances and the discussion of the textual differences between the Syriac and the Greek texts have similar import for understanding the theology of the Psalms of Solomon.

The above study also supports the conclusion that Psalm 2 (and perhaps Psalm 3) are about Pompey, and thus it supports a date for this psalm being not too long after the events referred to. If the proposed interpretation of Psalm 4:18b holds up, the curse "may his old age be bereft of children, from his children not one will bury him" needs to be added to the list of (treaty) curses. If the proposals for reading emphatic particles in 2:24, 6:4a, 9:4a, 10:8; 15:7b, and 17:29a are correct, then their use, especially that of the emphatic δ , survived much later than has been previously recognized.

All of the items highlighted in the above paragraph are significant in and of themselves as they resolve the differences between the textual traditions, but the demonstration of the probability of a Hebrew *Vorlage* behind both the Syriac and the Greek texts is still the main contribution of this study.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abel, F.-M. "Le Siege de Jerusalem par Pompee." *Revue biblique* 54 (1947): 243-255.
- Aberback, M. "The Historical Allusions of Chapters iv, xi, and xiii of the Psalms of Solomon." *Jewish Quarterly Review*, 41 (1951): 379-396.
- Abrahams, I. "The Psalms of Solomon." *Jewish Quarterly Review*, 9 (1897): 539–549.
- Ackroyd, Peter R. The Problem of the Maccabean Psalms, with special reference to the Psalms of Solomon. Dissertation. 1947.
- Albright, W. F. "The Earliest Forms of Hebrew Verse." *Journal of the Palestine Oriental Society*, 2 (1922): 69–86.
- Alexander, P. "3 (Hebrew Apocalypse of) Enoch (Fifth–Sixth Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 223-254. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Anderson, F. I. "2 (Slavonic Apocalypse of Enoch (Late First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 91-221. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Baarda, T. "The Flying Jesus': Luke 4:29–30 in the Syriac Diatessaron." *Vigiliae Christianae*, 40 (1986): 313–341.
- Baars, W. "An Additional Fragment of the Syriac Version of the Psalms of Solomon." *Vetus Testamentum*, 11 (1961): 222-223.
- Baars, W. "A New Fragment of the Greek Version of the Psalms of Solomon." *Vetus Testamentum*, 11 (1961): 441-444.
- Baars, W. "Psalms of Solomon." In *The Old Testament in Syriac According to the Peshitta Version*, Part 4, Fascile 6. Edited by The Peshitta Institute. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1972.

- Barr, J. Comparative Philology and the Text of the Old Testament. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1968.
- Bauer, W. A. A Greek–English Lexicon of the New Testament and Other Early Christian Literature. Translated by W. F. Arndt and F. W. Gingrich. Second edition, revised and augmented by F. W. Gingrich and F. W. Danker. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; Cambridge: University Press, 1979.
- Begrich, Joachim. "Der Text der Psalmen Salomos." Zeitschrift für die neuetestamentliche Wissenschaft, 38 (1939): 131-164.
- Ben Yehuda, E. *Thesaurus totius hebraitatis et veteris et recentioris* [הישנה מלון הלשון העברי]. Berlin (later Jerusalem): Ben Yehuda HozaaLa^oOr Le-zecher Eliezer Ben Yehuda, 1908–1959.
- Benz, F. L. *Personal Names in the Phoenician and Punic Inscriptions*. Studia Pohl 8. Rome: Biblical Institute Press, 1972.
- Berlin, Adell. *The Dynamics of Biblical Parallelism*. Bloomington and Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1985.
- Birnbaum, S. A. *The Hebrew Scripts*. Two volumes. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1971.
- Blass, F. and Debrunner, A. A Greek Grammar of the New Testament and Other Early Christian Literature. Translation and revision of the ninth-tenth German edition, incorporating supplementary notes of A. Debrunner by R. W. Frank. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; Cambridge: University Press, 1979.
- Blommerde, A. C. M. *Northwest Semitic Grammar and Job*. Biblia Orientalia 22. Rome: Pontifical Biblical Institute, 1969.
- Brock, Sabastian. "Jewish Traditions in Syriac Sources." *Journal of Jewish Studies*, 30 (1979): 202-211.
- Brock, Sabastian. "Limitations of Syriac in Representing Greek." In *The Early Versions of the New Testament: Their Origin, Transmission, and Limitations*, 83–98, by B. M. Metzger. Oxford: Clarendon.

- Brock, Sabastian. "Review of *The Syriac Version of the Psalms of Solomon: A Critical Evaluation*, by Joseph Trafton." *Journal of Jewish Studies*, 32 (1987): 204-207.
- Brock, Sebastian P., Charles T. Fritsch, and Sidney Jellicoe, Compilers. *A Classified Bibliography of the Septuagint*. Arbeiten zur Literatur und Geschichte des Hellenistischen Judentums, 6. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1973.
- Brockelmann, Carl. Lexicon Syriacum, mit Paradigmen, Literatur, Chrestomathie und Glossar. Lehrbücher für das Studium der orientalischen und afrikanischen Sprachen, 4. First edition. Berlin: Reuther und Reichard, 1895. (Tenth edition, Leipzig: Veb Verlag Enzyklopädie.)
- Brown, F., Driver, S. R., and Briggs, C. A. A Hebrew and English Lexicon of the Old Testament with an Appendix containing the Biblical Aramic. Oxford: Clarendon, 1907. (Reprinted in 1968.)
- Büchler, Adolph. "The Pious Men in the Psalms of Solomon." In *Types of Jewish- Palestinian Piety from 70 B.C.E. to 70 C.E.*, 128-195 by H. Hall. Oxford, 1922.
- Buhl, F., et al., editors. *Wilhelm Gesenius' hebräisches und aramäisches Handwörterbuch über das Alte Testament*. 17th edition. Leipzig: F. C. W. Vogel, 1921.
- Burke, David G. *The Poetry of Baruch, A Reconstruction and Analysis of the Original Hebrew Text of Baruch 3:9-5:9.* Septuagint and Cognate Studies, 10. Chico, CA: Society of Biblical Literature, 1982.
- Castell, Edmund. *Lexicon Heptaglotton*. Two folio volumes. London: Thomas Roycroft, 1669.
- Charlesworth, James H. "A Prolegomenon to a New Study of the Jewish Background of the Hymns and Prayers in the New Testament." *Journal of Jewish Studies*, 33 (1982): 265-285.
- Charlesworth, James. H. "History of the Rechabites (First to Fourth Centuries A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, Volume II, 443–465. Two

- volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Charlesworth, James H. "Jewish Hymns, Odes, and Prayers (Ca. 167 B.C.E.-135 C.E.)." In *Early Judaism and Its Modern Interpreters*, 411-436. Edited by Robert A. Kraft and George W.E. Nickelsburg. Atlanta: Scholars Press, 1986.
- Charlesworth, James. H. "Odes of Solomon (Late First Century to Early Second Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 725–771. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Charlesworth, James. H. "Prayer of Manesseh (Second Century B.C.—First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 625–637. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Charlesworth, James H. "Review of *Die Psalmen Salomos*, by J. Schüpphaus." *Journal of the American Academy of Religion*, 50 (1982): 292-293.
- Charlesworth, James H. *The Old Testament Pseudeipgrapha and the New Testament: Prolegomena For the Study of Christian Origins.* Society for New Testament Studies Monograph Series, 54. Cambridge: Cambridge University, 1985.
- Charlesworth, James H. *The Pseudepigrapha and Modern Research, With a Supplement*. Revised edition. SBL Septuagint and Cognate Studies Series, 7S. Chico, CA: Scholars Press, 1981.
- Charlesworth, James. H. "Treatise of Shem (First Century B.C.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 473-490. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Cross, F. M. *Studies in Ancient Yahwistic Poetry*. Ph.D. dissertation. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University. Microfilm reprint, Ann Arbor, 1961. (Reprint 1975, Missoula, Montana: Scholars Press, 1950).

- Dahood, M. *Psalms* I, Anchor Bible, 16. Garden City, New York: Doubleday, 1966.
- Dahood, M. *Psalms* II, Anchor Bible, 17. Garden City, New York: Doubleday, 1968.
- Dahood, M. *Psalms* III, Anchor Bible, 17A. Garden City, New York: Doubleday, 1970.
- Dahood, M. and T. Penar "The Grammar of the Psalter." In *Psalms* III, Anchor Bible, 17A, 364–456. Garden City, New York: Doubleday, 1970.
- Danker, Frederick W. "II Peter 3:10 and Psalm of Solomon 17:10." *Zeitschrift für die neutestamentliche Wissenschaft*, 51 (1962): 82-86.
- Davenport, Gene L. "The 'Anointed of the Lord' in Psalms of Solomon 17." In *Ideal Figures in Ancient Judaism: Profiles and Paradigms*, 67-92. Edited by John J. Collins and George W. E. Nichelsburg. Chico, CA: Scholars Press for Society of Biblical Literature, 1980.
- De la Cerda, J. L. Adversaria Sacra. Lyons, 1626.
- Delitzsch, Franz. *Ruckübersetzung der PsS ins Hebräische*. University of Leipzig. (manuscript 01503, n.d.)
- Delitzsch, Friedrich. *Die Lese-und Schreibfehler im Alten Testament*. Berlin: Walter DeGruyter, 1920.
- Dimant, Devorah. "A Cultic Term in the Psalms of Solomon in the Light of the Septuagint." *Textus*, 9 (1981): 28-51. (Hebrew).
- ארא בסבים באיז אלאז איז. The New Testament in Syriac. London: The British and Foreign Bible Society, 1919; reprint 1955.
- Dozy, R. *Supplément aux dictionnaires Arabes*. Leiden: Brill, and Paris: Maisonneuve, 1927.
- Ecker, Jakob. Porta Sion: Lexikon zum lateinischen Psalter (Psalterium Gallicanum): unter genauer Vergleichung der Septuaginta und des hebräischen Textes: mit einer Einleitung über die hebr.-griech.- latein. Psalmen und dem Anhang Der

- *apokryphe Psalter Salomons*. Trier / Treves: Paulinus-Druckerie, 1903.
- Efron, Joshua. "Holy War and Visions of Redemption." In *Studies on the Hasmonean Period*, pp. 219-286. Edited by Jacob Neusner. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1987.
- Efron, Joshua. "The Psalms of Solomon, the Hasmonean Decline and Christianity." *Zion*, 30 (1965): 1-46.
- Elliger, K. and W. Rudolph, editors. *Biblia Hebraica Stuttgartensia*. Stuttgart: Deutsche Bibelstiftung, 1977.
- Emerton, J. A. "Some Problems of Text and Language in the Odes of Solomon." *Journal of Theological Studies*, 18 (1967): 372–406.
- Fabricus, Johannus Albertus. "Psalterium Salomonis cum Io. Ludovici de la Cerda notis & brevibus castigationibus editoris." In Codex Pseudepigraphus Veteris Testamenti, Collectus Castigatus, Testimonüsque, Censuris & Animadversionibus illustratus, 914-999. First edition. Leipzig: Christiani Liebezeit, 1713. Second edition, two volumes, Hamburg: Christiani Liebezeit, 1722.
- Fitzmyer, J. A. "The Languages of Palestine in the First Century A. D." In *A Wandering Aramean: Collected |Aramaic Essays*, 29–56. Society of Biblical Literature Monograph Series, 25. Missoula: Scholars Press.
- Flusser, David. "Psalms, Hymns, and Prayers." *Jewish Writings of the Second Temple Period: Apocrypha, Pseudeipgrapha, Qumran Sectarian Writings, Philo, Josephus*, 551-577. Edited by Michael E. Stone. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1984.
- Frankenberg, Wilhelm. *Die Datierung der Psalmen Salomo's, Ein Beitrage zur jüdischen Geschichte*. Beihefte zur Zeitschrift für die alttestamentliche Wissenschaft, 1. Giessen: J. Richer, 1896.
- Franklyn, P. N. "The Cultic and Pious Climax of Eschatology in the Psalms of Solomon." *Journal for the Study of Judaism*, 18 (1987): 1-17.

- Friedrich, J. and W. Röllig. *Phönizisch-punische Grammatik*. Analecta Orientalia, 46. Rome: Pontifical Biblical Institute, 1970.
- Fritzsche, Otto Fridolinus. *Libri Apocryphi Veteris Testamenti, Pseudepigraphi Selecti*. Leipzig: F. A. Brockhaus, 1871.
- Gaster, M. "The Odes and Psalms of Solomon." *The Jewish Guardian* (1920): 6.
- Gebhardt, Oscar Leopold von. Ψαλμοι Σολομωντος: Die Psalmen Salomo's Zum Ersten Male Mit Benutzung Der Athoshandschriften Und Des Codex Casanatensis Herausgegeben. Texte und Untersuchungen, XIII, Pt. 2. Leipzig: J. C. Hinrichs, 1895.
- Geiger, P. Edward Ephraem. *Der Psalter Salomo's, herausgegeben und erklärt*. Augsburg: J. Wolffischen Buchhandlung, 1871.
- Gesenius, William. *A Hebrew and English Lexicon of the Old Testament*. Translated from the Latin by Edward Robinson. Boston: Houghton, Mifflin and Company, 1888.
- Gesenius, William. Hebrew Grammar. See E. Kautzsch.
- Gesenius, William. *Thesaurus Philologicus Criticus Linguae Hebraeae et Chaldaeae Veteris Testamenti*. Leipzig: F. C. W. Vogel, 1829.
- Goeij, M. De. De Pseudepigrafen: Psalmen van Salomo, IV Ezra, Martyrium van Jesaja: Vertaald, ingeleid en toegelicht. Kampen: Kok, 1980.
- Goldschmidt, L., editor. *Der babylonische Talmud*. Ten volumes. Haag: Martinus Nijoff, 1933–1935
- Gray, George Buchanan. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *The Apocrypha and Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, Volume II, 625-652. Two volumes. Edited by R. H. Charles, Oxford: Clarendon, 1912.
- Hann, Robert R. "Christos Kurios in PsSol 17:32: 'The Lord's Anointed' Reconsidered." New Testament Studies, 31 (1985): 620–627.

- Hann, Robert R. "The Community of the Pious: The Social Setting of the Psalms of Solomon." *Studies in Religion/ Sciences religieuses*, 17 (1988): 169-189.
- Hann, Robert R. *The Manuscript History of the Psalms of Solomon*. Septuagint and Cognate Studies, 13. Chico, CA: Scholars Press, 1982.
- Hare, D. R. A. "The Lives of the Prophets (First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 379–399. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Harrington, D. J. "Pseudo–Philo (First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, Volume II, 297–377. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Harris, J. Rendell. "Notes on the Sinaitic and Vatican Codices." *Johns Hopkins University Circular* (1884): 54.
- Harris, J. Rendel. *The Odes and Psalms of Solomon: Now First Published from the Syriac Version*. Cambridge: University Press, 1909.
- Harris, J. Rendell. *The Odes and Psalms of Solomon: Pubished from the Syriac Version*. Second edition revised and enlarged with a facsimile, Cambridge: University Press, 1911.
- Harris, J. Rendell and Alphonse Mingana. *The Odes and Psalms of Solomon, Volume I, The Text with Facsimile Reproductions; Volume II, Translation with Introduction and Notes.* First and second editions Manchester; London/New York: Manchester University; Longmans, Green and Company, 1916 and 1920.
- Harris, Z. S. A Grammar of the Phoenician Literature. The American Oriental Series, 8. New Haven: American Oriental Society, 1936.
- Hatch, E. and H. Redpath. A Concordance to the Septuagint and the other Greek Versions of the Old Testament (Including the Apocryphal Books). Three volumes. Oxford: Clarendon, 1897. (Photomechanically reprinted in two volumes at Graz, Austria:

- Akademische Druck- u. Verlagsanstalt, 1954; and at Grand Rapids, MI, 1987.)
- Hava, J. G. Arabic-English Dictionary. Beirut: Catholic Press, 1915
- Hilgenfeld, Adolph Bernhard Christoph Christian. "Die Psalmen Salomo's, deutsch übersetzt und aufs Neue untersucht." *Zeitschrift für wissenschaftliche Theologie*, 14 (1871): 383-418.
- Hilgenfeld, Adolph Bernhard Christoph Christian. "Die Psalmen Salomo's und die Himmelfahrt des Moses, griechisch hergestellt und erklärt." *Zeitschrift für wissenschaftliche Theologie*, 11 (1868): 133-168.
- Hillers, Delbert. *Lamentations*. Anchor Bible, 7A. New York: Doubleday, 1972.
- Holm-Nielsen, Svend. "Die Psalmen Salomos." In *Jüdische Schriften aus hellenistisch-römischer Zeit*, Volume 4, fascicle 2, 51-112. Edited by W. G. Kümmel, et al., translated by Folkert Krieger from Danish. Gütersloh: Mohn, 1977.
- Holm-Nielsen, Svend. "Erwägungen zu dem Verhältnis zwischen den Hodajot und den Psalmen Salomos." In *Bibel und Qumran: Beiträge zur Erfarschung der Beziehungen zwischen Bibel und Qumran-wissenschaft. Festschrift H. Bardtke*, 112-131. Edited by S. Wagner. Berlin: Evangelische Haupt-Bibelgesellschaft, 1968.
- Howard, George. *The Gospel of Matthew according to a Primitive Hebrew Text.* Atlanta: Mercer Press, 1987. (Second edition, 1995.)
- Huehnergard, J. "Asseverative *la and Hypothetical *lu/law in Semitic,." Journal of the American Oriental Society, 103 (1983): 569–593.
- Hultgard, Anders. "Figures Messianiques d'Orient comme Sauveurs Universels dans le Monde Gréco-Romain." In *La Soteriologia dei Culti Orientali nell' Impero Romano*, 734-752. Edited by Ugo Bianchi and Maarten J. Vermaseren. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1982.

- Isaac. E. "1 (Ethiopic Apocalypse of) Enoch (Second Century B.C.—First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 5-89. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Jastrow, M. A Dictionary of the Targumim, the Talmud Babli and the Yerushalmi, and the Midrashic Literature. London: Luzac; New York: G. P. Putnam's Sons. 1903.
- Jennings, William. *Lexicon to the Syriac New Testament (Peshitta)*. Revised by U. Gantillon. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1926.
- Johnson, M. D. "Life of Adam and Eve (First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 249–295. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Jonge, Marinus De. "The Expectation of the Future in the Psalms of Solomon." *Neotestamentica*, 23 (1989): 93-117.
- Jonge, Marinus De. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *Outside the Old Testament*, 159-177. Edited by M. de Jonge. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- Joosten, Jan. "On Ante-position of the Attributive Adjective in Classical Syriac and Biblical Hebrew." *Zeitschrift fur Althebraistik*, 6 (1993): 188–192.
- Joosten, Jan "The Text of Matthew 13:21a and Parallels in the Syriac Tradition." *New Testament Studies*, 37 (1991): 153–159.
- Kautzsch, E., editor. *Gesenius' Hebrew Grammar*. Translated by A. E. Cowley. Second edition. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1910.
- ראם באם היא : אביאם באם [Holy Scripture : the Old Testament].

 London: Trinitarian Bible Society, 1954 reprint.
- Kittel, Rudolf. "Die Psalmen Salomos." In *Die Apokryphen und Pseudepig-raphen des Alten Testaments in Verbindung mit anderen übersetzt und Herausgegeben*, volume two, 127-148. Two volumes. Edited by Emil Kautzsch. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr, 1900.

- Kittel, R. and Paul Kahle. *Biblia Hebraica*. Stuttgart: Privilegierte württembergische Bibelanstalt, 1937; 14th edition, 1966.
- Klein, E. D. A Comprehensive Etymological Dictionary of the Hebrew Language for Readers of English. New York: Macmillian, 1987.
- Klijn, A. F. J. "2 (Syriac Apocalypse of) Baruch (early Second Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 615-652. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Koehler, L. and W. Baumgartner. Lexicon in Veteris Testamenti Libros: Wörterbuch zum heebräischen Alten Testament in deutscher und englischer Sprache / A Dictionary of the Hebrew Old Testament in English and German-Wörterbuch zum aramäischesnTeil des Alten Testaments in deutscher und englischer Sprache / A Dictionary of the Aramaic Parts of the Old Testament in English and German. Leiden: E. J. Brill; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1958.
- Koehler, L. and W. Baumgartner. Supplementum ad Lexicon in Veteris Testamenti Libros. Leiden: E. J. Brill; Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1958.
- Koehler, L. and W. Baumgartner and J. J. Stamm et al. *Hebräisches und Aramäisches Lexikon zum Alten Testament*. Third edition. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1969–1990.
- Kohut, A., editor. יחיאל ערוך השלם... מאת רבנו נתן רבנו. Aruch Completum sive Lexicon Targumics, Talmudics et Midrashics contientur, explicans auctore Nathane filio Jechielis. Eight volumes. Vienna: Georg Brög, 1878–1892.
- Kopf, L. "Arabische Etymologien und Parallelen zum Bibelwörterbuch." Vetus Testamentum, 8 (1958): 187–188.
- Kopf, L. Studies in Arabic and Hebrew Lexicography. Edited by M. H. Goshen-Gottstein. Jerusalem: Magnes Press, 1976.
- Knibb, M. A. "Martyrdom and Ascension of Isaiah (Second Century B.C.-Fourth Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 143–176. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985

- Kuhn, Karl Georg. Die älteste Textgestalt der Psalmen Salomos insbesondere auf Grund der syrischen Übersetzung neu untersucht. Beiträge zur Wissenschaft vom Alten und Neuen Testament, Volume 21, fascicle 4. Stuttgart: W. Kohlhammer, 1937.
- Lane, E. W. *Arabic–English Lexicon*. Edinburgh: Williams and Norgate, 1872. Eight volumes. (Reprint edition, New York: Unger, 1956).
- Laperrousaz, E. M. "Hérode le Grand est-il «l'ennemi (qui) a agi en éstranger», des Psaumes de Salomon?" In *Politique et religion dans le judaïsme ancien et médiéval*, 29-32. Edited by D. Tollet. Paris: Decsclee, 1989.
- Lévi, Israel. "Les Dix-Huit Bénédictions et les Psaumes de Salomon." *Revue des Études juives*, 32 (1896): 161-178.
- Levy, J. Wörterbuch über die Talmudim und Midraschim. Berlin and Vienna: Benjamin Harz, 1924.
- Lewis, Agnes Smith. The Old Syriac Gospels or Evangelion damepharreshê; being the text of the Sinai or Syro-Antiochene Palimsest, including the latest additions and emendations, with the variants of the Curetonian text, corroborations from many other mss. and a list of quotations from ancient authors. William Clowes and Sons, circa 1912. (Editio princeps published by the Syndics of the Cambridge University Press, 1894.)
- Liddell, H. B. and R. Scott. A Greek-English Lexicon. Ninth edition revised and augmented by Henry S. Jones and Robert McKenzie. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1940. (Supplement 1968, edited by E. A. Barber, P. Maas, M. Scheller, and M. L. West.).
- Mack, Burton L. "Wisdom Makes a Difference: Alternatives to "Messianic" Configurations." In *Judaisms and Their Messiahs at the Turn of the Christian Era*, 15-48. Edited by Jacob Neusner, William Scott Green, and Ernest S. Frerichs Cambridge: Cambridge University, 1987.
- Magne, Jean "Les textes grec et syriaque du psaume 151." Revue de Qumran, 8 (1975): 547-564.
- Mandelkern, S. קונקורדנציה לתנ"ך. Concordantiae veteris testamenti. Jerusalem and Tel Aviv: Schocken, 1967.

- Martin, R. A. *Syntactical Evidence of Semitic Sources in Greek Documents*. Septuagint and Cognate Studies, 3. Cambridge: Society of Biblical Literature, 1974.
- McDaniel, Thomas F. *Deborah Never Sang*. Jerusalem: Makor Publishing, 1983.
- McDaniel, Thomas F. "Philological Studies in Lamentations. I & II." *Biblica*, 49 (1968): 27–53, 199–220.
- McDaniel, Thomas F. Unpublished lectures notes. Temple University Department of Religion, 1994.
- McGovern, Joseph. "The Status of MS A of the Psalms of Solomon: A Re-Examination of Von Gebhardt's Thesis." Department of Religion, Temple University, 1989. (Unpublished research report.)
- Mendenhall, George E. *The Tenth Generation*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1973.
- Metzger, B. M. "The Fourth Book of Ezra (Late First Century A.D.), with Four Additional Chapters: A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume one, 517-559. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Metzger, B. M., and R. E. Murphy. *The New Oxford Annotated Bible with the Apocryphal/ Deuterocanonical Books*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1991.
- Moulton, J. H. A Grammar of New Testament Greek. Four volumes. Volume I: Prolegomena, third edition, 1908. Volume II: Accidence and Word–Formation with an Appendix on Semiticisms in the New Tetament, by J. H. Moulton and W. F. Howard, 1919–1929. Volume III: Syntax, by N. Turner, 1963. Volume IV: Style, by N. Turner, 1976. Edinburgh: T. and T. Clark, 1908–1976.
- Moulton, W. F. And A. S. Geden. A Concordance to the Greek New Testament according to the Texts of Westcott and Hort, Tischendorf and the English Revisers. Edinburgh: T. and T. Clark, 1897; third edition 1926; revised by J. Recks, 1963.

- Naber, S. A., editor. *Flavii Iosephi Opera Omnia*. Six volumes. Leipzig: Teubner, 1888–1896.
- Naveh, S. "The Development of the Aramaic Script." In *Proceedings* of the Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities, volume 5, 1: 1–69. Jerusalem: Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities, 1976.
- Nestle, E. and K. Aland. *Novum Testamentum Graece*. 26th edition. Stuttgart: Deutsche Bibelstiftung, 1979.
- Nicklesburg, George W. E. *Jewish Literature Between the Bible and Mishnah: A Historical and Literary Introduction*. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1983.
- Nickelsburg, George W. E. and Michael E. Stone. *Faith and Piety in Early Judaism: Texts and Documents*. Philadelphia: Fortress, 1983.
- Nöldeke, T. *Compendious Syriac Grammar*. Translated by J. A. Crichton. Second edition. London: Williams and Norgate, 1904.
- O'Dell, Jerry. "The Religious Background of the Psalms of Solomon (Re-Evaluated in the Light of the Qumran Texts)." *Revue de Qumran*, 3 (1961): 241-257.
- Payne Smith, J. *A Compendious Syriac Dictionary*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1903. (Reprint 1957).
- Payne Smith, R. *Thesaurus Syriacus*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1897–1901.
- Penar, T. Northwest Semitic Philology and the Hebrew Fragment of Ben Sira. Biblia Orientalia 28. Rome: Pontifical Biblical Institute, 1975.
- Perles, F. Zur Erklärung der Psalmen Salom's: Sonderabzug aus der orientalischen Literaturzeitung. Berlin: Wolf Peiser Verlag, 1902.
- Pick, B. "The Psalter of Solomon." *Presbyterian Review*, 4 (1883) 775–813.
- Pope, M. *Job* Anchor Bible, 15. Garden City, New York: Doubleday, 1965.

- Plutarch's Lives. Translated by B. Perrin. 11 volumes. Loeb Classical Library. London: W. Heinemann; New York: G. P. Putnam; and Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1961.
- Plutarke's Lives of the Noble Grecians & Romans. Translated by J. Amyot and T. North. Four volumes. London: Nonesuch, 1930.
- Priest, J. "Testament of Moses (First Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, Volume I, 919–934. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Rahlfs, A. Septuaginta id est Vetus Testamentum Graece iuxta LXX Interpretes. Fourth edition. Stuttgart: Privilegierte württembergische Bibelanstalt, 1950.
- Roberts, Bleddyn J. *The Old Testament Text and Versions*. Cardiff: University of Wales Press, 1951.
- Robinson, S. E. "4 Baruch (First to Second Centuries A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 413–425. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Rosen, Debra and Alison Salvesen. "A Note on the Qumran Temple Scroll 56:15-18 and Psalm of Solomon 17:33." *Journal of Jewish Studies*, 38 (1987): 99-101.
- Rost, Leonhard. *Judaism Outside the Hebrew Canon: An Introduction to the Documents*. Translated by D. E. Green. Nashville: Abingdon, 1976.
- Rubinkiewicz, R. "Apocalypse of Abraham (First to Second Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepig-rapha of the Old Testament*, Volume I, 681-705. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Ryle, Herbert Edward and Montague Rhodes James. Ψολμοὶ Σολομῶντος: Psalms of the Pharisees, commonly called the Psalms of Solomon. Cambridge: Cambridge University, 1891.
- Salters, R. B. "The Word of 'God' in the Peshitta of Koheleth." *Vetus Testamentum*, 21 (1971): 251–254.

- Salvesen, Alison. "Review of *The Syriac Version of the Psalms of Solomon: A Critical Evaluation*, by Joseph L. Trafton." *Scottish Journal of Theology*, 39 (1986): 566-568.
- Schmitt, H. -C. "Review of *The Manuscript History of the Psalms of Solomon*, by R. R. Hann." *Zeitschrift für die Alttestamentliche Wissenschaft*, 95 (1983): 155-156.
- Schoors, A. "The Particle kî." In Remembering All the Way . . . A Collection of Old Testament Studies Published on the Occasion of the Fortieth Anniversary of the Oudtestamentisch Werkgezelschap in Nederland, 240–276. Oudtestamentische Studien, 21. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1981.
- Schüpphaus, J. Die Psalmen Salomons: Ein Zeugnis Jerusalemer Theologie Und Frömigkeit In der Mitte des vorchristlichen Jarhunderts. Arbeiten zur Literatur und Geschichte des hellenistischen Judentums, 7. Leiden: E. J. Brill, 1977.
- Seeligmann, I. L. "Indications of Editorial Alteration and Adaptation in the Massoretic Text and Septuagint." *Vetus Testamentum*, 11 (1961): 201–221.
- Segal, J. B. *The Diacritical Point and the Accents in Syriac*. London Oriental Series, 2. London: Oxford University Press.
- Skehan, P. W. "Again the Syriac Apocryphal Psalms." *Catholic Biblical Quarterly*, 38 (1976): 143–158.
- Smyth, H. W. *Greek Grammar*. Revised by G. M. Messing. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1963.
- Soden, Wolfram, von. *Akkadisches Handwoterbuch*. Wiesbaden: Otto Harrassowitz, 1981.
- Soden, Wolfram, von. *Grundriss der Akkadischen Grammatik*. Analecta Orientalia, 33. Rome: Pontifical Biblical Institute.
- Sparks, H. F. D. and S. P Brock. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *The Apocryphal Old Testament*, 649-682. Edited by H. F. D. Sparks. Oxford: Clarendon, 1984.
- Stein, Menachem. מזמורי שלמה [Mizmoray Shlomo = "Psalms of Solomon"] in *Hasfarim ha-hitzonim*, Volume I, 431–462. Edited

- by Abraham Kahana. Two volumes. Jerusalem: Makor, 1969–1970.
- Swete, Henry Barclay. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *The Old Testament in Greek according to the Septuagint*, xvi-xvii, 765-787, 874. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1894.
- Swete, Henry Barclay. *The Psalms of Solomon, with the Greek Fragments of the Book of Enoch*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1899.
- Thackery, H. St. J. A Grammar of the Old Testament in Greek According to the Septuagint. Volume One: Introduction, Orthography and |Accidence. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1909.
- Thackery, H. St. J., Marcus, R., Wikgren, A., and Feldman, L. H. *Josephus*. Nine volumes. The Loeb Classical Library. London: W. Heinemann; New York: G. P. Putnam; and Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1926–1965.
- Trafton, Joseph L. "Review of *The Manuscript History of the Psalms of Solomon*, by Robert R. Hann." *Journal of Biblical Literature*, 103 (1984): 277-278.
- Trafton, Joseph L. "The Psalms of Solomon: New Light From the Syriac Version?" *Journal of Biblical Literature*, 105 (1986): 227-237.
- Trafton, Joseph L. "Solomon, Psalms of." In *Mercer Dictionary of the Bible*, 842-843. Edited by Watson E. Mills. Macon, GA: Mercer University, 1990.
- Trafton, Joseph L. "Solomon, Psalms of." In *The Anchor Bible Dictionary*, 115-117. Edited by David Noel Freedman. New York: Doubleday, 1992.
- Trafton, Joseph L. *The Syriac Version of the Psalms of Solomon: A Critical Evaluation*. Septuagint and Cognate Studies, 11. Atlanta, GA: Scholars Press/Society of Biblical Literature, 1985.
- Vermes, Geza. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *The History of the Jewish People in the Age of Jesus Christ*, 192-197. Edited by

- Emil Schürer, G. Vermes, F. Millar, and M. Goodman. Edinburgh: T. and T. Clark, 1986.
- Viteau, J. Les Psaumes de Salomon: Introduction, texte Grec et traduction, avec les principales variantes de la version Syuriaque par François Martin. Documents pour l'étude de la Bible. Paris: Letouzey et Ané, 1911.
- Walters, P. *The Text of the Septuagint*. Edited by D. W. Gooding. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1973.
- Waltke, B. and M. O Connor. *An Introduction to Biblical Hebrew Syntax*. Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 1990.
- Wellhausen, Julius. *Die Pharisäer und die Sadducäer: Eine Untersuchung zur inneren jüdischen Geschichte*. Second edition. 1874. (Reprint edition, Hanover: Orient-Buchhandlung Heinz Lafaire, 1924.)
- Wernberg-Moller, P. "Some Scribal and Linguistic Features of the Genesis Part of the Oldest Peshitta Manuscript (B.M. ADD. 14425)." *Journal of Semitic Studies*, (1968): 136–161.
- Wintermute, O. S. "Jubilees (Second Century B.C.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, volume two, 35–142. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Wright, Robert B. "Review of *The Syriac Version of the Psalms of Solomon: A Critical Evaluation*, by Joseph L. Trafton." *Journal of Biblical Literature*, 107 (1988): 131-134.
- Wright, Robert B. "The Psalms of Solomon." In *The Pseudepigrapha* of the Old Testament, Volume II, 639-670. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.
- Wright, Robert B. "The Psalms of Solomon, the Pharisees and the Essenes." In 1972 Proceedings: International Organization for Septuagint and Cognate Studies and the Society of Biblical Literature Pseudepigrapha Seminar, 136-154. Septuagint and Cognate Studies, 2. Edited by Robert A. Kraft. Missoula: Society of Biblical Literature, 1972.

- Wright, Robert B. and Robert R. Hann. "A New Fragment of the Greek Text of Sirach." *Journal of Biblical Literature*, 94 (1975): 111-112.
- Wright, W. A Grammar of the Arabic Language: Translated from the German of Casperi.... Edited by W. R. Smith and M. J. de Goeje. Third edition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1898. (Reprinted 1962.)
- Zervos, G. T. "Apocalypse of Daniel (Ninth Century A.D.): A New Translation and Introduction." In *The Pseudepigrapha of the Old Testament*, Volume I, 755–770. Two volumes. Edited by James H. Charlesworth. New York: Doubleday, 1985.